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 * Eagan *  
Eagan    - of Cerrillos 
1892September7; In a quarrel at Cerrillos yesterday Foreman Egan, of the Cerrillos Coal & Iron company, was injured by being stabbed, the assaulting 

party being a man named Mike Kane, lately in the employ of the company. Officer F.H. Mitchell brought Kane to the city last night and incarcerated 

him in the county jail to await developments of Mr. Eganôs wounds. [SFDNM] 
1893February1; Mike Kane, on trial for assaulting Supt. Eagan of the coal company, with a knife was found guilty in the district court this afternoon. 

[SFDNM] 

 

Daniel Eagan    - of Dolores 
1887August4; (Dolores) Dan Egan and Fred Helfrech are taking out good ore on the Caledonia. [SFWeeklyNMexican] 
1889May28; (Dolores) Dan Eagan and Theodore Carey have a big lot of ore ready for transportation to the mill from the Cunningham mine. [SFDNM] 

1893April12; At the Exchange: D.F. Taylor, R.C. Wilson, Daniel Eagan, M.C. Benton, Dolores. [SFDNM] 
1893November17; At the Exchange; R. Wilson, D.F. Taylor, Dan Egan, M.C. Burton, Dolores. [SFDNM] 

1893November18; égood news brought in from Dolores yesterday afternoon by Dan Eagan, Mr. Taylor and others. Within 400 yards of the town there has 

been unearthed a new placer district this week, where 125 men are now at work, some of them cleaning up $20 a day in nugget gold. At this point bed-

rock curls up to within from three to ten feet of the surface and the top earth is stripped off revealing the gold in quantities well calculated to create a 

furore. A nugget worth $4 was found on Tuesday and one Wednesday a shiny bit worth $2.50 was taken out. Mr. Wilson showed the New Mexican 

scribe several nuggets worth probably 35 to 75 cents each. There are some thirty of those fanning machines known as dry washers and worked by hand 
power, in the new district and they are doing well. About one-half of the men employed there are natives. Day before yesterday a thrifty fellow crawled 

out of a hole with two buckets full of sand and gravel and offered them to a Colorado miner who stood near for $10. The Coloradoan laughed at the 

Mexican, and the Mexican then put those two buckets full of  stuff through his little fanning machine and scraped out full $30 worth of gold dust and 
nuggets. [SFDNM] 

1893November29; According to the statements of parties who have been at Dolores during the past few days, an incipient gold excitement is on thereabouts. 

The layer of rich placer gravel which was discovered some two weeks ago away up on the mountain, above Dolores, continues to hold out, and there 
are scores of dry washers in operation on gravel from this point. The gold is very coarse, running in nuggets as high as $8. Several men claim to be 

making as high as $50 a week and many have no difficulty in cleaning up $2 to $6 daily. T.J. McLaughlin, who came in from San Pedro last night, says 

he was surprised to note the activity about Dolores. Every house in the village is crowded with occupants and a number of tents have been put up by 
new comers. Mr. McLaughlin came to Cerrillos with a man who brought down a vial containing $16 worth of nuggets, and he stated that he had taken 

it out in five days. Dan Taylor and Col. Hutchinson confirm these reports. The former says that in digging a grave just below town on Friday some men 

found at a depth of about six feet another new streak of rich gravel and since then a dozen or more holes have been sunk in the vicinity of the grave. He 
thinks the chances of establishing a graveyard there are anything but good. The camp is no place, however, for penniless men. Last week Messrs. 

Taylor and Eagan fed a dozen men who had struck the camp with no money. Unless a man has $100 in cash he should not go there expecting to take 

out placer gold. The first requisite for success is a ñgrub stakeò for a month and the next is one of those dry washer machines which cost about $25, and 
which are made by Milton Fiske, of Dolores. [SFDNM] 

1896May16; District Court. Territory of New Mexico vs. Rueben Wilson, Daniel Eagan and M.C. Benton, wrongfully extracting ore, etc., indictment 

quashed and dismissed. A similar acase against Elwin T. Webber was disposed of in the same way. [SFDNM] 
1896July2; At the Bon Ton: Daniel Egan, Cerrillos... [SFDNM] 

 

J. P. Eagan    - Denver 
1893April10; At the Claire: J.P. Eagan, Denver. [SFDNM] 

 

John Eagan  (d.ABQ Dec1881)    - New Placers 

1881December14; Henry Kehoe, a chum of [John] Eagan, was stopping at the hotel Maden, and he says that he and Egan are miners, and have recently been 
employed by the Canon del Agua Company of San Pedro. [SFDNM] 

 
Joseph W. Eagan    - Ortiz Mine grant 
1897December11; Contempt Of Court Cases. Alleged Trespassers on Ortiz Mine Grant Ruled to Appear Before Judge Laughlin to Answer for 

Disobedience of Injunction. In the matter of the injunction of Newton S. Finney, complainant, vs. The New Mexico Mining Company et al., Judge 
Laughlin has ruled that Frank Romero, Juan Nieto, John B. Boyd, Charles Crosson, James Lucas, Joseph W. Eagan, Theodore Carey, Thomas Delalla, 

and J.H. Shufelt to appear before him in the city of Santa Fe, on Tuesday, December 14, to show cause why they should not be punished for contempt of 

court for violating an order of injunction prohibiting them from mining, extracting ore and cutting timber on the Ortiz Mine grant. ¶ The original 
injunction against alleged trespassers on the Ortiz Mine grant was issued on May 5, 1896, and another in an amended form on February 16, 1897. As to 

J.S. Hutchinson, claimant of the Candelaria mine it was dismissed, and as to Brittain it was sustained and he moved off. ¶ It is claimed that the ten 

persons named above have failed to obey the order of the court in the premises and are consequently in contempt. ¶ Sheriff Kinsell has been intrusted 
with the duty of serving the rule as aforesaid. [SFDNM] 

1897December14; At the Bon Ton: al. Butcher, Rock Corral; A.J. Mares, Pena Blanca; J.H. Sheefelt, J.W. Egan, Frank Romero, Dolores; Thos Barton, 

George Thomas, Antonio Fresquez, Tomas Gutierrez, Cerrillos; J.J. Ortiz, Waldo... [SFDNM] 
1897December15; In The District Court. Hearings of Contempt of Court Cases Against Alleged Trespassers on Ortiz Mine Grant in Progress. ¶ The oral 

hearing of the ten contempt of court cases, growing out of alleged disobedience of an injunction granted by Judge Laughlin against alleged trespassers 

on the Ortiz Mine grant, is still in progress in the Territorial District court, in spite of the fact that Judge Laughlin held a session of court last night. ¶ So 
far S.H. Elkins, receiver of the grant, M.L. English and three other witnesses have been examined to establish the fact of trespass on the part of the 

respondents after they had been formally notified of the injunction. ¶ Frank Romero, Juan Nieto, John B. Boyd, Janes Lucas, Joseph W. Eagan, 

Theodore Carey, Thomas Delalla and J.H. Shufelt, nine of the ten persons accused of contempt of court, had been examined in the premises when a 
recess was taken for dinner. ¶ Upon the incoming of court at 2 oôclock this afternoon, the examination of Charles Closson, the last of the ten 

respondents, was commenced and concluded, and, at this writing, the court is listening to the arguments of W.H. Pope for the complainant and Judge 



Warren for the respondents. ¶ The case seems to hinge mainly upon the question whether the persons charged with contempt were properly served with 

notices of the injunction. [SFDNM] 
1897December16; In The District Court. Sentences Passed in the Ten Contempt of Court Cases ï White Ash Cases on Trial. ¶ The oral hearing of the 

contempt of court cases, growing out of disobedience of an injunction granted by Judge Laughlin against alleged trespassers on the Ortiz Mine grant, 

was concluded before Judge Laughlin at a session of the Territorial District court last night. W.H. Pope made the argument for the complainant and H.L. 
Warren for the respondents. ¶ Judge Laughlin rendered judgments in the ten cases as follows: ¶ Joseph Eagan was found guilty and was sentenced to ten 

days imprisonment in the county jail and to pay the costs of the case. The sentence as to confinement was suspended pending his refraining from further 

disobedience of the injunction. ¶ John B. Boyd was found guilty and fined the costs. ¶ Juan Nieto was found guilty and fined the costs. ¶ Theodore 
Carey was found guilty and sentenced to confinement in the county jail for 30 days and to pay the costs of the case. The sentence as to imprisonment 

was suspended so long as he refrains from disobeying the injunction. ¶ The cases against Francisco Romero and J.H. Shufelt were dismissed. ¶ The case 

against John Connelly was also dismissed on the condition that he remove from the mine grant within 30 days. ¶ James Lucas was found guilty and fined 
$25 and costs. ¶ Thomas Delalla was found guilty and fined the costs and required to remove from the property within 30 days. ¶ Charles Closson was 

fined $25 and costs. ¶ The costs in each of the above cases amounts to about $22. [SFDNM] 

1898January28; Corporate Powers Sought. Numerous Residents of Golden and Dolores Have Petitioned the District Court to Be Clothed with Corporate 
Authority Over Their Respective Towns. ¶ C.H. Gildersleeve, clerk of the District court, has caused notices to be printed and posted saying that on the 

23d day of January, 1898, there was filed in his office a petition signed by the following residents of Golden in south Santa Fe county: R.M. Carley, S.C. 

Wright, Geo S. Morrison, John B. Hart, T.T. White, Pablo Aranda, Elogio Aranda, Manuel Aranda, Juan Antiono Chaves and Cornelio Montoya. éA 
notice, similar to the foregoing, signed by Daniel F. Taylor, Michael Lucero, Hilario Branch, Francisco Aranago, Frank Romero, J.B. Nieto, Joseph 

Egan, W.W. Atchison, Jose Archibeque, Cleto Tafoya, Ginio Lucero, T.E. Carey, of Dolores; J.A. Chaves, of Golden; E. Perron, of San Pedro, and Chas 

Closson, of Cerrillos, has also been printed and posted, asking for an order of the court creating the petitioners and their associates and successors a body 

politic and corporate under the name of The Town of Dolores, while the power to exercise corporate authority over the town or community of Real de 

Dolores del Oro. This application will also be heard by the district judge on March 28, 1898. [SFNM] 

1902February19; Palace: F. Steinhardt, San Francisco; J.W. Egan, Quincy, Ills.; J.F. Mulhern, Raton... [SFNM] 

 
Mark J. Eagan    - of CliftonAZ 
1896August3; At the Palace: M.J. Eagan, Clifton, A.T... [SFDNM] 

1898January10; M.J. Eagan, attorney-at-law, Clifton, A.T., arrived last night and registered at the Palace. He has business before the board of equalization 

in connection with the Lordsburg & Clifton road, a little road that is said to be a very paying investment and doing great business. [SFNM] 
1901November25; Palace: M.J. Eagan, Clifton, Ariz... [SFNM] 

1901December31; The Houston Mining and Milling Company was incorporated today by Harwood J. Simmons, Charles R. Temple and Mark J. Egan. 

Capital $100,000, divided into shares of $100 each. The offices of the company will be at Lordsburg, Grant county. [SFNM] 
1902January15; M.J. Egan, Esq., of Clifton, Ariz., arrived this noon. He is tax agent for the New Mexico and Arizona railroad, and represented his 

company this afternoon before the territorial board of equalization. [SFNM] 

 
Patrick Eagan    - of Cerrillos 
1896August3; Arrivals at the Bon Ton: Patrick Eagan, Cerrillos... [SFDNM] 
1897February27; At the Bon-Ton: A. Pino, Galisteo; Tom Bartlett, A.D. Winsor, Pecos; P. Eagan, Cerrillos... [SFDNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 
W. P. Eager    - of NY 
1899June26; Grant County. The Johnny Bull company was organized in New York to operate the copper mines at Steinôs pass, Grant county. The stock of 

the company is $300,000, and the incorporators are J.G. Henry, A.C. Lassen, W.P. Eager, W.H. Williams, all of New York. [SFNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Eagle * 
EAGLE GOLD MINING COMPANY    - Abq 
1897March23; Corporations Organized Under the General Incorporation Law, 1868-1904. Eagle Gold Mining Company. Date of filing Mch. 23, 1897, 50yrs, Albuquerque, 

Capital stock 1,000,000 [NMBlueBook 1905, p.201] 
1897March26; Charles W. Lewis, Calvin Whiting, John Munn, W.N. Parkhurst, of Albuquerque, and William H. Hays, of Cleveland, O., are the 

incorporators of the Eagle Gold Mining company, of Albuquerque, N.M., and the articles of incorporation are now on file with Secretary Miller, The 

corporation will carry on a general mining business, and is capitalized for $1,000,000. [SFDNM] 
 

EAGLE MINING COMPANY    - Carizililo m.d., Luna co. 
1902January21; J.A. McCoy of Boston, has been at Carizililo the past week, getting the mines of the Golden Cross and Eagle Mining Company in the 

Carizililo district in Luna county in order for the resumption of operations. éThe mines are near the El Paso and Southwestern railway. [SFNM] 

 

EAGLE MINING & IMPROVEMENT COMPANY    - Lincoln & White Oaks 
1900January2; The Eagle Mining and Development Company of New Mexico this forenoon filed incorporation papers in the office of Territorial Secretary 

Wallace. The incorporators and directors are George W. Snyder, president; Thomas B. Garst, vice president; Alfred K. Welles, secretary and treasurer; 

John M. Rice, general manager, P.L. Krouse. The capital of the company is $500,000, and its headquarters are at Lincoln, Lincoln county. [SFNM] 
1901April20; Dr. George W. Snyder, a prominent citizen and well known mining man of Lincoln county died on Monday from injuries received by being 

thrown from his buggy. éDr. Snyder was president of the Eagle mining and development company of Lincoln county, and was consummating a deal by 

which a number of large properties were to be developed. [SFNM] 
1903; The Old Abe mine is located in the NW.1/4 sec.5, T.7S., R.13E., New Mexico principal base and meridian. This mine is owned and operated by the 

Eagle Mining and Improvement Company, a mining company also operating the Old Abe gold mine, at White Oaks, N.Mex. John M. Rice is general 

manager of the company and Arnold Ridgeway superintendent of the coal mine. The coal mine is located about 12 miles north from Carrizozo Station, 
on the El Paso and Rock Island Railroad, and about 3 miles from the town of White Oaks, N.Mex. [Report of the Governor of New Mexico to the 

Secretary of the Interior 1903, p.383] 

 



EAGLE MINING & MILLING COMPANY     - Lincoln co. 
Eagle Creek (Lincoln). Named for Eagle Mining and Milling Co., that bought the Parson holdings. Creek flows SE through Alto into Devilôs Canyon, where it unites with Little 

Creek about 3 mi NW of Glencoe, and empties into Ruidoso River at Bonnell Ranch. [T.M. Pearce 1965] 
 

Joseph S. Eagle    - of Cochiti m.d. 

1894May28; Allerton Nuggets; Joseph Eagle, the founder of Eagle city, has purchased eight lots here and will soon begin the erection of substantial 
buildings on same. ï Joseph Eagleôs good old mother arrived today, consequently Joe is very happy. [SFDNM] 

1895March13; Messrs. N.R. DôArcy and Joseph S. Eagle, discoverers and original owners of the Iron King mine in the Cochiti mining district, have 

returned to Bland from Denver. They say very little, but are manifestly not discontented with the way the world is using them. It is quietly whispered, 
please do not mention except to your most intimate friends, that Messrs. DôArcy and Eagle have sold their interests in the Iron King to Roger W. 

Woodbury, founder of the Denver Times, president of the Union National bank of Denver and president of the Cochiti Mining & Milling company, for 

the snug sum of $50,000. It is reported that part of the consideration was a valuable ranch near Denver. The Iron King is unquestionably a valuable 
property, and, while extending cordial congratulations to Messrs. DôArcy and Eagle upon their sale, the New Mexican also congratulates Banker 

Woodbury upon is purchase. [SFDNM] 

1895March28; N. DôArcy left Albuquerque yesterday morning for Denver. He and Joseph Eagle recently received in part payment for their interest in the 
Iron King mine, Cochiti district, 2,000 acres of land within eighteen miles of Denver, and Mr. DôArcy has gone there to take charge of the land. These 

two gentlemen have proved themselves to be the most successful ranch-men and mine-discoverers in central New Mexico. [SFDNM] 

1895September4; Mr. John J. Driscoll, of Bland, one of the most substantial and trustworthy men operating in the Cochit mining district, was a welcome 
visitor to the New Mexican editorial room this morning. He was accompanied by his brother, Mr. E. Driscoll, of the Black Hills gold region of Dakota, 

who has spent several months in among the Cochiti mines. éAbout sixty miners, besides many prospectors, are now employed in the mines of the 

district, and as development work proceeds the number will doubtless be increased. éPending the completion of the new chute from the upper workings 
of the Lone Star mine to the wagon road in Pino canon, this great mine has ceased shipping ore. The chute will be completed by Contractor Owen this 

week. It is about 200 feet long and is substantially constructed. Mr. Joseph E. Engle, one of the pioneers of the camp and one of the locators of the Iron 

King mine, has returned to Bland from Denver to take the management of that property. It is expected that his practical work will soon add that valuable 
property to the list of steady shippers. Mr. Engle is accompanied by his wife. éMessrs. J.C. Holt and B.J. Nichols have resumed work on the Bland 

tunnel under the direction of the company. The Beckman mill has been temporarily shut down in order that needed repairs may be made. Mr. Driscoll 

says he is persuaded that the process adopted by Mr. Beckman will successfully treat the Cochiti ores, but thinks that some changes in the mill may be 
found necessary. Mr. J.J. Driscoll will return to Bland to-night. His brother will make a trip to Cripple Creek and the Black Hills before he returns. 

[SFDNM] 

1895September23; Joseph S. Eagle, who assumed the management for the Cochiti Mining & Milling company a few weeks ago, has struck a fine streak of 
rich gold ore in the Iron King mine. The streak is about twelve inches wide and widens as depth is gained. It is understood that Mr. W.C. Wynkoop has 

secured a bond on this valuable property and has a sale pending to eastern parties for a handsome amount of money. [SFDNM] 

1895November9; Mr. Ph J. Barber, formerly a resident of Santa Fe and now actively engaged in business and developing mines at Bland, has spent most of 
his time in the Cochiti mining district since the discovery of pay mineral in the district in December, 1893, and few men know more about the rich 

mineral resources of that wonderful region than he. éMr. M.L. Chase, one of the most active and deserving men in the camp, has had a test run made at 

the local mill on a lot of unassorted ore from the surface of his Little Casino mine and is so elated over the results that he has decided to have the 300 
tons or ore on his dump run through, and also to increase his force of men. éUnder the management of Mr. J.D. Snyder, the Beckman mill is now 

running night and dayé Development work is steadily proceeding on the Iron King under the intelligent supervision of Mr. Joseph Eagle and some fine 

ore is being taken out. [SFDNM] 

as of 1903June30; List of mining claims in NM which have been officially surveyedé By Surveyor-General Morgan O. Llewellyn. N.R. DôArcy and J. 

Eagle, Iron King, Cochiti MD, 12.75ac. [Report of the Governor of New Mexico to the Secretary of the Interior 1903, p.349] 

________________________________________________________________ 
 

John P. Eakers    - of San Pedro & White Oaks 

1889August26; Mrs. J.P. Eakers has gone to San Pedro, there to join her husband, carrying with her the prettiest baby in the territory.  [SFDNM (from White 

Oaks Leader] 

as of 1903June30; List of mining claims in NM which have been officially surveyedé By Surveyor-General Morgan O. Llewellyn. John P. Eaker, Valley, 
White Oaks MD, 20.01ac. [Report of the Governor of New Mexico to the Secretary of the Interior 1903, p.352] 

 

J. D. Eakin    - of Abq 
1890September5; J.D. Eakin, of Frank & Eakin, wholesale liquor and cigar dealers of Albuquerque, is in town today, in the interests of the firmôs trade. [The Cerrillos Rustler 

Vol.III No.8]  
1890September5; Albuquerque Directory. J.C. Baldridge, Lumber and building material; Sammis & Stamm, Wholesale groceries, vegetables and fruits; J.D. Torlina, Carpets, 

shoes and hats; Frank & Eakin, Wholesale Liquors and Cigars; F.W. Heyn, Furniture, Queensware and Lamp Goods; A.J. Maloy, Groceries, provisions vegetables and 
fruits; Lowenthal & Meyer, Wholesale Liquors and Cigars; Solon E. Rose & Bro., Hardware, Machinery and pumps; A.M. Coddington, Wholesale commission merchant; 
A.W. Cleland, Wholesale and retail groceries, fruits, vegetables; Westlake & Lewis, Mint sample and club rooms. [ad in The Cerrillos Rustler Vol.III No.8]  

1895January29; At the Exchange: J.D. Eakin, Albuquerque... [SFDNM] 

1897May14; At the Exchange: J.D. Eakin, Albuquerque... [SFDNM] 

1900November23; Local Items; That prince of good fellows, J.D. Eakin, of Melini & Eakin, wholesale liquor dealers of Albuquerque, was hustling trade in Cerrillos Tuesday 
and of course subscribed for the great and only (Register). [Cerrillos Register Vol.1 No.1] 

 

Eales    - of La Belle 
1895July23; [La Belle District] Perry & Eales are hard at work near the head of the gulch, and showed us some fine colors. [SFDNM] 

 

E. J. Eames 

1913June5: The man who said, ñit canôt be done,ò in connection with the irrigation project completed south and east of this city has certainly been caught up with. The 
persistent work of the engineer, Jay Turley, and the tenacity and faith exhibited by Anson A. Avery, have now been rewarded. Last night the valve of the Arroyo Hondo 
dam was opened about three inches and owing to its just being used, was somewhat clogged with mud and was left open that wee bit, and was running all night, with the 
result that this morning the valley below was pretty well flooded. The land clear down to E.J. Eamesô ranch was covered with water and the road was impassable. [SFNM 
100yrs] 



________________________________________________________________ 

 * Earl * Earle *  
Frank E. Earle    - of El Paso 
1896August31; During last week Frank C. Earle, representative of the El Paso Smelting company, was in Bland, and while here purchased for his company 

1,000 tons of Crown Point ore. [SFDNM] 

1899January6; F.E. Earle, purchasing agent for the El Paso smelter, has contracted with Hillsboro mines for nine carloads of ore for January delivery. 
[SFNM] 

1899Jaunary11; Hillsboro District. Purchasing Agent F.E. Earle, of the El Paso smelter, recently bought nine carloads of ore for January delivery. [SFNM] 

 

J. N. Earl    - Glorieta 
1899March16; J.N. Earl, of Glorieta, is in town on business, and registered at the Palace. [SFNM] 

 

Parkey Earle    - of Lincoln co. 

1897November1; Articles of incorporation of the New Mexico Iron Mining company have been placed on file in Secretary Wallaceôs office, setting forth 

the following particulars: Incorporators, Sanborn F. Gray, Gray, N.M.; L. Wallace Holt, McMillan, N.M.; Parkey Earle, C. Waverly Johnson and 

D.J.M.A. Jewett, Grayôs Peak, N.M.; objects of incorporation, mining of iron ores and the development of iron leads; length of time for which the 
company shall exist, 50 years; capital stock, $1,000,000. The principal place of business is located at Gray, Lincoln county, N.M. [SFDNM] 

 

Peter Earl  (b.ENG 1851>    - of Cerrillos 
1880June1_census: Peter Earl, miner, 29y-o, single, born England [Scot Engl], resident of Los Cerrillos ñNW of McKenzie or Arragas Mountò solo 

________________________________________________________________ 

 
Isabelita Earley  (b.NM 1864>    -  of Golden 
1920January16_census: Golden Village house 16; Isabelita Earley, no employment, 56 y-o, owns farm, widow, b.NM.  

 
W. H. Earnest    - Santa Rita m.d.  <see also Ernst 
as of 1903June30; List of mining claims in NM which have been officially surveyedé By Surveyor-General Morgan O. Llewellyn. W.H. Earnest, Beauty 

Spot and mill site, Santa Rita MD, 23.93ac. [Report of the Governor of New Mexico to the Secretary of the Interior 1903, p.350] 

 
T. M. Earnhart     - Wallace 
1883April20; Wallace Watchings. that T.M. Earnhart has closed up the section house and is now looking up another investment for his money; [The Golden 

Retort. Vol.III No.9] 

 
Wyatt Earp     - of Las Vegas & TombstoneAZ 
1882January2; Vegas Varieties. An ex-Las Vegan, Wyatt Earp, was buckshotted at Tombstone the other day, unto death. [SFDNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Easley * 
Albert F. Easley   - bro of Charles F. Easley;  of StaFe 

1892November30; New corporationsé The Cerrillos Water & Irrigation Company ï Incorporators, T.F. Moore, N.B. Shields and Albert F. Easley. Capital 
stock $30,000. Principal office at Cerrillos. [SFDNM] 

1894February8; Bert Easley came by from the south yesterday. He has been gone a month on a trip with Mr. Holliday, inspector of surveys. [SFDNM] 

1895May10; Mr. A.F. Easley, brother of the surveyor general, expects soon to start for Las Cruces on a surveying trip. [SFDNM] 
1895May17; The following corporations have filed articles with the territorial secretary: The New Columbia Gold Mining Company ï Incorporators, Harry 

B. Dicker and John T. Moore, of New York, and Albert F. Easley, of Santa Fe; objects, conducting a general mining and milling business; capital, 

$5,000,000; life, fifty years; principal place of business, Golden, N.M. [SFDNM] 
1895October8; Bert Easley and a surveying party, which includes Tom Goodwin and the mountaineer, Joe Blonger, left to-day for a three weeks' trip to the 

Picuris and Las Truchas regions in Taos county. They go on government survey work, but for fear of encountering a bear Tom Goodwin took his rifle. 

[SFDNM] 
1896July14; At the Bon Ton: Albert F. Easley, Cabezon... [SFDNM] 

1896October28; The Populist county convention convened at the Claire hotel last evening and was called to order by E.T. Webberé Leo Hersch, Arthur 

Boyle, Max Bernstein, O.D. Yates, D.J. Jones, J.G. Imhoff, W.W. Miller, A.C. Ireland, Bernardo Romero, John Dixon, Henry Kaune, Jose Chaves, Sol 
Spiegelberg, John T. Forsha; [including as candidates> Arthur Seligman, Ed D. Jones, Enos Andrews, Burnett M. Donaldson, Juan M. Archuleta, 

Higinio Martinez, Adolfo P. Hill, Francisco Gonzales y Baca, W.L. Jones, F.C. Buell, Ascension Rael, Albert F. Easley. [SFDNM] 

1896December7; Inspector of U.S. Surveys Hollyday and Assistant Pearis, accompanied by T.H. Tucker and Bert Easley, left by team to-day on an 
extended trip through south Santa Fe and Valencia counties. [SFDNM] 

1897April30; Deputy U.S. Surveyor Bert Easley and Thos Goodwin leave in the morning for the Rio Puerco country, where they will survey the Ignacio 

Chaves and Canada de Los Alamos grants. [SFDNM] 
1897July23; Albert F. Easley, deputy U.S. surveyor, and party left this morning for the purpose of examining some government surveys in the eastern part 

of this county and also on the Rio Grande in White Water canon and near the Cochiti pueblo. [SFDNM] 

1897August18; Notice of the Survey of the Galisteo Grand Allotments. (Reported No.60.) éhas been made by Albert F. Easley, D.Sé that said survey 
embraces the allotments made to: ¶ Vicente Ruybal, 100 varas; Ignacio Chaves, 100 varas; Matias Sandoval, 100 varas; Jose Lucero, 100 varas; Jose 

Antonio Alarid, 100 varas; Alejandro Lovato, 100 varas; Antonio Anaya, 100 varas; ? Jesus Venavides, 100 varas; Rafael Lujan, 150 varas; Luis 

Lovato, 100 varas; Felipe Sandoval, 150 varas; Bartola Lovato, 100 varas; Diego Pineda, 100 varas; Jose Antonio Bachicha, 100 varas; Manuel Trujillo, 
100 varas; Miguel Lovato, 100 varas. Æ That the boundaries of said grant allotmentsé Beginning on the west boundary of the Eaton granté along with 

west boundary of the small holding claim No.2490, of A. Staabé Chas F. Easley, Surveyor General. [SFDNM] 

1897September14; Mr. Albert F. Easley, the genial and accomplished brother of the outgoing surveyor general, came in from Major Shinnôs surveying 
camp at Bernalillo on a still hunt for supplies. He secured the supplies and has gone back to camp. [SFDNM] 



 

Anna Easley  <b.1861>    - of StaFe 
1903June19; June 4, 1903 [board of equalization]é The following increases in assessmentsé Precinct 4. Anna Easley 200.00 [SFNM] 

1930_census: Anna Easley, 69y-o, pct.29, Royal Easley, 37y-o, pct.29, Vernon Easley, 16y-o, Vernice Easley, 14y-o, Wilmer Easley, 11y-o  
 

Charles F. Easley  (b.1853  d.8Oct1917)    - of StaFe & Cerrillos 
Registrar for StaFe Land Office, later atty for land and mining cases, real estate, collections, abstractor, conveyaneer, surveyor, notary public 
1881; Charles F. Easley unsuccessful at joining Masonic Montezuma Lodge#1 
1883; C.F. Easley elected to Masonic Lodge #19. [Craftsmen From The Quarry, Dalton, 2004] 
1884June19; Chas F. Easely testified as to recent surveys made by him. David L. Miller considered the land decidedly mineral land and of no value for agricultural purposes 

and testified at length, going back to 1870 and detailing all the circumstances associated with this property since that time. [Weekly New Mexican Review p.2 c.6 ï see 
Gwynn suit] 

1884December 4; New Officers of Montezuma Lodge (for 1885); Dr. W.S. Harroun, W.M.; Franklin Jordan, S.W.; John Gray, J.W.; P.H. Kuhn, Treasurer; 

H.M. Davis, Secretary; C.F. Easley, S.D.; J.S. Barnum, J.D.; T.S. Tucker, Tyler [Weekly New Mexican Review p.4 c.6] 

19th person to be Past Master of Montezuma Lodge 
1888&1889&1903; Charles F. Easley, Grand Master of Montezuma Lodge No.1 [Seven Score & Ten; Montezuma Lodge No.1 2001 p.19] 
1888-91; Chas. F. Easley, (Ex-Register Santa Fe Land Office) Attorney In Land & Mining Cases. Real Estate and Collection Agent, Abstracter, 

Conveyancer, Surveyor and Notary Public. Office in store of J.H. Gerdes & Co., Cerrillos, N.M. [ad in Los Cerrillos Rustler 1888-91] 

1889February2; W.H. McBroom and family came in from Denver last night and are visiting at Hon. Chas F. Easleyôs residence. Mrs. McBroom and 
children have been spending some months in Nebraska. [SFDNM] 

1889April22; pall bearers at Mrs. Creamerôs funeral; C.F. Easley, N.B. Laughlin, W.G. Simmons, H. Lindheim, A. Seligman, Jake Weltmer, Abe Gold, 

Francisco Chavez. [SFDNM] 

1889May2; founding of Cerrillos Masonic Lodge #19; Charles F. Easley, Worshipful Master Montezuma#1, J.D. Bush, Senior Warden Socorro#9, John Gray, Junior Warden 
Montezuma#1, Eugene B. Ames, Treasurer, Joyce Board, Secretary, William J. Jackson, Senior Deacon Montagua#415TX, C.W. Watergrove, Junior Deacon, Saul C. 
Wright, Tyler, LD. Sugar, Gate City#11, F.W. Estas, Waynesville#49MO, C.W. Uptegrove, Lafayette#16KS. Also petitioners Randolph Kelley, George L. Wyllys, Richard 
Green, John L. Jenks, Eugene B. Ames, Saul C. Wright, Austin L. Kendall, Joyce Board. 

Knights of Pythias, Vesper Lodge, Charles Easley Dist Deputy Grand Chancellor, meet on second floor of L.G. Jones building on 1st St near Main, Cerrillos 
1889May6; Grand Lecturer C.F. Easley last week installed the following as officers of the Cerrillos Lodge, A.F.& A.M. Geo L. Wyllys, W.M.; R. Green, 

S.W.; John Jenks, J.W.; Joyce Board, Secretary and E.B. Ames, Treasurer. [SFDNM] 
1889May29; Hon. C.F. Easley is among the Santa Feans now visiting the mines. [SFDNM] 

1889October3; Hon. C.F. Easley returned this morning from a trip to Cerrillos. [SFDNM] 

1889October5; Hon. Chas F. Easley will make Cerrillos his headquarters this winter, having taken the management of Mr. Gerdesô branch furnishing store 
there. [SFDNM] 

1889November11; Messrs. C.F. Easley and John A. Long returned from Cerrillos yesterday. [SFDNM] 

1889November13; Julius H. Gerdes visited Cerrillos yesterday. His new gentôs furnishing house will be ready about December 1. In the meantime Mr. 
Easley is preparing to remove his family to Cerrillos and be ready to open his stock when the building is completed. [SFDNM] 

1890January10; Chas. F. Easley, (Ex-Register Santa Fe Land Office) Attorney in Land & Mining Cases. Real Estate and Collection Agent, Abstracter, Conveyance Surveyor 
and Notary Public. Office in store of J.H. Gerdes & Co. Cerrillos, N.M. [ad in The Cerrillos Rustler Vol.II No.26]    

1890March22; The official staff of the commander in chief, Gov. L. Bradford Prince, now consists of the following colonels: W.S. Fletcher, adjutant 

general; Fletcher A. Blake, inspector general; John Symington, surgeon general. Major and aid-de-camps: Henry Dold, C.M. Shannon, Chas F. Easley, 
M. Salazar, J.B. Risque, W.C. Brown. [SFDNM] 

1890March22; Chief Engineer Coleman and Supt. Johnson of the Santa Fe Southern left this morning for Cerrillos in company with Messrs Laughlin, 

Gerdes and McKenzie. They will confer with Messrs. T.P. Gable, Geo L. Wyllys, W.H. Nesbett, G.W. North, C.F. Easley and other citizens and the 
right of way and depot grounds for the narrow gauge extension will be settled before night. [SFDNM] 

1890April24; Hon. C.F. Easley, of Cerrillos, can have the Democratic nomination for one of the members of the legislature from Santa Fe county if he 
wants it. [SFDNM] 

1890April28; At the Exchange: D.L. Miller, C.F. Easley, R. Kelly, Cerrillos. ï Hon. C.F. Easley, now a prosperous merchant at Cerrillos, was in town to-

day. [SFDNM] 

1890September5; Chas F. Easley, Ex-Register Santa Fe Land Office) Attorney in Land & Mining Cases. Real Estate and Collection Agent, Abstracter, Conveyancer, 
Surveyor and Notary Public. Office in store of J.H. Gerdes & Co., Cerrillos, N.M. [ad in The Cerrillos Rustler Vol.III No.8]  

1890September12; Hons. C.F. Easley and Wm. M. Berger, went to Silver City to represent Santa Fe lodge K.of P. at the meeting of the Grand Lodge the first of this week. 
C.A. Whited was the delegate from Cerrillos Lodge. [The Cerrillos Rustler Vol.III No.9] 

1890September12; Hon. C.F. Easley returned from Silver City this morning. [The Cerrillos Rustler Vol.III No.9] 
1890September25; Hon. C.F. Easley and family drove in from Cerrillos yesterday and returned home to-day. [SFDNM] 

1890September26; Hon. C.F. Easley visited Santa Fe Wednesday. [The Cerrillos Rustler Vol.III No.10]  
1890September26; The Democrats at their county convention last week, honored Cerrillos with the nomination of two of its citizens, Hon. C.F. Easley for legislature and Geo. 

L. Wyllys for county commissioner. Both are good men. [The Cerrillos Rustler Vol.III No.10]  
1890October3; Randolph Kelley is making stump speeches in the eastern part of the county, in company with Hon. C.F. Easley.. [The Cerrillos Rustler Vol.III No.11] 
1890October10; Hon. C.F. Easley visited Santa Fe Wednesday. [The Cerrillos Rustler Vol.III No.13] 
1890November7; Election in Cerrillos passed quietly. Much interest was taken and the voting through the entire day was quite spirited. The vote fell nearly a hundred short of 

registration. Chas F. Easley and T. P. Gable were the only Democratic candidates who receive a majority in this precinct, though the vote averaged closely. Mr. 
Catronôs majority was 26. Otero over Joseph, 6. Nesbett over Wyllys, 8. Conklin over Chavez, 30. Mayo, Staab and Read ran even, with small majorities over their 
opponents. Everything was orderly. [The Cerrillos Rustler Vol.III No.17] 

1890November21; Hon. C.F. Easley and Wm. Mailand are in the city from the flourishing mininy camp at Cerrillos.ðNew Mexican. [The Cerrillos Rustler Vol.III No.19] 
1890November17; Francisco Chaves, sheriff and collector of Santa Fe county, presented a new bondé Among some of those whose names appear as 

sureties are Chas C. Probst for $2,500, Augusta Probst for $1,500, Rafael Ortiz y Lucero $3,000, W.A. McKenzie $2,000, J.P. Victory $1,000, Cruz 

Peralta $1,000, Tomas Ortiz y Lucero $2,500, Dorotea Martinez de Mottley $4,000, Gabriel Martinez $500, Wm Bolander $1,000, Lorenzo Martinez 

$2,000, Pedro Delgado $1,000, Chas F. Easley $1,000, John Ayres $1,000, James Hovey $500, John Allen $1,000, John Gray $500, Nasario Gonzales 
$5,000, Abe Gold $1,000, Mary Gold $2,000, P.L. Vandeveer $500, Carlotta Gomez $500, N.B. Laughlin $1,000, and others. [SFDNM] 

1890December12; Hon. C.F. Easley is on a visit to the capital. [SFDNM] 



1891-94; Charles F.Easley is 3 times Master of Cerrillos Masonic Lodge; George L. Wyllys prior; Austin L. Kendall succeeding 
1891March21; Hon. Chas F. Easley of Cerrillos the member of the house of representatives of the 29th, assembly from this county to whose special efforts may be attributed 

to the defeat of the capital removal bill in the house is in the city today on business. Incidentally in conversation with his many friends he is urging incorporation. [per 
LPadilla 2010, Santa Fe Weekly Sun] 

1891March26; Hon. C.F. Easley is up from Cerrillos on land business today. [SFDNM] 

1891April10; Cerrillos Lodge, No.19, A.F.&A.M., meets at its hall on thr first Saturday evening in each month. Chas F. Easley, W.M. Stuart F Loughborough, Sec. [The 
Cerrillos Rustler v.III n.40] 

1891April17; Dissolution of Partnership. Notice is hereby given, that the partnership heretofore existing between the undersigned, under the firm name of J.H. Gerdes & Co., 
is dissolved by mutual consent. C.F. Easley retires from the firm and J.H. Gerdes continues the business. Dated at Cerrillos, New Mexico, March 31st, 1891. J.H. 
Gerdes, C.F. Easley. [The Rustler v.III n.41] 

1891April17; Attorney Easley spent a day or two this week at Santa Fe, atending to business before the land office. [The Rustler v.III n.41] 
1891April24; Hon. C.F. Easley, land attorney, now has an office up stairs in the Jones block. [The Cerrillos Rustler, v.III no.42] 
1891May1; Hon. C.F. Easley received a severe blow from a line ball batted by Dick Mathews in the game last Saturday afternoon between the fat and lean men of Cerrillos. 

The ball was like a cannon shot and appeared to whack on Mr. Easleyôs seat of knowledge about the same time the what of the bat resounded. Easley was in the 
pitcherôs box, consequently the short distance had not much lessened the force of the ball, which was batted with all the strength in Dickôs brawny arms. Mr. Easley was 
rendered unconscious from the blow, but soon rallied, though the concussion was severe enough to bring blood from his ears, and to confine him mostly to his house 
since [The Cerrillos Rustler, v.III no.43] 

1891May8; Messrs. Easley, Neis and Jones, were to Santa Fe on business Monday. They report that the county commissioners have ordered an election for trustees and 
marshal; this will soon be a full fledged city. [The Cerrillos Rustler, v.III no.44] 

1891May8; Mr. Easley is still affected with the swimming in the head the effects of the blow from the base-ball. [The Cerrillos Rustler, v.III no.44] 
1891May15; Hon. Chas. F. Easley, land attorney of Cerrillos, has been in Santa Fe on business for a day or two. [The Cerrillos Rustler, v.III no.45] 
1891May22; C.F. Easley, lawyer, real estate agent and former clothing merchant of Los Cerrillos, is in the city on business... ï Albuquerque Citizen. [The Rustler v.III n.46] 
1891May22; Tony Neis is being prominently spoken of for alderman, by Hon C.F. Easley and other voters of the 4th ward. [The Rustler v.III n.46] 
1891May29; Hon. Chas. F. Easley visited Santa Fe the first of the week. [The Rustler v.III n.47] 
1891June5; W.R. Duncan, James Miller, O.W. Alexander, C.F. Easley, Tony Neis, David L. Miller and the Rustler man were in Santa Fe Tuesday, helping to incorporate. 

[The Rustler v.III n.48] 
1891June19; Hon. C.F. Easley was admitted to practice in the courts of the Territory after a highly satisfactory examination held at Santa Fe, the first of this week. [The 

Rustler v.III n.50] 
1891June27; Hon. Chas F. Easley and wife are here on a visit to-day and are being entertained by Mrs. W.C. Hurt. [SFDNM] 

1891June27; Messrs. C.F. Easley and G.W. North are in from Cerrillos to-day, and report a movement on foot there to sink a tubular well for both artesian 
water and natural gas at an early date. [SFDNM] 

1891July3; Hon. C.F. Easley made a business trip to Santa Fe yesterday. [The Cerrillos Rustler, v.III no.52] 
1891July23; News comes up from Cerrillos to-day that a large area of the coal lands in the southern part of the county has just been sold to a Wisconsin 

syndicate represented by J.L. Gates and others, of Milwaukee. The transfer papers are now in course of preparation by Attorney C.F. Easley. All the 

details can not be obtained for publication at this writing but enough is known to justify the assertion that the deal is a big one and of immense import to 

the industrial interests of Santa Fe and south Santa Fe county. This transaction does not involve the extensive coal measures on the Juana-Lopez and 
Ortiz grants, but covers lands outside those tracts and lying south of Cerrillos and between that town and Ortiz station, several thousand acres, owned by 

various private parties at Cerrillos, among them Messrs. North. éMr. Simonson, of Cerrillos, is said to have been instrumental in bringing about the 

coal trade. A significant feature of the deal is the report that the purchasers have closed a contract with the A.T.& S.F. Railroad company whereby that 

corporation will assume control of the lands and work the coal mines on a royalty, agreeing to extract not less than 100,000 tons of coal annually. 

[SFDNM] 

1891July24; Hon. C.F. Easley visited Santa Fe on business Tuesday. [The Rustler, v.IV no.3] 
1891July31; Cerrillos Lodge No. 19, Chas F. Easley, W.M., Stuart F. Loughborough, Sec<last listing for SFL]. [The Rustler, v.IV no. 4] 
1891July31; C.F. Easley was in Santa Fe yesterday. [The Rustler v.IV n.4] 
1891August7; On Monday of this week, John Doyle was bound over in justice Kendallôs court on a charge made by Mrs. C. Doyle, of shooting at her through a back window 

of her store. Although the evidence was somewhat conflicting, the fact that a shot was fired once before into Mrs. Doyleôs house since their separation on account of 
unpleasant domestic relations, probably bore some weight in the decision of the present case. Doyle gave the required $1,000 bond for his appearance at court, 
Messrs. R. Green, Chas. F. Easley and R. Mathews becoming sureties. As to the real merits of the case, we know nothing. The charges are of a serious nature 
however, and in the interest of either party should be investigated. Mr. Doyle should and no doubt will, take as great an interest as anyone in proving his own 
innocence. On the other hand, if some one is trying to shoot Mrs. Doyle, as appears from her evidence, it would be a good idea for her to get a double-barrelled cannon 
and after loading it with a sack or two of duck shot, point it at the shadow of the assassin when he is doing the shooting act and touch it off, this putting the object in a 
condition for sure identification. [The Rustler v.IV n.5] 

1891August21; Hon. C.F.Easley made a trip to Santa Fe on Saturday last. [The Rustler v.IV n.7] 
1891September3; [railroad convention @ ABQ] The Cerrillos delegationé comprises Messrs. C.F. Easley, W.C. Rogers, W.H. Kennedy, H.C. Kinsell and 

D.D. Harkness. [SFDNM] 

1891September3; A whole lot of wide-awake Cerrillos citizens are here on business to-day. Among them are Mr. F. Simonson, J.P. Doyle, Tony Neis, Dr. 
Miller, Hon. C.F. Easley, Capt. F.M. Estes and G.W. North. ï At the Palace: Chas F. Easley, F. Simonson, J.T. Doyle, Cerrillos N.M. [SFDNM] 

1891September11; The Grand Lodge, Kinghts of Pythias, meets at Albuquerque on next Tuesday. Cerrillos lodge will be represented by Hon. C.F. Easley and C.A. Whited. 
[The Rustler v.IV n.10] 

1891September18; The following Cerrillos people visited the fair: Mr. and Mrs. W.H. Kennedy, Mr. and Mrs. Tony Neis, Mr. and Mrs. G.W. North, Mr. and Mrs. D.L. Miller, 
Mr. and Mrs. Hosmer, Mr. and Mrs. J.M. Lemon; Mrs. Jackson, Mrs. Nesbitt, Mrs. Brady, Mrs. U.C. North; Misses Bessie Sugar, Mira Harkness, Maude McCormac, 
Lucy Wadley, Maggie Jones; Messrs. C.W. Uptegrove, Dr. Palmer, Dr. Richards, Dr. Bishop, Edward Baker, Randolph Kelley, Hon. Chas. F. Easley, Chas. Lyons, 
Harry C Kinsell, Judge D.D. Harkness, Richard Mathews, John Hulscutter, John Elder, D.J. Jones, A.E. Laudenslager, James Miller, J.A. Jackson, E.L. Griggs, W.H. 
Coleman, Chas. Sylvester, P.F. Hogan, Wm. Sanborn, W.C. Rogers, Mrs. Hrry Scranton, Miss Allie Jones, Mrs Kinsell, and possibly others whose names the reporter 
missed. [The Rustler v.IV n.11] 

1891October16; Following were among the visitors to Santa Fe on the 6th, the day on which the great and only Forepaugh shows exhibited in that city: Hon. and Mrs. Chas. 
F. Easley and family, Mr. and Mrs. W.H. Kennedy, Mr. and Mrs. James Miller and family, Mr. and Mrs. E.B. Ames, Mrs Jackson, Mr. and Mrs Harry Scranton, Mr. and 
Mrs A. M Anderson and family, Mrs Kinsell, Mrs. Allen, Misses Phania Uptegrove and Effie Jones; Messrs. Randolph Kelley, W.H. Coleman, Dr. Palmer, Dr. Bishop, 
John Elder, Ben Brown, LaFayette Jones, Miss Legacy. [The Rustler v.IV n.24] 



1891October23; Hon. C.F. Easley returned from a trip to Santa Fe, yesterday. He reports a very hopeful feeling at the capital in regard to the early extending of the Santa Fe 
Southern (narrow gauge) to Cerrillos and San Pedro. [The Rustler v.IV n.25] 

1891November6; Committee of five ï W.H. Kennedy, Chas. F. Easley, Tony Neis, W.C. Rogers, A.M. Anderson ï formed by informal meeting at Grand Central hotel, to 
meet and greet the Santa Fe Southern officials: E.R. Chapman, E.T. Webber. General L.M. Melly, R.W. Webb. [The Rustler, v.IV no.27] 

1891November13; Accepting an invitation from the Santa Fe Board of Trade, Messrs. C.F. Easley, W.C. Rogers and Tony Neis went to that city on Wednesday to represent 
Cerrillos at the reception of president Jeffrey, of the D.&R.G. Other members of the Cerrillos committee would have gone, but missed the morning train. [The Rustler, 
v.IV no.28] 

1891December4; Attorney Easley and Mr. W.C. Rogers went down to Belen, Monday on business. [The Rustler, v.IV no.31] 
1891December25; Cerrillos Lodge No. 19, Chas F. Easley, W.M. ï Hon. Chas. F. Easley was a visitor to Santa Fe Tuesday. [The Rustler, v.IV no.34] 
1892February5; Hon. C.F. Easley is up from Cerrillos to-day. He says the citizens of Cerrillos are very anxious to have Mr. J.G. Moore, of the Santa Fe 

Southern, stop over there on his way south. [SFDNM] 

1892February14; Hon C.F. Easley, Tony Neis and a Cerrillos delegation are in the city on business. [SFDNM] 
1892February14; The following new enterprises have filed articles of incorporation with the territorial secretary. The Gold Eagle Mining Company ï 

Incorporators are Flavel Simpeon, Chas F. Easley, of Cerrillos, S.C. Wright, of San Pedro, capital stock $500,000. Principal place of business, 

Cerrillos. This company owns the Hazleton, Sunnyside, Las Vegas and Antelope mining claims near San Pedro; also the Simonson, Huntington mill 
and the Kelly placer lands, and is preparing to operate them on a large scale. [SFDNM] 

1892February27; An electric light, gas and telephone franchise has been granted C.F. Easley and others by the Cerrillos town board. Work on these plants 

must be commenced before January 1, 1893, else the franchise is void.  [SFDNM] 
1892March9; Hon. C.F. Easley, Col. T.F. Moore and Editor Anderson, of the Rustler, are in from the mining districts to-day on private business. [SFDNM] 

1892March21; Messrs. C.F. Easley and W.H. Cunning, Col. T.F. Moore and Dr. Miller are in from Cerrillos. [SFDNM] 

1892July7; At the Claire: C.F. Easley, Cerrillos. [SFDNM] 
1892July8; The preliminary hearing as to whether the government should resurvey and reestablish the boundary lines of the Ortiz mine grant occupied the 

forenoon of yesterday at the surveyorôs generalôs office. This hearing was first set for March 1, but was postponed for various reasons. Hon. T.B. Catron, 
attorney for the Cerrillos Coal & Iron company filed a protest in which he claimed that the grant as surveyed and monumented by the United States was 
conveyed by the U.S. patent to the New Mexico Mining company, who sold it to Chaffee and Elkins for about $375,000, and that Chaffee and Elkins sold to 
the Cerrillos Coal & Iron company the portion of the grant which they held. Therefore the Cerrillos Coal & Iron company protested against any change or 
alteration in the northern boundary of the Ortiz mine grant as established by the survey made for patent and as it existed at the time of the issuance of the 
patent. The hearing was afterwards postponed by the commissioner of the general land office to July 6. At the hearing held yesterday the testimony of Ed. E. 
Sluder, of San Pedro, was taken. Mr. Sluder is the principal applicant for a recovery, having located coal lands on the edge of and lapping the grant as now 
surveyed wand which, it is contended, is really government land. His attorneys are Gildersleeve and Easley. Mr. Coons appeared yesterday on behalf of the 
firm of Catron & Coons, who are attorneys for the C.C.& I. company. Mr. Sluder testified that he knew the eastern boundary line as it exists at present to be 
2,700 feet farther east than where the true boundary should be because he had found the monuments designating the eastern boundary as it shold be. As to 
the north boundary his judgement was that is is 1,284 feet north of its proper position. In the lawful boundaries of the Ortiz grant, he said, there were 69,458 
acres, whereas the area covered by the boundary lines as they now exist amount to 77,000 or about 8,000 acres in excess of what it should be. The witness 
said he had once called Hon. S.B. Elkinsô attention to this discrepancy and that gentleman said if anybody wanted the land embraced witin this strip in error 
they were perfectly welcome to it, but he did not care to be put to the expense of having the boundary readjusted, that that would have to be done by the 
government in an official manner. At the conclusion of Mr. Sluderôs testimony the hearing was again postponed until August 3d. This postponement was 
obtained by Mr. Catron in, Washington, from the commissioner, in order that he might be present at the hearing, the surveyor general being advised of it by 

wire from the general land office. [SFDNM] 

1892September12; At the Exchange: Randolph Kelly, Cerrillos; Tony Neis, C.F. Easley, Cerrillos. [SFDNM] 

1892September19; Robert Clarke, manager for the Lincoln-Lucky company, Peter Townsend, R.S. Greer and J.B. Castle, employes of the Lincoln-Lucky 

company, had a jury trial before Squire Kendall, at Cerrillos, on Saturday afternoon, on the charge of ñmalicious mischief,ò in that they burned sulphur, 

manure, etc., in the Lincoln-Lucky workings for the purpose of smoking out the miners at work on the Anaconda claim. They were fined $1 each and 

costs. Chas A. Spiess represented the complaining witness and C.F. Easley the defendants. éTo-day, at Albuquerque, Judge Lee granted a temporary 
injunction in favor of the Lincoln-Lucky company against A.M. Hendry, J.P. OôBrien et al, of the Anaconda mine, restraining them from interfering 

with the workings of the Lincoln-Lucky-Lee Mining company. [SFDNM] 

1892October3; At the Exchange: W.E. Dame, Cerrillos; C.F. Easley, Cerrillos. [SFDNM] 
1892October4; Hon. C.F. Easley came in from Cerrillos this morning. [SFDNM] 

1892October19; C.F. Easley had a meeting at San Pedro last Saturday evening. He also had a grand dance and told the miners what bad men Hon. T.B. 

Catron and Col. Max Frost were. He just roared and roared, but he said nothing of his damnably record in the last legislature and how he allowed Santa 
Feôs interests to be sold out by the Democratic Albuquerque bosses and the Las Vegas White Cap bosses. [SFDNM] 

1892October29; At the Exchange: A. Young, C.F. Easley, Cerrillos. [SFDNM] 

1892December6; C.F. Easley, paid $50. ï paid by CC&IC to clean title. [Elkins papers 820] 
1893February1; [state pen to Cerrillos] éconsisting of H.C. Kinsel, Chas F. Easley, W.P. Cunningham, C.P. Hammond, Wm Matthews, Dr. F. Palmer and 

James Lucas. The question of the penitentiary removal from Santa Fe was considered in a general way. [SFDNM] 
1893April5; Cerrillos Water and Irrigation Co. receives franchise to provide water system for Cerrillos; Harry C. Kinsell, vice president [CW&IC, in 

absence of pres.], attest Charles F. Easley, secretary; cert. 5Apr93 Austin L. Kendall NP 

1893April5; Charles F. Easley granted exclusive 25-yr franchise to establish and maintain an electric light plant, and a gas plant, and an electic telephone 
line within the corporate limits of the town of Cerrillos, operation to begin within 2 yrs; cert. 5Apr93 Austin L. Kendall NP 

1893April20; W.E. Dame is in from Cerrillos to-day on business. He says the people of Cerrillos are going right ahead with their project for driving a test 

well to ascertain whether coal and or natural gas can be found. They have incorporated a company with capital stock of $25,000, in $5 shares, and have 
an excellent board of directors in Joseph Richards, W.H. Kennedy, G.W. North, O.W. Alexander, C.F. Easley and F.C. Buell. They have already nearly 

$2,000 with which to begin work, which will be done as soon as a sufficient amount is secured to insure a proper test. The Messrs. North have a tubular 

well boring plant on the ground which it is proposed to utilize in this experiment, and the site of the first test well will be in the vicinity of the spot on 
section 19 where twelve years ago, in searching for coal, well-borers encountered the best indications of natural gas. [SFDNM] 

1893April20; Hon. C.F. Easley went up the road this morning from Cerrillos, presumably to meet the new governor. [SFDNM] 

1893June12; Hon. C.F. Easley and Randolph Kelley, of Cerrillos, are in the capital today on business. [SFDNM] 
1893June18; Hon. C.F. Easley is in from Cerrillos. O.W. Alexander, mining engineer, Cerrillos, is at the Palace. [SFDNM] 

1893June19; Hon. C.F. Easley and W.H. Cunningham are in from Cerrillos to-day.  [SFDNM] 

1893June20; C.F. Easley, W.H. Cunningham, Cerrillos; A.M. Hendry, San Pedro, are at the Palace.  [SFDNM] 



1893June29; Hon Chas F. Easley was at the plaza last night and received many congratulations over his success in securing the surveyor generalship. Mr. 

Easley leaves for Cerrillos this evening and will at once begin improvements on his home on the south side with a view to back from Cerrillos. 
[SFDNM] 

1893July7; Ed E. Sluder, Cerrillos; R.M. Foree, City; Chas Easley, City; S.B. Shelby, City, are at the Claire. [SFDNM] 

1893July24; Hon. C.F. Easley to-day received his commission as surveyor general and the transfer of the office is being made this afternoon. E.E. Sluder, 
the well known mining man of Cerrillos, is to hold down the chief clerkôs desk. ï Hon. C.F. Easley and little son, Ralph, drove over from Cerrillos 

yesterday. His household goods arrived last night and is being placed in the old home, on Galisteo road to-day. Mrs. Easley and children will arrive day 

after to-morrow. [SFDNM] 
1893August2; Easleyôs assistants are E.E. Sluder, chief clerk; Frank Delgado, stenographer; Mrs. W.C. Hurt, clerk, Robt Wagner, clerk; Wm Strover, 

draftsman. [SFDNM] 

1894January9; éSurveyor General Easley has awarded contracts to John H. Walker, deputy U.S. surveyor... [SFDNM] 
1894January30; Capt. Geo H. Pradt, who has been re-surveying the Canon del Agua grant at San Pedro, is here to-day on business with Surveyor General 

Easley. [SFDNM] 

1894March1; Joseph Rutledge is in from Gorieta to-day conferring with Surveyor General Easley on the subject of a change in the lines of the Pecos 
National park reserve. North of Glorieta the reserve makes a cut into the Glorieta township... [SFDNM] 

1894April10; The funeral of the little son of Hon. C.F. Easley and wife took place from the family home at 11 a.m. to-day. [SFDNM] 

1894April26; Hon. C.F. Easley is acting mayor during the absence of Mayor J.H. Sloan on professional business at Detroit. [SFDNM] 
1894May1; The survey of the Dry Monopole, Free Trade and Lone Star mines in the Cochiti district, owned principally by Mr. Thomas Lowthian, has been 

submitted by Deputy U.S. Mineral Surveyors H.T. and L.M. Brown to surveyor general Easley preparatory to applying for a patent to the properties. 

éMr. Lowthian has employed as attorneys Catron & Spiessé [SFDNM] 

1894May9; Surveyor General Easley has approved the survey of the Crown point mine in the Cochiti mining district and filed the plat and field notes in the 

U.S. land office. He has also notified the claimants at Albuquerque of his action. [SFDNM] 

1894June11; Messrs. C.F. Easley and Grant Rivenburg returned from Cerrillos this morning. [SFDNM] 
1894December27; Mr. W.H. McBroom, of Colorado Springs, accompanied by his son, are visiting the family of Gen. C.F. Easley. [SFDNM] 

1894December28; Mr. S.J. Williams, of Colorado Springs, who is largely interested in the Matilda gold mine, within two miles of the summit of Pikeôs 

peak, is in the city visiting Gen. Charles F. Easley. [SFDNM] 
1895 - 1896 ; Charles F. Easley (b. 1853 -  d. 19..)  Dem  4

th
 mayor of Santa Fe  

1895January8; [SF City Council] A communication was then read from Mayor Sloan Tendering His Resignation as mayor of the city of Santa Fe. 
Councilman Easley, in moving that the resignation be not accepted, took occasioné the proposition to refuse an acceptance of his resignation was 

adopted. [SFDNM] 

1895January31; During the past eight or ten yeas Mr. F.E. Nettleton, noted as a mining engineer, mining operator and inventor of  useful mining appliances, 
had made a study of the gold place fields of south Santa Fe county. Last summer he arrived at a conclusion as to the correct solution of the placer 

problem of this county. It thus happened that last November he secured 500 acres of placer ground on the Galisteo and organized an association in 

Kansas City for the purpose of  prospecting the same. ¶ Three thousand dollars were invested in a prospecting plant, consisting of an engine and a boiler, 
steam hoisting apparatus, pump, derrick, and an air caisson twenty-nine feet long, in two sections, similar to that used in laying the foundation of 

bridges. Since then a force of men under engineer J.D. King, of Kansas City, has been constantly at work making tests of the lands located. A vast 

amount of dirt has been handled and the tests have shown from 5 cents to $2.50 in gold per cubic yard. The average is 37 1/2 cents in gold per cubic 
yard. That three feet above bed rock the ??? in gold. ¶ Bed-rock is gray sand stone and varies from twenty-four to thirty-two feet in depth from the 

surface. The first ten feet consist of sand and small gravel, the next ten feet of coarser sand and large gravel, and the last ten feet of sand, coarse gravel, 

stones and pieces of the soft sand stone bed-rock. No rocks weighing over 100 pounds were encountered. Æ [line missing; ñMr. Nettletonôs claims run 
upò?] and down the Galisteo and are 300 feet in width. They begin at a point known as Cunningham arroyo on the east and end at a point below Viellejo, 

about two and a half miles up the river from Cerrillos. They include the mouths of all the gulches and arroyos which the auriferous sands of the Old 

Placers have been washing for ages. ¶ Tests have proved so satisfactory that Mr. Nettleton and his associates are highly elated and will soon file articles 
of incorporation of the Santa Fe Placer Mining company with the secretary of New Mexico. The capital stock has been fixed at $100,000. About sixty 

persons, chiefly of Kansas City, are already interested in the enterprise. ¶ The work of putting up a temporary plant, consisting of power, centrifugal 

pump, sluice-boxes and kindred appliance will at once be started. This plant will be employed in handling the upper strata of sand and gravel, while the 
permanent plant is in process of construction. The latter will be as near perfect as money and human ingenuity can make it. It will be capable of handling 

1,000 cubic yards of earth and gravel per day and will have sufficient power to lift up six inches of the bed rock. The estimated cost of handling the 

material is 15 cents per cubic yard. Figure out the profits provided the gravel only averages 37 1/2 cents per cubic yard. ¶ The officers of the Santa Fe 
Placer Mining association are as follows: Thos S. Ridge, president; C.M. Leslie, secretary; Francis A. Leach, attorney; L.N. Wagner, treasurer; F.E. 

Nettleton, general manager; Gov. Thornton, Surveyor General Easley and W.N. Emmert represent the New Mexico portion of the directory of the 

company. [SFDNM]  
1895March5; Shining Sands. Organization of Santa Fe Placer Mining Company for Development of Galisteo Placers. A week or so ago the New Mexican 

printed a somewhat extended notice of the plans, operations and prospects of the Santa Fe Placer Mining company, with offices in Kansas City and Los 

Cerrillos in this county. Since then General Manager Nettleton has favored this paper with a printed copy of the elaborate and satisfactory prospectus of 
the company, a document rich in information respecting the placer fields of south Santa Fe county and brightened by the promise that they will speedily 

be developed. ¶ The property of the association consists of some four miles of the bed of the Galisteo river, comprising twenty placer claims of twenty 
acres each, each claim being 600 feet wide by 1,500 feet in length, situated about two miles from Cerrillos on the line of the Atchison, Topeka & Santa 

Fe railroad, and about twenty-five miles south of Santa Fe. ¶ The Galisteo river flows at the northern base of the Ortiz mountain, covering an area of 

about 100 square miles, under whose northern and southern slopes exist immense deposits of placer gold, which have been worked since 1711 by the 
Spaniards and by the Aztecs prior to that time. ¶ All the gold in these deposits has unquestionably come from this mountain having been eroded and 

washed down for ages, and the claims of the association have been so located as to embrace the mouths of all the principal arroyos or gulches which lead 

from the ñOld Placers,ò so that the gold wash at the rich locality is concentrated therein. Æ Under the supervision of Manager Nettleton, with a competent 
corps of assistants and expensive machinery, the ground has been thoroughly prospected, and the results have proved so satisfactory that a company has 

been organized with a capital of $100,000 and the work of systematic development will begin as soon as a permanent plant can be put in. The cost of 

this plant will be about $15,000. Gov. W.T. Thornton and Surveyor General Easley, of Santa Fe, and W.N. Emmert, of Golden, are the New Mexico 
directors of the association. ¶ The operation of this company, which promise such substantial benefits to this county, will be watched with deep interest.  

[SFDNM] 

1895July19; Mrs. E.B. Linnen has been quite ill for several days. Surveyor General Easley yesterday sent a messenger to the headwaters of the Pecos 
notifying Mr. Linnen of the fact. [SFDNM] 



1895September17; In the matter of the case of the Territory against Ross Griffith, charged with assault with intent to kill one Phillips at Madrid, on 

Saturday night, came up for a preliminary hearing before Justice Tomas Smith, this morning. The defendant appeared in court with his counsel, Mr. 
Chas F. Easley, and, upon hearing the charges, entered a plea of not guilty. The court then continued the case until the 27th inst., so as to afford District 

Attorney Crist an opportunity to be present. Meanwhile the defendant is at large on the bond previously furnished. [SFDNM] 

1895November6; Hon. W.E. Dame and wife drove in from Cerrillos last night. Mrs. Dame is visiting Mrs. Easley. Mr. Dame is here to attend a meeting of 
the penitentiary board. [SFDNM] 

1895December19; Great Placer Proposition. Manager Nettleton, of Santa Fe Placer Company, a Visitor in the City. Millions In Galisteo Placer Fields. Headquarters of 

Company at Cerrillos ï Preparing to Patent Claims of Company ï Satisfactory Tests. Mr. F.E. Nettleton, general manager of the Santa Fe Placer Mining company, with 

headquarters at Los Cerrillos and an office in Kansas City, arrived in Santa Fe yesterday morning from the east. His business here was to arrange with Surveyor General 

Easley for the survey of the placer grounds of his company on the Galisteo river with a view of patenting the twenty claims located and being worked by him and his 

associates. He left for Cerrillos last night and will begin surveying in a few days. About 600 acres are included in the twenty claims. [SFDNM] 

1895December20; The following corporations have filed articlesé The Grand Lodge of the Kinghts of Pythias of New Mexico ï Incorporators, Edward L. 
Bartlett, Charles F. Easley, Millard S. Hart, William M. Berger, Millard W. Browne, James J. Leeson and William F. Kuchenbecker... [SFDNM] 

1896February15; Surveyor General Easley is expected home from Denver this evening. Mrs. Easley and children are visiting relatives in Fremont, Neb. 
[SFDNM] 

1896February21; The following corporations have filed articles... The Golden Gate Mining Company ï Incorporators, M.H. Craig and George H. 

Conaughy, of Colorado, and Charles F. Easley, of New Mexico; objects, acquiring and operating mines and reducing ores; capital stock, $1,000,000; 
directors same as incorporators; principal place of business in New Mexico, Santa Fe; agent in New Mexico, Charles F. Easley, of Santa Fe. [SFDNM] 

1896March11; Postoffice Inspector Fredericks is in the city looking after the shortage of Chas Lyons, late postmaster at Cerrillos. The shortage amounts to 

about $1,100. Messrs. Dame and Easley are among his bondsmen and have tendered their pro rata share toward making the government whole, but the 

other sureties have not done likewise and it is possible that suit will be filed against all the bondsmen. Lyons has left the territory and is now in Cripple 

Creek. [SFDNM] 

1896April6; Santa Fe has had five mayors as follows: William T. Thornton, Manuel Valdez, Ralph E. Twitchell, John H. Sloan and Charles F. Easley. And 
Pedro Delgado will be the sixth. Mark the prediction. [SFDNM] 

1896April10; The following new corporations have filed articles with the territorial secretary. The Cortland Gold & Silver Mining Company ï 

Incorporators, W.G. Burnham, S.T. Grant and W.R. Gray, of Denver, and Lorion Miller and Charles F. Easley, of Santa Fe; objects, acquiring and 
operating mines and mille; capital stock, $1,500,000; life, fifty years; principal place of business in New mexico, Santa Fe; local agent, Charles F. 

Easley. [SFDNM] 

1896April13; News from Fremont, Neb., is to the effect that Mrs. C.F. Easley is still quite ill. It appears that she was suffering from la grippe, and in a 
coughing spasm ruptured a blood vessel... [SFDNM] 

1896April20; Surveyor General Easley will arrive in Santa Fe from Nebraska this afternoon over the Denver & Rio Grande road with three of his children. 

Mrs. Easley, who is still an invalid, and little Mabel, will remain in Colorado Springs for a few weeks. [SFDNM] 
1896May8; The following corporations have filed articlesé The Smith-Kansas Gold Mining Company ï Incorporators, D.D. Merrill and Frank I. Smith, of 

Denver, and Chas F. Easley, of Santa Fe; objects, acquiring and operating mines and reducing ores; capital stock, $1,000,000; life, fifty years; directors, 

same as incorporators; principal place of business in New Mexico, Santa Fe, with Charles F. Easley as resident agent. [SFDNM] 
1896June12; The following corporations have filed articlesé The Santa Felicitos Gold Mining Company ï Incorporators, John T. Rowntree, Frank I. 

Smith, of Denver, and Charles T. Easley, of Santa Fe; objects, operating mines and reducing ores; capital stock, $1,000,000; life, fifty years; directors, 

same as incorporators; principal place of business, Santa Fe, with Charles F. Easley as resident agent. [SFDNM] 
1896July3; Surveyor-General Easley returned from an official visit to Las Vegas this morning. [SFDNM] 

1896July20; Messrs. Marion Balne, J.H. Vaughn and D.W. Manley, of the Mary Mining & Smelting company, had a conference at Cerrillos yesterday with 

Surveyor-General Easley and other owners of the desired smelter site. It is understood that the conference was mutually satisfactory and that the work of 
putting up the smelter will begin on August 1. [SFDNM] 

1896November6; The General Mining & Development company has filed articles of incorporation with the territorial secretary reciting the following 

particulars: Incorporators; F.E. Nettleton, L.S. Cody, Thomas S. Ridge, U.S. Epperson, W.H. Winants, Adam Long, W.N. Emmert, Chas F. Easley, 
Lorion Miller, F.E. Nettleton, trustee; principal place of business, Kansas City, with a New Mexico office at Santa Fe; capital stock, $100,000; directors, 

same as incorporators; life, fifty years; objects, mining and reducing ores. [SFDNM] 

1896November12; Mr. W.H. McBroom, formerly a well known stock raiser in New Mexico, now a ñproducer of spudsò at Colorado Springs, is here on a 
visit to his sister, Mrs. C.F. Easley. [SFDNM] 

1896November20; The new Mexican is in receipt of a beautifully printed and intelligently prepared prospectus of ñThe General Mining & Development 

company,ò incorporated under the laws of New Mexico, with a capital of $100,000 and principal office in Kansas City. U.S. Epperson and F.E. 
Nettleton, of Kansas City, are respectively president and general manager of the company, and Charles F. Easley, W.N. Emmert and Lorion Miller, of 

New Mexico, are among the directors thereof. [SFDNM] 

1897January22; The Allen Gold & Silver Mining company file articles of incorporation and set forth the following facts: Principal business office, Kansas 
City, Mo., New Mexico office, Santa Fe; capital stock, $1,000,000, in shares of $1; directors, Thomas A. Ridge, Fred J. Thatcher, C.C. Handibode, J.F. 

Allen, Wm Walter Brady, Chas F. Easley, W.N. Emmert and W.C. Rogers; purpose as title indicates. [SFDNM] 

1897May13; Surveyor-General Chas F. Easley left last night for Denver, Colo. [SFDNM] 
1897May21; New Corporations. Articles of incorporation of the Northwest Company of New Mexico have been placed on file in Secretary Millerôs office. 

The incorporators are: Thomas L. Harris, John W. Lovell, Samuel Clark, Robt M. Hart and James H. Freeman of New York City; Kanaye Nagasawa of 

Santa Rosa, Cal., Lorion Miller, Charles F. Easley and John L Zimmermann of Santa Fe, N.M. The business of the company will consist of colonizing, 
mining, investment, development, and construction of railroads, electric plants, and water systems. Captial stock, $20,000,000; principal place of 

business, Santa Fe. N.M., New York City, State of Sinaloa, Mexico, Yokohama, Japan, and such other places as may be deemed proper by the board of 

directors. A meeting of the New Mexico members of the company was held in this city and an organization effected under the laws of the territory. 
[SFDNM] 

1897May28; Col. George W. Knaebel, as attorney for Wilson Waddingham and others, has brought a suit in chancery in the District court of this county 

against William E. Dame, Charles F. Easley, William H. McBroom and others, to restrain the taking of ore from the Benton mine and for the 
appointment of a receiver for the property, as well as for a new trustee in place of Mr. Dame. The case is set for next Monday. [SFDNM] 

1897June1; The Benton Mine. temporary Injunction Granted and a Custodian Appointed. In the case of the suit against W.E. Dame, administrator for the 
estate of the late E. Huhn of San Francisco, and C.F. Easley of this city, and W.H. McBroom of Colorado Springs, praying that a bond and lease contract 

given the two latter by Dame on the Benton Gold mine be vacated, that Dame be removed as administrator of the Huhn estate and that a receiver be 

appointed for the Benton mine. Judge Laughlin yesterday denied a motion for continuance interposed by Mr. J.H. Crist, counsel for defendant Easley, 



and further ordered that Mr. Chas S. Cravey take charge of the mine as custodian and hold it in exclusive custody to abide the further order of the court, 

in the meantime restraining the defendants from further interference with the property. ¶ The complainants in this case are the U.S. Land & Colonization 
company and Wilson Waddingham of Philadelphia, represented by John H. Knaebel Esq. of Denver. [SFDNM] 

1897August3; Surveyor General Easley has received an application for a survey of the Mountain Key lode mine, in the Pinos Altos mining district. 

[SFDNM] 
1897August18; Notice of the Survey of the Galisteo Grand Allotments. (Reported No.60.) éhas been made by Albert F. Easley, D.Sé that said survey 

embraces the allotments made to: ¶ Vicente Ruybal, 100 varas; Ignacio Chaves, 100 varas; Matias Sandoval, 100 varas; Jose Lucero, 100 varas; Jose 

Antonio Alarid, 100 varas; Alejandro Lovato, 100 varas; Antonio Anaya, 100 varas; ? Jesus Venavides, 100 varas; Rafael Lujan, 150 varas; Luis 
Lovato, 100 varas; Felipe Sandoval, 150 varas; Bartola Lovato, 100 varas; Diego Pineda, 100 varas; Jose Antonio Bachicha, 100 varas; Manuel Trujillo, 

100 varas; Miguel Lovato, 100 varas. ¶ That the boundaries of said grant allotmentsé Beginning on the west boundary of the Eaton granté along with 

west boundary of the small holding claim No.2490, of A. Staabé Chas F. Easley, Surveyor General. [SFDNM] 
1897September1; Surveyor General Easley has recently ordered the following mining surveys: An amended survey of the Monte Cristo mining claim, 

Cookôs Peak district, Grant county, Consolidated Smelting & Refining company of El Paso, claimant; an original survey of the Chance mine, Central 

City mining district, Grant county, T.J. Wissell of Fort Bayard, claimant. éGeneral Easley will probably engage in the gold mining business when his 
official term expires, and he give it out cold that he intends to operate in sunny New Mexico rather than hunt for the precious yellow stuff among the 

icebergs ofé [Klondike] [SFDNM] 

1897September18; The owners of the Albemarle group, consisting of four big free milling gold claims in Colla Canon, Cochiti mining district, have 
employed Hon. Charles F. Easley, of this city, to secure patents for them at the earliest possible moment. These claims are owned by Thomas H. 

Lowthian, Charles H. Toll, Henry Woods and Norman Bletcher, and $100,000 were recently refused for them. General Easley sees no reason why 

claims in the Cochiti district should not be patented as soon as the required work is done and the fees are paid. [SFDNM] 

1897September24; Hon. Charles F. Easley, late surveyor general, will open his law office and mining exchange in the Griffin building on Monday morning. 

General Easley will make a specialty of land and mining cases. His qualifications in the lines indicated are so well known that comment would be 

superfluous. [SFDNM] 
1897October28; éhas declared official surveys of the following mining claims: The Albemarle group of four claims in the Cochiti mining district, 

consisting of the Albemarle, Huron, Ontario and Tomtico; T.H. Lothian, Charles H. Toll, Henry Woods and Rose Leonard, claimants; Charles F. Easley, 

attorney, employed to secure patents. [SFDNM] 
1897October29; Ex-Surveyor General Charles F. Easley was a passenger on the Santa Fe for Watrous last night. [SFDNM] 

1897December14; Hon. Charles F. Easley, attorney for the applicants, this morning mailed to Norman L. Bletcher, one of the owners at Bland, a copy of the 
plat of the Albemarle group of mines and the application for patent. ¶ As soon as Mr. Easley receives the required affidavit that the plat and notice have 

been posted on the claims, together with an agreement with the publisher of the local newspaper for the publication of the advertisement provided by 

law, he will immediately file the application for patent in the United States land office in this city. ¶ The group mentioned consists of the Albemarle, 
Huron, Ontario and Pamlico mines, Cochiti mining district, and will probably soon be transferred to O.P. Posey, of Denver. [SFDNM] 

1897December20; Jacob Schriner, W.G. Hills, F.R. Rogers, and Jas B. Wilde, of the city of St. Louis, C.E. Sweat and Eugene G.E. Jacard, of Kansas City, 

State of Missouri, have organized the Rio Arriba Placer Mining company, and filed articles of incorporation in Secretary Wallaceôs office. The objects 
of incorporation are: The owning, leasing, holding, development and operation of mines for the production of gold, silver, copper, and other valuable 

metals located in the county of Rio Arriba, and territory of New Mexico and elsewhere; for the erection. leasing, maintaining and operation of mills, 

smelters, and other appliances for the reduction of ores, containing gold, silver, copper and other valuable metals and substances, or to purchase, lease, 
hold and operate such mills, smelters and other reduction works, with the right at the pleasure of the company to buy and sell such mills, smelters, 

metals, ores and machinery, and to conduct subh other business as may be deemed necessary to the success of the corporation. The capital stock is 

$1,250,000; New Mexico directors, Chas F. Easley, John T. Forsha, and F.A. Reynolds; principal place of business, Abiquiu, N.M. [SFDNM] 
1898January27; Messrs. Edwin Walters, civil engineer and geologist, and David M. White, civil engineer, have returned to Santa Fe from a surveying trip 

to the Chama river placers near Abiquiu. ¶ In conversation with a New Mexican reporter this morning, Mr. Walters said that he and Mr. White had 

completed the engineering work for the Rio Arriba Placer company and he seemed much pleased with the results attained. éThe Rio Arriba Placer 
company is composed mainly of St. Louis and Kansas City men, who possess abundant money and energy to carry the enterprise to a successful issue. 

Its officers are as follows: Jacob Schreiner, of St. Louis, president: E.G.E. Jaccard, of Kansas City, vice president: William G. Hills, of St. Louis, second 

vice president: J.T. Watson, of St. Louis, treasurer: J.B. Wilde, of St. Louis, secretary: Edwin Walters, of Abiquiu, manager, superintendent, resident 
agent and director: F.H. Rogers, of St. Louis, general agent. ¶ The local directors are F.A. Reynolds, Charles F. Easley and John T. Forsha, of Santa Fe. 

[SFNM] 

1898February28; Chama River Placer Deal. Cashier Sweet, of American National Bank, of Kansas City, in Santa Fe for the Purpose of Closing the Deal. 
Mr. A.C. Sweet, assistant cashier of the American National bank of Kansas City, came in from the east last night and placed his autograph on the 

Exchange register. Mr. Sweetôs errand in the city is one of more than ordinary moment. He comes prepared finally to close the deal for the 900 acres of 

placer ground on the Chama river above Abiquiu, sometime ago sold to the Rio Arriba Placer company, of St. Louis and Kansas City, through the 
agency of Hon. F.A. Reynolds, of this city. éThe local directors of the company are Messrs. F.A. Reynolds, Charles F. Easley, John T. Forsha and 

Edwin Walters, the latter being engineer in charge of the contemplated work. ¶ Mr. Sweet visited Santa Fe and traveled somewhat extensively through 

New Mexico 17 years ago, coming here at the time in connection with mining investments of J. Sterling Morton and other prominent people in the Black 
Range of Sierra countyé [SFNM] 

1898March11; Mr. Charles F. Easley has returned from a business trip to Las Vegas. [SFNM] 

1898June9; Hon. C.F. Easley, wife and daughter, left on this morningôs Rio Grande for Denver. Mr. Easley will attend to some mining and legal business 

there and return here next Monday. Mrs. Easley and daughter will go from Denver to Fremont, Beb., for a monthôs visit with relatives. [SFNM]   

1898September13; The regular quarterly meeting of the board of penitentiary commissioners was held at the penitentiary today with Hons. C.F. Easley, 

Henry J. Young, S. Baca, J.F. Chaves and D.S. Miller present. President Hadley was prevented from attending the meeting by a badly sprained ankle, 
and Hon. F. Miera was kept at home by the illness of his wife. [SFNM] 

1898October4; Mineral Filing Decision. In the case of Charles H. Toll et al., vs. Geo A. Blake et al, a contest involving the legality of the mineral filing on 

the Sunny Side lode mining claim situated in the Cochiti mining district of Bernalillo county, the commissioner of the general land office has reversed 
the decision of the local land office, on and appeal from the land office in this city, and dismissed the adverse filing of Geo A. Blake et al, and allowed 

30 days for an appeal to the secretary of the interior. C.F. Easley appeared in the case for Chas H. Toll et al., and F.W. Clancy for Geo A. Blake et al. 

[SFNM] 
1898October27; Judge Laughlin and Hon. C.F. Easley returned from Mora last night where they were in attendance upon the Mora county Democratic 

convention held on Tuesday. [SFNM] 

1899February22; General Easley has returned from a trip to Bland, which he finds is a great and growing camp. [SFNM] 



1899June26; General Charles F. Easley has returned home from Bland. He still retains his enthusiasm for the camp and says now it is a permanent place 

with great prospects for the future. Both the Lone Star and Crown Point will probably build additional mills this summer. [SFNM] 
1899July3; The Cochiti Mines. A one-third interest in the Little Mollie mine, owned by Thomas Abbott, was sold Saturday to Howard Vaughn, cashier of 

the First National Bank at Santa Fe. Charles F. Easley, the mining expert of Santa Fe, closed the deal. The Little Mollie is located directly south of the 

Washington mine and is known to contain an abundance of very rich mineral. [SFNM] 
1899July19; Cochiti. Sherman Brown and William Schoen, of Milwaukee, spent part of a week in Bland, accompanied by General Charles Easley and Judge 

N.B. Laughlin, of Santa Fe, and L.D. Sugar and wife, of Cerrillos. They made several trips over the mountains, and incidentally inspected the Little 

Mollie mine. [SFNM] 
1899August7; A Cochiti Prospect. Hon. Charles F. Easley made final entry to-day of the Short Order group in the Cochiti district for H.B. Cartwright. The 

group covers 1,383 acres. Some development work has been done and the property is considered a good prospect. [SFNM] 

1899October12; Territorial Treasurer J.H. Vaughn, Hon. Charles F. Easley, George L. Marsh and J.W. Akers left this morning on a trip to Bland where Mr. 
Easley will look after some legal business and the others after mining interests they have in the Cochiti. [SFNM] 

1899October16; Territorial Treasurer J.H. Vaughn, Hon. Charles F. Easley, George Marsh and J.W. Akers returned last evening from a trip to Bland. Mr. 

Easley says that there is a scarcity of men at Bland at present and that within a few weeks probably 300 to 400 men will be needed in the mines and 
mills of the Cochiti district. [SFNM] 

1899October27; Hon. Charles F. Easley and Judge N.B. Laughlin are at Bland on mining business. They are expected home this evening. [SFNM] 

1899November11; Robert M. Carley, Pablo Aranda and Braulio Gollardo, of Golden, have applied for a patent on the Gold Standard lode mining claim in 
the new placering district near Golden in the southern part of this county. Hon. C.F. Easley is their attorney. [SFNM] 

1899November25; Judge N.B. Laughlin and Hon. Chas F. Easley have just concluded a deal by which the Union mine at Bland becomes the property of the 

Union Mining Company of Milwaukee, Wis. The price, $20,000 in cash, has been paid the former owners, George Hofheim, W.L. Cole, Edward 

Smith, of Bland, and H.B. Fergusson and Edward Lempke, of Albuquerque. Sherman Brown, of Milwaukee, is secretary of the company... Myron 

Church, who examined the property, and upon whose recommendation the purchase was made, has been placed in charge of the developmenté 

[SFNM] 
1899December22; Hon. C.F. Easley returned last night from a business trip to Glorieta. [SFNM] 

1900January3; Hon. Charles F. Easley and T.P. Gable returned last evening from a visit to Bland more firmly opinioned than ever that the town is destined 

to be the principal mining camp in the territory and one of the most prosperous in this section. [SFNM] 
1900January17; Hon. C.F. Easley went to San Pedro and Golden to-day on legal land mining business. [SFNM] 

1900January20; Gen. Charles F. Easley returned last night from a flying business trip to Cerrillos, San Pedro and Golden. He reports much encouraging 
activity among the various mining companies operating in the southern part of the county, and a most hopeful feeling prevails among the people of all 

classes. [SFNM] 

1900January30; Morris Clark, of Golden, has gone to Santa Fe to look after the interest of himself and associates in the well-known Regulator group of 
claims before the United States land office. It appears that S.E. Raunheim and a Boston company not long ago bought at a handsome figure several 

claims in this region, and are now applying for patent thereof. One of the claims is alleged to lap over on and conflict with the P.D.Q. claim, owned by 

the Clarks, and they have employed Gen. C.F. Easley to contest the patent so far as this conflict goes. [SFNM] 
1900February6; Hon. Charles F. Easley returned last evening from a business trip to Bland. [SFNM] 

1900February27; Hon. Charles F. Easley, chairman of the Democratic central committee, this morning issued a call for the meeting of the committee March 

17 at Santa Fe. éthe following members: O.N. Marron, George F. Albright, Bernalillo; G.A. Richardson, Lucius Dills, Chaves; J.F. Hutchinson, C.N. 
Blackwell, Colfax; F.C. Mattison, Pinito Pino, Dona Ana; J.O. Cameron, Eddy; J.A. Mahoney, L.A. Skelly, Grant; Lorenzo Labadie, Ramon Dodge, 

Guadalupe; Martin Chaves, J.F. Hinkle, Lincoln; J.D. McGrath, Macario Gallegos, Mora; Henry Grant, Felix Garcia, Rio Arriba; J.C. Hubbard, L.C. 

Grove, San Juan; Charles F. Easley, Marcelino Garcia, Santa Fe; August Reingardt, W.O. Thompson, Sierra; August Rouiller, John Greenwald, Socorro; 
Aloys Liebert, Julian A. Martines, Taos; Luis A. C. de Baca, Olin E. Smith, Union; Jose G. Chaves, Valencia; at large ï Antonio Joseph, Neill B. Field, 

W.S. Hopewell, Matias Contreras, N.B. Laughlin, J.H. Crist, J.D.W. Veeder, M.M. Salazar, E.V. Chavez, J.W. Fleming. Otero county will probably also 

send a representative. Æ The officersé A.B. Renehan, secretaryé [SFNM] 
1900March21; Bland. M.J. Church, superintendent of the Union Mining Company, has again gone to Milwaukee on business connected with the milling 

plant which this company proposes to have in operation before long. éNine men are at present employed. Gen. C.F. Easley and Judge N.B. Laughlin, of 

Santa Fe, are interested in this enterprise. [SFNM] 
1900May16; The Rio Hondo Copper Company, in which a number of New Mexico people are directors, including ex-Gov. L.B. Prince, Hon. Charles F. 

Easley, William Fraser and J.K. Turner, is erecting a mill at Amizett. [SFNM] 

1900July20; Hon. C.F. Easley and Michael OôNeill were visitors at Las Vegas on Wednesday. [SFNM] 
1900July25; Applications for Patent ï George Hofheins, Edward Smith, Edward Limbke and M.L. Cole, of Bland, by Charles F. Easley, attorney, 

application for patent on the Monte Cristo group, comprising the Monte Cristo and Pino lodes, Cochiti mining district. [SFNM] 

1900August11; The American Turquois Company has made application for official survey and patent of the Castillian and the Gem group of turquois claims 
at Turquesa, in the Cerrillos mining district of wouthern Santa Fe county. Charles F. Easley, acting as attorney for the company, made the application. 

[SFNM] 

1900August13; The Cochiti Mines. Development work on the John J. Shannon mining claim was resumed last week. The property is located a mile and a 
half below Chihuahua in the Colla canon and is owned by Charles F. Easley of Santa Fe, George West and Thomas Abbot of Bland. [SFNM] 

1900September7; The Democrats of the city held a meeting last night at the office of A.B. Renehan and organized a Bryan and Stevenson club. The 

following officers were elected: President, Camilo Padilla; vice-presidents, Juan Delgado, A.B. Renehan; secretary, Earl Sidebottom; assistant secretary, 

Joaquin Martinet; treasurer, Eugenio Sena. A committee of one from each ward to act with the president as a committee on constitution and by-laws was 

named, consisting of Pedro Delgado, Charles F. Easley, John L. Zimmerman, Meliton Castillo. Jose Segura was appointed interpreter. [SFNM] 

1900October26; Hon. C.F. Easley went to Cerrillos this afternoon on an electioneering trip. [SFNM] 
1900December15; Yesterday at noon notice of contest was served upon Hon. C.F. Easley by Hon. T.B. Catron for the office of member of the council in the 

thirty-fourth legislative assembly from Santa Fe county. Upon the face of the returns Mr. Easley, who is a Democrat, has a plurality of sixteen over Mr. 

Catron. Mr. Catron charges Republican boards of registration and Republican judges of election with committing all sorts of crimes and misdemeanors 
in order to pan out a majority for Mr. Easley. The voters of Santa Fe county do not approve of this [contest?] nor do they see any good reason for it. 

They know that the election in Santa Fe county was conducted as honestly as elections in New Mexico can be conducted. They also know that a great 

deal of money was spent for the success of the ticket headed by Mr. Catron. In addition the sheriffôs office, with all its power and its numerous 
deputies, on election day worked for that ticket. There was some intimidation and bulldogging but it was from that side. The Democrats had no earthly 

chance to bulldog or intimidate. The Republicans controlled the entire machinery, in every case. [SFNM] 



1901February22; Hon. C.F. Easley is in receipt of a prospectus and a volume of maps of the Rio Hondo Copper Company. The prospectus is illustrated 

with half toner, and well written. The maps were drawn by Prof. C.L. Herrick. [SFNM] 
1901May6; In the case of the Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe Railroad company vs. The Pueblo of Santo Domingo, the appraisers, C.F. Easley, Eduardo F. 

Otero and Ireneo L. Chaves, to appraise some lands that the railroad company desires for a right-of-way, have made their report to the court, appraising 

the land in question at $125. [SFNM] 
1901May9; The Midnight Sun Mining & Milling company, today filed incorporation papers in the office of Territorial Secretary Reynolds. The 

incorporators are A.N. Randall of Golden, C.F. Easley of Santa Fe, J.O. Wood of Albuquerque, J.D. Norton of St. Louis, S.D. Wilcox of Fort Scott, J.C. 

Bierce, W.H. Randall, J.E. Nettleton, Isaac La Grange of Kansas City. Capital $500,000; headquarters at Santa Fe and Kansas City. [SFNM] 
1901July5; Hon. C.F. Easley left last evening for Kansas City to transact some mining business. From Kansas City he will go to Chicago to attend a special 

meeting of the supreme lodge of the Knights of Pythias. [SFNM] 

1901November4; Hon. C.F. Easley, attorney, today received from the general land office, the patent for the Albemarle group of mines in the Cochiti district, 
consisting of the Albemarle, Huron, Ontario and Pamlico claims. The patent is to Henry Woods, Mrs. Rose Leonard, Charles H. Toll and Thomas 

Lowthian, who have sold their rights to the Cochiti Gold Mining company. [SFNM] 

1902January6; Mrs. W.E. Dame arrived on the noon train and is the guest of Mrs. C.F. Easley. [SFNM] 
1902February7; A quartet of Santa Fe citizens including L.A. Hughes, J.W. Akers, C.F. Easley and W.R. Price has located a section of land, in southern 

Santa Fe county and near the line of the proposed Santa Fe Central railway, that contains very fine indications of coal. The tract is being thoroughly 

prospected for them and they expect to find a good vein of merchantable coal. [SFNM] 

Chas F. Easley, demitted 1Jun1902 [Historical Register of Membership (Cerrillos Lodge #19)] 
1903May26; C.F. Easley, Esq., attorney for the Santa Fe Central Railway, left this afternoon in company with General Manager W.S. Hopewell for a visit to 

the Hagan coal fields. [SFNM] 

1903June5; Charles F. Easley, Esq., one of the attorneys for the Santa Fe Central Railway, returned on yesterday from a visit on legal business to the Hagan 

coal fields. [SFNM] 

1903July15; Filed, J.W. Raynolds, Secretary. Articles of Incorporation of The Gold Bullion Company. Art.II; The principal place of business Manhattan NYC. Art.III; Term 
50yrs. Art.IV; Directors; James A. Wood, Golden; Bradford L. Prince, StaFe; Gen. Charles F. Easley, StaFe; Thomas M. Waller, NYC; Samuel Jaros, NYC; Reuben S. 
Baldwin, NYC; Fred M.C. Choate, NYC; F.D. Lowrey, Larned KS; Stanley M. Hanway, Havre de Gras MD. Art.V; Capital $1,000,000. ï Suspended 2Feb1914. 
[BHenderson Abstract of Title No.3 30Sep1983] 

1904December31; Notaries Public As qualified December 31st, 1904. Term four years. Santa Fe County. Easley, Chas. F., Santa Fe, Term Expires Feb. 11, 1905. 
[NMBlueBook 1905, p.276] 

1907February16: Mayor I. Sparks, attorney Charles F. Easley and District Clerk A.M. Bergere are among those invited to take part in todayôs legislative excursion 
into Torrance County over the Santa Fe Central. They were among the number who left here this morning on a special train for Torrance. It is said that in 
addition to the human portions of todayôs excursion, several barrels of beer were taken along. A great quantity of ice also, so dame rumor has it, with the 
beer. This may be true and might not be true. The New Mexican does not vouch for it, but the chances are it is. [SFNM 100yrs] 

1907November15: Attorney Charles F. Easley has returned from a trip to Estancia on legal business. He reports conditions as prosperous there, and some good 
building is going on. [SFNM 100yrs] 

1909January9: Many promising young men have been admitted to the bar by the Territorial Supreme Court, including Ira L. Grimshaw, Santa Fe; Charles F. 
Easley, Estancia; William A. Sutherland, Las Cruces; Matt Fowler, Deming; C.M. Compton Jr., Portales; J.C. Compton, Portales; Edward C. Wade Jr., 
Alamogordo. [SFNM 100yrs] 

1909August28; New Mexican: Charles F. Easley (Late Surveyor General) Attorney-at-Law, Land and Mining business a specialty, Santa Fe, New Mexico. 
1912January23; (Matthews to McNulty) We have instructed Messrs. Easley & Easley to proceed to obtain patents on our mines and claims at Los Cerrillos  [McNulty papers 

(McCraw) b.19] 
1913May5; (ref CF Easley to McNulty) Office of  Easley & Easley, Attorneys At Law, Offices, Rooms 1, 2, 3, 4, Laughlin Building Santa Fe, N.M. Chas. F. Easley, Chas. R. 

Easley [McNulty papers (McCraw) b.20] 
1913May31; (invoice) Chas. F. Easley, In Account With John W. Mayes, Insurance, Abstract Blue Bell Mines and Blue Gem 4 pages [McNulty papers (P.McCraw) b.20] 
1916July14; The Santa Fe Hardware and Supply Co. Furniture, Heating, Plumbing, Tin Work ñGeneral Hardwareò Terms: Our limit, of credit, 60 days, and interest, at, rate of 

12 per cent, per annum will be charged after maturity. Dear Mc Herewith receipt have been holding thinking I might collect your 50 00 from Easley I will tell him you 
asked me to collect and apply on your account. am closing out the S.F. Hardware Co. Yours truly Geo. M. Kinsell.  [McNulty papers (P.McCraw) b.22] 

1918March29; (McNulty to Shearman & Sterling) I Protested last year. But you left it to Mr Easley Politics had some thing to do with it. old Mr Easley died last October + 
young Easley is in a hospital in Cal. This last 4 months. [McNulty papers (P.McCraw) b.24] 

-  witness & NP  - 
1882June27; Field Notes of the Survey of the Boundary Lines of the Private Land Claim No.56 or the ñGoteraò Tract; William M. Sanders, Survey Commenced June 27, 

1882, Survey Concluded June 28th 1882. [p.2] Alvino Arias Chainman, Witness C.F. Easley Juan his+mark Baca Chainman, John Townsend Notary Public. [p.3] Jose 
his+mark Arias Axeman. [p.48] additionally; William White Compassman. [Vol.G1095] 

1889June3; Dated. POA. William M. Mackintosh of StaFe co., to Mashew B. Bowman of StaFe co. to sell int in certain placer mineé Sig. William N. Mackintosh. Ackn; 
3Jun1889 Chas F. Easley NP. b.U Deeds p.346. [BHenderson Abstract of Title No.3 30Sep1983] 

1891April24; Notice For Publication. Pre-emption No.3290. Land Office at Santa Fe, N.M. April 14th, 1891. Notice is hereby given that the following named settler has filed 
notice of his intention to make final proof in support of his claim and that proof will be made before the Register and Receiver at Santa Fe, N.M., on June 2 1891, viz: 
David L. Miller, for N.E.1/2 N.E.1/4 Sec.13 Tp.14, N. R.7,E. and lots 5,6,7, in Sec.18 Tp.14, N. R.8E. He names the following witnesses to prove his continuous 
residence on and cultivation of said land, viz: O.W. Alexander, Wm.C. Rogers, Chas. F Easley, Geo.L. Wyllys, all of Cerrillos, New Mexico. A.L. Morrison Register. [The 
Rustler v.III n.42] 

1892November28; Cerrillos Water system franchise sold by T.F. Moore and Co. for $1 to Cerrillos Water and Irrigation Company, in presence of Carlo 

Digneo; cert 28Nov1892 Chas. F. Easley NP 

1898April30; Dated. Quitclaim Deed. Chas L. Thayer of Chicago IL, J.C. Kortz, Cleveland OH, J.A. Wood, Kansas City MO, Robert Kennedy of Golden, for $1.00, sell to 
Monte Christo Mining Co. All their right, title and interesté Rising Sun PMCé Sig. Chas L. Thayer, J.C. Kortz, J.A. Wood, Robert Kennedy. Ackn; 30Apr1898 Chas F. 
Easley NP for CLT. b.K Mining Records p.198. [BHenderson Abstract of Title No.3 30Sep1983] 

 
Charles Ralph Easley    - of StaFe 
1908June26: Judge John R. McFie has granted a temporary license to practice law to Ralph Easley, son of Charles F. Easley of this city. The former, who has just 

graduated from the law department of the University of Missouri, intends to open an office at Estancia. [SFNM 100yrs] 

1912January23; (Matthews to McNulty) We have instructed Messrs. Easley & Easley to proceed to obtain patents on our mines and claims at Los Cerrillos  [McNulty papers 
(McCraw) b.19] 



1913May5; (ref CF Easley to McNulty) Office of  Easley & Easley, Attorneys At Law, Offices, Rooms 1, 2, 3, 4, Laughlin Building Santa Fe, N.M. Chas. F. Easley, Chas. R. 
Easley [McNulty papers (McCraw) b.20] 

1917April17; check for $25 from McNulty to Chas. R. Easley (written on Ralph E. Twitchell Attorney at Law blank) [McNulty papers (P.McCraw) b.23] 
1918March29; (McNulty to Shearman & Sterling) I Protested last year. But you left it to Mr Easley Politics had some thing to do with it. old Mr Easley died last October + 

young Easley is in a hospital in Cal. This last 4 months. [McNulty papers (P.McCraw) b.24] 

________________________________________________________________ 
 
Alva J. East  (b.AliceTX 23Apr1907)    - of Lamy 
Alva J. East, resident Lamy, Signal Maint, b.AliceTX 23Apr1907 [Historical Register of Membership (Cerrillos Lodge #19)] 
1947; Alva J. East is Master of Cerrillos Masonic Lodge; William Grantham before, William T. Husler after 
 

Kendall / Kennedy B. Easter  (b.IN 1848>    - of Carbonateville 
BETHSHEBA owned by Maddux, Easter & Wyllis 
RATTAN owned by Easter & Duval 
1880April6; indenture; G.W. Sinclair Sr, G.W. Sinclair Jr sell for $1000 to Alfred Duwell, K.B. Easter all one undivided interest in Siting Bull mine, Rutton mine, ¼ mi N of 

Mina del tiro mine, in LCMD; presence C. Wells, certify (unfinished) [Locations & Mining Deeds C#15407 p.160] 
1880June5_census: A. Thompson; cartman, 40y-o, widower-married, born OH [OH OH], resident Los Cerrillos Carbonateville (Turquesa P.O.) with K.B. Easter (32 miner, 

single IN [PA IN]) 
1880June30; Deed; Arthur W. Smith sells for $50 to K.B. Easter undiv ½ int Betshbet Lode, (loc 13nob79 by Arthur W. Smith, T.A. Maddux), from S end Glad Democrat 

running S 1500ô, 150ô of surface ground on each side, about 1mi S from Old Turquiose mountain, in LCMD; certify 1July80 N.B. Laughlin Notary Public, recorded 
9August1880 [Locations & Mining Deeds C#15407 p.373] 

1880August6; indenture; K.B. Easter sells for $500 to George L. Wyllys undiv & entire ¼ int Betsheba Lode, (loc 13nob79), about 1mi S the Turquiose mountain, at S end of 
Globe Democrat mine running S 1500ô, 150ôea side, in LCMD; presence (blank), certify 7Aug80 N.B. Laughlin Notary Public, recorded 9August1880 [Locations & 
Mining Deeds C#15407 p.375] 

1880August20; R.G. Abbatt of Carbonateville certifies that on 15Dec79 he with John Billings discovered and located King Spar, in LCMD; on 14Feb80 Hugh Marshall et al 
claimed same ground as Straight Flush; on 15Mar80 K.B. Easter & Alfred Dwall relocated King Spar Lode claim that Marshall Straight Flush was illegal; sworn before 
N.B. Laughlin Notary Public [Locations & Mining Deeds C#15407 p.474] 

1881January7 (loc); Loc K.B. Easter, Locator, Nodaway Lode, 1500ô linear, in LCMD. 550ôSW & 950ôNE, 150ô on ea side, ca 1/4mi N from Turquoise 

Mtn, ca 3/4mi SW from Carbonateville. Attest tU Thompson. Filed for record 5Mar81 and Recorded 9Mar81 N.B. Laughlin Recorder {Cerrillos 

Mining Records Book 3 p.148} 

1881January22 (loc); K.B. Easter ½, John H. Mooney ½; Oregon Lode, about Ĳ mi S GCMtn, about 800ô SW from Helen Lode, in LCMD; 10ôNE 1490ôSW 150ôea side; 
recorded 18April1881 [Locations & Mining Deeds E#15409 p.256] 

1881January22 (loc); Loc by K.B. Easter ½, Alfred Duvall ½; Oregon Lode; 1500ô linear in LCMD, 10ôNE & 1490ôSW, 150ô on ea side, ca 3/4mi S from 

GCMtn and ca 800ôSW from Helen Lode. Filed for record 14Apr81 and Recorded 16Apr81. N.B. Laughlin Recorder {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 

4 p.15} 
1881January22 (loc); Loc by K.B. Easter ½, Alfred Duvall ½; Duvall Lode; 1500ô linear in LCMD, 750ôNE & 750ôSW, 150ô on ea side, ca 1/2mi S from 

GCMtn and 1/8 of a mi NE from Oregon and Helen Lodes. Filed for record 14Apr81 and Recorded 16Apr81. N.B. Laughlin Recorder {Cerrillos 

Mining Records Book 4 p.14} 

1881April4 (loc); Loc by A. Thompson ¼, K.B. Easter ¼, W.I. Bassett ¼, George Lawrence ¼; Little Mand  Lode, 1500ô linear, in LCMD, 300ôSW & 

1200ôNE, with 150ô on ea side; ca 3/4mi SE from Turquesa Mountain, ca 1/4mi nearly S from Cash Entry Shaft ca 400ô NE from Continental shaft. 

Filed for record 1Jul and Recorded 2Jul81 N.B. Laughlin Recorder {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 4 p.99} 

1881June25 (loc); Albert Thompson ½, K.B. Easter ½; Kansas Girl Lode, about 1000ô S General More Shaft, about Ĳ mi S from GC Mtn, bounded W by Helen Lode, E by 
Peaboy Lode, in LCMD; 500ôSW 1000ôNE, 150ôea side; recorded 19September1881 [Locations & Mining Deeds E#15409 p. 552] 

1881June25 (loc); Loc by Albert Thompson ½, K.B. Easter ½; Kansas Girl Lode, 1500ô linear, in LCMD, 500ôSW & 1000ôNE, with 150ô on ea side; ca 

1000ô S from the General More Shaft and ca 3/4mi S from GCMtn, and bounded on the W by the Helen Lode on the E by the Peabody Lode. Filed for 
record 16Sep81 and Recorded same day N.B. Laughlin Recorder {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 5 p.2} 

1881August26(loc); A. Thompson, H.B. Easter, locators Salid Muldoon lode 750ôSW+NE 300ôea side, bounded SW by Ramona Lode, 4mi N of old Placers 

Town, 6mi S Galisteo River, SBullsMD, rec 23Nov81 [b.D p.711] 

1881August13; Mining Deed; K.B. Easter sells for $12,500 to R.G. Abbott undiv ¼ int Bethsheba Lode, (loc 13Nov79 b.2 p.29 LCMR), about 1mi nearly S from Turquoise 
Mtn, about 800ô NE from Shaft and the Ethel Mine, in LCMD; attest (in Blank), certify 13Aug81 N.B. Laughlin Notary Public; recorded 12September1881 [Locations & 
Mining Deeds E#15409 p.535] 

1881September1; Mining Deed; William Bassett (<sig= W.I. Basset) sells for $150 to Kendall B. Easter undiv ¼ int Little Maud Lode, (loc 4Apr81 b.4 p.99), about ½ mi SE 
Cash Entry Mine, in LCMD; attest H.M. Jones, certify 9Sept81 N.B. Laughlin Notary Public; recorded 12September1881 [Locations & Mining Deeds E#15409 p.533] 

1882January1 (loc); K.B. Easter; OW Ruggles Lode, about 1mi W Carbonateville, bounded NE by Black Ranger, E by White Cloud, in LCMD; 750ô NE&SW, 150ôea side; 
recorded 1April1882 [Locations & Mining Deeds F#15410 p. 118] 

1882January1 (loc); Loc by K.B. Easter; O.W. Ruggles Lode, 1500ô linear, in LCMD, 750ôSE & 750ôNW, with 150ô on ea side. Ca 1mi W from 
Carbonateville bounded on the NE by the Black Ranger + on the E by the White Cloud. Filed for record 30Mar82 and recorded same day N.B. 

Laughlin Recorder. {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 5 p.119} 

1882February13; Mining Deed; George Lawrence of Los Cerrillos sells for $100 to Kennedy B. Easter, Albert Thompson undiv ¼ int Little Maud, (loc 4Apr81 b.L p.524), 
about ¼ mi from Cash Entry mine, in LCMD; presence Fred Lindner, certify 13Feb82 Jordan B. Cottle Notary Public, recorded 13February1882 [Locations & Mining 
Deeds F#15410 p. 64] 

1882October25; Indenture; Albert Thompson [sig=Al Thompson] sells for $200 to K.B. Easter undiv 3/8int Little Maud Lode,  ca 3/4mi SE from 

Turquoise Mtn. And ca 1/4mi nearly S from Cash Entry Shaft. Ca 400ô NE from Continental Shaft, in LCMD. Attest John McHlany. Cert 25Oct82 

Arthur A. Cruttenden NP. Filed for Recorded 25Oct82 and duly recorded 27Oct82 Arthur A. Cruttenden Recorder. {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 
p.28} 

1882November9; Mining Deed; K.B. Easter sells for $200 to Albert Thompson undiv 1/3int Helen Lode, S of the GCMtn, rec b.1 p.186 LCMR, in LCMD. 

Attest William Easton. Cert 9Nov82 Arthur A. Cruttenden NP. Filed for record 13Dec82 and recorded the same day Arthur A. Cruttenden Recorder. 
{Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.50} 

1882November16; Mining Deed; Michael ONeil sells for $200 to John McAlan of Carbonateville Nodaway Lode, (loc 7Jan81 by R.B. Easter b.L p.230), about ¾ mi SW of 
Carbonateville, in LCMD; presence Wm C. Rogers, certify 16Nov82 Jordan B. Cottle Notary Public, recorded 19March1883 [Locations & Mining Deeds F#15410 p.377] 



1882Nobember16; Mining Deed [overwritten See Page 115] Michael OôNeal<sig=OôNeil] sells for $200 to John McAlan Nodaway Lode, ca 3/4mi SW of 

Carbonateville, in LCMD, Loc 7Jan81 by K.B. Easter, rec b.L p.230. Presence Wm C. Rogers. Cert 16Nov82 Jordan B. Cottle NP. Filed for record 
2Feb83 and duly recorded the same day Arthur A. Cruttenden Recorder {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.110} 

1882Nobember9; Mining Deed; K.B. Easter sells for $100 to Micheal OôNeil Nodaway Lode, in LCMD, ca 1/4mi N from Turquoise Mtn and 3/4mi SW 

from Carbonateville. Attest William Easten. Cert 9Nov82 Arthur A. Cruttenden NP. Filed for record 3Feb83 and duly recorded the same day Arthur A. 
Cruttenden Recorder {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.113} 

1882Nobember16; Mining Deed; Micheal OôNeil sells for $200 to John McAlan of Carbonateville Nodaway Lode, ca 3/4mi SW of Carbonateville, in 

LCMD, Loc 7Jan81 by K.B. Easter, rec b.L p.230. Presence Wm C. Rogers. Cert 16Nov82 Jordan B. Cottle NP. Filed for record 3Feb83 and duly 
recorded the same day Arthur A. Cruttenden Recorder {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.115} 

1883February19; Mining Deed; K.B. Easter of Carbonateville sells for $300 to John McAlan undiv 1/2int Sitting Bull Lode, Situated W of the Helln Lode 

and ca 1.25<1/4?mi W of the Mina del Tiro mine in the LCMD. Loc b.C p.163 and transfer b.C p.161. Presence [blank]. Cert 19Feb83 Jordan B. Cottle 
at my office in Carbonateville. Filed for record 22Feb83 and duly recorded the same day Arthur A. Cruttenden Recorder. {Cerrillos Mining Records 

Book 6 p.134} 

-  as attestor  - 
1880April21 (loc); Albert Thompson; Melwina (Melonia) lode, about 1mi S Grond Central Mtn, about 200yds S Grand Central Mtn [error?], about 200yds from S extension of 

Peabody lode, in LCMD; 750ô NE & SW, 150ôea side; attest Michael Oneil, K.B. Easter, recorded 12November1880 [Locations & Mining Deeds D#15408 p. 94] 
1880April21 (loc); Loc by Albert Thompson, Melvina Lode 1500ô 750ôNE & 750ôSW 150ô on ea side. ca 1mi S of Grand Central Mtn and ca 200yds S 

from the South Extension of the Peabody lode, in LCMD. Attest Micheal ONeal, K.B. Easter. Filed for record 20Jul80, recorded same day N.B. 
Laughlin Recorder LCMD {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 2 p.150} 

1881January11 (loc); Loc by R.G. Abbott ½, N.B. Laughlin ½, Zulu Chief Lode, 1500ô linear, in LCMD, 700ôNE & 800ôSW, 150ô on ea side, ca 2mi S 

and a little E from Turquesa, ca 1/2mi NE from Chester Mine<underwritten Good Hope mine], ca 1/2mi E from Good Hope mine, ca 1/2mi W from 

Poverty Hollow, in Sec 16 T14N RE. Attest K.B. Easter. Filed for record 1Apr81 and Recorded 6Apr81 N.B. Laughlin Recorder {Cerrillos Mining 
Records Book 3 p.189} 

1881November8; M.W. Barber, K.B. Easter swear before Dennis Cofflin Justice of the Peace that the shaft on Alice No.2 in 1881 was done 11ô or more for H.M. Atkinson; 
recorded 7August1882 [Locations & Mining Deeds F#15410 p.226] 

1883February17 PoL; William Easton, K.B. Easter swear before F.C. Whitney NP that there was at least $100 worth of work and labor performed on 

Carbonat, Sun Rise, Summit, La Plata Lodes, in LCMD, for 1882. Filed for record 22Feb83 and duly recorded the same day Arthur A. Cruttenden 
Recorder. {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.140} 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Easterday * 
Easterday    - of StaFe 
1858August29, Kingsbury to Webb; ñHersch has got his steam mill started. It works well and he is delighted with it. Mr. Easterday is to have the 

management of it. McKutchen is trying to buy Joe out, has offered him $60,000.+ for the property and all his interests in the Territory including his last 

flour contract. H. Oneil has gone to the States for goods, will bring a fall train this season. I think he and Mc are together in trying to buy Joe out, 
however, there is little prospect that Joe will make the trade.ò [Trading in Santa Fe, 1996 p.106] 

 

Dr. George S. Easterday    - of Abq 
Before the turn of the century, well known doctors I recollect wereé Easterday. [For Me the Sun, 1957, R.A. Stamm p.314] 

1881; Dr. George S. Easterday arrives ABQ; 1894 joined by bro Dr. J.S. Easterday 
1893November28; Arrivals at the Claire; G.S. Easterday, Albuquerque. [SFDNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 *  Eastman *  
C. N. Eastman    - certifier -  - of NashvilleTN 
1880July8; Enos Andrews in own right and atty for Benjamin F. Steck, Harriet W. Wheelock of Lycoming Co PA leases for 15yrs to Vesper Dorneck, Robert A Cruzen (both 

of Nashville TN); Bonanza No.3, 800ô W of Turquoise mine in CMD, W İ Sec5 T14 R8E; certify C.N. Eastman Clerk, recorded 17November1880 [Locations & Mining 
Deeds D#15408 p.116] 

1880October11; John P. Meyers of Atlanta GA, Robert A. Cruzen, Vesper Dorneck (both of Nashville TN) sell to Tennessee & Los Cerrillos Gold & Silver Mining Company of 
TN; Bonanza No.3, in CMD, originally purchased 10June80 (b.C p.282), from discovery shaft of Pitsburg lode southeasterly about 185ô to NE corner Bonanza No.3, 
thence 1500ô southerly; certify for RAC & VD 11Oct80 C.N. Eastman Clerk Davidson Co TN, certify for JPM 13Oct80 T.A. Grouns? Deputy Clerk Hamilton Co TN, 
recorded 17November1880 [Locations & Mining Deeds D#15408 p.114] 

1881September n.d. 12?; P.B. Allison <sig= TFP Allison, N. Baxter Jr <sig= Namanen, M. Campbell <sig= Michael, J.M. Hardins <sig= Harding, C.L. Lewis, Wm Morrow, M. 
Nestor, S.W. Steele, T.M. Steger, J.C. Warner <sig= Jas, J.P. Williams, R.A. Cruzen sell for $1 to Nashville & NM Mining Co (TN Corp) Eva, (b.L p.274), S18°E from 
monument on McKenzie Mtn, S62°E from monument on NW peak GC Mtn, Baxter Lode, (b.L p.283), about ½ mi SE Carbonateville & McKenzie Mt, adjoins Eva on 
NW, Edgefield on SW, 300ôx1500ô, Edgefield lode, (loc 1Apr81 b.4 p.55 LCMR), about ½ mi SE from Turquois & McKenzie mt, bounded on E by Baxter lode, W by 
Ocean Queen lode 300ôx1500ô, Memphis lode, (loc 30Mar81 b.L p.319), about İ mi SW GC Mtn, joining Snide Lode on W, NE is Clara Lode, 300ôx1500ô, Steger 
Lode, (loc 31Mar81 b.E p.252), about İ mi SW GC Mtn, about İ mi W General More Lode, adjoining Snide Lode on W, 300ôx1500ô, Chattanooga Lode, (loc 1Apr81 
b.E p.253), about İ mi SW GC Mtn, about 2.5mi SW Carbonateville, joined E by Steger lode, W by Memphis Lode, 300ôx1500ô, <= in LCMD, J.C. Warner Lode, 
(Bernalillo Bk p.9) about 400ô S of Divide of Clay Ca¶on, joining on N Crown Point lode, S Baca Lode, on the spur of the Sandia Mtn in North Cañon, about 2mi S of 
residence of Henry Caldwell, about 3mi SE of La Madera, 600ôx1500ô, Nashville Lode, (b.B p.8), about 1mi SE of Madera, about 50ô E of Henry Caldwells residence, 
about 400ô W of Green Top Lode; certify 12Sept81 C.H. Eastman Clerk by W.C. McCann DC Davidson Co TN, certify 21Sept81 for Steele & Nestor N.B. Laughlin 
Notary Public, recorded 22September1881 [Locations & Mining Deeds E#15409 p.557] 

 

Francis Rueben Eastman  (b.LawrenceKS  d.Cerrillos 1909>    - wife is Grace Beard Eastman;  Bonanza City & Cerrillos 
Martha McWhorl[t]er and family from Bartlesville, OK. Her father Ralph Justin Eastman was b.Cerrillos, March 1909. Here is the family line: Fa: Francis Rueben Eastman, 

Cerrillos barber - from Lawrence KS; Mo: Grace Beard Eastman - from Lawrence KS; dau: Ida, b.1907 Lawrence KS; son: Ralph J, b.1909 Cerrillos NM. Francis inhaled 
a fly & died of aspiration 2 weeks later, when Ralph was 6 months old. The family returned to Lawrence KS where Francis was buried. [Martha McWhorl/ter Jun2013] 

1909-10 F.R. Eastman, barber @ Los Cerrillos [NM Business Directory] 



________________________________________________________________ 

 * Easton * 
D. M. Easton    - Las Cruces 

1882February7; The El Paso and White Oaks Railroad Company filed its articles of incorporation yesterday, P.F. Herlow, J.A. Miller, S.H. Newman, J.F. 

Harrison, N.B. Laughlin and D.M. Easten are the incorporators. The road will run from Las Cruces to a point twenty miles northeast of El Paso. The 

principal place of business will be Las Cruces. [SFDNM] 
 

George A. Easton    - Burros, Grant co. 
1902January18; The Southwestern Copper Company has tracked with steel all the levels of the 500-foot shaft on the St. Louis at Burros, Grant county. 
éOn Monday George A. Easton will commence retimbering the 500-foot shaft. [SFNM] 

 

Henry W. Easton  (b.31Aug1837)    - of Abiquiu, Chama m.d. 
Henry W. Easton, Sergeant, Co.B First Cavalry Regiment California Volunteers, (Co originally organized Aug1861 @ Camp Merchant CA by Capt. Fritz. Upon Term of 

Service expiry Aug1864 this company was reorganized at Ft. Sumner NM, by reenlistment and by new CaVol recruits; final demob 10Sep1866) enrolled @ StaFe 
5Oct1863; Reenlisted as Veteran Vol. from Co.D (enlisted @ Marysville CA, no muster or muster out rolls on file @ CA); promoted Sergt 28Jul1866, mustered out 
10Sept1866 @ Ft. Union with company. [www.calarchives4u.com] 

1872April5; Hank Easton, who came up last evening in the southern coach, reports that the Apaches killed a cow and stole two horses and two mules at 
Paraje. A party started in pursuit of the Indians the next morning. [SFDNM] 

1875January6; Hank Easton and Bill Taylor, interpreters with Gov. Arnyôs party, and late of modest fame at home; we notice are paragraphed in all the 

Metropolitan papers from Cherry Creek Diggings to the Hub as ñWild Hankò and ñRocky Mountain Bill;ò and are gazed on with as much interest and 
astonishment by the hunters after novelties and ñnativesò as ever were ñWild Billò or ñBuffalo Bill.ò They bid fair to compete with the latter for honors 

of dime novel notoriety. [SFDNM] 

1889July23; éthe Chama river placer fieldsé John Johnson, one of the locators of these gold bearing gravel lands, and Hank Easton, who has been at work 
in Cookôs copper camp, came down... [SFDNM] 

1891February10; H.W. Easton is in receipt of a letter from Louisville, Ky., stating that the Kendall Mining company will resume operations on the Chama 

river placers early in the spring. [SFDNM] 

1893October31; H.W. Easton received a letter from Abiquiu to-day stating that the big Bucyrus placer mine plant had left Chama and was daily expected to 

reach the Chama river. [SFDNM] 

1894January5; H.N. Adams and H.W. Easton arrived from the Chama river placers last night. They count on a boom at Hunter when spring opens. 
[SFDNM] 

1896March4; Arrivals at the Bon-Ton: Henry W. Easton, Abiquiu... [SFDNM] 

1896August20; Arrivals at the Bon Ton: Hank Easton, Abiquiu... [SFDNM] 
1896December11; At the Bon Ton: Henry W. Easton, Abiquiu... [SFDNM] 

1897April13; At the Bon-Ton: Henry W. Easton, Abiquiu... [SFDNM] 

1897May6; At the Bon-Ton: H.W. Easton, Abiquiu... [SFDNM] 
1897December11; H.W. Easton of Abiquiu, arrived last night. He has sold out his interests in the placer claims on the Chama river for a neat little sum and 

feels as if prosperity was surely here. He says that considerable prospecting is going on in that region and expects that active work on the Chama river 

placers, six miles above Abiquiu, will be prosecuted during the coming spring and summer. [SFDNM] 

1898February8; H.W. Easton is in the city from Abiquiu, where he has been looking after his mining property. He is stopping at the Bon Ton. ï At the Bon-

Ton: Steven Easton, H.W. Easton, Abiquiu; T.J. Clark, Monero; George McMurray, Cerrillosé [SFNM]   

1898February8; Notice. To all whom it may concern: Notice is hereby given that we, the undersigned, do hereby revoke all powers of attorney from and 
after January 31, 1898. David Allen, Henry W. Easton. [SFNM]   

1898March1; Dave Allen and Hank Easton, two mining men, are in the city on business. They are registered at the Bon Ton. ï At the Bon Ton: Dave Allen, 
H.W. Easton, Abiquiu; Frank Murray, C.M. Johnson, Cerrillosé [SFNM]   

1898August31; Henry W. Easton, the well known war veteran, is 61 years old today and is very hale and hearty. [SFNM] 

1899April12 ; Henry W. Easton left yesterday afternoon on a trip to Mexico, which will take him as far as Chihuahua. At L???? he met Ralph Reeder, of 
Illinois, who he will accompany. Mr. Reeder is traveling for the benefit of his health. [SFNM]   

1899October2; Henry W. Easton is in Santa Fe, on a visit from the soldiersô home at Santa Monica, Cal. [SFNM] 

1900August22; Stephen Easton, son of H.W. Easton, will be married tomorrow evening at 5 oôclock to Francisquita Pino de Allan. [SFNM] 

 
Steven Easton    - wife is Francisquita Pino de Allan;  of StaFe 
1892July5; The afternoon sports were witnessed by an enthusiastic crowd of 5,000 people. Following were the winners in the principal events. Horse race, 

three fourth mile dash, first money, Miguel Ortiz; second , the Conley horse, Will Knoll, riders 100 yard foot race, Steve Easton, first, F. Escudero, 

second; potato race, Dionicio Lucero, first; L. Montoya, second. A fifty yard ï three legged race was won by Roman Urioste and Juan Romero; sack 

race, Geo. Parsons, winner; E. Pacheco won the burro race. An Indian buck race and a squaw race were very comical features, the participants being 
from Santa Clara, Tesuque, Isleta and San Juan Pueblos. [SFDNM] 

1895November20; Steve Easton left this morning for Abiquiu where he will put in most of his time this winter hunting deer in the mountains. [SFDNM] 

1898February8; At the Bon-Ton: Steven Easton, H.W. Easton, Abiquiu; T.J. Clark, Monero; George McMurray, Cerrillosé [SFNM]   
1898May16; éSanta Fe volunteers who quit positions and professions to fight for Uncle Sam: Stephen Easton - Cowboy. [SFNM] 

1898November12; Trooper Stephen Easton is slowly improving, so that his folks have much hope for his complete recovery. [SFNM] 

1899April5; Buried with Military Honors. The body of Private Henry Clay Green of troop E, of the Rough Riders, who was killed in the charge up San Juan 
hill, arrived at Cerrillos from Santiago de Cuba yesterday. The funeral took place this afternoon. The young hero was buried with military honors, a 

detachment of eleven members from Santa Fe, of his company, having charge of the ceremony. Those were Captain F. Muller, Lieutenant W.E. Griffin, 

Sergeant T. Breen, Corporal James M. Dean, Corporal Ralph McFie, Trumpeter A.J. Griffin, Privates Arthur Skinner, Fred McCabe, William 
Schnepple, Stephen Easton and George Armijo. The detachment drove to Cerrillos. [SFNM]   

1899April20; Ex-Governor Prince, Hon. Amado Chaves and Stephen Easton have returned to Santa Fe from a five daysô trip through Rio Arriba county. 
They were accompanied on their journey by Francisco Chavez, of Abiquiu. They visited the newly found copper camp situated a few miles southwest 

of Coyote, in Rio Arriba county and found excellent indications, but not much development. The party located a number of very promising claims and 



their visit wll probably result in considerable work being done during this season. Timber and water are plentiful in the vicinity of the camp. There is 

much snow in the mountains. This has commenced to melt and the Chama river is very high. [SFNM] 
1899August9; Stephen Easton went to Bernalillo this afternoon. [SFNM] 

1900April18; Stephen Easton, of Santa Fe, is spending a few days at Albuquerque and Bernalillo. [SFNM] 

1900August22; Stephen Easton, son of H.W. Easton, will be married tomorrow evening at 5 oôclock to Francisquita Pino de Allan. [SFNM] 
1901March28; Stephen Easton, who has been working at Bland, has returned to Santa Fe, having been over taken by serious illness while in the Cochiti. 

[SFNM] 

 

William Easton    - of Carbonateville 
1881July22 (loc); Loc by William Easton; Palace Home Lode; 1500ô linear, in LCMD, 150ôNE & 1350;SW, with 150ô on ea side, Bounded on SW end by 

the Rigney Lode, and ca 300ô S from Pol Pick Lode, and 300ô N from the Bonanza No3 Mine. Witness John Rice, M.W. Barber. Filed for Record 

22Jul81 and Recorded same day N.B. Laughlin Recorder. {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 4 p.114} 

1881October6; Mining Deed; H.M. Jones sells for $100 to William Easton undiv ½ int Adalidea Lode (loc 18Aug81 by Wm Russell and H.M. Jones b.4 p.147 LCMR); 
presence H. Beckwith, certify 6Oct81 N.B. Laughlin Notary Public, recorded 26October1881 [Locations & Mining Deeds D#15408 p.611] 

1881October18; Mining Deed; Wm Russell of Carbonateville sells for $100 to Wm Easton of Carbonateville undiv ½ int Adalida (b.4 p.147 LCMR), W of Little Peter Mine 
about 400ô, in LCMD; presence H.M. Jones, certify 18Oct81 N.B. Laughlin Notary Public, recorded 26October1881 [Locations & Mining Deeds E#15409 p.617] 

1881November22; Mining Deed; William Easton of Carbonateville sells for $50 to _ P. Gould undiv ½ int Adelida mine, (loc 18Aug81), about 500ô NW Little Peter mine, 
bounded E by Little Peter & Little Annie, SW by Alma, in LCMD; presence H.M. Jones, certify 22Nov81 N.B. Laughlin Notary Public, recorded 30November1881 
[Locations & Mining Deeds D#15408 p.743] 

1882July22; Mining Deed; William Easton sells for $500 to H.M. Jones undiv 1/3 int Blind Tom, about Ĳ mi SW of Turquesa, about 1000ô NE of Bonanza No.3, in LCD; 
presence J.W. Neff, certify 22July82 N.B. Laughlin Notary Public, recorded 31July1882 [Locations & Mining Deeds F#15410 p.222] 

1882July24; Mining Deed; E.B. Ames sells for $100 to William Easton undiv 1/8 int Independence mine, about 400ô S of BB Pears, on same lead as BB Pears, NW of GC 
Mtn about ¼ mi, in LCMD; presence H.M. Jones, certify 24July82 D.D. Harkness JP, recorded 31July1882 [Locations & Mining Deeds F#15410 p.221] 

-  as witness  - 
1881June9<poss 4,7?] (loc); Loc by J.P. OôBrien ½, N.B. Laughlin ½; Zulu King Lode, 1500ô linear, in LCMD, 35ôSW & 1465ôNE, with 150ô on ea side; 

ca 1mi NE from Carbonateville and ca 1/2mi NE from foot of McKinzie Mtn bounded SW by San Diego Lode, and SE by Rice Lode. Attest Wm 
Easton, John Neff. Filed for record _Sep81<2before, 3after] and Recorded same day N.B. Laughlin Recorder {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 4 

p.148} 

1881August6<2 originally] PoL; William Easton, John Neff swear before N.B. Laughlin NP at least $100 worth of work has been done on Helena Lode; in 
LCMD, loc 22Oct79 Rec b.4 p.52 LCMR, bounded on the SE side by NW side of N.B. Laughlin Lode. Filed for Record 6Aug81<2 original] and 

Recorded same day N.B. Laughlin Recorder. {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 4 p.119} 
1881August17 (loc); William P. Wilson; Toltec Mining Claim  470 by 300ô linear, NE cor is S boundary of the Baca Bonanza, thence N47ÁW 150ô to the N 

end center stake, 300ô to the NW cor stake in place, thence in a S43ÁW dir 470ô to the N End boundary of the Aztec claim in place, thence a S47°E dir 

150ô to S End center Stake which is 7ô S from the center of the discovery Shaft, 300ô to the SE cor, and thence N43ÁE dir 470ô to the place of 
commencing; the Baca Bonanza Mining claim bounds it on the N and the Aztec on the S. Witness William Easton. Filed for Record 23Aug81 and 

Recorded same day N.B. Laughlin Recorder. {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 4 p.140} 

1882November9; Mining Deed; K.B. Easter sells for $200 to Albert Thompson undiv 1/3int Helen Lode, S of the GCMtn, rec b.1 p.186 LCMR, in LCMD. 
Attest William Easton. Cert 9Nov82 Arthur A. Cruttenden NP. Filed for record 13Dec82 and recorded the same day Arthur A. Cruttenden Recorder. 

{Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.50} 

1882Nobember9; Mining Deed; K.B. Easter sells for $100 to Micheal OôNeil Nodaway Lode, in LCMD, ca 1/4mi N from Turquoise Mtn and 3/4mi SW 
from Carbonateville. Attest William Easten. Cert 9Nov82 Arthur A. Cruttenden NP. Filed for record 3Feb83 and duly recorded the same day Arthur A. 

Cruttenden Recorder {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.113} 

1883January5; POL for 1882; Wm Cayzer, William Easton swear before Jordan B. Cottle Notary Public at least $100 labor on Ivanho Lode, in CMD, expenditure by G.W. 
Holman + others; recorded 10January1883 by Atanasio Romero Probate Clerk + Recorder [Locations & Mining Deeds F#15410 p.316] 

1883January5 POL ; Wm Cayzer, Wm Easten swear before Jordan B. Cottle NP that at least $100 worth of labor has been performed upon Ivanho Lode, in 
LCMD, for 1882. such expenditure was made by G.W. Holman and others owners of said lode mining claims. Filed for record 5Jan83 and recorded the 

same day Arthur A. Cruttenden Recorder. {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.90} 

1883February17 PoL; William Easton, K.B. Easter swear before F.C. Whitney NP that there was at least $100 worth of work and labor performed on 
Carbonat, Sun Rise, Summit, La Plata Lodes, in LCMD, for 1882. Filed for record 22Feb83 and duly recorded the same day Arthur A. Cruttenden 

Recorder. {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.140} 

1882February22 <should be 1883; POL for 1882; William Eaeston (<sig= Easton), Al Thompson swear before Atanasio Romero Probate Clerk + Recorder at least $100 
worth of labor on Sitting Bull Lode, expenditure by Al Thompson and others owners, in LCMD [Locations & Mining Deeds F#15410 p.366] 

1883February22 POL; William Easton, Al Thompson swear before Arthur A. Cruttenden NP that at least $100 worth of labor has been performed upon 

Sitting Bull Lode, in LCMD, for 1882. such expenditure was made by Al Thompson and other owners of said claim. Filed for record 22Feb83 and 

duly recorded the same day Arthur A. Cruttenden Recorder. {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.142} 

1883February22 PoL; W.P. Gould, William Easton swear before Arthur A. Cruttenden NP that at least $100 work of labor has been performed upon 
Independence, Deadlock Lodes, in LCMD, for 1882, such expenditure was made by Wm Easton, H.M. Jones owners of said claims. Filed for record 

23Feb83 and duly recorded the same day Arthur A. Cruttenden Recorder, {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.147} 

1883August20; POL for 1883; William Easton, Frank H. Nichols swear before Jordan B. Cottle Notary Public at least $100 worth of labor + improvements on Sitting Bull, 
Wm P Gould Lodes, expended by John McAllan, in LCMD; recorded 1September1883 [Locations & Mining Deeds F#15410 p.445] 

1883August20 POL; William Easton, Frank H. Nichols swear before Jordan B. Cottle NP that at least $100 worth of Labor and Improvements has been 
performed upon Sitting Bull, W.P. Gould Lodes, in LCMD during the year ending 31Dec83, such expenditure was made by John McAllan owner of 

said claim. Filed for record 31Aug83 and duly recorded same day, Arthur A. Cruttenden Recorder Per A.D. Giles Deputy {Cerrillos Mining Records 

Book 7 p.39} 
1883October30 POL; Daniel Wyant, William Easton swear before C. Wells Justice of the Peace that at least $100 worth of work and improvements were 

performed or made upon Julia Lode, in LCMD, Such expenditure was made by or at the expense of B.F. Fish and J.C. Larimore owners of said claim. 

Attest J. Dolan, Wm Ward. Filed for record 3Oct83 and duly recorded same day S.A. Larock Recorder, {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 7 p.42} 
1883October30 POL; Daniel Wyant, William Easton swear before C. Wells Justice of the Peace that at least $100 worth of work or improvements were 

performed on Muskegon Lode, and $66 on the Mother in law  [three fourths<lined out] two thirds of which is owned by the Niles + Los Cerrillos 

Mining Company, in LCMD, Such expenditure was made by or at the expense of the Niles + Los Cerrillos Mining Company owners of said claim 



(Excepting 1/3 of the Mother in-law owned by the Cash Entry Company). For the year 1883 + 4. Attest J. Dolan, Wm Ward. Filed for record 30Oct83 

and recorded same day S.A. Larock Recorder, {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 7 p.43} 

1884January12; POL for 1883; Samuel Harris swears before C. Wells Justice of Peace at least $100 worth of labor Thos Allen Lode, anrum Lode, in CMD, expended by 
H.H. Marley & Co owners; witness William Easton, C.W. Uptegrove, {filed&rec 12Jan84 b.7 p.72 LCMR SA Larock Recorder}, recorded 15January1884 [Locations & 
Mining Deeds F#15410 p.599] 

1884January12 POL; Samuel Harris swears before C. Wells Justice of Peace that at least $100 worth of Labor has been performed upon Thos Allen Lode, 

Aurum Lode  in CMD, during the year ending 31Dec83. Such expenditure was made by H.H. Marley owner of said claims. Witness William Easton, 

C.W. Uptegrove. Filed for record 12Jan84 and recorded same day S.A. Larock Recorder, {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 7 p.72} 

1884January12; POL for 1883; C.W. Uptegrove swears before C. Wells Justice of Peace at least $100 worth of labor by 12ô in depth Painter Boy, Garfield, Golden Eagle, 
Owasco, Thos Allen, aurum, in CMD, expended by H.H. Marley owners; witness Samuel Harris, William Easton, {filed&rec 12Jan84 b.7 p.71 LCMR SA Larock 
Recorder}, recorded 15January1884 [Locations & Mining Deeds F#15410 p.600] 

1884January12 POL; C.W. Uptegrove swears before C. Wells Justice of Peace that at least $100 worth of Labor has been performed by 12ô in depth upon 

ea Painter Boy, Garfield, Golden Eagle, Owasco, Thos Allen, Aurum in CMD, during the year ending 31Dec83. Such expenditure was made by 

H.H. Morley owner of said claims. Witness Samuel Harris, William Easton. Filed for record 12Jan84 and recorded same day S.A. Larock Recorder, 
{Cerrillos Mining Records Book 7 p.71} 

________________________________________________________________ 

 

John Eastwood    - Ortiz Mine grant 

1881July30 (disc&loc); John Eastwood locators; placer 20ac, NW corner is near Galisteo River, just S of Red Horse Pmc, ı mi NE (SE?) of Cerrillos Station; S600ô E1500ô 
600ôN; attest (none), recorded 24October1881 [Locations & Mining Deeds E#15409 p.613] 

 
John Eathorn  (d.WhiteAsh 27Feb1895)    - wife is Lizzie Eathorn;  of Madrid 
1895February28; The New Mexican of last evening gave all procurable particulars of the shocking and appalling disaster at the White Ash coal mine, three 

miles south of Cerrillos, a little before noon yesterday [Wed.27th]. Additional details secured by this paper during the night and day increase rather than 

diminish the magnitude of the horror. The following is the awful death toll. Mike Ryan, Alajandra Kelly. John Donahue. Marion Ellingworth. Wm. 
Ellingsworth. Sam Hardesty. Sam James. J.T. McCart. Jules Deserant and two sons. August Leplat. George Spreight. Wm. Jones. John Eathorn. Roy 

Phillips. Richard Diro. Louis Beck. A. Rafette. Tom White. Dan Sweeney. Steve Grugribic. John Flick. Henry Harron. Unknown. Fourteen of the dead 

men had families dependent upon them. [SFDNM] 

1895February28; List of the dead so far: J.R. Donohue, pit boss. Johnnie Bock, trapper boy. Sam Hardest, miner.  - Ellingsworth. Roy Phillips. William Jones. Sam Jones. 
William T. MôCarty. Tom Whiteley. John Sweeny. John Rathorne. Tom Holliday. Jules Descrant, father. Henry Descrant, son. Louis Descrant, son. Angelo Buffato. Ricard 
Dero. Emil Homet. George Spaite. August Leplat. D. Sumitis. Henry Harben. [Salt Lake Tribune, Thursday 28Feb1895] 

1895February28 approved; House Joint Resolution XIV. $6,500 appropriated for the relief of the familiesé Catherine McCart, widow and one child, $350; Margaret 
Hardesty, widow and one child, 350; Domecia Ruffetti, widow and three children, 650; Catherine Deiro, aged parent, 200; Lena Phillipps, widow and one child, 350; 
Sarah Harbin, widow and two children, 500; Josephine Disarrant, widow, lost husband and two sons, 450; Annie Donohue, widow and six children, 1,100; Elizabeth 
Speight, widow and two children, 500; Mrs. Kelley, aged parent, 200; Lizzie Eathorn, widow and one child, 350; Emil Leplat, aged parent, 200; John Beck, aged parent, 
200. [Report of US Coal Mine Inspector For NM, 1895] 

1895March1; Cerrillos In Mourning. Impressive Exercises Attending the Funeral of the Dead Miners ï The Inquest. A message from Cerrillos to the New 

Mexican says the funeral of fourteen of the victims of the White Ash mine disaster occurred this morning. The bodies of the others are being interred 

this afternoon, save in the case of Jones and Eathorn, whose remains have been sent to their home in Pennsylvania. All business is suspended and the 
dwellings and stores houses are draped in mourning. Great crowds attended the funeral. ¶ The services at the Catholic church were presided over by the 

Vicar General Fourchegu, assisted by Rev. Garnier. Sister Victoria was among those present from Santa Fe. At the Methodist church Rev. Adams 

officiated. The local lodges of the Odd Fellows and Knights of Pythias paid due respect to those among the dead who were members of these orders. ¶ 
The taking of evidence before the coronerôs inquest commences to-night. There is a disposition to make the investigation very thorough. [SFDNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 *  Eaton *  
Eaton 

1881April16 ; Messrs. Eaton, Tate, Risley and Fenn, who have been in Santa Fe for a week or more, left yesterday for the New Placers and Cerrillos mining 

camps. They will examine the mining property of the various camps, and expect to make some purchases. They will be out for several days. ï A large 
number of people went out to Carbonateville yesterday. Among the party were several Eastern men, who contemplate purchasing property. [SFDNM]   

 
Eaton bros.  <b.1909 & 1910>    - of StaFe 
1923; Sheriff Delgado reported today the capture by Deputy sheriff Eugenio Baros of Galisteo of the three Santa Fe boys who disappeared about  a week ago. Fordy Patron, 

aged 15, but quite a big youth, was the advance guard. It appears that he was followed by the Eaton brothers, aged 14 & 13 years, all of them bound for Madrid. That 
was their story and it would appear they are enthusiasts in the child labor idea now combated strenuously by writers and lawmakers in the eastern and southern states. 
They said they intended to work in the Madrid Coal mines. ¶ Mr. Delgado says that the boys were arrested by sheriff Baros between Ortiz Station, and Cerrillos.  The 
Eaton boys traveled in a primitive fashion ï barefooted. A horse was missing from the Riley Ranch near Galisteo and it may be one of the boys intended to change his 
style of locomotion. ¶ The trip of the three boys is to be brought to the attention of the authorities and may become a matter of the juvenile court to investigate. [SFNM 
per LPadilla]    

 
Cyrus Eaton    - of Denver 
1874May2; Mr. Geo H. Ruple, who has been in our city for the past week doing business for his house of Cyrus Eaton & Co., of Denver, left this morning 

by private conveyance for the east. [SFDNM] 

1881January28; Cyrus Eaton, of Denver, was registered last night aty the Exchange. Mr. Eaton brought his family with him from Denver as far as Las 
Vegas where he left them to visit the Hot Springs. [SFDNM] 

1881June4; Cyrus Eaton, of Denver, put in an appearance yesterday evening. [SFDNM] 

 



Daniel L. C. Eaton    - Ortiz Mine grant 

1877April28; William H. McBroom, James Hay, Augustine S. Gaylord, Amasa Rust, Andrew Hay, Dan Sawyer, Stephen C. McElroy, Daniel L.C. Eaton 
Michigan placer m.c. Placers 160acre claim, NE corner Alice Placer m.c.; witness Ezra Rust, William M. Tipton [b.A p.356] 

1877April30; placer mining claims 160acres ea. in NE part of Ortiz Mining Grant in 4quads around Ojo de la Vaca ï NE=North Star Placer Mining claim ï W.R. Burt, Joshua 
Futhills, C.A. Rust, J.K. Stevens, Andrew Hay, A.S. Gaylord, Amasa Rust, D.L.C. Eaton; witness W.H. McBroom, Wm M.Tipton [Locations & Mining Deeds A#15405 
p362] 

 

Col. Ethan W. Eaton  (b.Montgomery co.NY 10Oct1827  d.1913)    - wife is Marcelina Chavez de Eaton (b.NM 1830 d.1920);  of Galisteo & Socorro 

The first and foremost of the gabachos (gringos) who turn up in the censuses and land titles around Galisteo was Ethan (Eathan) W. Eaton (1827-1913), who arrived in New 
Mexico in 1849 to prospect for gold. On January 20th, 1851, Domingo Fernandez sold his part of the San Cristobal Grant (ñone undivided 26th partò larger than all the 
others), to Eaton and Alexander Reynolds for $500. Eaton soon bought out Reynolds for $262  The property stretched from Las Lagunitas to Ojo de la Baca, SW to 
Bajada de los Comanches, then from ñLa Lagunita to a ledge of rocks known as the creston, on the north, and from said ledgeéto Ojo de la Baca (including the spring) 
to the Bajada.ò Eaton married Marcelina Chavez (1830-1920), daughter of Ramon Chavez (OF GALISTEO?) They built an impressive stone home on Rancho San 
Cristobal, opened a store in Galisteo, and had nine children. Eaton was a Colonel in the Civil War, Captain in NM Volunteers ¶ The land sold to Eaton encompassed the 
last Mexican grants -- Cadillal and Tacubaya -- where the villagers were accustomed to farm, graze, water their stock, and cut firewood. In 1854 Eaton petitioned the 
Surveyor General for confirmation which he received (by an Act of Congress 6/21/1860; it was patented Dec 1880), but only for ña triangular area from the mesita of the 
Lagunitas upwards as far as the spring of La Vacaôò which was Fernandezôs parcel. Eaton, who thought he had bought the whole grant, began a long battle for a 
resurvey. In 1854, he prohibited Galisteo sheepherders from grazing on the Canada de la Casita, a tributary of the San Cristobal Arroyo?, but ñfrom that line claimed by 
Mr. Eaton contains a donation which is called Tacubaya and right there on the west starts the donation of Cadial.ò [LLippard draft MS p.64-65; 2009] 

1849; Eaton, ostensibly headed to CA, arrives in StaFe and goes no farther 
1851; Domingo Fernandez sells Rancho de San Cristoval Grant for $500 to Eathan Eaton, Alexander Reynolds; Ethan arrived NM 1849, prospected for gold, opened a store 

in Galisteo, married Marcelina Chavez (1830-1920) 1851; Reynolds lost suit in 1853, needs money, sells his half for $262 to Eaton; Eaton rises to Colonel in Civil War. 
In the late 1850s, Ethan Eaton was chasing Apaches who had rustled 100 head of his livestock, when he was wounded ñin the thigh by an arrowhead two and a half inches 
long.ò [per LLippard; from Illustrated History of NM, 1895] 

1859December20; José Seraf´n Ramirezé On 12 February 1844, he petitioned Governor Mariano Martinez for a tract of land known as the Ca¶on del Agua, described as 
being located about a league from the Real de San Francisco near the El Tuerto placer mine. He based his claim on the fact that he had inherited a mine on that 
property from his grandfather. Martinez sent the matter to the departmental assembly and upon their recommendation issued the grant on 13 February 1844. Ramirez 
presented his claim to Pelham on 20Dec1859, filing the testimony of the grant as evidence of his title. Pelham held a brief hearing, questioned two witnesses, and 
recommended confirmation of the land. He took no action on the mine, holding that he had no authority to adjudicate that portion of the claim. Congress confirmed the 
grant on 12 June 1866. The grant was surveyed for 3,501 acres in August 1866 and patented based on this survey in July 1875. Ramirez sold the grant to a mining 
company called Cooley, Kitchens, and Company in 1866 for $40,000. It was later established that Ramirez had conspired with the Cooley, Kitchens, and Company to 
fraudulently relocate the boundaries of the grant so as to include a highly desired copper mine. [Suzanne Sims Forrest, NMHR Oct96] 

1862May25; reorganization of NMVolunteers ï Co.A Capt Francisco Abréu, 1st Lieut Nicolas Quintana Co.B Capt Jesus Maria Sena y Baca, 1st Lieut Fonifacio Machowiecz, 
Co.C Capt J.D. Sena 1st Lieut Corydon E. Cooley, Co.D Capt Ethan W. Eaton, 1st Lieut John Lewis, Co.E Capt Rafael Chacon, 1st Lieut N.M. McCrae, Co.F Capt 
Julius C. Shaw, 1st Lieut Agustin P. Damours, Co.G Capt Santiago L. Hubbell, 1st Lieut Charles Meinhold, Co.H Capt James Graydon, 1st Lieut Saturnino Baca, Co.I 
Capt Edward Bergmann, 1st Lieut William Brady, Co.K Capt John Thompson, 1st Lieut Francis McCabe 

1865March27; John Ayres, E.W. Eaton, George Willing, Jose Archiveque; Milagro Placer de San Francisco; [b.A p.3] 

1865April26; E.W. Eaton, Eulagio Aranda, Jose Archiveque, Sylvester Davis, una veta de oro y otros minerales; el Placer de San Francisco [b.A p.28]  

1865April26; E.W. Eaton, Eulogio Aranda, Francisco Aranda, Jose Archibeque, San Miguel una veta de oro y otros minerales; el Placer de San Francisco 

[b.A p.31]  

1865April26; E.W. Eaton, Jose Archibeque, Sylvester Davis, Nicolas Chavez, una veta de oro y otros minerales; el Placer de San Francisco [b.A p.32]  
1865April26; E.W. Eaton, Jose Archibeque, Nicolas Chaves, Juan Chaves, una veta de plata oro y otros minerales; el Placer de San Francisco [b.A p.34]  

1865April26; E.W. Eaton, Eulogio Aranda, Jose Archibeque, Juan Aranyaga, una veta de oro y otros minerales; el Placer de San Francisco [b.A p.37]  

1865April26; E.W. Eaton, Daniel Wright, Jose Archibeque, A.B. Cary, una veta de Plata o oro y otros minerales; el Placer de San Francisco [b.A p.39]  
1865April26; E.W. Eaton, Daniel Wright, Jose Archibeque, A.B. Cary, una veta de oro y otros minerales; el Placer de San Francisco [b.A p.40]  

1865May1; E.W. Eaton, Jose Archiveque, Nicolas Chavez, Juan Arañaga, un placer de oro suelto en la tierra y veta de oro y otros minerals; el Placer de San 
Francisco [b.A p.26]  

1865May1; E.W. Eaton, P.A. Turner, Sylvester Davis, Eulagio Aranda, una veta de oro y otros minerales; el Placer de San Francisco [b.A p.26]  

1865May1; Sylvester Davis, E.W. Eaton, Jose Archiveque, Juan Archiveque, una veta de oro y otros minerales; el Placer de San Francisco [b.A p.29]  
1865May1; Jose Guerrero, E.W. Eaton, Juan Guerrero, Jose Archibeque, una veta de oro y otros minerales; el Placer de San Francisco [b.A p.41]  

1865May2; E.W. Eaton, Sylvester Davis, P.A. Turner, Jose Archiveque, una veta de oro y otros minerales; el Placer de San Francisco [b.A p.27]  

1865May10; E.W. Eaton, Jose Archibeque, Juan Aranyaga, Nicolas Chavez, una veta de oro y otros minerales; el Placer de San Francisco [b.A p.33]  
1865May10; E.W. Eaton, Jose Archibeque, Juan Aranyaga, Nicolas C, una veta de plata oro y otros minerales; el Placer de San Francisco [b.A p.35]  

1865May10; E.W. Eaton, Jose Archibeque, Juan Aranyaga, Juan Chaves, una veta de oro y otros minerales; el Placer de San Francisco [b.A p.38]  

1865June6; E.W. Eaton sells on behalf of self and Ma Marcelina Eaton (wife, sig=mark), Francisco Aranda (sig=mark), Ventura Aranda (wife, sig=mark) to A. B. Carey for 
$100 225/1500 of San Miguel lode.ò New/Old Placers? [Locations & Mining Deeds A#15405 p48]  

1865June6; E.W. Eaton sells on behalf of self and Ma Marcelina Eaton (wife, sig=mark), Francisco Aranda (sig=mark), Bentura Aranda (wife, sig=mark) to J. C. McFerran 
$100 225/1500 of San Miguel lode.ò New/Old Placers? [Locations & Mining Deeds A#15405 p50]  

[Jose] Seraphine Ramirez [y Casanova] claimant to both the San Pedro and Cayon del Agua grants.  He signed his name Jose Serafin Ramirez in his Mexican Period grant 
applications.  In July 1865 he took Col. Eaton from ñthe Hacienda of El Tuerto on a good roadò to what we call the San Pedro Copper mine and said it was his as well as 
a new mine the ñSan Miguelò on the summit of the Tuerto Mountain.  Raminez built a steam powered reduction mill [stamp mill?] at Tuerto in 1865.  It worked so poorly 
he had to continue using the arrastras. (John A. Clark,  Compilation of Factsé San Pedro and Canyon de Agua Grants, 1867, p 17-18, 19, 20) 

1865July6; Ethan W. Eaton sells to Lafayette S. Foster, James R. Doolittle, Lewis W. Ross, Anson D. Doolittle for $400 300/1500ea of Bonancita lode, Twin Pines lode, 
Santa Teresa lode.ò New Placers? [Locations & Mining Deeds A#15405 p47]  

1865July7; Nicolas Chavez sells to E.W. Eaton for $100 375/1500ea of Twin Pines lode, Davis lode, Calarado lode, San Nestor lode, Bonancity Placer free gold digging, 
Rica lode, Cuata lode, San Francisco lode [Locations & Mining Deeds A#15405 p.54]  

1865July11; Juan Arañaga sells to E.W. Eaton for $100 375/1500ea of San Jose lode, Bonancita lode, Davis lode, Santa Teresa lede, Bonancita Placer free gold diggings, 
Rica lode, San Francisco lode, San Nestor lode, Colorado lode, Archiveque lode [Locations & Mining Deeds A#15405 p.51]  

1865July11; Juan Chavez sells to E.W. Eaton for $100 375/1500ea of Twin Pines+San Jose lodes in Placers [Locations & Mining Deeds A#15405 p53]  



1865July12; Jose Archiveque sells to E.W. Eaton for $100 375/1500ea of San Francisco lode, Cuata lode, San Jose lode, Twin Pines lode, Bonancita lode, Bonancita Placer 
or free gold diggings, Rica lode, San Nestor lode, San Eulogio lode, Colorado lode, Archiveque lode, lode Cañoncito de Ledu in Placer de Dolores, Milagro lode, Davis 
lode, Baca lode Santa Teresa lode [Locations & Mining Deeds A#15405 p55]  

1865July26; [John A Clark letter written on 29th to Col. E.W. Eaton] éaccount of my visit, in company with Captain Carey, U.S.A., Col. Dodd, and yourself, éto Tuerto 
mountainé Accompanied by Don Serafin Ramirez, our party left the Hacienda of El Tuerto, at 10 oôclock, A.M., and proceeded by an excellent road, constructed at 
considerable expense by Mr. Ramirez, to the mine owned and worked by him, situated on the south side of the Tuerto mountain. éI visited also a newly discovered vein 
called the San Miguel, upon the summit of the same mountain. éAt the place where Mr. Ramirez is erecting his steam reduction works, there is a supply of water, it is 
supposed, sufficient for the use of the mills, and an abundance of excellent fuel in the immediate vicinity. [Compilation of Factsé 1867, p.17, 18] 

1865November10; formerly worked by one Richard Campbell deceased and known as the campbell mine, said mine having been abandoned for over ten years; C.E. 
Cooley, C.W. Kitchen, E.W. Eaton, A.B. Carry; situate in the San Francisco mountain [L&MD b.A p.75] 

1866March16; Francisco Aranda, Antonio Aranda, Eulogio Aranda, Nicolas Pino, E.W. Eaton en compañia at Real de Sn Francisco [L&MD b.A p.76] 
1866March27; Nicolas Pino, Francisco Aranda, E.W. Eaton, Jose Archibeque; witness Manuel Lujan y Samora, Marcos Domingues (mark), Sierra de San 

Franco [b.A p.86]  

1866March27; Nicolas Pino, E.W. Eaton, J.M. Willins, Jose Archibeque; veta de oro y otros, Sierra de San Francisco [b.A p.88]  
1866March27; E.W. Eaton, Francisco Aranda, Eulegio Aranda, Jose Archibeque; veta de oro y otros, Sierra de Sn Frco [b.A p.89]  

1866March27; Miguel E. Pino, E.W. Eaton, Jose F. Eaton; veta de oro y otros, Sierra de S Frco [b.A p.91]  

1866May21; Memorandum of Agreement. We the undersigned hereby agree to permit E.W. Eaton to select 4 Cads of 300ft each on our property purchased of Jose Serafin 
Ramirez and for that purpose allow him 2yrs in which to make his choice and after he has made his selction we will execute to him deeds for three hundred feet linear 
measurement on each of the 4 Cads so selectedé Sig. 21May1866 C.E. Cooley, A.B. Carey, J.C. McFerren<by atty.ABC], C.S. Hinckley<by atty.ABC], H.B. 
Denman<by agent S.E. Hoffman] 7Aug1887 in b.D Deeds p.327. [BHenderson Abstract of Title No.2 30Sep1983] 

1870August1_census: Ethan W. Eaton, farmer, 43y-o, born NY, RealValue$4,000 PersValue$1,000, resident Galisteo pct.8 in same habitation with Marcelina Eaton, 40y-o, 
b.NM, Tereza Eaton, 16y-o, b.NM, Joseph G. Eaton, 14y-o, b.NM, Sara F. Eaton, 12y-o, b.NM, Nestor Eaton, 10y-o, b.NM, Edward Eaton, 7y-o, b.NM, William Eaton, 
2y-o, b.NM 

1871 By the time the Galisteo grant was submitted to the Surveyor General of New Mexico for confirmation, the neighboring Domingo Fernández (or San Cristóbal) grant had 
been purchased by E. W. Eaton. When Ignacio Chavez submitted a claim for the Galisteo grant in July 1871 for himself, the other grantees, and their heirs for an 
estimated 9,000 acres, Eaton objected. He claimed that the Galisteo grant conflicted with the so-called Domingo Fernández or San Cristobal grant, but when the case 
came up for hearing in December 1871, Eaton withdrew his objection and filed an agreement with the owners of the Galisteo grant specifying an agreed boundary line 
between the two grants. 

1871; Jesus Lujan sold the Eaton grant of 81,032.67 acres to Nicolas Pino for $18 cash. Low as it was, this is a fair indication of the price paid for land grants at this time. 
[VWestphall, TBCatron & His Era, 1973 p.42] 

1872August8; Mr. Fullerôs family has gone to rusticate on Col. Eatonôs ranche. [SFDNM] 

1873; Eatonôs 13-year effort to have San Cristoval Grant resurveyed and expanded are denied 
In 1873, Eaton once again requested a resurvey of the San Cristobal Grant and once again he was denied. In 1874 he and his wife sold a large part (one third to one half) of 

the grant to Saron and Hattie Laughlin of San Francisco for 45 cents an acre. [per LLippard draft MS p.96; 2009] 
1874; Ethan & Marcelina sell about 1/3 of San Cristobal to Saron & Hattie Laughlin of San Francisco for $.45/acre, mortgages the rest 
1875October6(loc); E.W. Eaton, locator, precinct 12 placer claim 20ac, SW corner 5Oct1875 Samuel Ellison claim; witnesses A.P. Adams, Jose Manuel 

Guererro [b.A p.315] 

1875October6(loc); H.L. Hart, locator, precinct 12 placer claim 20ac, SW corner 5Oct1875 E.W. Eaton claim; witnesses A.P. Adams, Jose Manuel 
Guererro [b.A p.322] 

1875October6(loc); V.S. Shelby, Lino Bastardo, L. Spiegelberg, locators, precinct 12 placer claim 20ac, SW corner 5Oct1875 E.W. Eaton claim; witnesses 

A.P. Adams, Jose Manuel Guererro [b.A p.324] 

1876; Eaton makes deal with Thomas Catron, US DA for NM over 4,500 sheep on San Cristobal 
1878; Eaton sells his share of San Cristobal to son-in-law Charles Guildersleeve for $1000 
In Santa Feôs Fray Ang®lico Ch§vez History Library and Archives, there exists a small collection of documents dealing with the career of Col. Ethan W. Eaton. 

One of the papers indicates he was a member of the Santa Fe Ring, a secret association that manipulated territorial politics and the economy. ¶ During the 
Civil War, Eaton rose to the rank of colonel in the 1st New Mexico Cavalry and commanded Fort Wingate. Leaving service at warôs end, he engaged in 
business at Socorro. Always addressed respectfully by his military title, he became the chief power in the community. ¶ At Christmas Eve church services in 
1880, a tragic incident occurred in Socorro. Three spoiled nephews of prominent merchant Juan José Baca persisted in touching young ladies in the 
neighboring pew. The townôs popular newspaper editor, A.M. Conklin, angrily warned the boys to stop. They then cursed him loudly and left the church. 
Afterward, as Conklin went outside, he was shot and killed by one of the brothers, Abran Baca. The county sheriff was either unwilling or unable to arrest the 
assailant, and Abran escaped to Mexico. ¶ Eaton, like many others, was furious over this chain of events. Quickly, he formed a Committee of Safety 
comprising all local Americans of standing. It aimed to take law enforcement into its own hands. Such committees could be found scattered throughout the 
West, in places where the legal system was non-existent, corrupt or impotent. Members were known to the public as vigilantes. In Socorro, they came to be 
called Los Colgadores (The Hangers), or among the American crowd, The Stranglers. Those terms derived from their frequent resort to the court of ñJudge 
Lynch.ò Æ The NewMexico territory offered a reward for the capture of Abran Baca. Sgt. James Gillett of the Texas Rangers learned the fugitive was hiding in 
a village 40 miles south of the border. With one other Ranger and a spare saddle horse, the sergeant boldly rode down to the Mexican village. There he 
learned Baca had been married that very day and was celebrating at his wedding dance. Outside the dance hall, Gillett sent in word that friends of Baca had 
arrived with important news. Unsuspecting, the happy groom walked out and into the drawn guns of two Rangers. After loading their captive on the spare 
horse, they made a mad dash for the Rio Grande. Outraged, men of the wedding party, accompanied by the hysterical bride, followed the kidnappers. The 
Rangers, however, reached El Paso safely, and Gillett wired Socorro officials that he was headed north by train with Baca in tow. ¶ That news threw the 
population of Socorro into a frenzy. Eaton at once sent orders to the nearby Torrance mine, summoning armed miners to town. He feared Bacaôs friends 
would attempt a rescue. A mob of vigilantes met the train at the station and surrounded Gillett and his prisoner on their walk to the jail. After placing Baca in a 
cell, the brave Ranger announced he would defend him with his life. But as the crowd of vigilantes grew, he heard calls for ñlynching the Rangerò along with 
Conklinôs murderer. Æ Fortunately, Eaton put a stop to such talk. Gillett, however, accepted the inevitable and signed over custody of Baca to officers of the 
Committee of Safety, after which he left. The vigilantes shortly removed the prisoner and escorted him across the plaza to a handy corral. Without fanfare or 
final words, the young man was hanged from a high crossbeam over the entrance. The body remained swinging in the wind until the following day. ¶ This 
dramatic episode was designed by the Committee of Safety to send a clear warning: that criminal acts would not be tolerated in Socorro. Other NewMexico 
towns soon imitated that example. Albuquerque and Las Vegas, in particular, had strong vigilante movements that produced highly publicized lynchings. As 
a modern authority on the subject has written: ñFor a time, Americans considered vigilantism as a cheaper and more efficient way to deal with the problems 
of disorder.ò Æ Eaton, age 85, was reported living peacefully at Socorro in 1915. That was 50 years after his Committee of Safety had disbanded. [<date 
errors - M.Simmons 5Aug2006] 

1880; C.T. Brown was amongst the ñsecond-waveò of mining pioneers to arrive in Magdalena District -- at a time when most of the original brotherhood were still active. He 
knew them all: John  S. Hutchason, the Patterson Brothers, Gustav Billing, E. S. Stover, E.W. Eaton, William Thornton, Valentine Shelby, Charles Longuemare, and so 
many others. [REveleth 2006] 



1880s early; E.W. Eatonôs Patterson Canyon Smelter, which operated in the early-1880ôs, is said to have been the first lead smelter in the southwest [Kelly mill or smelter is 
on that site, 1/4mi NE of Patterson Cyn]. [J.Park NMMiningHeritageGuide 2003] 

1881February9; Forty stands of Springfields 80 calibre breech-loading rifles with accoutrements complete and two thousand rounds of ammunition were 

shipped yesterday to Captain E.W. Eaton, of the Socorro Guards with which to arm his company. [SFDNM] 
1881June28; Gleanings from the Exchange. Magdalenas. Socorro Sun. Col. Eaton and J.S. Hutchinson own some remarkably fine properties here which no 

doubt contain millions of dollars worth of ore. I learn that it is the intention to develop them, which is really unnecessary, as they show what they are. 

[SFDNM] 
1881November18; E.W. Eaton, of Socorro, was stopping at the Palace yesterday, having just come in from the East. [SFDNM] 

1882; the Juanita mine, near Kelly Socorro Co, owned by E.W. Eaton. Eaton, involved in ranching in Socorro Co, founded the Socorro Vigilance Committee in 1881. In 1882 
he reported; ñOne million pounds of this bullion (lead) is on the ground, it assayed 5 ounces of silver to the ton of ore in addition to the lead. Piñon charcoal was used in 
the smelting. As soon as the connection with the AT&SF is complete, cheap coke at Socorro will become an important factor in the metallurgical operation.ò [Christiansen 
1974: 69] 

1882January24; Col. Eaton, of Socorro, who was shot at that place some time ago, and who has been at the hospital of this city for a week or more, is still 

in a critical condition. A surgical operation was performed on his arm last night and forty pieces of bone were extracted. It is thought that the Colonel 

will pull through all right in the end. [SFDNM] 
1882January25; Col. Eaton, of Socorro, was as well yesterday as could be expected. [SFDNM] 

1882February2; Col. Eaton who has been confined at the military hospital for some time on account of a wound recently received in a fight at Socorro, is 

said to be very feeble but is said to be slowly recovering. [SFDNM] 
1882July18; Governor L.A. Sheldon appointed the following commissioners to the Denver Exposition: E.W. Eaton, Socorro; W.S. Hopewell, Engle; 

Michael Cooney, Mogollon; Alexandria Gusdorf, Rancho de Taos. [SFDNM] 

1882July20; Colonel Eaton has suspended operations for a time on the Juanita. He has had two men at work in the Imperial, and is about to begin work on 
others of his extensive prospects here. ¶ Mr. Walker has made arrangements for working the Juanita. It is said he has purchased 1,000 tons of ore of 

this mine. He also has charge of the Graphic and Grand Tower, on both of which he is beginning operations, and his well known energy and push 

will soon bring these properties up to the front. ï Socorro Sun. [SFDNM] 
1883May4; The San Pedro attorneys in the Cañon del Agua case, in their extension of time for taking testimony, are in hopes that by scouring the country 

they may by chance run on to some witness who can be of service to them. Why donôt they take Col. Careyôs testimony? He bought the two grants from 

Ramirez and is supposed to know what he purchased. Have him repeat that conversation with Mr. Carpenter, wherein Carey said the poor Mexicans had 
no idea how much land they sold when they parted with their little ranches! It would be a good idea also to have him relate a certain chat with Jose 

Serafin Ramirez at Tijeras; also, his having old man Aranda point out the highest peak of the ñTuertoò mountains and the soothing influences of the trip; 

also, why he agreed to give Col. Eaton a deed to six mines in the Tuerto mountains but never did so, though the agreement is of record in the county 
clerkôs office, Santa Fe. Again, why not put their surveyor, W.W. Griffin, on the stand and have him relate how the patent lines were run, in what 

manner evidence was taken on the ground, who acted as interpreter on that occasion; also, why was it that, when Ramirez protested at the time the lines 

were being run he did not claim north of the forks of the Albuquerque and Palo Armarillo road, the northern boundary was moved a mile and a half 
north so as to take in nearly the entire town of Golden; also, when the said lines were being run, why the Oro Que peak was selected as the eastern 

boundary, when Ramirez declared in the presence of several persons, at the time, that the eastern limit of the grant was four miles farther to the west. We 

would also suggest the placing Corydon E. Cooley and Elias Brevoort on the stand as important witnesses for the company. If there ever was a legal 
farce enacted to the fill it is the attempt of the San Pedro company and its attorneys to make stick the outrageously fraudulent patent to the Cañon del 

Agua grant. [The Golden Retort. Vol.III No.10] 

1884February14; Col. Eaton, of Socorro, special territorial agent, passed up the road last evening wit a dozen convicts en route to the Kansas state 

penitentiary. He was accompanied by Deputy US Marshal Sheldon and Deputy Sheriffs James Brent and Joh Hudgens. [Weekly NM Review p.4 c.7] 

1884March25; Socorro, N.M., Mch 25 1884. Mr. Col. E.W. Eaton Bought of P. Fraley & Co., Producers of Limestone for Smelters and Building Stone. 
Manufacturers of Lime and Dealers in Cement, Plaster Paris, Hair, Wood, Coal, &c. Yard and Office, Main Street, South of Manzanares Avenue. 

Quarry and Limekilns, On San Pedro Branch A.,T.&S.F. Rôy, near Carthage. 1000 lbs Coal 450  Cartage 50  500 Rec Payt P. Fraley & Co. [orig.receipt 

John Reiche via REveleth] 
1884May20; Notice. As some of the owners of the following named grants, situated in the county of Santa Fe, have failed to make their tax report of the 

said grants, and the owners being unknown to me, I therefore notify that I have assessed the parts of said grants which have not ben reported, as follows: 

San Cristobal or Eaton grant, 25,000; Atanasio Romero, Assessor. [Weekly New Mexican Review 29May84 p.3 c.6] 
1889May6; Col. E.W. Eaton is up from Socorro on a visit to his daughter, Mrs. C.H. Gildersleeve. [SFDNM] 

1889May28; Mr. R.R. Elder, of the tubular well boring and wind mill firm of Elder Bros., lately from Las Vegas and now of Santa Fe county, paid this 

office a pleasant call to-day. He is a live and aggressive young business man. These brothers have taken a ten year lease on several thousand acres of 
the Eaton grant, not far from Lamy junction, and have commenced a system of improvements theron that will develop plenty of water. Their first work 

has been to put in a reservoir from which they are now irrigating a six acre garden. Their scheme is to sow a great field of alfalfa and utilize it by 

pasturing beef steers and making them ready for the local market. [SFDNM] 
1890November20; Col. E.W. Eaton, of Socorro, is preparing to open some promising mines in the Magdalena district. [SFDNM] 

1891June10; At the Exchange: E.W. Eaton, Socorro. [SFDNM] 

1891September16; At the Exchange: E.W. Eaton, Socorro. [SFDNM] 
1891October26; At the Exchange: E.W. Eaton, Socorro. [SFDNM] 

1892March1; Col. E.W. Eaton, secretary New Mexico school of mines, came in from the south this morning. He reports the mining industry in Socorro 

county as prospering, and some thirty men are now employed by the Socorrs Fire Clay Manufacturing company. [SFDNM] 
1892April21; Col. E.W. Eaton, secretary of the regents of the school of mines... [SFDNM] 

1892July7; Col. E.W. Eaton came in from Socorro this morning. ï  At the Exchange: E.W. Eaton, Socorro. [SFDNM] 

1893April20; Col. E.W. Eaton, of Socorro, is in town to-day on business connected with the school of mines. [SFDNM] 
1893April29; The beautiful floral tribute which decorated the speakerôs stand at the G.A.R. encampment on Thursday night was presented by Mrs. C.H. 

Gildersleeve, a daughter of an honored veteran. Her father, Col. E.W. Eaton, was a gallant officer in Kit Carsonôs regiment during the war. [SFDNM] 

1893August15; Col. E.W. Eaton, the efficient secretary of the board of regents of the school of mines, is in the city from Socorro on official business. 
[SFDNM] 

1893September27; Col. E.W. Eaton, secretary of the School of Mines, who has been here on official business. left last evening for his home at Socorro. 

[SFDNM] 
1893November23; Col. E.W. Eaton, secretary of the New Mexico school of mines, came in from Socorro this morning. ï At the Exchange; E.W. Eaton, 

Socorro. [SFDNM] 



1893December7; Santa Fe friends of Col. E.W. Eaton, of Socorro, are pleased to learn that he has secured a patent on a new and valuable type-writer device. 

It is a spacer, useful because it enables the operator to separate or contract the lines at will, and is adjustable to any machine. [SFDNM] 
1893December26; Col. E.W. Eaton, of Socorro, took Christmas dinner with Santa Fe friends. ï At the Exchange; E.W. Eaton, Socorro. [SFDNM] 

1894April26; Col. E.W. Eaton is in the city from Socorro. [SFDNM] 

1895June25; Gov. E.S. Stover, who is summering at Stonewall mining camp. Magdalena mountains, writes the Albuquerque Citizen that mining matters are 
looking brighter there. Three concentrators are going up near Kelly. The Graphic company is erecting one. Col. Eaton another, and some eastern parties 

a third. The Stonewall camp can supply any amount of ore for them. [SFDNM] 

1895August8; Hon. H.B. Fergusson, of Albuquerque, and Col. E.W. Eaton, of Socorro, came up from the south last night on court duty. ï At the Exchange: 
E.W. Eaton, Socorro; W.C. Heacock, Albuquerque. [SFDNM] 

1895August20; Col. E.W. Eaton, of Socorro, and Leonard Skinner, of Chilili, who have been here several days on legal business, left for home last night. 

[SFDNM] 
1896April14; éterritorial district courté Second National bank of Santa Fe vs. E.W. Eaton et al, garnishees. Garnishment. Garnishees defaulted and 

considered that plaintiff ought to recover damages of them. [SFDNM] 

1896June19; Announcement of sheriffôs sale of certain properties of Marion Balue will be sold to satisfy a judgement in favor of A. A. Jones and J. P. 
Worrell, said sale to be held at the Eaton & Balue smelting plant in the town of Kelly, etc. [Chieftain p.4, per REveleth] 

1896August20; Col. E.W. Eaton, of Socorro, a staunch Republican who believes in the principles represented by Bryant and Sewall, is here on a visit to-

day. He is accompanied by his son, Mr. Joseph Eaton, who has long been operating mines in Mexico. ï At the Exchange: E.W. Eaton, Socorro; J.J. 
Eaton, El Paso... [SFDNM] 

1897April26; Land Grants Located in Santa Fe County Assessable for Taxation. éE.W. Eaton Grant, 81,082 acres. Confirmed June 21, 1860; claimant, 

E.W. Eaton, assignee of Domingo Fernandez. [SFDNM] 

1897May12; Judge Laughlin heard arguments in two cases yesterday. The first was the case of Thomas B. Catron et al. vs. Saron N. Laughlin, the suit 

involving the question of title to a portion of the Eaton land grant located in Santa Fe county, New Mexico. The suit was originally brought some six 

years ago, and has been hanging fire ever since, owing to the absence of Mr. Catron in Washington. [SFDNM] 
1897August18; Notice of the Survey of the Galisteo Grand Allotments. (Reported No.60.) éhas been made by Albert F. Easley, D.Sé that said survey 

embraces the allotments made to: ¶ Vicente Ruybal, 100 varas; Ignacio Chaves, 100 varas; Matias Sandoval, 100 varas; Jose Lucero, 100 varas; Jose 

Antonio Alarid, 100 varas; Alejandro Lovato, 100 varas; Antonio Anaya, 100 varas; ? Jesus Venavides, 100 varas; Rafael Lujan, 150 varas; Luis 
Lovato, 100 varas; Felipe Sandoval, 150 varas; Bartola Lovato, 100 varas; Diego Pineda, 100 varas; Jose Antonio Bachicha, 100 varas; Manuel Trujillo, 

100 varas; Miguel Lovato, 100 varas. Æ That the boundaries of said grant allotmentsé Beginning on the west boundary of the Eaton granté along with 
west boundary of the small holding claim No.2490, of A. Staabé Chas F. Easley, Surveyor General. [SFDNM] 

1897September9; Mr. E.W. Eaton of Socorro, is calling on Santa Fe friends and visiting the fair. He stops at the Exchange. ï At the Exchange: E.W. Eaton, 

Cocorroé [SFDNM] 
1897October19; In the case of Catron vs. Laughlin, involving ownership of the Eaton land grant in south Santa Fe county, and which case was recently 

decided by Judge Collier adverse to Hon. T.B. Catron, a rehearing has been asked for and briefs upon this motion will be submitted by the respective 

attorneys to Judge Collier by Monday next. [SFDNM] 
1897October27; In the more immediate vicinity of the town of Kelly, Colonel Eaton, who has been climbing the mountains for the past few days, has a 

number of men at work on one of his many properties, getting out ore for shipment. The colonel has done a great amount of development work in this 

district, extending over many years and merits all the returns that a resumption of shipments might bring him. [SFDNM] 
1900February15; Socorro County. A rich strike of silver-bearing galena ore was made on the Juanito, at Kelly. The mine belongs to Col. E.W. Eaton, of 

Socorro. [SFNM] 

1900February21; Socorro County. Col. E.W. Eaton and Capt. M. Cooney intend to build a new concentrator at Kelly. [SFNM] 
1900February28; Socorro County. Mr. Crane, a mining engineer of El Paso, has taken an option on Col Eatonôs millsite west of Kelly in behalf of eastern 

capitalists, with a view to erecting a large reduction plant for low-grade ores. [SFNM] 

1901January9; Acting Governor Wallace today appointedé E.W. Eaton, of Socorro, Socorro county, notaries public. [SFNM] 
1901April11; E.W. Eaton of Socorro, a real estate agent of that city, is in the capital on a business trip. ï Exchange: W.G. Ashdown, Cerrillos; E.W. Eaton, 

Socorro, Captain Jack Crawford, San Marcial... [SFNM] 

1903May23; S.N. Laughlin of Mosslanding, Monterey, Calif., who is owner of the Eaton land grant in the southern part of this county, was a visitor to the 
Capital during the week on legal business. Mr Laughlin has been a subscriber to the New Mexican from its first number, 39 years ago. [SFNM] 

1903May26; Hon. T.B. Catron and Colonel E.W. Eaton of Socorro, have sold the Juanita mine near Kelly to the Consolidated Mining and Smelting 

Company of Cerrillos, which is managed by R.B. Thomas of Albuquerque. [SFNM] 
as of 1903June30; List of mining claims in NM which have been officially surveyedé By Surveyor-General Morgan O. Llewellyn. E.W. Eaton, Sophia, 

Magdalena MD, 20.11ac. ï Do., Juanita Extension No.1, south, do. MD, 20.28ac. [Report of the Governor of New Mexico to the Secretary of the 

Interior 1903, p.344] 
as of 1903June30; List of mining claims in NM which have been officially surveyedé By Surveyor-General Morgan O. Llewellyn. E.W. Eaton, 

Companion, Magdalena MD, 19.80ac. [Report of the Governor of New Mexico to the Secretary of the Interior 1903, p.344] 

as of 1903June30; List of mining claims in NM which have been officially surveyedé By Surveyor-General Morgan O. Llewellyn. E.W. Eaton, 
Companion, north, Magdalena MD, 18.35ac. ï Do., Spring, do. MD, 20.49ac. [Report of the Governor of New Mexico to the Secretary of the Interior 

1903, p.345] 

as of 1903June30; List of mining claims in NM which have been officially surveyedé By Surveyor-General Morgan O. Llewellyn. Ethan W. Eaton, 

Juanita, Magdalena MD, 19.83ac. ï Do., Juanita North, do. MD, 1.38ac. ï Do., Alhambra, do. MD, 19,99ac. ï Do., Grand Tower, do. MD, 11.72ac. ï 

Do., Sharon, do. MD, 20.18ac. [Report of the Governor of New Mexico to the Secretary of the Interior 1903, p.352] 

1915; Testimony of Juan Ortiz: Juan Ortiz was compadre with Eaton, christened child of his. ï  Juan Ortiz christend a child for Eaton ñhe was my compadre.ò <repeated] ï 
Frank Mendosa lived at the Armijo, then La Pintada before San Cristobal. Eaton moved ca.1876; a Mr. Joseph Willie in house, then Elder, then Mendosa, all agents for 
claimants of San Cristobal grant. Then Pankey. [per LLippard draft MS p.99, 102; 2009] 

- witness - 
1865April6; John Ayres, James McGlone, W.H.H. Camp, A.B. Carey; Cerritos testigos E.W. Eaton, John Ayres; en el cañon de la Bonancita Vieja; [b.A 

p.6-7]  

 

Edward Eaton  (b.NM 1863>    - son of Ethan W. Eaton;  of Galisteo 



1870August1_census: Ethan W. Eaton, farmer, 43y-o, born NY, RealValue$4,000 PersValue$1,000, resident Galisteo pct.8 in same habitation with Marcelina Eaton, 40y-o, 
b.NM, Tereza Eaton, 16y-o, b.NM, Joseph G. Eaton, 14y-o, b.NM, Sara F. Eaton, 12y-o, b.NM, Nestor Eaton, 10y-o, b.NM, Edward Eaton, 7y-o, b.NM, William Eaton, 
2y-o, b.NM 

 

George C. Eaton    - of Las Vegas 
1887December29; Benjamin Harrison to S.B. Elkins; Asking Elkins help in finding employment for his nephew George C. Eaton who had recently moved to Las Vegas NM 

for his health. [Elkins papers 358] 
1888January7; Benjamin Harrison to S.B. Elkins; Thanking Elkins for having a friend take his nephew there under his care. [Elkins papers 361] 
          

George F. Eaton    - Ortiz Mine grant & New Placers 

1881November3(loc); G.F. Eaton, W.H. Conklin Silver Cup placer 20ac, N28rods W57rods S56rods E57rods N28rods, about 4.5mi SW of Ortiz Station, 

rec 11Nov81; witness H.W. Hagan [b.E p.646] 
1882February2; The District Court of the First judicial district and the Territorial court will convene in this city on Monday the sixth instant. The jurors 

have been selected and are as follows; District Court. Petit Jurors, éGarrett F. Eatoné [SFDNM] 

1883March22(loc); Johnson H. Brown 1/3, Thomas Tendall 1/3, George Eaton Baxter mine 300ôNEly SWly1000ô =1500ô 300ôea side, in Tuerto San 
Francisco Mtns, about 1mi SE from town of Golden, ca 1/2mi SW from Davenport Co Artesian Well works, NPMD, rec 17Apr83 [b.F p.396] 

 

John O. Eaton  (b.MA 1867>    - of Cash Entry 
1910April15_census: John O. Eaton, manager mine, single, 43y-o, born MA [MA MA], resident Cerrillos Cash Entry Mine, renting  

 
Jose F. Eaton    - of New Placers 

1866March27; Miguel E. Pino, E.W. Eaton, Jose F. Eaton; veta de oro y otros, Sierra de S Frco [b.A p.91]  

 
Joseph G. Eaton  (b.NM 1856>    - son of Ethan W. Eaton;  of Galisteo, El Paso 
1870August1_census: Ethan W. Eaton, farmer, 43y-o, born NY, RealValue$4,000 PersValue$1,000, resident Galisteo pct.8 in same habitation with Marcelina Eaton, 40y-o, 

b.NM, Tereza Eaton, 16y-o, b.NM, Joseph G. Eaton, 14y-o, b.NM, Sara F. Eaton, 12y-o, b.NM, Nestor Eaton, 10y-o, b.NM, Edward Eaton, 7y-o, b.NM, William Eaton, 
2y-o, b.NM 

1896August20; Col. E.W. Eaton, of Socorro, a staunch Republican who believes in the principles represented by Bryant and Sewall, is here on a visit to-

day. He is accompanied by his son, Mr. Joseph Eaton, who has long been operating mines in Mexico. ï At the Exchange: E.W. Eaton, Socorro; J.J. 

Eaton, El Paso... [SFDNM] 

 
Joseph I. Eaton    -  of Magdalena 
The Bullion for April 1, 1883 mentions yet another Patterson, E. H.,  working the mines at Cat Mountain. There was also a ñJ. P. Pattersonò who at one time 
managed McGeeôs Magdalena store and eventually bought out the mercantile business of J. I. Eaton and went into business for himself (Bullion, 12/11/1886, 
p 3). [REveleth 2009] 

as of 1903June30; List of mining claims in NM which have been officially surveyedé By Surveyor-General Morgan O. Llewellyn. Jos I. Eaton & Bro., 

Forrester, Magdalena MD, 20.66ac. ï Do., Forrester Extension, north, do. MD, 6.33ac. ï Do., Birthday, do. MD, 20.66ac. ï Do., Helen Cross, do. MD, 
10.96ac. ï Do., Silver Wave, do. MD, 16.44ac. ï Do., Grand Cross, do. MD, 20.66ac. ï Do., Lone Buck, do. MD, 20.24ac. ï Do., Oak Spring, do. MD, 

20.66ac. ï Lone Buck Extension, north, do. MD, 17ac. ï Do., Little Luella, do. MD, 19.81ac. ï Do., Hermosillo, do. MD, 20.59ac. ï Do., Two Duce 

No.1 south, do. MD, 20.46ac. [Report of the Governor of New Mexico to the Secretary of the Interior 1903, p.355] 

 
Nestor P. Eaton  (b.NM 1860>    - son of Ethan W. Eaton;  of Socorro 
1870August1_census: Ethan W. Eaton, farmer, 43y-o, born NY, RealValue$4,000 PersValue$1,000, resident Galisteo pct.8 in same habitation with Marcelina Eaton, 40y-o, 

b.NM, Tereza Eaton, 16y-o, b.NM, Joseph G. Eaton, 14y-o, b.NM, Sara F. Eaton, 12y-o, b.NM, Nestor Eaton, 10y-o, b.NM, Edward Eaton, 7y-o, b.NM, William Eaton, 
2y-o, b.NM 

1895January31; Mr. Nestor P. Eaton, the efficient assessor of Socorro county, now serving his second term, is a visitor in the capital to-day. [SFDNM]  
1896September25; Mr. Nestor P. Eaton, a leading citizen of Socorro, is in the city on business to-day. ï At the Exchange: N.P. Eaton, Socorroé [SFDNM] 

1897January28; At the Bon Ton: E.F. Brown, Cripple Creek; Nestor Eaton, Socorro; J.L. Dickey, George Hammond, Cerrillos; Vick Kargeshing, Madridé 

[SFDNM] 
1900March7; Socorro Republicans. éH.O. Bursum, Estevan Baca, W.E. Martin, Jose E. Torres, Pablo Trujillo, Abran Abeytia, N.P. Eaton, Jose Baca y 

Sedillo. [SFNM] 

Nestor P. Eaton House (Eaton/Darr House), Socorro; HPD#627 StateRegisterdate 20Mar1978, NatRegisterdate 20Feb1991 
 
W. J. Eaton    - of StaFe, Clayton   <possibly William Eaton below? 

1894May14; Mr. W.J. Eaton returned from Socorro this evening. [SFDNM] 
1894November1; The Single Tax club holds its weekly meeting to-night at W.J. Eatonôs office. [SFDNM] 

1895December11; Mr. W.J. Eaton, a well known young attorney of Santa Fe, left for Cripple Creek, Colo., where he may conclude to practice his 

profession in the future. [SFDNM] 
1896April17; The governor has appointed the following notaries public: W.J. Eaton, Clayton, Union county... [SFDNM] 

1900March20; éappointed the following notaries public: J. Eaton, Clayton, Union county... [SFNM] 

 
William Eaton  (b.NM 1868>    - son of Ethan W. Eaton;  of Galisteo 
1870August1_census: Ethan W. Eaton, farmer, 43y-o, born NY, RealValue$4,000 PersValue$1,000, resident Galisteo pct.8 in same habitation with Marcelina Eaton, 40y-o, 

b.NM, Tereza Eaton, 16y-o, b.NM, Joseph G. Eaton, 14y-o, b.NM, Sara F. Eaton, 12y-o, b.NM, Nestor Eaton, 10y-o, b.NM, Edward Eaton, 7y-o, b.NM, William Eaton, 
2y-o, b.NM 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Eaves * 
J. W. Eaves    - of Lone Butte 



1950; Richard & Helen Boyce begain building their home on 22 acres just off recently paved SR10 (14); there were 6 families living in the N part of the San 

Marcos district. All save Mrs Jarrett attended Helenôs wedding shower: Mrs. J.W. Eaves, Mildred West, Genie West, Mrs. L. Dillenschneider, Mrs. 
B.Van Meter, Mrs. J. Schaefer. [W.Wait for SMPC] 

1957; Eaves has been working with the film industry for approximately 40 years, including long periods of sluggish film activity. In 1957, he bought a sprawling ranch south of 
Santa Fe and soon thereafter had his first taste of Hollywood when they used his distinctive ranch house as a location for the short-lived television series Empire in 1962. 
¶ Several years later, Eaves was working at the windmill pond near his home when a man walked up. He was a producer from Columbia Pictures who asked about using 
the ranch for a film and wanted to lease it for a year. ¶ This deal set the stage for the first major production at the Eaves Ranch, Where Angels Go . . . Trouble Follows, a 
film that brought Rosalind Russell and Robert Taylor to New Mexico. The following year, 1969, Gene Kelly approached Eaves about the possibility of building a Western 
town set for the movie he was to direct, The Cheyenne Social Club. They agreed to split the costs, with Kelly (from National General Pictures) paying half to build the 
town. It took five months to build, including the construction of power lines and roads. The film is, to this day, a standout among Eaves' many recollections, largely due to 
its stars Jimmy Stewart and Henry Fonda, along with director Kelly. [newmexico.org] 

 
Rubye D. Eaves    - Golden 
1968October24; Dated. Filed 24Mar1969. Quitclaim Deed. TITLE TO BLOCK 7 Golden ï Title to Clara A. Davis. Paula D. Blackshere, Mary Jo D. Pino, and Rubye D. Eaves to Clara A. Davis, a 

widow. b.Misc.263 p.915. [BHenderson Abstract of Title No.6313 30Sep1983 p.157] 
1968October24; Dated. Filed 24Mar1969. Quitclaim Deed. TITLE TO BLOCK 8 Golden. Paula D. Blackshere, Mary Jo D. Pino, and Rubye D. Eaves to Clara A. Davis, a widow. b.Misc.263 p.915. 

[BHenderson Abstract of Title No.6313 30Sep1983 p.166] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 

Wilson Ebblie  (b.NY 1853>    - of CMD 
1880June3_census: Wilson Ebblie, mining prospector, 27y-o, married, born NY [NY NY], resident of Los Cerrillos ñAbout Hunger Gulch in Ruele¶a Minesò with Danl Babcock 

(30 mining prospector, married, NY [PA PA]), Henry Haas (20 mining prospector, single, NY [Ger Ger]) 
- witness - 

1880April10 (loc); A. James Sterling 1/3, D.S. Houston 1/3, Eugene B. Ames 1/3; Our Georgia Lode, bounded S by hardly able, E by Atlas & Little Bertie & Yankee, W by 
home & vulture, about 1000ô E of Old Santa Rosa; 1200ôN 300ôS, 150ôea side, in GMD; witness Wm R. Golden, Val Sisson, W. Ebley [Locations & Mining Deeds 
C#15407 p.290] 

1880April10 (loc): A. James Sterling 1/3, D.L. Houston 1/3, Eugene B. Ames 1/3; Our Georgia Lode,1500ô linear, 150ô on ea side, 1200ôN & 300ôS; 

bounded S by the ñHardly Ableò E by the Atlas and Little Bertie and Yankee mine W by the Home and Vulture and ca 1000ôE of the old Santa Rosa 

Mine. Witnes W.R. Golden, Val Sisson, W.Ebley. Wm R. Golden District Recorder [rec 9Jun80] {Galisteo Mining Record ï Cerrillos Record Book 6 
p.160} 

 
Ebel    - of Abq 
1894October13; Rev. G.A. Neef, who has been to Jemez pueblo and the Hot Springs, retuned Wednesday. He spent some days at Bland and took many 

interesting views of that camp. Altogether he and Mr. Ebel, of Albuquerque, tramped over 200 miles of the ñmost picturesque country in the United 
States.ò Among other things Mr. Neeff visited the old site of ancient Cochiti, where the Spaniards smelted their metals, right above the town of 

Allerton, on the so-called Portrero Viejo. [SFDNM] 

 

C. Charles Christian Eberhart   (b.GER 1825>    - of CMD, Cerrillos, San Pedro, StaFe, Ft.Union, Las Vegas   <see also Everhart 

  location date name of claim 

Eberhart et al  5/10/1879  Eberhart 

Eberhart et al  5/26/1879  Adolphus 

Eberhart et al  11/10/1879  Perhaps - owned 
ADOLPHUS owned by William Bolander, M. McClosky-Givens & C. Eberhart 
EBERHART owned by C. Eberhart, William Bolander, M. McCloskey 
GOOD HOPE owned by McClosky, Eberhart, Bolander & Givens 
1879May10 (loc); Christian Eberhart, Wm Bolander, W.A. Givens, G.H. McClosky; Good Hope mine, 1mi E Everhart camp; 1mi N of creek or arroyo better known as Gov 

Wallaceôs Mill site; 100yds W of a deep arroyo running N-S; 1250ôS of shaft, 250ôN, 100ôE, 200ôW ï also Eberhart mine No.1, extension of Good Home and N of same; 
1500ô shaft in center (recorded 2June1879) [Locations & Mining Deeds A#15405 p440] 

1879May10 (loc); Christian Eberhart, Wm Bolander, W.A. Givens, G.H. McCloskey; Goodhope Mine, ca 1mi E of the Eberhart Camp + 1mi N of a creek 
or an arroyo or butte known as Gov. Walace Mill Site and ca 100yds W of a deep arroyo runing ca N+S, 1250ôN of Shaft + 250ôN + 100ô E of Lode 

and 200ôW of Lode. Eberhart Mine No1 is an Extension of the Goodhope Mine, Located N on same Lode, 1500ô Shaft in ca the sinter of claim. Filed 

for record 22Sep81 and Recorded 24Sep81 N.B. Laughlin Recorder {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 5 p.9} 

1879May26 (loc); Christian Eberhart, Wm Bolander, W.A. Gibbens, G.H. McClusky; Adolphus Lode, ¾ mi SW Ulster lode, 1mi SE Old Mina del Tiro, ½ mi W from the 
Gultch Mining South from Gold Hill 750ôSSW of notice, 150ôea side, in LCMD; recorded 28October1879 [Locations & Mining Deeds B#15406 p.38] 

1879May26 (loc): Los Cerrillos Mining District. Located by Christian Eberhart, Wm Bolander, W.A. Givens, G.H. McClusky. Adulphus Lode: 1500ô 

linear 750ô running a little E of N & 750ô running a little S of W 150ô on ea side. 3/4mi SW from the Ulster Lode and 1mi SE from the old Mina del 

Tiro Mine and 1/2mi W from the gulch running S from Gold Hill. Filed for record 17Oct79 and recorded same day N.B. Laughlin Recorder {Cerrillos 

Mining Records Book 1 p.182} 

1879September12 (loc); Christian Eberhart, Wm Bolander, C. Gibbens ï McClusky in text but not sig; Rocky mill Site, 500acres for mill site, S side San Marcus Arroyo near 
the mouth of the Cañon, all the Land Lying between San Marcus arroyo and the Bluffs on the South Side, The mountains on the E and W to be the boundary line on 
the E and W, in LCMD; [Locations & Mining Deeds B#15406 p.37] 

1879September12 (loc): Los Cerrillos Mining District. Located by Christian Eberhart, Wm Bolander, C. Gibbous(header=Givens), G.H. McClusky. Rocky 

Mill -site: 5acres of land for a Mill-site. begin at a point on the S side of San Marcus arroyo near the Mouth of the Cañion, and running up the San 

Marcus arroyo on the same side to a pile of stones in the claim to include all the land lying between the San Marcus Arroyo and the Bluffs on the S 
side. The Mountains on the E + W to be the E and W boundary lines. Filed for record 17Oct79 and recorded same day N.B. Laughlin Recorder 

{Cerrillos Mining Records Book 1 p.183} 

1879October30 (reloc); C. Eberhart (locator), W.A. Givins, Wm Bolanded, Geo H. McCharky; Geno (Gem) Lode, ½ mi N of railroad of Galisteo riber, in LCMD; 750ô N&S 
150ôea side [Locations & Mining Deeds C#15407 p.36] 



1879November3 1PM Minerôs Meeting at Carbonateville for the purpose of settling a dispute between E. Eberhart and F. I. Alden in Regard to the mining 

claims known as the ñSilver Queen Lodeò and the ñMountain Lien Lodeò Meeting called to order by Recorder N.B. Laughlin and Mr. M.W. Barber 
Elected Chairman, and N.B. Laughlin Sct. The Parties interested agreed to chose a committee of miners to Examin their claims. Mr. Eberhart chose 

Mr. John Doyle, and Mr. Alden chose Mr. D.A. Blake, and these two gentlemen chose for the third man Mr. James Livengood. The Committee was 

given ten days from date in which to report. Meeting adjourned. --  Report of Committee  In the Case of Alden vs. Eberhart of the Silver Queen and 
Good Hope Lode  We the Committee hereby render the following decision, viz That the Good Hope being a prior location and the Silver Queen a 

parallel lead Mr. F.I. Alden had no right [the paper glued to the bottom edge of this page is missing] 

1879November10 (loc); C. Eberhart (locator), W.A. Givins, Wm Bolanded, Geo H. McClarbey; perhaps Lode, Ĳ mi SE of la mina del tiro, 1mi N of GMD; 300ôS 1200ôN 
150ôea side [Locations & Mining Deeds C#15407 p.36] 

1880June1_census: Chas. Ebenhearth, miner, 55y-o, single, born Germany [GerGer], resident of Los Cerrillos ñPoverty Hollow on the St Marcus Arroyoò solo [adjacent 
habitations are C.W. Harris & W.J. Bassett] 

1881May -- The Good Hope, near the eastern edge of the range, is very reliable, much lead. Givens, McClusky, Bolander are about to sell at a profit. [Mining World] 
1882January1 (loc); E.M. Kealer 1/6, H.T. Williams 1/6, Geo H. McClasky 1/6, Chrestian Eberheart 1/6, F.W. Mahler 1/6, C.D. Benson 1/6; Non-descript 

Lode, 1500ô linear, in LCMD, running in a Northwesterly and Southeasterly dir, 175ôNly & 1325ôSly, 150ô on ea side, ca 500ô S of a shaft now known 
as the Ethel shaft, and is bounded on the N by a claim known as the Holy Terror. Filed for record 27Mar82 and recorded same day N.B. Laughlin 

Recorder. {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 5 p.107} 

1882April11; Quit Claim Deed; Christian Eberhardt of Los Cerrillos sells for $1000 to J.L. Chapman of Las Vegas San Miguel Co ¼ undiv int Gem mine, (loc 30Oct79 b.C 
p.36), also owned by WA Givens of Las Vegas, Wm Bolander of Santa Fe, Geo H. McClosky of Los Cerrillos, in LCMD; before us Charles E. Burkhart, William Brown, 
certify 20April1882 John Townsend Notary Public, recorded 22April1882 [Locations & Mining Deeds F#15410 p.141] 

1883October26 POL; H.C. Rasmussen swears before H.M. Jones that at least $100 worth of work has been done upon Perhaps mine, in LCMD, during the 

year ending 31Dec83. Such expenditure was made by W.A. Givens, J.L. Chapman, Wm Bolander and Eberhardt, owners of said claim. Filed for record 

28May84 and recorded same day S.A. Larock Recorder {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 7 p.119} 
1883October30 POL; H.C. Rasmussen swears before H.M. Jones NP that at least $100 worth of work has been done upon Adolphus mine, in LCMD, 

during the year ending 31Dec83. Such expenditure was made by W.A. Givens, J.L. Chapman, William Bollander and Eberhardt, owners of said claim. 

Filed for record 28May84 and duly recorded same day S.A. Larock Recorder {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 7 p.121} 
1883November16 POL; H.C. Rasmussen swears before H.M. Jones NP that at least $100 worth of assessment upon Eberhardt mine, in LCmd, during the 

year ending 31Dec83. Such expenditure was made by W.A. Givens, Wm Bolander, George McCloskey and Eberhardt, owners of said claim. Filed for 

record 28May84 and recorded same day S.A. Larock Recorder {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 7 p.119} 

1888December7; The Herald, of Santa Fe, has suspended the publication of its daily and put all effort in the production of a good territorial weekly. ï Mr. Everhart, of the 
Herald, was down from Santa Fe, yesterday. [Los Cerrillos Rustler Vol.1 No.20] 

1889March5; C.C. Everhart Commissioned Local Inspector by the County Board. émeat inspector for Santa Fe under the new law passed by the 28th 

legislative assembly. [SFDNM] 
1889June5; Vicente Mares and C.C. Everhart were among the visitors at Cerrillos yesterday. [SFDNM] 

1889June8; C.C. Everhart and Vicente Mares are building a shop at San Pedro, and Everhart & Co. will open a meat market therein next week. [SFDNM] 

1889June25; Mares & Everhart have secured a meat contract from the Copper company and have gone down to open butcher shops at both San Pedro and 
Cerrillos. [SFDNM] 

1891March14; Mrs. C.C. Everhart and child are on a visit at Las Vegas. [SFDNM] 

1891December18; Supt. Vaille, of the Colorado Telephone company, met with every encouragement yesterday in his conference with local business men, 
and he has arranged with Mr. Everhart to further solicit patrons here. It now looks as if an exchange would be started with at least twenty-five 

telephones in use to begin with. [SFDNM] 

1891March26; éfiled notice of his intention to make final proof in support of his claimé Walter M. Taberé sec 34, tp 16n, r 11eé continuous residence 
upon and cultivation of said landé Robert Clockey and Atherton B. Wadleigh, of Glorieta, N.M. Charles C. Everhart and James L. Van Arsdell, of 

Santa Fe, N.M.  A.L. Morrison, Register. [SFDNM] 

1892December22; No coal for house holders is coming in over the narrow gauge at present because of a strike by the San Luis Valley Coal companyôs 
employes, but C.C. Everhart will probably leave next week to assume control of the working forces there and work the property with the especial end in 

view of supplying this market at $5 a ton in competition with the Cerrillos product at $7 a ton. [SFDNM] 

1893February1; Mayor Valdez, T.P. Gable and C.C. Everhart have purchased Jerseys cows out of the Dwyer herd. [SFDNM] 
1893March7; Two propositions were laid before the [SF city] council for street sprinkling; one from C.C. Everhart at $5 per day, and one from C.W. 

Dudrow at $8 per day, the city in both cases to supply the necessary water. [SFDNM] 

1893June30; [Washington, June 30] écharges have been filed here with the president against the appointment of Pedro Delgado as receiver of public 
moneys at the Santa Fe land office. éThe exact nature of the charges are not known outside of the White house, but they are said to be serious, and 

were filed by C.C. Everhart and Dr. Andrews, of Santa Fe. [SFDNM] 

1893August22; All meats kept in refrigerator till delivered at Kleinschmidt & Everhartôs butcher shop in Lamy building, northwest corner of Plaza. 
[SFDNM] 

1894May18; [Santa Fe telephone system numbers issued] C.C. Everhart 31 [SFDNM] 

1895March20; Mr. C.C. Everhart has concluded to take up his abode at Fort Union. [SFDNM] 
1895May22; The governor to-day appointed the following to serve one year as fish wardensé Jose Sandoval, C. Ebergardt, Jemez... [SFDNM] 

1895December28; Mrs. C.C. Everhart and bright little daughter, Gertrude, are here from Fort Union, spending the holidays with Mr. and Mrs. P. Hesch, 

Mrs. Everhartôs parents. [SFDNM] 
1897May4; Land Office Businessé Coal Lands. Valencia County ï Ed Hesch, Santa Fe, 160 acres; C.C. Everhart, Las Vegas, 160; Phillip Hesch, sr., Santa 

Fe, 160; Sol Block, Grantôs station, 160. Bernalillo County ï James J. OôNeill, 160 acres. [SFDNM] 
1909March31: Mrs. C.C. Eberhardt, who has been conducting a boarding house here, has been induced to go to Lamy where she will open up a boarding house 

for trainmen and other railroad employees. The railroad men have been suffering since the burning down of the old eating house, being compelled to exist on 
canned foods. [SFNM 100yrs] 

-  as witness or attestor  - 
1879May10 (loc); D.A. Blake, J.M. Thompson; Neptune Lode, 1mi W of Turquoise Mtn, 3mi N of Galisteo Creek, in LCMD; 750ôNNE 750ôSSW 150ôea side; attest 

C.Eberhart, recorded 26September1879 [Locations & Mining Deeds B#15406 p.6] 
1879May10 (loc); Los Cerrillos Mining District, D.A. Blake, J.M. Thompson, Neptune Lode 1500ô 750ôNNE & 750ôSSW 150ô on ea side. ca 1mi W of the 

Turquoise Mtn and 3mi N of the Galisteo Creek. Attest C. Eberhart Filed for record 24Sep79, recorded same day N.B. Laughlin Recorder LCMD 

{Cerrillos Mining Records Book 1 p.168} 



1879December1 (loc); George Waugh ½ , Robert Albin ½ ; Moonstone Lode, 1.5mi SSE of Turquoise Mtn, 1mi N of Galisteo River, in LCMD; 150ô N to Perhaps lode, 
1350ôS, 150ôea side; witness C.H. OveHardt, recorded 12February1880 [Locations & Mining Deeds B#15406 p.220] 

1882November10; Carbonateville; PoL for 1882; Chriestian Eberhardt certifies before Arthur A. Cruttenden Notary Public at least $100 on Good Hope, Eberhart, Gem. 
Adolp, Perhaps, in LCMD; witness J.L. Hayward, W.C. Rogers, recorded 28December1882; [Locations & Mining Deeds F#15410 p.309] 

1882November10 PoL; Chriestain Eberhart swears before Arthur A. Cruttenden NP that I have expended at least $100 upon each one of the following, in 

the LCMD Good Hope ï Eberhart ï Gem ï Adolph ï Perhaps, for the year 1882. Witness J.S. Hayward, W.C. Rogers. Filed for record 10Nov82 
and recorded same day Arthur A. Cruttenden Recorder. {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.39} 

1882December29 POL; Christian Eberhardt, Andrew Simonsen swear before Jordan B. Cottle NP that at least $100 worth of labor has been performed 

upon Diamond Lode, in LCMD, for 1882. Such expenditure was made by John Robertson of Las Vegas NM owner of said claim. Filed for record 
29Dec82 and duly recorded same day Arthur A. Cruttenden Recorder. {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.74} 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Eberle * Eberlie *  
Francis X. Eberle    - of Los AngelesCA, Mogollon m.d., Grant co. 

1895September9; F.X. Eberle, of Los Angeles, who spent last week in the Mogollon district inspecting the property belonging to the California company, 

has returned home. ï Deming Headlight. [SFDNM] 

1896March24; The Eberle mine at Mogollon is employing a force of five men on tunneling and development work. F.X. Eberle, the owner of this property, 
says he intends soon to erect a fine mill for treatment of the product of the mine. There are several tons of ore now on the dump ready for treatment. ï 

Silver City Sentinel. [SFDNM] 

1896March31; [Grant county] The Eberle property, Mogollon, is looking way up and an abundance of good ore is being extracted. F.X. Eberle, who is on 

the ground, expects that his company will erect a plant sometime during the coming summer. [SFDNM] 

1896September14; F.X. Eberle, the owner of the great Eberle bonanza mines, at Mogollon, arrived at Silver City from Los Angeles, Cal., on Sunday. He 

went to Mogollon Monday. [SFDNM] 
1897November20; Hon. T.B. Catron is in Socorro today, arguing a demurrer in the mining case of Eberle vs. Eberle. The case involves properties worth 

about $250,000 in the Mogollon mountains. [SFDNM] 
1900July21; Socorro County. F.X. Eberle has put a force of men doing development work on his Clifton and Eberle mines, near Mogollon... [SFNM] 

as of 1903June30; List of mining claims in NM which have been officially surveyedé By Surveyor-General Morgan O. Llewellyn. F.X. Eberle, Clifton, 

Cooney MD, 19.27ac. ï Do., Eberle, do. MD, 18.89ac. [Report of the Governor of New Mexico to the Secretary of the Interior 1903, p.348] 
as of 1903June30; List of mining claims in NM which have been officially surveyedé By Surveyor-General Morgan O. Llewellyn. Francis X. Eberle, 

Braton, Cooney MD, 17.329ac. [Report of the Governor of New Mexico to the Secretary of the Interior 1903, p.350] 

as of 1903June30; List of mining claims in NM which have been officially surveyedé By Surveyor-General Morgan O. Llewellyn. F.X. Eberle, Clifton, 
Lexington, and Andrew Jackson, Cooney MD, 60.56ac. [Report of the Governor of New Mexico to the Secretary of the Interior 1903, p.356] 

 
John Eberlie    - of Mogollon Mountains 

1882February12; Mogollon Drifts. This is supposed to be the county seat, and the new county is to be named in honor of your new governor [Sheldon]. If 

you must know why it was named Alma, you must ask J.G. Barney, for it was him, Jim Warner and Burt Launt that laid out the present town site. Soon 

they will have a patent and a plot of the same. éClairmont is the town at the head of the Mogollons. It is there that you will find the two mines of Parker 
and Potter, recently sold to Chicago people for $84,000. éMessrs. Barney, Burns, Flint and others have fine leads in the same vicinityé The next camp 

south is what is known as Mineral Creek. There Senator Miller, George Doyle, Mr. Cooney and many others have good mining property. Several sales 

are expected soon. Already a California syndicate represented by John Eberlie have offered Cooney $150,000 in coin for his claimsé [SFDNM] 
1897November20; Hon. T.B. Catron is in Socorro today, arguing a demurrer in the mining case of Eberle vs. Eberle. The case involves properties worth 

about $250,000 in the Mogollon mountains. [SFDNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 
Lincoln Eberson    - of CO & StaFe 
1899February28; William John Thompson and Lincoln Eberson, of Colorado, and George H. Wallace, of New Mexico, have organized the Old Dominion 

Gold Production Company, and filed articles of incorporation in the office of the territorial secretary. The objects of incorporation are to carry on a 
general mining and milling business. Captial stock $5,000,000; principal place of business located at the city of Santa Fe, N.M. [SFNM] 

 
A. Ebert    - Ortiz Mine grant 
1868August25; on certificate #579 for 28sh of NMMC; D.W. Jennings as guardian for Elisha J. Whittlesey; signed by Sec F.W. Jones & pres Jno L Kidwell; seal stamped A. 

Ebert; sent by mail to John Mehay Sept.7, 188?8 ï in lieu of 525 for 27 shares and the 1 addl being under resoln ï having paid apeft Apl 22d 13 and $3 dol. ïreverse> 
sig E.J. Whittlesey, in presence of John F. Whitney, E.J. Whittlesey, John Mehay 

- witness - 
1884April4; Dated. Quit Claim Deed. Jerome B. Chaffee, of Denver and Stephen B. Elkins of StaFe for $10 to NMMCé the land hereby conveyed and intended to be 

conveyed being the rest residue and remainder of said Ortiz Mine Grant left after the conveyance of that part of the same made by deed executed by the parties of the 
first part on the fourth day of April A.D. 1884, to the Cerrillos Coal and Iron Company containing 15,026.06 acres more or less. Sig. S.B. Elkins, J.B. Chaffee. Wit. 
H.Ebert, William H. Clarkson, David Mitchell<com.for NM in CO], Wm B. Harrison. SBE ackn before Charles Edgar Mills, com.for NM in NY 117 BroadwayNYC. b.N 
Deeds p.36. [BHenderson Abstract of Title No.1 30Sep1983] 

 
Charles Ebey    - of TopekaKS 

1897October29; Mr. Charles Ebey of Topeka, who is interested in New Mexicoôs mineral wealth, is in the city stopping at the Claire. [SFDNM] 

 
Nadine Echol    - Cerrillos 
Heiden Echol, Cerrillos Block9 (Second, SRailroad, First, Main) Lots 1, 3, 5, 7, 9, 11, 13, 15, owner of record [Cerrillos plat 1960s] 
Heiden Echol, Cerrillos Block10 (Second, S side Main, First) Lots 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 (Tiffany lots), owner of record [Cerrillos plat 1960s] 

 
Douglas Eckberg     



1988March11; Two Jewelers Hold Options On Turquoise Mining Area. By Don Jones Journal Staff Writer ¶ Two Santa Fe jewelers have bought options on 

the 40-acre Turquoise Hill near Cerrillos, including the centuries-old Tiffany Mine. ¶ Doug Magnus said he and his partner, Douglas Eckberg, hold 
options on Turquoise Hill and the Castilian claim, a 10-acre tract adjacent to Turquoise Hill. ¶ Magnus said they plan to complete the purchase of the 

properties within a month for an undisclosed sum. ¶ He said the partners will surface mine the turquoise for jewelry-making but donôt plan to ñrape and 

pillageò the site. Æ ñThere will be no major development of the property in the foreseeable future,ò Magnus said. ñYouôll never see a row of condos on 
the property.ò Magnus said he and Eckberg have a ñpreservationist attitudeò and will treat the site with respect. ñIt will be the first time that jewelers 

work with the stones through the whole process,ò Magnus said, noting that high-quality stones have been found in the Turquoise Hill area. ¶ A group 

called the Turquoise Hill Foundation also held an option on the Turquoise Hill property but failed to raise $140,000 to buy the mine from Stahl 
Petroleum of Amarillo, Texas, by a deadline of March 1. The foundation had hoped to turn the property over to the state for use as a state park. ¶ 

Magnus said Turquoise Hill might be opened to the public eventually but he cited concern over insurance costs. ¶ Historians believe Turquoise Hill 

was mined by prehistoric Indians as long ago as 1300 A.D. and Spanish and Anglo miners later worked the site. In the 1930s, about 45 buildings 
existed on the site, former Turquoise Hill caretaker Don Clark said. [Journal North] 

1988March13: The prospective owners of the Tiffany Turquoise Mine plan to preserve the site but will sell turquoise from the mine for jewelry production. Santa Fe jewelers 
Doug Magnus and Douglas Eckberg have obtained the options to buy 50 acres that include Turquoise Hill, Tiffany Mine and the adjacent Castillian claim, all located 
near Cerrillos. [SFNM 25yrs] 

 
Gus Eckerman    - of StaFe 
1908December16: The quail in the vicinity of Bonanza received a terrible onslaught yesterday when J.H. Blain, H.C Montoya and Gus Eckerman visited the 

locality. When they returned to the city they brought 24 fine specimens of the quail family. [SFNM 100yrs] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Eckert *     - see also Eggert 

ECKERTôS INC. 
1961; Huber Auto Dealership, Vehicle Contract, Eckertôs Incorporated. [A&CCC Records, Zimmerman Lib] 
 
Charles W. Eckert  (b.PRUSSIA 1835>    - of StaFe 
1870July27_census: Charles Eckhardt, bar keeper, 35y-o, born Prussia, resident SF pct.4 solo 
1893August17; [the following corporations have filed articles] Montezuma Gold & Silver Mining Company Incorporators, Chas W. Eckert, Simon Bibo, 

Joseph Bibo, Thos McEniry and Geo J. Humbert. Capital stock $1,000,000. Principal offices at Denver and Albuquerque. [SFDNM] 

 
J. Eckert    - of StaFe 
1917December31; ref officers of First National Bank: Levi A. Hughes, President; Arthur Seligman, Vice President; James B. Read, Cashier; Chas. J. Eckert, Asst. Cashier; 

DIRECTORS - Levi A. Hughes , Paul A.F. Walter, Arthur Seligman, Salamon Spitz, Benj. F. Pankey, John Pflueger; Organized December 3, 1870. [McNulty papers 
(P.McCraw) b.24] 

 
Josephine Eckert    - husb is Joe Huber;  of Madrid 
Joe Huber #1 wife = school teacher, wild; #2 wife Josephine Eckert. There were 2 telephones in Madrid; Joeôs office and the mine office. [per BHenderson 19Jun2010] 
Martin W. Eckert, born October 7, 1925, passed away Saturday, February 4, 2006 at home. He is survived by his wife, Frances ñJereò Hurley Eckert, eight children and 

twenty grandchildren; Dick and Patty Eckert Maguire, Melanie, Shannon and Marty; Jennine and Christopher C. Eckert, Jennifer and Christopher; Jarol Eckert, Matt 
and Zach Ullibarri; Mike and Josephine Eckert Calvani, Andrea and Alexis; Kathleen and Charles J. Eckert III, Kelsey, Chas, and Dustin Denio; Marita Eckert, Brandon 
and Katie Kauffman; Steve and Francie Eckert Fidel, Robert, Brianna, Hurley and Libby; Sandy and Martin W. Eckert Jr., Aubrey and Regina; brother George Eckert, 
sisters Margaret Cornell, Eloisa Branch and many nieces and nephews. He is preceded in death by his parents Charles J. and Josephine Perea Eckert, brother John 
Eckert and sisters Mary Flood, Jo Eckert Huber, Charlotte Robertson and Bernadette ñPerkyò Beals. A native of Santa Feé [source unk] 

 
Shirley Eckert    - husb is Charlie Villa;  Abq 
Onetime Madrid student of Julia Vergolio; Charlie Villa lives in Albuquerque. He is married to Shirley Eckert and they have 1 daughter (Carla). She manages Ciaoôs 

Restaurant. They also own High Noon Restaurant in Old Town. They have concessions at the State Fair too. [JVWeeks, Stories Around The Fireplace p.54] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 
Edward H. Eckhoff    - secretary StaFe Gold & Copper Mining Co.  - attestor - 
1928August1; Lease And Memorandum Of Agreement. Santa Fe Gold and Copper Mining Company of NJ & 11 Broadway NYC TO I.S. James of Denver 

(Lessee). b.N-Mines p.513. Consideration: Royalty basis. éThe Owner hereby leases for the period of 2 years and 3 months all that real estate in the State of 
New Mexicoé and also the use of all water necessary for the Lesseeõs mining and milling operations from the well on the San Pedro Grant, property of the 
Owner, heretofore unsed in supplying needs of the Ownerõs mineé Sig. Santa Fe Gold & Copper Mining Co., E.J. Macnamara, President. Attest: Edw H. 
Eckhoff, Secretary. I.S. James, Lessee. [Sup.Abstract No.2153 7Aug1937, per BHenderson] 

 
William H. Eckles    - Steeple Rock m.d. 

1881May26; W.H. Eckles and his partner [Willmot] have purchased an interest in the ñCenterò and ñStar of the Westò in [Steeple Rock] district. [SFDNM] 

 

ECLIPSE SILVER MINING COMPANY    - Black Range m.d. 
as of 1903June30; List of mining claims in NM which have been officially surveyedé By Surveyor-General Morgan O. Llewellyn. The Eclipse Silver 

Mining Co., Eclipse, Black Range MD, 18.61ac. [Report of the Governor of New Mexico to the Secretary of the Interior 1903, p.347] 

 
F. Eddison    - RicoCO 

1894April26; At the Bon Ton Hotel; F. Eddison, Rico; W.L. Riley, Amizett; A. Haggerman, Cerrillos; Jas Holliday, San Bernardino, Cal. [SFDNM] 

 



R. T. Eddowes   - witness - 

1879June19 (loc): M. Hess Durand; Helena Lode, 1500ô linear, 150ô in width on ea side, 750ôNNE & 750ôSSW, in The DMD and the Galisteo Subdistrict. 
Attest F.A. Manney, R.T. Eddowes. W.P. McClure Recorder by Abe Speigelberg Pres [Recorded 9Sept79] {Galisteo Mining Record ï Cerrillos 

Record Book 6 p.119} 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Eddy *  
Charles B. Eddy    - bro of J.A. Eddy;  of EddyNM, Jarilla m.d. 
1897April16; Hon. C.B. Eddy, W.A. Hawkins and a party of capitalists left San Antonio yesterday for White Oaks on a tour of investigation of the resources 

of Lincoln county. [SFDNM] 
1897October16; The New Mexico Improvement & Mineral company, organized under the laws of West Virginia, has filed its articles of incorporation with 

the territorial secretary reciting the following particulars: Incorporators, Girard C.W. Lowrey of New York, Charles B. Eddy of Eddy, N.M., C.D. 

Simpson of Scranton, Pa., Chas H. Blair and W.S. Scott, both of New York City; objects, acquiring mining properties in Lincoln county and elsewhere 
in New Mexico and operating the same; principal office, New York City; life, 50 years; capital stock, $5,000,000; directors same as incorporators; agent 

in New Mexico, George W. Wood of Nogal, Lincoln county. [SFDNM] 

1898April16; Certificate of incorporation of the New Mexico Development company, a corporation organized under the laws of the state of West Virginia 
by Charles B. Eddy, of Eddy, N.M.; John C. Osgood, Denver, Colo.; Benjamin S. Harmon, John Davis and John H. Kelly, of New York, has been filed 

in the office of Secretary Wallace. The objects of the corporation are to carry on a general mining and mine brokerage business; building and operating 

railroads; to deal in real estate and generally to do any and all things necessary or proper in the carrying out of said purposes, or any of them. Captial 
stock, $500,000; principal place of business is to be located in the city of New York, Alamogordo is designated as the principal place of business in New 

Mexico, and William A. Hawkins is named as the resident agent. [SFNM]   

1898October11; C.B. and J.A. Eddy have contracted with teams to haul 100 tons of ore from their Jarilla mines to the railroad for transportation to the El 
Paso smelter. [SFNM] 

1898November4; The Eddy Brothers are reported to have made a rich strike in their Nannie Baird mine in the Jarillas at a point where the vein changes its 

dip. [SFNM] 
1899April19; Jarillas Wealth. Turquoise Mines Developing Into Low Grade Gold and Copper Propositions. The story of the development of the gold fields 

in the Jarillas mountains is an interesting one. At first it was the finding of turquois that led eastern capitalists to interest themselves in the Jarillas 

district. But most of them withdrew, finding that turquois mining was very expensive and did not always pay. But of late years more attention is being 
paid to the development of the other mineral resources of the district and the result is astonishing. ¶ The Jarillas mining camp is situated in Otero 

county, in a small range of foot hills, two miles wide and 15 miles long. For the past 20 years it has been known that the Jarillas contained immense 

deposits of low grade ore and that occasional fine specimens of high grade free gold ore and valuable specimens of turquois were found, but the 
obstacles to a full development in the early days were a lack of fuel, water and transportation. Some 15 years ago $50,000 was spent in the camp by 

prominent capitalists in search of turquois and high grade ore, but the attempt was finally abandoned after the patenting of the claims by Pittsburg 

people and two claims by capitalists from St. Louis. Tiffany, the jewelry maker of New York, entirely abandoned the camp after spending a fortune. 
One claim upon which he spent $30,000 mining for turquois is now considered the most valuable ground for low grade gold ore. It is now known that 

the immense vein of tracite in which he found small seams of turquois yields about $4 per ton in gold and is considered a very promising cyanide 

proposition. ¶ The formation is lime and porphyry, with immense iron blowouts from blanket veins. Thousands of tons of a desirable fluxing iron ore, 
carrying $4 per ton in gold, can be gathered from the surface about these blowouts. So far the blankets are proven to be tree, varying in thickness and 

lying from 50 feet to a hundred feet below each other. ¶ The coming of the El Paso & Northeastern railroad has solved the transportation and the fuel 

problems and is solving the water problem. Messrs. C.B. and J.A. Eddy have bonded a group of forty claims and are prospecting in earnest, 
maintaining a pay roll of about $8,000 per month. ¶ Inclines and shafts to a depth of from 100 to 300 feet have shown the ore bodies to be continuous, 

permanent and profitable, and now permanent improvements including a two and a half mile spur from the main line, ore bins, water tanks, winzes and 

buildings are almost completed. Some thirty tons of ore is being shipped to the El Paso smelters at present, while the ore bins are being filled with 
second class ore to await the nearer approach of the railroad. While the average of shipping ore nets $15 to $20 per ton, small pockets are encountered 

that yield from $1,000 to $8,000 per ton. The proven blanket ore belt is only one mile by two miles, but every shaft sunk twenty feet shows ore. Every 

foot of ground in this claim has been located. About one hundred people are employed by the Eddy Brothers, who have laid out a town site at the camp. 
The miners and their families at present liven in tents. ¶ The St. Louis Copper Company also owns several valuable claims in the district and has 

already opened a thirty foot breast of ore that assays from five to seventy-five per cent. of copper. [SFNM] 
1899May31; At Jarilla, on the El Paso & Northeastern, a deal has been consummated on the May claim owned by S.O. Smith of camp, and Dan Kelly of 

Fassett and Mr. Kelly of El Paso. The May is only a half claim 300x1,500 feet, but is well located adjoining Lucky and Lincoln ground and the 

development work showed up good shipping ore. It sold for $6,000, the purchasers being the Eddy Bros. It is a good sale giving Smith and Kelly a 
handsome profit on their investment of a few hundred dollars. [SFNM] 

1899August3; Jarilla, Otero County. The Nannie Baird, Lucky, May 7, Come Eleven, and Lincoln, all owned by the Eddy brothers... [SFNM]   

1899August23; Sam L. Smith located a fractional claim and called it May mine, in the Jarrillas last winter; adjoining the Lucky mine that belongs to the 
Eddy brothers. There was nothing in sight on the surface, but Mr. Smith thought there would be ore found by doing some work. Going down he found 

the ore after doing about 40 feet of work. To ccomplish that however he had to sell an interest to Mr. Kelly, of the firm of Kelly & Fassett, to get the 

means. Some two months ago the Eddys bonded the property of Smith and Kelly and made a forfeit payment. Today the bond was taken up and the 
purchase price $6,000 was paid in full. ï El Paso Graphic. [SFNM] 

1900July16; Eddy Bros. are prospecting for new coal beds in Otero county. [SFNM] 

1900August29; Otero County. President C.B. Eddy, accompanied by J. Chilberg, local sales agent of the Colorado Fuel and Iron Company at El Paso, and 
President H.J. Anderson, of the First National Bank of Alamogordo, made a tour of the White Oaks line last week. [SFNM] 

1901June13; The Dawson Fuel company today filed incorporation papers in the office of Territorial Secretary J.W. Raynolds. The capital is $1,000,000 

divided into 10,000 shares. Headquarters at Alamogordo, Otero county. The incorporators are: Clarence D. Simpson, Charles B. Eddy and Benjamin S. 
Harmon. The directors are Clarence D. Simpson, Charles B. Eddy, Thomas H. Watkins, Benjamin S. Harmon and William P. Thompson. The company 

will engage in coal mining in Colfax county where it has acquired the Dawson coal fields. [SFNM] 

1904; During 1904 August Hilton, now one of the owners of Carthage Coal Company, considered the possibility of rebuilding a rail spur to Carthage to lower the cost of 
transportation. Hilton, lacking the resources needed to develop the mines and rebuild the rail spur to Carthage, gave Daniel McMillan, a Socorro attorney an option on 
the coal properties. McMillan began seeking investors for this deal and ultimately negotiated a sale to Powell and Grace Stackhouse of El Paso TX. Stackhouse was an 
associate of Charles B. Eddy, promoter of the New Mexico Railway and Coal Company that built a series of railroads from El Paso to Dawson located southwest of 



Raton NM. é Eventually the lawsuits were settled out-of-court in early 1906 and Stackhouse and Eddy emerged owning the New Mexico Midland Railroad and the 
Carthage Coal Company. [GKHoffman & JPHereford, NMGS Guidebook 2009] 

 
John Eddy    - Dolores 
1896July27; Ignacio Gonzales, H.M. Horton, John Eddy, Doloresé are at the Bon-Ton. [SFDNM] 

 
John A. Eddy    - bro of C.B. Eddy;  Denver, El Paso, Jarilla m.d. 
1898June6; John E. Eddy, general manager of the El Paso & Northeastern railway, has returned from Denver to El Paso. [SFNM] 

1898July18; J.A. Eddy, who has been visiting his family in Denver, where they are for the summer, returned on the Santa Fe this morning. He said the folks 
were all well and he had a delightful trip. ï El Paso Herald. [SFNM] 

1898October11; C.B. and J.A. Eddy have contracted with teams to haul 100 tons of ore from their Jarilla mines to the railroad for transportation to the El 

Paso smelter. [SFNM] 
1898November4; The Eddy Brothers are reported to have made a rich strike in their Nannie Baird mine in the Jarillas at a point where the vein changes its 

dip. [SFNM] 

1898December29; J.A. Eddy & Company have bought three-fourths of Baird & McKayôs mining claims in the Jarillas mountains, known as the A.J. 
DeMules claims. By this, the Eddys become owners of all the DeMules and Baird properties in that range except the Turquois King and other turquois 

properties. [SFNM] 

1899April19; Jarillas Wealth. Turquoise Mines Developing Into Low Grade Gold and Copper Propositions. The story of the development of the gold fields 
in the Jarillas mountains is an interesting one. At first it was the finding of turquois that led eastern capitalists to interest themselves in the Jarillas 

district. But most of them withdrew, finding that turquois mining was very expensive and did not always pay. But of late years more attention is being 

paid to the development of the other mineral resources of the district and the result is astonishing. ¶ The Jarillas mining camp is situated in Otero 

county, in a small range of foot hills, two miles wide and 15 miles long. For the past 20 years it has been known that the Jarillas contained immense 

deposits of low grade ore and that occasional fine specimens of high grade free gold ore and valuable specimens of turquois were found, but the 
obstacles to a full development in the early days were a lack of fuel, water and transportation. Some 15 years ago $50,000 was spent in the camp by 

prominent capitalists in search of turquois and high grade ore, but the attempt was finally abandoned after the patenting of the claims by Pittsburg 

people and two claims by capitalists from St. Louis. Tiffany, the jewelry maker of New York, entirely abandoned the camp after spending a fortune. 
One claim upon which he spent $30,000 mining for turquois is now considered the most valuable ground for low grade gold ore. It is now known that 

the immense vein of tracite in which he found small seams of turquois yields about $4 per ton in gold and is considered a very promising cyanide 

proposition. ¶ The formation is lime and porphyry, with immense iron blowouts from blanket veins. Thousands of tons of a desirable fluxing iron ore, 
carrying $4 per ton in gold, can be gathered from the surface about these blowouts. So far the blankets are proven to be tree, varying in thickness and 

lying from 50 feet to a hundred feet below each other. ¶ The coming of the El Paso & Northeastern railroad has solved the transportation and the fuel 

problems and is solving the water problem. Messrs. C.B. and J.A. Eddy have bonded a group of forty claims and are prospecting in earnest, 
maintaining a pay roll of about $8,000 per month. ¶ Inclines and shafts to a depth of from 100 to 300 feet have shown the ore bodies to be continuous, 

permanent and profitable, and now permanent improvements including a two and a half mile spur from the main line, ore bins, water tanks, winzes and 

buildings are almost completed. Some thirty tons of ore is being shipped to the El Paso smelters at present, while the ore bins are being filled with 
second class ore to await the nearer approach of the railroad. While the average of shipping ore nets $15 to $20 per ton, small pockets are encountered 

that yield from $1,000 to $8,000 per ton. The proven blanket ore belt is only one mile by two miles, but every shaft sunk twenty feet shows ore. Every 

foot of ground in this claim has been located. About one hundred people are employed by the Eddy Brothers, who have laid out a town site at the camp. 
The miners and their families at present liven in tents. ¶ The St. Louis Copper Company also owns several valuable claims in the district and has 

already opened a thirty foot breast of ore that assays from five to seventy-five per cent. of copper. [SFNM] 

1899May31; At Jarilla, on the El Paso & Northeastern, a deal has been consummated on the May claim owned by S.O. Smith of camp, and Dan Kelly of 
Fassett and Mr. Kelly of El Paso. The May is only a half claim 300x1,500 feet, but is well located adjoining Lucky and Lincoln ground and the 

development work showed up good shipping ore. It sold for $6,000, the purchasers being the Eddy Bros. It is a good sale giving Smith and Kelly a 

handsome profit on their investment of a few hundred dollars. [SFNM] 
1899July15; ñDown in the southern end of New Mexico, weôve got a veritable and bona fide El Dorado a tiny store house of gold, silver, copper, lead and 

other minerals which I believe will ultimately prove to be the richest spot of the Creatorôs footstool,ò enthusiastically declared John A. Eddy at the 

Brown this noon. Mr. Eddy is one of the members of the El Paso & Northeastern Railroad Company, and a variety of mining, townsite and improvement 
companies which are engaged in developing New Mexico in the hope of ultimating a bounteour harvest of dollars for them. [SFNM] 

1899August23; Sam L. Smith located a fractional claim and called it May mine, in the Jarrillas last winter; adjoining the Lucky mine that belongs to the 

Eddy brothers. There was nothing in sight on the surface, but Mr. Smith thought there would be ore found by doing some work. Going down he found 
the ore after doing about 40 feet of work. To ccomplish that however he had to sell an interest to Mr. Kelly, of the firm of Kelly & Fassett, to get the 

means. Some two months ago the Eddys bonded the property of Smith and Kelly and made a forfeit payment. Today the bond was taken up and the 

purchase price $6,000 was paid in full. ï El Paso Graphic. [SFNM] 
1899August31; Lincoln County. J.A. Eddy and other capitalists are investing heavily in mining property in the Gallinas mountains and around White Oaks. 

[SFNM] 

1900January17; Otero County. The first bar of pig iron of Jarilla iron ore was turned out at El Paso last week. J.A. Eddy is authority for the statement that 
this is the forerunner of an industry which will excel all other industries now in existence in El Paso, both in extent and importance. [SFNM] 

1900July16; Eddy Bros. are prospecting for new coal beds in Otero county. [SFNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 
L. H. Edelon    - of Lake Valley 

1881July21; L.H. Edelon, of Lake Valley, spent yesterday in the city. He came in in the morning and registered at the Grand Central. [SFDNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Edgar * Edgard *  
Charles B. Edgar    - New Placers 

1883July23(loc); William J. Benton, James H. Edgar, Henry H. McCombs, John T. McCombs, Chas B. Edgar, Mrs Maggie McCombs, Mrs Mary A. 

Dickey, Anna Agnes Dickey Kittaining Placer Mining Claim from SE corner Alleghany PMC 1miN 1/4miE 1miS 1/4miW, NPMD, rec 3Sep83 [b.F 
p.446] 

 



Edwin J. Edgar  <b.MO 1847  d.StaFe 27Jun1887)    - of StaFe 
1870July27_census: James M. Edgar, gold miner, 58y-o, b.KY, resident SF pct.4 in same habitation with Eliza A. Edgar, 47y-o, b.MO, RealValue$12,000 PersValue$1,000, 

Edwin J. Edgar, 23y-o, b.MO, Louisa C. Edgar, 8y-o, b.NM, Martha Sawyer, domestic servant, 35y-o, BLACK, b.OH, John S. Watts, lawyer, 54y-o, b.KY, 
RealValue$40,000 PersValue$3,000, John Watts, lawyer, 30y-o, b.IN, RealValue$2,500 PersValue$6,000 

1876October26; Mr. Ed Edgar informs us that La Bajada hill has been worked and the road is now in excellent condition. Also there is a first class hotel at 

that place. going south should not fail to go by that route. [SFDNM] 

1881April24; Wallace Station. (South Peña Blanca) Pt. No.22, Bernalillo Co., April 22, 1881. Allow me the liberty of soliciting the valuable aid of your columns 

towards the building up of this rising town, whose future must be one of the brightest in New Mexico, if since the very beginning the proper steps are taken to avoid disorderly 

individuals in all possible ways. We are well aware of the real force of the New Mexican as the leading sheet of this Territory since its very foundation; (a score of useful 

services cannot be forgotten by the progenitors and citizens of this important national region), and this is the reason why we come to you for help in this, our hour of need, in 

this new locality. The work of order begnn on the 5th instant, in a public meeting held at the railroad station house. There the candidates for justice of the peace and constable 

were nominated for the election that took place on the 11th instant, in which S.H. Haney was elected squire and Dan McFarland constable, almost unanimously. We had fifty-

two votes cast, and the prospect is bright, as our judge is a friend of temperance, education and order, while our marshal is a young man of remarkable energy and agreeable 

manners. The most conspicuous feature in the said initiatory meeting was the creation of a school committee composed of Messrs. S.H. Haney, S.M. Gurhee, T.M. Montoya, 

G.H. Moore, A. C.de Baca, T.W. McIlvain, E.J. Edgard, J. Tracy and T. Bound, all heads of families residing in this town. To these names was added that of M. Askew as an 

honorary dot to his characteristic benevolence and public spirit. The duty of this committee is to devise ways and means for the building of a school house, etc. Several of the 

railroad hands ï our sturdy laborers ï have already signed a list offering half a dayôs toil for the said school building, and the pecuniary system is fairly advancing to secure all 

necessary things for the rest. Thus, you may see that we began in the right direction. We want families here, and our thanks are most warmly tendered to Chief Engineer A.A. 

Robinson for his efforts in avoiding rum sellers in our midst, as his public orders clearly evince. Several new buildings for family residences are now going on by order of the 

division superintendent. Most of our merchants will have their families here soon; hence the necessity of a public school. In our next we will give you a statement of the mines 

and mining companies about here. Also, of our neighboring Indian towns. Yours &c., Observer. [SFDNM]   

1884February; John B. Treadwell was appointed by the land department as a special agenté in February, A.D. 1884, took evidence in the locality of the town of San 
Francisco. ï Edward J. Edgar: ñI have resided in New Mexico since 1857, and lived near the town of San Francisco ever since, excepting two years. [US vs. 
SP&CdACo. NMSupCt 23Jan1888, p.473] 

1898February16; éthe circumstances of the death of Edwin J. Edgar, formerly a lieutenant in Kit Carsonôs regiment, during the war of the rebellion. In 
response to this request Major S.H. Bogardus, of Thornton, informed the authorities that Lieutenant Edgar was formely a member of Sergeant Ben 

Hopper post, G.A. R., at Wallace, and in 1887 was sent to St. Vincentôs hospital in Santa Fe where he died June 27, 1887... A brother of James C. Edgar, 

who was also a lieutenant in Carsonôs regiment, was killed, in Grant county near Hudsonôs Hot Springs some years ago. Both brothers were well known 
citizens of Santa Fe during the 60s and early 70s. [SFNM] 

 

James H. Edgar    - New Placers 

1883July23(loc); Geo Crosson, Henry H. McCombs, James Dickey, John J. McCombs, Wm J. Tow, Chas E. Alexander, Joseph C. McCombs, James H. 

Edgar Alleghany Placer Mining Claim from SE corner Pittsburgh PMC 1mi N to corner, thence 1/4mi E, thence 1mi S, 1/4mi W, NPMD, rec 3Sep83 

[b.F p.446] 
1883July23(loc); William J. Benton, James H. Edgar, Henry H. McCombs, John T. McCombs, Chas B. Edgar, Mrs Maggie McCombs, Mrs Mary A. 

Dickey, Anna Agnes Dickey Kittaining Placer Mining Claim from SE corner Alleghany PMC 1miN 1/4miE 1miS 1/4miW, NPMD, rec 3Sep83 [b.F 

p.446] 

 

James M. Edgar  (b.KY 1812,1811>    - wife is Elisa Collins Edgar (b.MO 1822, 1823>;  of StaFe & Ortiz Mine grant 
1860census; clerk, 49yr old, born KY, wife Elisa Collins Edgar [b.1822 MO persrealestate$10,000] 2sons James C. ñJimmieò <b.1844>, Edwin G. ñEddieò 

<b.1847>, 2daus Hattie [1859 married J. Howe Watts], Bec. 

1869July1; John S Hutchason (atty for all), Wm B. Foster, Dolores Chavez, Mariano Jaramillo, Juan Francisco Jaramillo, Simon H. Smith, Alofio/Alojois 
Bastarde, M.A. Upson, Robt B. Mitchell, Geo W. Cook, James M. Edgar, Henry Oôneill, Henry Thomas, Richard H. Tompkins, Espirito Santo lode 

3000ô total, gold mixed with other metals or minerals, southern slope of Sn Lazaro mountain; discovered by Bernando Freir; witness Antonio Aranda, 

S.C. Wylie [b.A p.195] 
1869July17; indenture; John S. Hutchason of Bernalillo county buys for $3000 from James M. Edgar 1/4of 700/1500 Santa Candelaria, 1/4of 400/1500 

Mammoth, 1/4of 400/1500 Hutchason [b.A p.193]  

1869August23; indenture; James M. Edgar sells for $1500 to Adolph Guttmann 1/8int in 700ô of Sta Candalaria, 1/8int in 400ô of Mammoth, 1/8int in 400ô 
of Hutchason witness 6Oct69 John S. Watts Notary Public [b.A p.200] 

1869September5; Henry OôNeill sells to Marshal A. Upson Fosterôs 1/4int in Candalaria for $2000. Candelaria MC members: Robert B. Mitchell, George 

W. Cook, Aldoph Guttman, James Edgar, Williams B. Foster. [b.A p.203] 
1869December6; Richard H. Tompkins, Henry Thomas, Cyrus H. DeForrest, Simon H. Smith, Peter Knapp, James M. Edgar, G.W. Cook, John S. 

Hutchason<atty for all), William B. Foster, Henry OôNeill, Dolores Chavez, Mariano Jaramillo, Ulogio Bastardo, Samuel Scott, Long Looked For Lode 

gold mixed with other metals & minerals, south slope San Lazaro Mountain, 2000ôW of Espiritu Santo lode. [b.A p.205] 
1869December6; Richard H. Tompkins, Henry Thomas, Cyrus H. DeForrest, Simon H. Smith, Peter Knapp, James M. Edgar, G.W. Cook, John S. 

Hutchason<atty for all), William B. Foster, Henry OôNeill, Dolores Chavez, Mariano Jaramillo, Ulogio Bastardo, Samuel Scott, Santa Candelaria lode 
gold mixed with other metals & minerals, south slope San Lazaro Mountain, 2000ôW of Espiritu Santo lode. [b.A p.207] 

1870February18; J.M. Edgar claim NW of Santa Candelaria, New Placers [b.A p.216] 

1870July27_census: James M. Edgar, gold miner, 58y-o, b.KY, resident SF pct.4 in same habitation with Eliza A. Edgar, 47y-o, b.MO, RealValue$12,000 PersValue$1,000, 
Edwin J. Edgar, 23y-o, b.MO, Louisa C. Edgar, 8y-o, b.NM, Martha Sawyer, domestic servant, 35y-o, BLACK, b.OH, John S. Watts, lawyer, 54y-o, b.KY, 
RealValue$40,000 PersValue$3,000, John Watts, lawyer, 30y-o, b.IN, RealValue$2,500 PersValue$6,000 

________________________________________________________________ 

 
Charles A. Edgerly  (b.ME)    - of Thornton 
1897December15; Charles Edgerly of Thornton, Martin Windsor from the upper Pecos, Daniel Carter of Glorieta and Joseph Blonger of Bonanza are in 

town to attend the meeting of Carleton post, G. A. R. [SFDNM] 

1903June4; Charles A. Edgerly of Carleton Post, No.3, G.A.R., is one of those who was recently granted a pension. He is allowed $6 per month. He was 

born in Maine... [SFNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Edie *  



E. Edie    - Lamy 
1901May22; Exchange: Mrs. J. Sturrock, Mrs. E. Edie, Lamy... [SFNM] 

1901May31; Exchange: Mrs. A.L. Kendall, Cerrillos; Mrs. J. Sturrock, Mrs. E. Edie, Lamy; W.G. Ashdown, Cerrillos; J.W. Harrison, Glorieta... [SFNM] 
1901June21; Exchange: Mrs. J. Sturrock, Mrs. E. Edie, Lamy... [SFNM] 

1901July3; Mrs. J. Sturrock and Miss E. Edie of Lamy, are in the city on a shopping visit. ï Exchange: Mrs. J. Sturrock, Miss E. Edie, Lamy... [SFNM] 

 
V. P. Edie    - of Abq 
1889July18; It is understood that Noble Trimble and V.P. Edie will visit San Pedro in a few days to make arrangements for the starting of a livery stable 

there. [SFDNM (from the ABQ Citizen)] 

1892August10; At the Exchange; V.P. Edie, P.P. Romero, Mrs. Sanchez, Albuquerque. [SFDNM] 

1899April24; Albuquerque Items. V.P. Edie has secured judgment against F.W. Hamm for $4,926.08 through referee W.D. Lee and the court has approved 
the finding. [SFNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 
B. T. Edington    - Las Vegas 
1893November16; At the Exchange; B.T. Edington, G.W. Hartman, Las Vegas. [SFDNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Edison * 
EDISON GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY    - NY, StaFe 

1889April23; Corporations Organized Under the General Incorporation Law, 1868-1904. Edison General Electric Company (N.Y.). Date of filing April 23, 1889, 50yrs, Santa 
Fe, Capital stock 12,000,000 [NMBlueBook 1905, p.201] 

 

EDISON MINING & MILLING COMPANY    - E-town & Red River 
1895August15; La Belle Gold Mines. The Edison boys are working two shifts and are showing up some very fine ore. [SFDNM] 

1895October3; Saturday afternoon the Edison boys brought in two large chunks of rock, weighing in the neighborhood of twenty pounds each, which were 

covered with gold on every side. Some of the particles of gold were as large as a pin head... ï La Belle Cresset. [SFDNM] 
1899May23; The Edison Mill. Red River, N.M., May 19, 1899. The machinery for the Edison mill began arriving on last Wednesday, and will be delivered 

on the ground as fast as possible. Mr. Perkins, the machinist in charge of erection of the plant, will arrive June 1, and at once begin placing the 

machinery.  [SFNM] 
1899July20; The Edison mill at Elizabethtown is now in full operation. [SFNM] 

1899August4; The Edison mill is running twenty-four hours a day and giving fine returns. [SFNM] 

1900February2; The Supreme Court. Yesterday afternoon case No.864, Everitt T. Fleming et al., appellants, vs. Robert H. Botts, appellee, appeal from 
Bernalillo county, was argued and submitted. ¶ Case No.865, Everitt T. Fleming et al., appellants, vs. Egbert Post, appellee, which is practically the 

same case, was argued and submitted at the same time. The action was brought to foreclose a laborerôs lien amounting to $130.75, for work and labor 

performed upon three mining claims known and called the Slice, Hyde Bar and King placer claims, and also upon two Edison gold-saving machines. 
Fleming had a part interest in the claims and machinery, and the lower court gave judgment against him. [SFNM] 

1900August30; Taos County. The Edison mill at the head of Bitter Creek will be in operation soon. The Edison mine has a large body of milling ore. 

[SFNM] 

as of 1965; Edison Mining & Milling Co., Red River. Copper Handbook, V.X. [Directory of Mines in New Mexico, Lucien A. File] 
 

Edison Mill    - Ortiz Mine grant 

1899May26; Hurt by a Rock. At the Ortiz mine, near Dolores, Santa Fe county, Mrs. Eugene Lanoy was struck on the head by a rock from a blast, causing 
consussio of the brain. The lady lies in a semi-conscious state and may die. The Ortiz company is blowing out a foundation for a new mill and Mrs. 

Lanoy failed to get a sufficient distance away when warned. [SFNM] 

1899October16; Edisonôs Plans Attract Attention. Scott F. Bickford, of the prominent brokerage firm of Bickford & Richards, of Boston, writes to the New 
Mexican. ñI note in your paper that you refer to some sarcastic remarks by other papers regarding the Edison process. I wish to call your attention to 

the fact that we are in receipt of a letter from Yale, B.C., in which the writer says that he is the owner of several thousand acres of placer land which 

can be worked at a profit by using the Edison process. So, if the newspaper men question the success of Mr. Edisonôs new invention, certainly mining 
men are taking some interest in it.ò [SFNM] 

1899October18; On The Ortiz Grant. On the Ortiz grant, in southern Santa Fe county, excavations are in progress on the hill east of Dolores for the Edison 

plant. S.G. Burn, the manager, expects to return from the east by November 1, and then work will be inaugurated at once in experiments which will 
determine the size and nature of the plant to be put in. Such machinery as can be secured at Chicago and Denver will be ordered by Mr. Burn on his 

way out and he expects to put it into active operation next month. The grant will in part be parceled out to leasers who will take their production the the 

Edison mill. ¶ The mill on the Ortiz mine has just been completed. New machinery generally, including ten new stamps has been added. A large 
building is being erected for a home for the superintendent and an assay office. A large ore body has been developed in the mine, assaying $8.00 and 

upward per ton. This is the only mine in operation on the grant, although assessment work is being done in the Cunningham and work is in progress to 

put the mine into operation very soon. ¶ The Mike OôNeill turquoise claim and copper property, it is stated, has been sold to S.G. Burn, manager of the 
Edison interests on the Ortiz grant. [SFNM] 

1899November27; The Edison Process. New York Men Who Expect Great Results From It. Edisonôs reported purpose of adopting an electric method, 

discovered and perfected by himself, of reducing low-grade gold ore contained in mines in which he has recently acquired an interest in southern Santa 
Fe county, is understood to be a development of a project he had some years ago of experimenting with electrical treatment with the auriferous sands 

that are upon the Long island and some parts of the New Jersey coast. These are black sandy deposits cast up by the sea, and when subjected to chemical 

processes disclose the presence of oxidized gold. At one time Edison thought that it might be possible by his electric methods to reduce these gold 
impregnated sands with commercial profit. His experiments clearly indicated that his process did obtain gold, but they also showed that the precious 

metal was in such minute form or deposit that these sands could not be depended upon even by the cheapest of processes, to yield gold in profitable 

deposits. ¶ It was while carrying on these experiments that Edison became persuaded that the process could be profitably utilized, after it had been 
specially modified, for the extraction of the magnetic iron ore which abounds in the Orange mountains. He gave several years to the perfection of this 

system, and at last put it into operation with at least comparative success. ¶ It is probably, however, that the enormous development of iron mining in the 



northwest may have affected somewhat the market upon which Edison depended. ¶ He always kept in reserve his electric method, deeming it possible 

that the time might come when he could utilize it for the reduction of low-grade gold ore. Some of Edisonôs friends in this city predict for his process a 
success that may be compared with that obtained by the Scotch chemist who showed the world how to use so cheap a thing as cyanide of potassium for 

the profitable reduction of low-grade ore. If it does prove a success it may be of vast importance in the development of the low-grade gold mines in 

northeastern Georgia and the adjacent regions of Tennessee and North Carolian, and perhaps in the Adirondack district, where gold ore of very low 
grade is abundant, only awaiting the developments of science to make it possible profitably to work these mines. ï New York Journal. [SFNM] 

1899December21; Edisonôs Process. The Mining World Looking to Southern Santa Fe County. The progress of placer mining on the Ortiz grant in New 

Mexico, by which Thomas A. Edison hopes to demonstrate the success of his invention for extracting gold by means of electricity, will be watched 
with interest in Colorado as the results may be of the utmost importance to this state, and, in fact, to the entire mining world. ¶ Owing to the secrecy in 

which Edison has clad his plans, little has been learned of the process by which he hopes to revolutionize placering. Reports from Cerrillos, where the 

preparations for Edisonôs work are now being carried on, indicate that about 30,000 cubic yards of gravel will be handled daily when the machinery is 
in place. The excavators, it is said, will take up the gravel and place it in immense revolving screens, which are intended to concentrate the gravel and 

gold. What is to be done with the concentrates is as yet a mystery, and it is thought that the process of separation, if successful, will be kept an entire 

secret. ¶ If the dry placering is carried on according to the immense scale which present plans indicate, it will be extremely difficult to keep the process 
of separation a secret for any great length of time, and the mining world may sooner or later reap benefit from Edisonôs genius, even against his will. 

Even if Edisonôs work in New Mexico proves a success, and is successfully kept a secret, doubtless the attention of other experts such as Tesla will be 

directed to the same field and good results obtained. ¶ The world has long needed a practical system of dry placering, and hardly a gold-producing 
section of the world will fail to receive immense benefit if the ideas of Edison or some not less practical electrician are put into general operation. The 

placers of the Klondike, have already shown signs of exhaustion, owning to the crude methods which the miners of Alaska have been compelled to 

adopt. This ground, which may be said to be only half washed, would doubtless yield rich returns to a good electrical process. In Colorado there are 

many rich placer fields that have long stood idle because of the fact that water cannot be secured for their working. ¶ It is claimed that Edison must be 

certain of the success of his plan, else he could not have organized a company with such immense capital for working the Ortiz placers. In the light of 

the practical success of his other inventions, this would seem reasonable, and will give rise to the question: Has the inventor of anything which will 
confer great benefit upon the world a moral right to keep his invention a secret? ï Denver Republican. [SFNM] 

1900; In 1900 a plant was built at Dolores by Thomas Edison for extraction of gold by means of static electricity, but the plan failed. [History of NM, Chas F. Coan, 1925, 
p.452] 

1900; The experimental plant was located approximately .5 miles east of Dolores in the bottom of Cunningham Gulch. A test volume of 30,000 cubic yards of gravel was 
handled daily. The concentrates (1/8ò and less) amounted to 4% of the total volume. The construction phase lasted from January to May, 1900. Beginning in May, 
machinists and technicians from the Menlo Park laboratory arrived with the machinery. Local laborers were excluded from the buildings containing the separation 
equipment. Fences were built to turn away the curious individuals and the operation was conducted in secret. ¶ A steam-powered generator was assembled at Madrid, 
and a power line laid to Dolores. All equipment was operated by electricity, and the lights of the plant could be seen from Santa Fe, twenty-five miles to the northeast. ¶ 
The test perior began in June, 1900, and lasted for approximately one year. The reason for the failure of the device given by Edison were (1) inherent moisture in the 
gravels, causing the gold particles to bond to larger particles of rock and pass into tailings, and (2), inflated gold content estimates. Succinctly put, the Edison process 
could not operate on 25¢/cuyd placers at a profit. [J.Townley 1968, p.123] 

1900January22; [Cerrillos] Ed Babbitt, late of Albuquerque, now a freighter out of Cerrillos, was married a day or two ago to Miss Chia Chavez, of 
Bernalillo. He has been awarded the contract to haul 30,000 feet of lumber from Cerrillos to the Edison plant at Dolores. [SFNM] 

1900January26; F.P. Crichton will leave tomorrow for Dolores. Mondy he will start work with a force of carpenters on the building for the experimental 

Edison plant at Dolores. [SFNM] 
1900February14; [Cerrillos] Work on the Edison experimental placer plant at Dolores is somewhat retarded by failure of the Las Vegas contractor to supply 

the heavy timbers necessary for the main building. The destruction of a San Miguel county saw mill by fire is said to be the cause of delay. [SFNM] 

1900February23; The Edison Plant. Cloyd M. Chapman, one of the Edison engineering force at Dolores is a visitor in the capital. Mr. Chapman states that 
some delay was caused in erecting the experimental plant at Dolores owing to a scarcity of lumber, but that now all the lumber has arrived and the 

buildings will be completed in a few days. The machinery is on the ground and the plant will therefore be in operation very soon. ï At the Claire: Floyd 

M. Chapman, Doloresé [SFNM] 
1900February27; Dolores Camp Prospering. The Ortiz Mine Is Taking Out Very Rich Stuff. H.F. Bigot, of Dolores, superintendent of the Ortiz mine, is a 

visitor in the capital. Mr. Bigot reports that the Ortiz mine has been shut down for the last ten days for repairs, but will soon resume. The shaft is now 

down 430 feet, and ore ranging in value from $3 to $50 a ton is being taken out and treated at a large Huntington mill and two smaller mills of five 
stamps each. Mr. Bigot says that Dolores is putting on an improved appearance since the Galisteo Mining Company has commenced erecting buildings 

there. The streets have been improved and a stone assay building put up, while three buildings adjoining the school house are in course of construction. 

The experimental mill is almost finished, and the machinery will be erected in a short time. [SFNM] 
1900March2; Mr. Delgado, the time keeper for the Edison plant, said 25 men were working there and that the plant should be finished by mid April. [SFNM 

via HM] 

1900March21; [Map] Old Placer District. Then come the rich and extensive auriferous placer deposits and mountains of gold-bearing quartz in place in the 
Old Placer mining district, which embraces Dolores and the 57,000 acres of richly mineralized land known as the Ortiz mine grant. These ledges and 

placer deposits have been worked for several hundred years, and have yielded several million dollars in gold. The Ortiz mine grant has been sold to a 

powerful syndicate, headed by Thomas A. Edison, and the world-renowned inventor expects soon to demonstrate the practical utility of what he regards 
as the crowning invention of his life by rescuing the gold from the sand, gravel, cement and quartz of this grant by means of an electrical process of his 

own, and without the aid of water. The construction of his experimental plant is now well under way. After thoroughly testing the appliance, the success 

of which is not doubted, reduction works of mammoth proportions will be constructed. [SFNM] 
1900April4; Edison Reduction Plant. The Experimental Mill At Dolores Is Ready for the Machinery. F.P. Crichton, who has charge of the carpenter work on 

the new Edison gold reduction plant at Dolores, on the famous Ortiz mine grant, came up from the south yesterday, and after voting for the candidates of 

his choice, returned to Dolores this afternoon. He reports that the frame work of the experimental plant is nearly ready to receive the machinery and 
electrical godld saving appliances expressly designed by Mr. Edison for use therein. The building is 80 feet long, 60 feet wide and about 50 feet high. A 

grand ball, attended by many people from Cerrillos, Madrid, Golden, San Pedro and Dolores, was given in this building on Saturday evening <31Mar; 

plant started 1Apr?]. The spacious hall was brilliantly lighted by electricity generated by the new lighting plant. [SFNM] 
1900April20; Cerrillos, April 19. ï The Edison plant at Dolores will start work on May 1, as it is now assured that the building will be completed next week. 

Thomas B. Edison is expected at the works on May 15 to personally superintend the tests to be made. [SFNM] 

1900May3; E.G. Crittenden, who was recently employed as a carpenter on the Edison mill at Dolores in south Santa Fe county has been appointed carpenter 
at the United States Indian school at Grand Junction, Colo., and expects to leave for the scene of his future labors over the Denver & Rio Grande railroad 

in the morning. [SFNM] 



1900May5; {Edison plant) Commenced operations on Saturday last. =5May1900 start [TNMR via HM] 

1900May8; The Edison dry placer experimental plant at Dolores, seven miles south of Cerrillos, commenced operations on Saturday last. The machinery 
moves off in perfect order. Operations are conducted with great secrecy, only the wizardôs confidential agents being allowed in the main operating 

department. Mr. Edison is expected out from New York about the 15th to personally inspect the workings of the machine. [SFNM] 

1900May11; Nothing is given out at the Edison mill for publication, but it is known that the experimental plant is running daily, and seems to be doing good 
work. [SFNM] 

1900May11; J.S. Hutchison came up from Cerrillos this forenoon. He says report has it in the south end of the county that the Edison placer plant is saving 

the values at Dolores very satisfactorily. [SFNM] 
1900June1; The Edison experimental placer plant at Dolores is running continuously, but none of the employes lets his left hand know what his right hand 

doeth, as it were. A high fence has been erected about the works in order to bar out the curious. [SFNM] 

1900June27: Attorney A.B. Renehan has returned home from a somewhat extended trip through the mining districts of southern Santa Fe county. éThe 
Edison electrical gold saving plant is in constant and successful operation on the Ortiz mine grant near Dolores, giving employment to a force of ten or 

twelve men. The secret of the wonderful process whereby the gold values are rescued from the auriferous gravel and sand of the Ortiz grant without the 

aid of water has not been confided to the public; it is still one of the personal and private possessions of the renowned wizard of Menlo Park; but it is 
evidently more than meeting the expectations of its inventor and his business associates, and little doubt is entertained that it is destined to revolutionize 

present methods of reducing gold-bearing ores. President Lawson, of the Ortiz mine grant company, has been at Dolores for two weeks, thoroughly 

examining the property and watching the operation of the experimental Edison mill. He appears well pleased. [SFNM] 
1900July3; Cloyd Chapman, connected with the Edison placer works, is here from Dolores to pass the 4th with city friends. He reports that Manager S.G. 

Burn has gone on a visit to Mexico. [SFNM] 

1900July20; The Mineral Wealth of the Santa Fe Mountains. W. Atchison is in town from Dolores today and states that the Edison experimental dry placer 

machine is running steadily and giving excellent results. The plant is doing so well indeed, that the machinery is kept going three hours after the supper 

hour. Manager S.G. Burn and a New York cousin of the Lawsons, a Mr. Thornton, have just returned from a trip through Arizona and Mexico. 

[SFNM] 
1900July25; S.G. Brown, manager of the Edison placer works at Dolores, arrived from the south this noon accompanied by W.D. Thornton, of New York, 

who is interested in the Ortiz grant. [SFNM] 

1900September12; At Dolores the Edison experimental mill of the Galisteo Mining company, S.G. Burn, manager, is working right along, but the greatest 
secrecy is maintained as to the operation of the plant and the results that are attained. [SFNM] 

1901February4; Special Cor. New Mexican. Cerrillos, N.M., February 1, 1901. ï Tests have been made at the Edison experimental mill at Dolores, and the 
matter has gone beyond the experimental stage. The process has fulfilled every expectation of the worldôs most famous inventor. Not only has a definite 

decision to have a large mill on the same principle as the experimental plant erected at Dolores, but furthermore the machinery has already been ordered. 

The new mill is to have a capacity of 300 tons daily, and it will be a full year in building. [SFNM] 
1901March28; President Hoyt Here. H.R. Hoyt, of New York, president of the Galisteo company; J.S. Elliott, of New York, a mining expert, and S.G. 

Burns, manager of the Galisteo company, which is conducting mining operations on the Ortiz grant, arrived last evening from Dolores, where ten days 

were spent in examining and investigating the work thus far done and the mineral deposits that are being developed. Mr. Hoyt would not speak for 
publication as to the work to be done in the future on the grant, except that the experimental work of the Edison mill at Dolores has been concluded, and 

the present visit of Mr. Hoyt, who is a well-known business man and millionaire of New York, and Mr. Elliott, the mining expert, is in some way 

connected with future work on the Edison plan. From here Mr. Hoyt and Mr. Elliott will go to Denver, and from there east. Mr. Hoyt is a comparatively 
young man, affable and kindly in his ways, and yet a shrewd business man and investor. He is a frequent visitor to New Mexico, and takes a great deal 

of interest in the territory. He was in consultation to-day with W.H. Pope, Esq., the attorney of the Galisteo company. [SFNM] 

1901June13; A Dry Placer Machine ï announcement that Edisonôs plant at Dolores is being shipped back to New York. [SFNM via HM] 

 
Thomas Alva Edison  (b.OH 11Feb1847  d.NJ 18Oct1931)    - of NJ & Ortiz Mine grant 
1880March14; Gold From Tailings. The Process Mr. Edison Claims to Have Invented for Saving Metal Now Lost. What time Mr. Edison can spare from his 

electric light he devotes to the perfecting of his plan for obtaining gold out of the ore already used and cast away by miners. The latter product is 

known as tailings. Both miners and assayers know that there is a certain amount of the precious metals left in those tailings when cast off, but a process 

by which the metal may be profitably secured, Mr. Edison says, has until now remained unknown. This process he claims to have invented. He has so 
well satisfied a number of mining engineers and capitalists that his claim is well founded, that a company has already been organized to work over the 

tailings cast off at the furnaces of the great mines. It was learned yesterday that this company have contracted for and secured 50,000 tons of this 
product among the mining districts of Virginia City and Leadville. The process by which Mr. Edison proposes to obtain the gold is as yet a secret. It is 

said, however, that quicksilver enters largely into the process, as do also, in a lower degree, oxide of lead, carbonate of soda, charcoal dust and powder 

glass. N.Y. Sun. [SFDNM] 
1882February22; There can be but one cause assigned for the present rapid advance in the price of metallic copper, namely the intense activity in electrical 

science. éit is reasonable to believe to Edison, another countryman of ours, the form, force and direction to this wonderful agent, stored in 

incombustible supply in the earthôs atmosphere for manôs use, than to any other. [SFDNM] 
1890August25; Irving Hale, the Edison electric light man, returned from the south yesterday and is consulting to-day with the local organizers of the electric 

light company. Mr. Hale is a graduate of West Point military academy, class of ô84ôé [SFDNM] 

1897October27; The Edison projectoscope with phonographic attachment will be on exhibition at the Santa Fe opera house tomorrow night. Reserved seats 
on sale at Irelandôs, price 50 cents. [SFDNM] 

1897October28; Edisonôs Projectoscope. See the great pillow fight among the seminary girls, Black Diamond expresses the serpentine dance, the morning 

bath and numerous other pictures as shown by the Edison Projectoscope, the most wonderful invention of the age. Everything as natural as life. At the 
Santa Fe opera house Thursday night. Admission 50, 35 and 25 cents; reserved seats on sale at Irelandôs Pharmacy. [SFDNM] 

1898; The sale of the Grant was consummated during 1898. Discussions between the principal owners of the Grant, Senator Stephen B. Elkins and Richard C. Kerens, and 
Thomas A. Edison, during 1897 had resulted in the assignment of S.G. Burn to conduct an appraisal of the Grant. Burn, an English mining engineer, spent the major 
part of 1897 investigating the mining possibilities of the Grant. After a favorable preliminary report, Edison obtained a two year lease on the property with an option to 
purchase the complete holding at a reported price of $2M. ¶ Burn returned to the Grant in the summer of 1898, and worked on a comprehensive report during the next 
two years. Edison intended to work the placer deposits near Dolores. In order to utilize his experimental ore separator, detailed knowledge of the size ranges and 
specific gravity of the placer gravels were needed. Burn employed up to 100 men in his investigations. Over seven miles of trenches were dug and sample tests on the 
gravels on each yard of trench were run. ¶ By 1900, Thomas A. Edison was satisfied that conditions on the Grant would be favorable for his process. Accordingly, the 
sale of the NMMC was conducted in the manner stipulated in the lease agreed to in 1898. The new owners styled themselves the Galisteo Company. S.G. Burn was 
made the resident manager, and began preparations for the buildings needed to hours the equipment coming from Menlo Park, NJ. [J.Townley 1968, p.121] 



1898January10; Santa Fe Opera House. Thursday Evening, Jan. 13, 1898. Return of the favorites ï The Bittner Theatre company and the wonderful Edison 

Triograph. Admission, 35 and 50 cents: for sale at Irelandôs Pharmacy. [SFNM] 
1898February2; Apparently trustworthy information states that Thomas A. Edison, J.C. Burn, Richard Kerens and Senator Elkins have secured a two-yearsô 

option on the 65,000 acre tract of mineral land in south Santa Fe county known as the Ortiz Mine grant. It is understood that the purchase price agreed 

upon is about $1,500,000. [Mining and Scientific Press, cited in SFNM] 
1898February3; Ortiz Mine Grant Deal. [illegible] éMr. Burn spent a good deal of timeé grant but Mr. Edisoné It is further understood that Mr. 

Edisonôs newly invented method of rescuing gold from quartz and placer ground at minimum cost will be used on a large scale on the Ortiz grant.  

[SFNM] 
1898February23; The Wizard Coming. Thomas A. Edison and His Associates Have Certainly Closed Deal for Ortiz Grant. A Mammoth Placer Plant 

Actually in Process of Construction Under Edisonôs Personal Supervision ï  The Renowned Inventor Will Transfer His Headquarters to Santa Fe. The 

New Mexican ??? ???[after long?] and patient investigation, has finally possessed itself of definite and authentic information concerning the immense 
and sensational deal whereby the world-renowned inventor, Thomas A. Edison, of Orange, N.J. in association with an English syndicate that commands 

unlimited capital, has secured a two yearsô option on the famous Ortiz Mine grant of about 56,000 acres of gold land in south Santa Fe county, and at the 

end of that time will unquestionably pay over to the owners of the grant the modest sum of $1,500,000 named in the bond as the price of the property. ¶ 
Preliminary to securing this option Mr. Edison had his confidential expert, Mr. W.B. Burns, with nine assistants constantly employed for nearly a year, 

carefully testing the gold values of the grant, giving particular attention to the placer grounds, and since then other experts have been sent out to check 

up the exhaustive work of Mr. Burns and verify the almost incredible report he submitted. ¶ The reports were all unexpectedly satisfactory. Of course, 
the first result thereof was the immediate closing of the pending deal for the grant with the owners. Immediately thereafter Mr. Edison decided to begin 

the construction of a colossal plant for rescuing the gold from the large areas of rich placer ground on the grant by means of a new method of his own 

invention, and with him a decision to do a thing means forthwith action. The construction of his plant is already well underway and it will undoubtedly 

be completed and in actual operation on the placer grounds near Dolores before snow flies next fall. ¶ Of course no one here knows what manner of a 

plant is being constructed, as it is the coinage of Mr. Edisonôs own fertile and resourceful brain, but an idea of its mammoth proportions can be formed 

from the fact that it will be build large enough to handle 25,000 tons of placer dirt every 24 hours. These figures seem fabulous, but they come direct 
from the famous wizard himself and can be relied upon as giving a correct idea of the plant he has planned and is forcing to completion as fast as skilled 

mechanics and unlimited money can do the work. ¶ After the plant is completed Mr. Edison will come at once to this city with his family, and thereafter 

his headquarters will be here for an indefinite period. This change of residence from Orange, N.J., to Santa Fe, will occur some time during the early part 
of the coming autumn. Mr. Edisonôs idea in coming to Santa Fe is that he may have a desirable place of residence convenient to the Ortiz grant that he 

may personally supervise the setting up and operation of his wonderful gold saver. Evidently he regards it as his greatest invention. [SFNM] 
1898March21; It is said that Thomas A. Edison is experimenting with Red River ores and will visit the section in the near future. [SFNM] 

1898April29; O.B. Steen, of Taos, a prominent mining operator of that section, is in the city. He reports work on the Iron Dike property progressing with 

two shifts. éThe tunnel is discharging a great volume of water. The company interested in the property consists of Messrs. Steen and Richard Coble, of 
New Mexico, a number of New York people and Thos A. Edison. Mr. Edison attends to all chemical analysis and assay work for the company and will 

provide the plant for treating the ores. The ore can be treated for $2 per ton. He is expected out here within the next 60 days, and the plant for reducing 

the ores will doubtless be built this season. éMr. Steen is consummating the sale of the Anderson copper property, located on Copper mountain, about 
eight miles from Embudo. New York capitalists are the purchasers and they will pay $21,000 for the group, which consists of four claims. éMrs. Steen 

arrived in Santa Fe from Kansas City today and will go to Taos with her husband and spend the summer. [SFNM] 

1898September4; A Big Transaction ï The sale by the New Mexico Mining Company of the Ortiz land grant in the southern part of this coury to Thomas 
A. Edison the celebrated electrician is understood to be a fact. L.M. Lawson, son of the president of the New Mexico Mining Company was here a 

couple of weeks ago, while negotiations were in progress. The interests of S.B. Elkins of West Virginia and R.C. Kerens of St. Louis go in the sale. 

The grant is in the hand of a receiver, Mr. S.H. Elkins, who is now here preparing the final report for submission to the district court and who will ask 
for discharge and turn the property over to the new purchasers as soon as they are ready to receive ité There are no squatters on the grant. Mr. S.H. 

Elkins, during his term as receiver, having had them removed one and all, and barring the leases avobe mentioned the property is absolutely clear and 

will so pass into the hands of the new purchasers. [SFNM] 
1899February27; [Copper Hill] Probably the largest body of ore in New Mexico, opened up and blocked out in the mine so that it can be accurately 

measured, is in the above named property. This property was secured by bond and lease from the owners more than a year ago, by O.B. Steen, who 

associated with him Major Eugene Fechet of the regular army, and some New York gentlemen and started the development in April, 1898. éMr. 
Thomas A. Edison has made some tests of the ore with a view of providing a treatment and will probably visit the property in the spring to make 

personal examination and further tests. There is a large per cent of magnetic iron in the ore, which accounts for the interest Mr. Edison has in the matter, 

as it is in line with the methods used by him in his big plant in New Jersey, where he is successfully extracting 18 per cent magnetic iron from a bed of 
gneiss for the value of the iron alone. Efforts have been made for years to get Mr. Edison to pay some attention to the treatment of low grade gold ores, 

but not until the past year has he shown any interest in the matter. [SFNM] 

1899April14; éSome big plants are going in this spring. Eighteen miles away, to the east, is a mountain of iron ore which is to be experimented upon by 
Edison, the electrician. He is coming out from New York this summer, and if reports are to be credited we will see some big operations before the end 

of the year. [SFNM] 

1899September4; A Big Transaction Interests in the Ortiz Grant in Santa Fe County About to Change Owners At a Big Price. Thos A. Edison The Buyer 
The Inventor Has a Process for Placer Mining and the Unleased Properties Will Be Made Productive by the Purchaser. The sale by the New Mexico 

Mining Company of the Ortiz land grant in the southern part of this county to Thomas A. Edison, the celebrated electrician, is understood to be a fact. 

The consideration is high, but cannot be learned at this writing. Mr. S.G. Burn, of New York, who represents Mr. Edison and associates, has been on the 

grant several times, made a thorough inspection of it, and is thoroughly acquainted with the ore and placers thereon and the possibilities and 

probabilities. It is claimed that Mr. Edison has a new process to treat the vast bodies of low-grade ores and gold place beds on the property successfully, 

and expects the venture to pay well. ¶ There are about fourteen leases of mines on the grant yet in force, and of course these will stand. Among the 
leasers are S.H. Elkins, of Columbia, Mo., who holds a lease on the Cunningham mine and extensions; the Ortiz Mining Company of St. Louis, holding 

a lease on the Ortiz mine; L.M. English, of Dolores, who holds several leases near Dolores; J.B. Mayo, of Golden, who has the Pat Cullom leases; J.W. 

Akers, of this city; Chris Wiegand and others. The Benton and Live Oak claims were also under lease to the Waddingham estate but who holds the 
leases now is not definitely known. ¶ L.M. Lawson, son of the president of the New Mexico Mining Company, was here a couple of weeks ago, while 

negotiations were in progress. The interests held by Senator S.B. Elkins, of West Virginia, and R.C. Kerens, of St. Louis, go in the sale. ¶ The grant is in 

the hands of a receiver, Mr. S.H. Elkins, who is now here, preparing his final report for submission to the district court, and who will ask for discharge 
and turn the property over to the new purchasers as soon as they are ready to receive it. Mr. Burn, who is now on the grant, will very likely be the man to 

relieve Mr. Elkins. ¶ It is said by the Edison people that should the extensive placer beds on the grant yield 20 cents per yard they will have an immense 

thing under the process that Mr. Edison proposes to inaugurate. ¶ There are no squatters on the grant, Mr. S.H. Elkins, during his term as receiver, 



having had them removed one and all, and, barring the leases above mentioned, the property is absolutely free, and will so pass into the hands of the new 

purchasers. ¶ The vast mineral resources of the grant have been idle for many years, much to the detriment of the material progress of this county. The 
change of ownership and working the property will result in the employment of many men and be of great benefit to the city and county of Santa Fe. 

[SFNM] 

1899September6; Out Of Court. Receiver S.H. Elkins, of the Ortiz Grant Is Discharged. éMr. Elkins left this afternoon to turn the property over the S.G. 
Burn, who will take charge of the grant in the interest of Thomas A. Edison, the famous electrical inventor, who is the purchaser of the property, for a 

consideration of about $3,000,000. [SFNM] 

1899September11; The Ortiz Grant Transferred ï S.H. Elkins came to this city last night from the Ortiz grant where he made final transfer of the grant to 
S.G. Burn representing Thomas A. Edison. Mr. Elkins also transferred the old mill at Dolores which has been idele for several years, and upon which 

the lease he held has expired. The old company houses at Dolores where also transferred to Mr. Burn who will make Dolores the headquarters of the 

interests he represents and establish general offices at the ancient mining town... [SFNM] 
1899September14; His Greatest Work Edison Found a Process of Mining in the Arid Regions of the Southwest. Water Now Is Not Needed He Says That 

Eight Hundred Million Dollars in Gold Will Be Taken Out by Electricity As Used by Him. (St. Louis Republic Special Dispatch.) New York, 

September 10. ï Hidden in the waste lands of the southwest are tons upon tons of gold. Up to the present time this gold has had no value to man. Mines 
could not be worked in that region without water, and the cost of getting one dollarôs worth of gold from this land by former methods would have 

exceeded the value of the metal. ¶ Thomas A. Edison, however, moves to the front row with an electrical apparatus which promises to clear up the 

problem of how to get this valuable ore from the lands of New Mexico and other southwestern states and territories. Speaking to-day of his invention 
Mr. Edison said: Æ ñThis certainly is the biggest thing I ever invented, this process for extracting gold from sand. Near Santa Fe, N.M., there is a region 

of 100 square miles, containing gold worth $800,000,000, that would have remained there had the process not been discovered. Æ ñI am the patenter of 

the process, but my only interest in the corporation, which is to work the gold out of the sand, which is called the óGalisteo company,ô is my 

employment as its expert. I expect to go to New Mexico with the machinery and to superintend the construction of the plant. We shall begin work 

almost at once. Æ ñAt the start we shall produce $70,000 worth of gold every day. There is $800,000,000 worth of it there. The electric machinery will 

take it directly from the sand. There will be no transportation of the ore. We shall handle it all on the spot and merely ship the pure gold. Æ ñMy process 
has solved the problem of gold mining without water. It has been tested and found to fulfill all requirements. The gold ore in some places is not more 

than 3 feet below the surface, and it extends downward in some localities for 100 feet before bed rock is found.ò Æ Mr. Edison has done little for two 

years beside perfecting his gold extracter. So secretly did the work proceed that no information concerning what he was doing leaked out until Mr. 
Edison announced the completion of his work. Æ Mr. Edisonôs system of gold extraction by electricity is somewhat similar to that which he uses at 

Edison, N.J., in getting iron from river ore by magnetism. It is in the handling of the gold powder that this latest process consists although in erecting 
his plant larger ore crushers are required. There are three sets of magnets ï 12-inch, 8-inch and 4-inch ï and the crushed ore falls in front of each kind 

of magnet in succession as the sand goes through receptacles provided for them. When it has passed through the entire process the resulting material 

carries a percentage of the gold. Mr. Edison declared to-day that his is his greatest piece of work since he came before the public notice. [SFNM] 
1899September20; Santa Feôs Luck Importance of Edison Plan for Working Auriferous Ground On the Ortiz Grant. Air Not Electricity Agent A Great Plant 

to Be Constructed, Hundreds of Men Employed and Leasers Given Opportunity to Make Money for Themselves. For some days this week S.G. Burn, 

the agent of the New Mexico Mining company, which this month bought the controlling interest in the company owned the Ortiz grant, southern Santa 
Fe county, was in the city on business connected with the transfer of the property, possession of which was delivered by Receiver S.H. Elkins when he 

had succeded in paying off all the indebtedness incurred by the old management with the proceeds of mining operations conducted by the receiver. ¶ 

When Mr. Burn first came to the city he asked to be excused from giving for publication any details with reference to the plans of the company, but 
before leaving for Dolores, the old mining town on the grant, he furnished some information which will be of interest to the people of Santa Fe county, 

and of this city in particular, because of the vast industrial and commercial results expected from this enterprise. While the price paid for the grant has 

been published as about $3,000,000, the agent of the buyers declined to confirm or deny the statement. But as to the general plans of the company Mr. 
Burn was quite frank. ¶ In a day or two he will leave Dolores for New York where the purchasers reside, and will return in October with a completed 

corps of office assistants, engineers and mechanics for the purpose of beginning active operations upon the auriferous deposits, which are extensive 

enough to satisfy the most avaricious gold hunter if the ground can be worked for all it is worth. For decades gold has been mined on the grant by 
placer work when there has been water, and to some extent by dry washers, while quartz mining is carried on there extensively. ¶ For some years past 

the genius of Thomas A. Edison, the electrical inventor, has been applied to seeking a method for handling vast quantities of auriferous earth by a 

cheap and practical method where water could not be had, and elaborate and extensive experiments have been made from tiem to time by him. ¶ When 
Mr. Edison decided that the machinery he designed would provide an economical solution of the problem there were plenty of men ready to furnish the 

money to purchase the most extensive gold deposits in this country and to operate a plant which the inventor would approve. As a result control of the 

stock was purchased and Mr. Edison get an interest for his aid in making the venture profitable. Before passing it up to the point where he would advise 
his friends to invest money, the inventor had a number of car loads of the gold bearing gravel and earth shipped to his eastern laboratory from the grant 

for treatment by his experimental machinery. ¶ While the inventor and his associates heve no doubt of the success of the new process, in order to guard 

against any error in mechanical construction they may first have a small plant built upon the return of Mr. Burn, with a capacity for handling from 50 to 
100 tons of earth per day. It is intended, however, to build a plant to handle from 25,000 or more tons daily, and this may be constructed without trying 

the work on a site for scale if the test to be made upon a few more car loads of earth to be shipped at once proves satisfactory.However this point may 

be decided the first work to be done after Mr. Burn and his force come out from New York will be to sink 50 shafts to bedrock, which ranges from 30 
to 85 feet in depth, all the earth above being gold bearing. The output from sinking the shafts will be first treated by the experimental plant, if one be 

constructed, and in this manner will be determined which ground is the richest, as the shafts will be scattered over the grant in order to give practical 

tests as to the extent and location of the most profitable portions. ¶ But has the New Jersey man really accomplished what so many mining men have 

sought in vain? Well, Mr. Edison says that he considers this his greatest work, and he has never been accused of talking through his sombrero. And 

how is the work to be done? The inventor will answer when he comes out in the winter to start the plant, as he has told an interviewer he will. It was 

not part of Mr. Burnôs business to tell in Santa Fe of the machinery to be used. One important fact he did admit, however. Electricity is not be be an 
agent in separating the gold from the other material, as popularly supposed, although the power to propel the plant will be electricity, and to make 

everything ready for another force to do the work of separation which electricity can not do, since it repels rather than attracts gold. That other force is 

air, supplied in some way at the right time and in proper quantity to blow the lighter material away from the heavier gold. ¶ The simple statement by 
Mr. Burn that air and not electricity will be the agent, leaves room for the imagination. ¶ The principle upon which all crude dry-washers operate is that 

air blown upon gold bearing gravel and earth when it is being sifted and agitated by a machine, carries away the wast earth and finer particles of gravel, 

the gold falls through a screen and the waste is excluded. Mr. Edison has probably applied this principle on an extensive scale with elaborate apparatus. 
Last year he completed a plant in New Jersey for crushing an iron bearing rock found in the mountains of that state. He conceived the idea that the iron 

particles could be saved by a powerful magnet drawing them apart at the proper stage of handling. He purchased vast mountains of the rock, built his 

plant and made a success. The plant operates an electric railway which runs into an open cut in the mountain. Electrictiy is used to quarry the stone, 



load it upon the cars, dump it, sometimes in blocks weighing tons, into hoppers or between great rollers or crushers, from which it descends in smaller 

particles to other rollers, several series of them, until the whole mass is sifted out in a fine stream of sand. ¶ Here is where electricity comes in for 
saving iron, and air may for gold. As the sand makes the last drop, iron is attracted to one side by a powerful magnet and drops into a bin by itself. 

Apparatus then picks it up, carrying it to moulds where it is mixed with some adhesive fluid and is turned into the form of bricks, swept along and 

loaded upon cars for shipment. From the time the stone is started from the quarry the material is never touched by the hand of man until the iron bricks 
reach the market. ¶ When Mr. Edison had this iron plant going, he stated that while it was entirely satisfactory in itself, it was meant to be but the 

forerunner of an application of the same mechanical methods to handling vast bodies of mineralized earth and rocks in the west and he expected some 

day to apply it. While the magnet may not serve to separate gold from eather and stone, the same mechanical methods of labor saving and of preparing 
the material for separation may answer as at the iron plant. ¶ An electrical railway may run to coal mines of the Cerrillos district a few miles distant, 

electrical lines haul the material after excavating it, electricity operate the entire plant. By the Edison method not only should placer ground be worked, 

but quartz carrying free gold may be treated. And where there is no free gold the crushing system may apply and the output be treated later by 
concentration or cyaniding. ¶ But to get back to the statement of Mr. Burn as to what Santa Fe may expect. The New Mexico Mining company 

proposes to adopt a liberal policy. Its managers realize that in the lifetime of anyone, but a small part of their 54,000 acres of mineral ground can be 

worked out, and the company will therefore not act the dog-in-the-manger. Leasers will be given privileges to work the gravel beds and the company 
will handle the earth for them upon a royalty, though conducting mining operations on its own accounts. The managers are opposed to establishing a 

company store and the hundreds of men the enterprise will employ many trade where they please. The headquarters will be at Dolores, in the center of 

the grant. ¶ The company will do business both at Cerrillos and in this city, and expects to be of substantial benefit to the city and county by reason of 
improvements to be made, employment to be given to many people, and the development of collateral enterprises. As there is much auriferous land in 

the vicinity of the Ortiz grant belonging to other parties, or open to acquisition under the mineral laws of the United States, the success of the Edison 

plant may mean the making of fortunes for other owners who work along the same lines. ¶ Southern Santa Fe county has a prospect of becoming 

among the most noted gold fields in the world. [SFNM]1899November10; Mr. Pope, who has just returned from the east, spent half a day with 

Thomas A. Edison at his laboratory at East Orange, N.J. Mr. Pope saw a model of the machine which is to extract gold from the placer dirt... [SFNM 

via HM] 
1899September23; Edisonôs Gold Mining Secret. In an interview recently published in Chicago Thomas A. Edison is represented as saying; ñThis is 

certainly the biggest thing I ever invented ï this electric process for extracting gold from sand. I would not think of setting up a big plant to work an 

ordinary vein of gold. Even about 100 feet wide, 40 feet deep and half a mile long would not pay me. I want deposits two miles long and 600 feet wide. I 
have figured out that a small profit can be made in gold ore that assays as low as $1.26 a ton. Ore of as low a grade as that could not be mined profitably 

by any existing process except mine.ò [SFNM] 
1899September28; The Edison Scheme. A Vast Field for the Genius of the Inventor. It is claimed by Mr. Edison that he has discovered a process and 

perfected a machine which will extract the gold from the auriferous lands found in the neighborhood of Santa Fe. The new process is electrical and Mr. 

Edison says that he will himself erect a plant. It is supposed that he intends to work the deposits in lava beds south of Santa Fe where the sand is known 
to carry from $1 to $2 gold. If by any sort of electrical process the gold contained in the sand can be extracted with a profit the invention is of great 

consequence to the mining world. Through it the sand deposits in our creeks can all be worked over, and are bound to yield a large percentage of gold. 

¶ From what Mr. Edison says, the dry process will be followed in his plant. The deposits will be crused and the gold extracted by electricity. In that 
manner it would matter little how fine may be the particles of gold contained in the pulp. In California, where this sort of auriferous stuff is quarried 

rather than mined, ore running $1 to the ton is made to yield a profit. We have not yet come to that in Colorado, and if the Edison process will prove as 

effective as promised a new era in low-grade propositions is sure to dawn. Our miners have been waiting for this very thing ever since the opening of 
the first mine here. Æ There is a vast field for Mr. Edisonôs genius if he but will invent a cheap process by which the precious metals contained in the 

waste that goes over the dump can be extracted with a profit. These dumps, as well as the tailings from the stamp mills, contain immense values which 

are now as good as lost for the want of a cheap process to extract them. If there is anything in electricity applicable to the purpose it would almost 
create a revolution in mining, as many of the low-grade mines could then be worked to advantage. Theory as well as the method on which Mr. Edison 

proposes to work have not been disclosed, and one is theredore forced to await the operations of the proposed plant before the invention can be judged 

with reference to the practicability. ï Denver Post. [SFNM] 
1899October6; (New York Engineering and Mining Journal.) éThe Ortiz grant, in the southern part of Santa Fe county, situated north of the Tuerto 

mountains, referred to below, was sold to Thomas A. Edison, the well-known electrician, for $3,000,000. The grant contains large bodies of low-grade 

gold ores and gold placer beds. There are, however, excluded from the sale fifteen leases of mines on the grant, the richest among them being the 
Cunningham mine and gulch, the Ortiz mine, the Benton and the Live Oak. The yield of the placer beds is said to average about 20 to 25 cents per cubic 

yard; the yield of the mines about $3 to $3.50 gold per ton. If Mr. Edisonôs new process to treat the bodis of low-grade gold ores is a success, then 

undoubtedly the whole adjoining country would be benefited. Especially the low-grade placer claims near Golden, San Pedro and the Tuerto mountains 
could be worked to great advantage. They are as a rule richer than those on the Ortiz grant. [SFNM] 

1899November10; Ortiz Grant Investors. They Visit The Property ï Mr. Edison Will Soon Come. Henry R. Hoyt, a New York lawyer of prominence and a 

millionaire, and Alfred W. Hoyt of the same city, were the guests yesterday afternoon of W.H. Pope, Assistant United States attorney of the court of 
private land claims. Henry R. Hoyt is president of the Galisteo company which acquired the Ortiz grant recently to work it with a new process invented 

by Thomas B. Edison for the extraction of gold from placer ground and rock. Alfred Hoyt is a director of the company, which next week intends to file 

incorporation papers at the office of Territorial Secretary Wallace. Messrs. Hoyt spent several weeks on the Ortiz grant and left for New York this 
forenoon. They are optimistic about the operations of their company and are thoroughly confident that the new process will do all that it is claimed for 

it. The ground has been cleared for an experimental plant near Dolores and the machinery will all be put up by next month. Upon the results achieved 

by the experimental plant will depend the future operations of the company, which in case of the success of the experiment will invest very large sums 

of money in southern Santa Fe county. ¶ Mr. Pope, who has just returned from the east spent half a day with Thomas B. Edison at his laboratory at East 

Orange, N.J. Mr. Pope saw a model of the machine which is to extract told from the placer dirt in a remarkably economical manner so as to make even 

low grade ore pay. The afternoon with Mr. Edison Mr. Pope deems one of the most enjoyable he ever spent. He says that there is no doubt but that 
Edison is a wonderful man. Mr. Edison told Mr. Pope that he and Mrs. Edison would visit New Mexico in the very near future; that he needed a 

vacation and he could think of no better place to spend it than in New Mexico, especially as he is very greatly interested in the work which is to be tried 

on the Ortiz grant. Mr. Edison said that he thinks a good deal of New Mexico and believes that it has a great future before it. When in New Mexico Mr. 
and Mrs. Edison will undoubtedly spend considerable time in Santa Fe. [SFNM] 

1899November14; Ortiz Grant Lease. Lease To The Galisteo Company Has Been Recorded. The lease of the New Mexico Mining Company to James W. 

Perry of New York City for 99 years, of the Ortiz Mining grant and of the lease of the grant by James W. Perry to the Galisteo Mining Company were 
entered this morning in the county records by Probate Clerk Anastacio Romero. This is the deal in which Thomas A. Edison is interested. [SFNM] 

1900January17; Galisteo Company Getting Ready. Contract Let for a Building for Edison Concentrating Plant at Dolores. S.G. Burn, of Dolores, in South 

Santa Fe county, manager of the Galisteo Mining Company, left this morning for Las Vegas after spending a day in the capital. While here he made a 



contract with Contractor F.P. Crichton for the erection of a building at Dolores, which will house the Edison gravel concentrating plant for which so 

much is expected in the way of economical extraction of gold from the placer dirt and gravel of the Ortiz grant. The mill will be 92 feet long, 76 feet 
wide and 36 feet high. The boiler and engine, both twenty-five horse-power, have already arrived at Dolores, and will soon be placed in position. Two 

car loads of machinery are on the way to Dolores at present. The plant being erected is only an experimental one. If it accomplishes what is expected of 

it, Thomas A. Edison and family will come to Santa Fe county so that Mr. Edison can look over the  ground and choose a site for the large mill which 
the Galisteo company will then erect. ¶ Within the past few months assay rooms, offices and residences have been erected at Dolores for employes of the 

company. About thirty men are at work excavating and sinking shafts. They are piling up immense dumps of gravel, which will be treated when the 

experimental plant is ready for operations. Mr. Burn would set no date for that, as it is dependent upon a number of circumstances not in his control. 
Very soon a number of mining engineers from the east will arrive to take part in the work on the grant. ¶ There is plenty of water at Dolores for use by 

the Galisteo company. A larger reservoir has been erected at the old Dolores mill, and there is a constant supply of flowing water from several springs. 

Some work is being done on the grant by others than the Galisteo company. The Monte Christo Mining Company has about twenty-two men at work on 
the mine. Several miners are now washing gold on the grant, but they are all on old leases. The Galisteo company has given no leases as yet. [Mr. Burn 

is] confident that his company [will make] a success of the project, and [that the work] will mean much for the [business ????] not only of this city, but 

of the whole country. [SFNM] 
1900February3; Dolores, N.M., February 2. ï Through the courtesy of S.G. Burn, manager of the Ortiz grant, I have been enabled to look over and about 

this ancient and romantic village somewhat to-day. The place is near the center of the grant, which covers nearly 70,000 acres, and is of special interest 

just now because of the fact that here is in course of construction the emperimental gold extraction plant designed to make exhaustive practical tests of 
original ideas conceived and worked out by that master-minded genius of the age, Thomas A. Edison. éThis village is supposed to have been named by 

the Franciscan fathers who came with the Spanish explorers in the sixteenth century, attracted not altogether by Christianizing influsences, but in search 

of the gold then known to abound hereabouts. In centuries past millions of gold have been taken out here, and yet millions remain to allure the genius of 

Edison and his associates, just as the intrepid Spaniards were allured in ages past. In 1680 the Ortiz mine, one mile south of Dolores, was a famous gold 

producer. Here the Pueblo Indians, when suffering from slaveryôs yoke, were made to do almost superhuman tasks, climbing notched poles, which 

answered as ladders, with their burdens of gold-bearing ores. In 1828, before gold was thought of in connection with California, this mine was making 
regular shipments of the yellow stuff by mule train to Chihuahua, Mes. In 1833 the Spanish government granted the tract to Ortiz and Cano. A history of 

the property since would fill a volume of no mean proportions. The Edison Plant. ¶ One-half mile east of Dolores Contractor F.P. Crichton, of Santa Fe, 

has a force of men at work on the building in which the Edison method of gold extraction is to be tested. The site is an admirable one, at the head of the 
Arroyo Viejo. In this and the adjacent arroyos, after each recurring rainfall, it is the custom of the women and children of Dolores to go with big spoons 

and tin buckets, scoop up the eddies of yellow and black sand left in the wake of the storm, and wash therefrom the gold. The size of the building is 
63.9x76.6 feet; 36 feet in height, with another 13 feet to the apex of the roof. This house is building on a foundation of gold. Every yard of earth 

excavated for the foundation is screened, the bowlders thrown aside and the screened stuff heaped up to be put through the mill when it is ready for 

action. The plant will be operated by electricity and will treat fifty tons daily. In two months or so it will be in operation. ¶ Mr. Burn is very 
conservative, and has little to give out for publication at this time. He has been at work three years proving up the value of this ground as a gold 

producer. He has made 2,065 tests of the gravel, extending over sixteen square miles, where bed rock is from 10 to 65 feet below the surface, and he has 

calculated to a nicety the amount of gold in place; but he doesnôt give such things out for publication, and always qualifies his statements regarding 
future plans with some such expression as ñIf the experimental plant proves successful.ò But should the tests come out all right ï and who can imagine 

Edisonôs name coupled with an unsuccessful thing? It is learned from sources other than Mr. Burn that a plant of the Edison type will be put in here that 

will stand as One Of The Worldôs Wonders. Æ The building will cover acres of ground, and among other appliances run by gigantic dynamos will be four 
huge shovel machines, capable of handling 32,000 tons of gravel daily. Some idea of what this means in dollars and cents may be had when it is stated 

tha not long ago Mr. Burn, as a mere matter of curiosity, took an ordinary adobe brick from the wall of his hen house, had it pulverized, weighted and 

panned out of it many alluring gold colors. éwhen the big electric lights are on at the mill they will be visible from Santa Fe, thirty-two miles away. 
éThe Largest Nugget ever found on this grant is said to have had a value of $3,800. éR.S. Smith, of Orange, N.J., is Mr. Burnôs confidential agent in 

charge of construction work. He built the original model in Mr. Edisonôs laboratory, on which the first tests in these gold-saving experiments were made, 

and is here to install the process in this new building. [SFNM] 
1900February12; Messrs. Miller and Chapman, of Cleveland, O., who are interested in the Edison test on the Ortiz placer beds, are jolly guests at Supt. S.G. 

Burnôs quarters in Dolores. Mr. Miller is a brother to Mrs. Thomas A. Edison. [SFNM] 

1900April20; Cerrillos, April 19. ï The Edison plant at Dolores will start work on May 1, as it is now assured that the building will be completed next week. 
Thomas B. Edison is expected at the works on May 15 to personally superintend the tests to be made. [SFNM] 

1900May8; The Edison dry placer experimental plant at Dolores, seven miles south of Cerrillos, commenced operations on Saturday last. The machinery 

moves off in perfect order. Operations are conducted with great secrecy, only the wizardôs confidential agents being allowed in the main operating 
department. Mr. Edison is expected out from New York about the 15th to personally inspect the workings of the machine. [SFNM] 

1900June4; J.V. Miller, of Cleveland, O., brother-in-law of Thomas A. Edison, and C.M. Chapman, of Dolores, prominently identified with the Galisteo 

Mining Company, are here with Manager S.G. Burn. [SFNM] 

1900November23; The Galisteo Company; Not much is known of the actual process of extracting gold used by the Galisteo Co. at Dolores, which is under the management 
of Mr. S.G. Burn, a gentleman of large mining experience, ably assisted by Messrs. Cloyd M. Chapman and John V. Miller. That company has control of the Ortiz grant, 
under lease, and use a process invented by Mr. Thos A. Edison for extracting gold from the placer dirt. A large experimental plant has been in constant operation for 
several months and, if indications go for anything, the experimental work has been very successful and an extensive plant is comtemplated. The process is carefully 
guarded and, though Mr. Burn and his associates are genial, whole-souled gentlemen, always pleased to entertain their friends handsomely, they are likely to be as 
mum as oysters when the matter of present processes and future plans is touched upon. Mr. W.T. Lawson, of New York, who holds a high position in the management 
of the enterprise, has been here for several days. It has been intimated, though with what authority we do not know, that the Galisteo Co. will soon engage in other very 
extensive mining on the Ortiz grant. [Cerrillos Register Vol.1 No.1] 

1900November28; Not much is known of the actual process of extracting gold as used by the Galisteo company at Dolores, which is under the management 

of S.G. Burn, a gentleman of large mining experience, ably assisted by Messrs. Cloyd M. Chapman and John V. Miller. This company has control of the 

Ortiz grant, under lease, and uses a process invented by Thomas A. Edison for extracting gold from the placer dirt. A large experimental plant has been 
in constant operation for several months, and, if indications go for anything, the experimental work has been very successful, and an extensive plant is 

contemplated. The process is carefully guarded, and, though Mr. Burn and his associates are genial, whole-souled gentlemen, always pleased to entertain 

their friends handsomely, they are likely to be as mum as oysters when the matter of present processes and future plans is touched upon. W.T. Lawson of 
New York, who holds a high position in the management of the enterprise, has been at Dolores for several days. It has been intimated, that the Galisteo 

company will soon engage in other very extensive mining in the Ortiz grant. [SFNM] 

1900November30; Cloyd M. Chapman, who is employed by Thomas A. Eddison at Dolores, in connection with the works there, spent yesterday in the city 
and enjoyed his visit here very much. [SFNM] 



1900December27; John V. Miller, of Dolores, brother-in-law of Thomas A. Edison, left this morning for his home in Orange, N.J. [SFNM] 

1900December29; John V. Miller, of Dolores, borther-in-law of Thomas A. Edison, stopped off a day in Santa Fe on his way to the east on a visit to the 
Wizard of Menlo Park. [SFNM] 

1901February4; Cloyd Chapman, one of Edisonôs engineers at Dolores, left last evening for his home at East Orange, N.J. The experiments at the Dolores 

mill have been concluded, and will be continued at the Edison laboratory at Menlo Park, New Jersey. [SFNM] 

1901May9; (George M. Baily, Investments, 35 Wall Street, NY, to General Concentrates Co., NY) [Promotion of Jarilla Placer Field (49 miles from El Paso on the 
EP&Northeastern RR = Oro Grande) and his development of it in Otero County.<HM] ñéI believe that I have succeeded with the Hooper machine where Thomas A 
Edison failed, in the same field at Dolores, N. Mexico,éò [This is the only document in the Elkins Papers that mentions Edison, though all but one Hoyt document was 
removed as were any others related to Edison. Elkins must have been involved with both at it was the high expectations for the Edison Dry Placer Process that 
interested the Hoyts in a 99 year lease from NMMC in 1899.<HM] [Elkins papers 2205] 

1901June10; (Rocky Mountain News. The problem which has so long confronted mining men ï the successful working of placer fields without the use of 
water, has at last been solved by George M. Bailey and associates of New York, who for the past three months have been conducting a series of 

experiments at Jarilla, Otero county. ¶ Mr. Bailey succeeds where Edison fails. While Edisonôs big plant at Dolores, N.M., to electrically handle dry 

placer dirt, is being shipped back to New York, Bailey, backed by a big New York syndicate, has accomplished what so long has been the dream of 
mining men. éIn the dry process the successful inventor adopted rigid instead of jiggling table, and covered it like a drum head with broadcloth of fine 

texture instead of with a moving cover and rubber cloth as in the wet process. The table is made to be adjusted at any required pitch or angle. ¶ Sidewise 

under the table is placed an air-tight compress bottom, which has a diaphragm connected with adjustable eccentrics, allowing the diaphragm to have an 
up and down motion from an eighth of an inch to an inch and a quarter thrust, causing a light or heavy puff of jig of air to be forced up through the cloth. 

éIf Baileyôs machine is all he claims for it, it will revolutionize the mining industry. [SFNM] 

Edison's Folly  Long before Los Alamos became the brain center of the Atomic Age, America's foremost scientific mind of the time, Thomas Alva Edison, 

made the long train journey from his famous Menlo Park, New Jersey laboratory to meet the challenge of recovering gold from the difficult ore in the 

Ortiz Mountains southeast of Santa Fe. Santa Fe County had the first North America gold rush west the Mississippi. The 1828 discovery attracted 4,000 

fortune seekers to the 95 square mile grant bestowed by the Spanish government upon Jose Francisco Ortiz. The vast placer gold area contained loose 
small specks and flakes of gold in the high desert sand. Water was needed to separate the heavy gold from the less dense sand. But water was not 

available, and mining became dormant by the 1880's. Edison's arrival on the scene a dozen years later followed his invention of a machine designed to 

separate non-magnetic iron ore from sand-like particles in the absence of water. He was heavily engaged in iron ore mining and processing in the east. 
His electrostatic separator Accepted a thin film of dry particles to pass over an electrically charged drum. He learned that gold, like his iron ore, would 

stick to the drum while sand was repelled by it. When Mr. Edison heard about the Ortiz Mountain placer gold perched high above available water, he 

obtained a sample for testing. It was an immediate success. Using his machine in the laboratory, the New Mexico gold was separated from sand without 
the use of water. Edison signed a 1ease on 54,000 Ortiz acres in January, 1898. Shipments of mill machinery began immediately by rail and horse-drawn 

wagons. By the time the mill had been built, With its multiple conveyor belt assemblies, bucket elevators, engines, generators, sand screens And static 

machines, he had already spent $500,000. Preliminary testing began in mid-summer, 1898. One of the first results, a decided departure from the 
laboratory success, indicated that the sand an inch or two below the sun-baked surface contained enough moisture to short-circuit the electrostatic drum. 

The feed to his machinery would have be dried. It was a major disappointment, but the optimistic, hard-driving Edison forged ahead. One disaster after 

another struck down his attempts get his mill into production. Rain from sudden storms drenched the outdoor mill components, washing sand down the 
conveyor Belts into the machinery. Metal gears broke apart and bearings melted. Power and conveyor belts snapped. Harsh winter set in. The entire 

operation was suspended in late November when a blizzard isolated the area. Everything froze. Workers from Cerillos failed to show up. The Wizard of 

Menlo Park donned many layers of clothing to ward off the bitter cold. He worked until he exhausted, once collapsing in sleep on the floor before 
reaching his bed. He finally shut the operation down for the winter of the following year. Edison commuted by rail between Menlo Park and New 

Mexico, stopping in the midwest to Tell the St. Louis Republic, and the nation, on September 10, 1899, "This process for extracting gold from sand is 

certainly the biggest thing I ever invented. Near Santa Fe, New Mexico is a region of 10 square miles containing gold worth 800 million dollars. (At the 
time, gold was selling for $20.67 per ounce. At its present value, his estimate would be worth 15 billion dollars.) Edison's attempts on site proved, 

repeatedly how futile the working process was compared to controlled laboratory conditions. By 1903, the Edison mill in the Ortiz Mining District was 

closed, ending his interest in the area. Left behind, and still there, are the many screened heaps of desert surface, coarse portions full of large rock, cactus 
and gray pinon wood, beside large heaps of fine sand made ready for Edison's machinery. At the time Edison was struggling with New Mexico gold, his 

engineers were scouring the world for tungsten, the metal employed as the filament in his newly developed electric light bulb. Exactly 50 years later 

curious students at New Mexico Tech in Socorro, working with a sample from one of Edison's heaps, found tungsten in it. The discovery was confirmed 
throughout the placer area and prompted large-scale drilling. The electrostatic separator did not go the way of the Ortiz project. A now vastly improved 

machine serves a wide variety of metallic and non-metallic industries around the world. [R.E. Pray www.mining-engineer.com 2007] 

Myrtle Andrews Gere recalled that Edison had a flatbed wagon pulled up in Golden, and on it put his new invention, the gramophone, and played it for the crowd. It was an 
exciting event, a talking music bos, completed with a morning glory horn and heavy cylinder records. [Mountain Villages: Historic Sites in New Mexico, Alice Bullock, 
1981] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 
B. T. Edmiston    - Las Vegas 
1893November16; At the Palace; B.T. Edmiston, D.D.S., W.J. Mills, Las Vegas. [SFDNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Edmonds * Edmunds * 
Edmonds    - of IA and Ortiz Mine grant 
1894June6; (Lee English, Dolores NM, to Elkins) Response to Elkinsô letter of the 29th on OMG status. [English had worked for and managed the area for Wolf who had a 

NMMC lease] The stamp mill is in good condition, and can be started up at any time with the exception of the chimney or smoke stack. During a storm last Winter one of 
the guy ropes gave way, and the chimney fell. It was the old chimney that was at Lobaccaor. The old pump station was rusted out, so when it fell it bursted up so that it 
was no more account. ¶ The dry washing men has done well here all last Fall and Winter, and up to about two weeks ago when it commenced raining, and that 
compelled them to go into the old workings so as to get dry dirt. There is two stores here that is kept up by the dry washers. There has been several thousand dollars of 
gold dust shipped from this camp since last October. éThey are developing some good properties on the other side of the mountains next to Golden. James Lucas has 
a fine stamp mill on the Tuento, and is milling ore from a claim joining the old Burens Mine, and he claims that he is making a good thing out of it. A Mr. Dansby, who has 
been prospecting over there, has showed up some very rich ore. He told me a few days ago that his Company had secured leases to a group of five claims from the 
N.M.M.Co. Mr. Edmonds, a gentleman from Iowa, who has been prospecting here, struck some good ore in a vein about a mile West of the Ortize Mine. He is only down 



20 feet yet, and has some very rich ore. ¶ The company house needs repair very badly. The wind during the last three years has blown all the shingles off. If you have 
the house covered right away, before the wet weather sets in, it will be as good as it ever was. [Elkins papers 865] 

 
Arthur Edmunds     - of Las Vegas 
1893December5; At Cerrillos yesterday articles of agreement were signed between J. Flynn, of Cerrillos, and Arthur Edmunds, of Las Vegas, for an eight-

round contest for $200 a side, Flynn to know out Edmunds. The fight takes place at Hurtôs hall December 25. [SFDNM] 

 
James M. Edmund    - General Land Office;  WashDC 
1869June7; John L. Kidwell, President. Fred. W. Jones, Sectôy and Treas. Office of The New Mexico Mining Company. Washington, D.C., June 7th, 1869. Hon. Jos. S. 
Wilson, Commsr Genl Land Office, Washington D.C. Dr. Sir: Referring to the 2d sec. of the Act of Congress entitled ñAn act to confirm certain private Land Claims in the 
Territory of New Mexico,ò approved March 3d 1869, I have to request in behalf of this Company the issue of a patent for the ñOrtiz Mine Grantò as the tract is called, 
belonging to this Company which was confirmed to said Company by act of Congress Entitled ñAn act to confirm a certain private land claim in the Territory of New 
Mexicoò approved March 1st 1861 (vide 12th Stats. At Large 887.) In this connection I would also refer you to the letter from your office dated February 27 1862, wherein 
Hon. Jas. M. Edmund then Commissioner, concludes by saying ñthe law not requiring the issue of a patentò. Very respectfully, F.W. Jones. Secretary New Mexico Mining 
Co. [HM-AML docs GLO#17864] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 
George Edmondson    - Kennedy 
1903May11; Bon-Ton: W. Maxwell, George Edmondson, Kennedy. [SFNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Edson * 
Eugene Edson    - Thornton 
1901June13; Bland Transfer Co. Mert Wagner, Prop. Best Equipped Stage Line In The West. Two Six-Horse Concord Coaches run daily between Thornton 

and Bland, carrying U.S. Mail, Passengers and Express, making close connections at Bland for the Famous Sulphur and San Antonio Springs. The finest 

scenic stage route in New Mexico. Best of service and absolute safety guaranteed. Eugene Edson, Agent, Thornton, N.M. [ad in SFNM] 
 

J. A. Edson    - general manager D&RG 

1903June19; As the result of the visit of J.A. Edson, general manager of the Denver and Rio Grande railroad system, and the other officials of that road to 

this city yesterday, and their conference with General Manager W.S. Hopewell and Chief Engineer A.G. Kennedy of the Santa Fe Central Railway, it 
was not only decided that those two roads will build a union depot in this city, but the site was selected. The general plan for the depot was agreed upon 

and today the work on the detailed plans for the structure as commenced in the engineering department of the Santa Fe Central Railway under direction 

of Chief Engineer Kennedy. The new passenger depot will be located near the corner of Guadalupe and Garfield avenuesé  [SFNM] 

 
Newton Edson    - Organ, Doña Ana co. 
1900July25; Newton Edson and Guy Jenkins will clean out the James Fiske at Organ and put it in working order. [SFNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Edwards * Edward *  
Col. Edwards    - Navajo Copper Co.;  Silver City 
1901August31; Activity In The Burros. Silver City, Aug.30, 1901. ï Colonel Edwards, president of the Navajo Copper company, was in the city recently 

and announced himself well pleased with the showing upon the claims recently purchased by him for his company. éThe local affairs of the company 

were place in the hands of John Hulls, who states that some very high grade ore has already been strucké [SFNM] 
 

A. M. Edwards    - of StaFe 
1922February21; (McNulty to A.M. Edwards) I received your letter with Mr. Gilberts letter inclosed. I am glad to see that Mr Gilbert is willing to execute the power of attorney 

and I am willing to wait a reasonable time for him to do so. But you set the time as you think best. I regret that I had to write him as I did on Feb 3 but I feel that I was 
justified in doing so + look after my right on account of being in charge of the property for thirty-four years and looking after it for nine years without pay prosecuting 
thieves etc. [McNulty Papers (McCraw) b.26] 

1922November14; (A.M. Edwards to McNulty) John R. McFie , A.M. Edwards; McFIE & EDWARDS, Santa Fe, New Mexico - Herewith find copy of Answer and Return to 
Rule to show cause, filed by the Granitos in our suit against them. Please read it over and return it to me [McNulty Papers (McCraw) b.26] 

1925October25; A.M. Edwards to Gilbert: The Los Cerrillos Turquoise Gem Corporation, which has taken over Mr. McNultyôs contract with Colonel Smith for the purchase of 
the five turquoise claims, and which company has been making the payments under the contract, has had the title to the property examined, and it is found that in 1893 
the American Turquoise Company entered into a contract with one Herbert A. Thomas... [McNulty papers (McCraw) b.28] 

 
Al Edwards    - of Bonanza City 

1882June3; Al Edwards, of Bonanza City, spent yesterday in the city, stopping at the Exchange hotel. [SFDNM] 

1882July9; Al Edwards, of Bonanza City, came in last evening and stopped at the Exchange. [SFDNM]   

1882August19; A. Edwards, of Bonanza, is stopping at the Exchange hotel. [SFDNM] 

 
Cicil Edward  <b.1905>    - wife is Mary P. Edward <b.1904>;  of Glorieta 
1930_census: Cicil Edward, 25y-o, pct.13 Glorieta, Mary P. Edward, 26y-o 

 
Frank Edwards    - San Pedro mtns 
The Gold Claim in the San Pedros. Ernie Hall, of Sandia Lab, bought the gold claim and worked it. Sandy Cole got ahold of it and worked it with Frank Edwards as his 

partner. Jack Ward, the best high-grader in the country, worked it. [per BHenderson 24Jul2010] 
Ernie Hall with Jim Bookman had the claim behind San Pedro. He sold it to Sandy Cole & Frank Edwards. The Huntington mill at Old Timer gulch went to watchman Iverson 

for back wages. Then Ernest stored it at Golden. Dominovich, in the 1940s had the lease on the Candelaria mine and were working it with that mill in Golden arroyo. 



Then Potter got the place and closed off Dominovichôs access, who then had no need for the mill, so Ken Meadows got it. The shaking table is still there. He had a ball 
mill too. [per BHenderson 21Aug2010] 

 
Fred A. Edwards    - Las Vegas 
1896June19; The following corporations have filed articlesé The Surprise Mining Company ï Incorporators, Thomas A. Davis, Maurice Thompson, 

William Malboeuf, Jacob Biehl and Fred A. Edwards; objects, operating mines and reducing ores; capital stock, $25,000; life, fifty years; directors, 
same as incorporators; principal place of business, East Las Vegas. [SFDNM] 

 
H. L. Edwards    - Las Cruces 
1901June18; Incorporation papers were filed this forenoon in the office of the territorial secretary by Minnie E. Barber, Simon H. Newman, James E. Rhein 

for the Interstate Oil and Mining company with headquarters at Las Cruces and a capital of $500,000, divided into 500,000 shares. The directors are, A. 

Courchesne, C.N. Buckler, A.M. Walthall, H.L. Edwards, B.F. Jenkins, M.E. Barber, Charles H. Moore, Cornelius T. Jordan, and Henry D. Bowman. 
[SFNM] 

 
Harry Edwards     - CreedeCO 

1900March19; At the Exchange: Harry Edwards, Henry Berryman, E.D. McAdam, Creede... [SFNM] 

 
Col. J. H. Edwards    - of Cuchillo Negro m.d., Black Range 

1880December5; Mr. J.A. Miller, who arrived here yesterday from Bayard, reports that some important mineral discoveries have recently been made on the 
Black Range near the head waters of the Cochita Negro by Colonel Edwardsô party, and that in other parts of the range similar treasure has been found. 

[SFDNM] 

1882February4; Dr. Walter M. James has been selected as assayer and analytical chemist for the extensive mining properties of which Col. David Branson 
is the managing owner. éA company, comprising Philadelphia capitalists, have established several camps, and under the supervision of Col. Edwards, 

resident, and Col David Branson, general manager, the properties are being rapidly developed. In what is known as Camp Edwards on the Cuchillo 

Negro rangeé [Mining Journal, v.2 no.17] 
1882February9; [Cabello District.] Col. Edwardsô camp is attracting much attention, and as there is no grant to interfere, mining property is advancing in 

value. ï Socorro News. [SFDNM] 

1882February25; Bransonôs Enterprise. éSupt. J.H. Edwards writes on the 12th inst... [Mining Journal, v.2 no.19] 
1882November14; Assessment work on the Goodenough near Edwardôs camp in the Cuchillos, is about completed. [SFDNM] 

 

James C. Edwards    - of Cerrillos 
1892July5; At the Exchange; Ross Griffith and wife, Morgan Jones and wife, Miss Maggie Jones, Thomas Whalen, James Edwards, Thomas Conley, Mrs. 

C. Doyle, Miss Allie Keese, Miss Sallie Meagher, Miss May Meagher, Charles Buckman, Miss Laura Buckman, Charles Mills, Cerrillos; A.B. 

Schnerich, John Sayle, Lamy; Mrs Clara E. Myers and son, Cerrillos. [SFDNM] 

1893November18; At the Bon Ton hotel; J.C. Edwards, Cerrillos; John Smith, Golden. [SFDNM] 
1894November23; The Santa Fe Fire Department Association ï Incorporators; William G. Ashdown, Charles J. Bacon, Wm Bolander, John B. Rouse, 

James Edwards, Jose G. Sandoval, Julian Perea, Patricio Sandoval, Frederick Muller, James L. Van Arsdell, Lucius N. Fewell, Joseph A. Reynolds and 

Adolfo P. Hill. [SFDNM] 

 
Nelson Edwards    - Cerrillos 
1894April20; At the Bon Ton hotel; John Walker, Cerrillos; Frank Green, Rico; Allan Butcher, Rock Corral; Nelson Edwards, Isidore Terran, Cerrillos. 

[SFDNM] 

 
W. F. Edwards    - Durango 
1899May22; At the Bon Ton: S.D. Thompson, Bland; W.F. Edwards, J.C. McCabe, Durango; Matias Sandoval, Lamy... [SFNM] 

 
William Edwards     - Cerrillos 
1894April18; At the Bon Ton hotel; W.H. Coleman, Cerrillos; C. Raymond, T.J. Hi?e, Cripple Creek; William Edwards, Cerrillos; C.L. Bernard, H. 

Gilchrist, Silverton, Colo.; Frank Smith, H.C. Davis, Allerton. [SFDNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 
William M. Edwardy     - of Las Vegas 
1890August25; W.M. Edwardy, of Las Vegas, editor of the sprightly Las Vegas Gazette, is in the city on business. [SFDNM] 

1890November14; Wm M. Edwardy, since the victory of the Democratic Peopleôs ticket in San Miguel county, is considering the matter of starting a daily paper at Las Vegas. 
[The Cerrillos Rustler Vol.III No.18] 

 
Joe Effrick    - Cerrillos 
1891July31; E.H. Dunbar, an old and respected citizen of this vicinity, died at his home at 4:30 p.m., Saturday last. He was born in Massachusetts and moved to Ohio when 

he was three years old. Mustered into service from Illinois and served through the late war. He belonged to Co I,. 80th Illinois volunteers. He was a member of a G.A.R. 
Post at some place in Kansas. The only known relative living is Mrs. Finley Wilson, of Springerville, Iowa. éfriendsé W.H. Swyers, Jim Drake, Joe Stewart, Joe Effrick 
and Frank Wilmarth. Dr. Lund attended him through his sickness and did all in his power to relieve him, but the wound was very severeé [The Rustler v.IV n.4] 

 
Egan see Eagan 
 
H. Egbert    - DavenportIA 

1881May27; A local published yesterday noted the filing of articles of incorporation by the L.S. Whitson Gold and Silver Mining Company, of Davenport, 

Iowa. It was particularly noticeable by reason of the unusually small capital, only $3,000, instead of $3,000,000, or thereabouts, as is usual for modern 

companies. Very few corporations working in this Territory are so well backed and ñheeledò as this, or represent in the directory so great an array of 
solid capitalists as will be seen by a glance at the list. T.T. Dow, President, President First National Bank. James Thompson, Vice President, Capitalist. 



E.C. Chapin, Treasurer, Business Manager Gazette Co. D.B. Shelley, Secretary. Attorney and Loan Agent. F.H. Griggs, President Citizen National 

Bank. J.B. Fidlar, Cashier First National Bank. C.H. Reupke, Davenport Cracker Factory. H. Egbert, Egbert, Fidlar & Chambers. F.H. Hancock, Dow, 
Gillman & Hancock, and Col. L.H. Whitson, General Manager. They have adopted the policy of increasing their capital as occasion may require, having 

no purpose to put stock on the market, but to develop what mines they may control as fast and as economically as my be. They have already made the 

second issue, increasing the capital to $6,500 and as they may need more, the shareholders, some thirty in number, are pledged to respond promptly to 
the calls of the manager. [SFDNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Egger * 
Ernest Brannon Egger  (b.HolbrookAZ 24Dec1901)    - of Madrid 
Ernest Brannon Egger, resident Madrid, Loco Engineer, b.HolbrookAZ 24Dec1901 [Historical Register of Membership (Cerrillos Lodge #19)] 

 
Georgia Egger    - Cerrillos 
Los Cerrillos School ï District 7. May 16, 1945 ï 2:00 P.M. é Miss Mary Tappero ï First Grade Teacher. Miss Euphelia Nieto ï Second and Third Grade Teacher. Mrs. I.O. 

Kelly ï Fourth and Fifth Grade Teacher. Mrs Georgia Egger ï Grammar Grades Teacher. Mr. Diego De Vargas ï Teacher-Principal. [CSimoni papers Mar2013] 
Cerrillos School Children Present Yuletide Spectacle. éunder the direction of teachers Mrs. G. Egger, Mrs. M. Mora and Mrs. E. Tackett. [undated newspaper clipping 

CSimoni papers Mar2013] 

 
John Egger    - Socorro co. 

1882February17; San Simon District. John Egger, the boss sadlery man, has aspirations to be a millionaire, and yesterday invested some of his good money 

in mines in the Ladrone mountains. ï Socorro Sun. [SFDNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Eggers * 
Luther E. Eggers    - Oscura Mountains 

1881May11; Kaw Valley Mining Company... incorporators are: Wesley Case, Jas G. Barney, Dexter E. Clapp, David W. Finney, Isaac N. Holloway, John 
A. Miller, L.M. Phillips, Luther E. Eggers, Geo L. Kramer, and Fred S. Stumbaugh. éOscura Mountains about twenty miles from Socorro. [SFDNM]   

 
Theodore L. Eggers    - of Lamy 
1882August3; Theodore L. Eggers, of Lamy, spent the day in the city yesterday stopping at the Capitol hotel. [SFDNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Eggert *     - see also Eckert 

Gilbert L. Eggert     - San Pedro 
1899spring; His name at the baptismal font had been carefully pronounced as Marcos Antonio Cristobal Orlando y Luz, but after forty interesting years he 

was familiarly known as Crazy Marcos.   The villagers of San Pedro smiled when they saw him pick up a more beautiful stone than the others, hold it 
to the bright light, and regard it happily.  They knew his only pleasure was fondling the colorful stones with which the little valley abounded, and they 

quietly tolerated him. ¶ Marcos lived with his sister, Lupe, and her husband. His nephew, the boy Rafael, followed Marcos like a faithful dog, waiting 

patiently while the strange one examined the stones he was forever collecting.  The two brothers of Marcos, who lived nearby, merely shook their 

heads when his name was mentioned and otherwise ignored him. [The Treasure of San Lazarus NEW MEXICO MAGAZINE, 1954  ï Written by Ed 

Tennison, as told by, Gilbert L. Eggert] 

 
Dr. William Eggert     - of StaFe 
1882January4; W. Eggert, M.D., Homeopath Graduate of the University of Berlin and Homeopathic College of New York. [ad in SFDNM]   

1892July9; Rev. G.H. Mueller and wife, Miss Gilchrist and Dr. Wm Eggert left this morning for a drive to the turquoise mines near Bonanza. [SFDNM] 
1893July13; Dr. Eggert has been again called to Albuquerque to attend Dr. Stevens, who is very low with brain fever. [SFDNM] 

1900August25; J.B. Lamy is overhauling and improving the rooms formerly occupied by Dr. Eggert. [SFNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 
Charles B. Eggleston    - of Chicago, Las Animas m.d. 

1895December20; The following corporations have filed articlesé The Wicks Mining Company ï Incorporators, Charles B. Eggleston, James P. Mallette, 

of Chicago, and William W. Williams, of Hillsboro; objects, acquiring, selling and operating mines in Sierra county; capital stock, $500,000; life, fifty 

years; principal office, Chicago, with a New Mexico office at Hillsboro; directors, same as incorporators. [SFDNM] 
as of 1903June30; List of mining claims in NM which have been officially surveyedé By Surveyor-General Morgan O. Llewellyn. Charles B. Eggleston 

and James P. Mallette, Ross and Smuggler, Las Animas MD, 22.62ac. [Report of the Governor of New Mexico to the Secretary of the Interior 1903, 
p.356] 

 
Aaron Eichwald    - of StaFe & Cuba, Bernalillo co. 

1883December27(disc&loc); Nerio Salas, A. Eichwald Santa Fe Lode 750ôNLY 750ôSly 300ôea side, on N side of Tesuque creek, rec 31Dec83 [b.F p.562] 

1897January22; New Notaries. éAaron Eichwald, Cuba, Bernalillo countyé [SFDNM] 

1900November16; A. Eichwald turned over to Charles F. Chadwick at Albuquerque, 5,000 sheep to be shipped to Kansas. [SFNM] 

 
Theo Eiermann    - La Belle 
1896February25; [La Belle] Theo Eiermann is striking better looking rock in the Esperanza No.2, with every shift worked; the shaft is down fifty feet. Mr. 

Eiermann leaves to-day for San Luis, Colo., to make arrangements with his partners there to further develop the claim. [SFDNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Eilar *  
Russel E. Eilar  <b.1895>    - wife is Pearle Eilar <b.1900>;  of Madrid 
1930_census: Russel E. Eilar, 35y-o, Madrid, Pearle Eilar, 30y-o, Madrid, Patricia Eilar, 8y-o, Kendrick Eilar, 5y-o 



 
Kendrick Eilar   <b.1925>   Madrid, CA 
Onetime Madrid students of Julia Vergolio; Kenny Eilar won a scholarship to Harvard. He worked at the Palomar Observatory in California. Patty was a secretary, she lived in 

Albuquerque the last time I heard from her. [JVWeeks, Stories Around The Fireplace p.44] 

________________________________________________________________ 
 
Fred R. Eili??m    - Bonanza City 
1893September22; At the Bon Ton hotel: William Martin, Joseph Hoffmier, White Ash; Patrick Murray, S.D. Dibbon, Cerrillos; James Springle, Fred R. 

Eili??m, Bonanza City. [SFDNM] 

 
William Einstein     - Black Range m.d. 

as of 1903June30; List of mining claims in NM which have been officially surveyedé By Surveyor-General Morgan O. Llewellyn. William Einstein et al., 
Ready Cash, Black Range MD, 8.1650ac. [Report of the Governor of New Mexico to the Secretary of the Interior 1903, p.353] 

 
Albert Eisemann    - of Abq 
1892November3; Albert Eisemann, of Albuquerque, is registered at the Claire. He is in attendance on the railroad meeting. [SFDNM] 

1893January3; Albuquerque Atoms. Mr. Alfred Grunsfeld has purchased the handsome residence of Mr. Albert Eisemann on Copper avenue and will soon 

occupy it as his home. éMr. Eisemann and family will leave in a short time for Europe, and will probably be gone a couple of years. [SFDNM] 
1893May12; The directors of the following A.T.& S.F. corporations in New Mexico met at the office of solicitor H.L. Waldo this forenoon. The New 

Mexico & Southern Pacific Railroad company, Rio Grande, Mexico & Pacific Railroad company, Silver City, Deming & Pacific Railroad company, 

New Mexican Railroad company, San Pedro Coal & Coke company, New Mexico Townsite company, the Rio Grande Land company. There were 
present at the meeting: E.S. Stover, Solon E. Rose, A. Eiseman, Albuquerque; John Brockman, Silver City; J. Reynolds, L.P. Browne, F.A. Manzanares, 

Jacob Gross, Chas Ilfeld, A.M. Blackwell, Las Vegas; Numa Raymond, Las Cruces; H.L. Waldo, A. Staab, R.J. Palen, Santa Fe. [SFDNM] 

1893May12; Albert Eisemann, of the firm of Eisemann Brothers, wood buyers, Albuquerque, came up from the south last night. [SFDNM] 

 
Joe Either    - of Cochiti m.d. 

1896September14; Harry Wood came over from Peralta last Saturday and verified the report brought over from there by Thos Shields that Messrs. Wood 

and Either had struck it rich ??? the ???. Harry displayed some magnificent specimens of what appears to be high-grade gold quartz, and said that they 

have a two foot vein of it. [SFDNM] 
1896September21; George Ostrander was in from Peralta during the week and reports that Harry Wood returned from Albuquerque and has resumed work 

with Joe Either and A. Kornbloh, equal owners with Wood, on the claim in which they recently made a rich strike of high grade ore, which Mr. 

Ostrander says is a two foot vein of solid mineral. He also reports that Messrs. Leland and McFarland, of Albuquerque, have taken an interest in several 
of his claims on which some very extensive development work will be pushed. ï Bland Herald. [SFDNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Elder *  
A. B. Elder    - Socorro  <see B.A. Pinos 
1882August25; The smelter at Socorro under the manipulation of Mr. Elder, is a success. During a run of ten hours over two tons of bullion were cast in 

bars. Mr. Elder understands the business, and the smelter will continue to run steadily and successfully. [SFDNM] 

1883; A.B. Elder, locator of Copper King, Abbey m.d. [Socorro co. Courthouse Rec. b.J p.441] 
 

Clarence P. Elder    - of Denver, Red River 
1897July10; Red River District. A citizens mass meeting was held recently at Red River City and a committee composed of A.B. Jones and Dr. W.R. 

Ridwell, was appointed to confer with Colonel J.W. Dwyer as a representative of Clarence P. Elder of Denver, the owner of the Canon del Colorado 

grant. Later a compromise was effected with Mr. Elder whereby he has agreed to withdraw his appeal from the findings of the United States land court. 

This leaves the Red River mining district free from all embarrassments and entanglements in the future. Mr. Elder will receive $1,000 cash and deeds to 
20 patented mining claims as a basis of the compromise. [SFDNM] 

1897October19; Red River. Some time ago an agreement was entered into between the miners of Red River and C.P. Elder of Denver, that should Elderôs 

representatives have withdrawn, or fail to perfect, an appeal of C.P. Elder vs. the United States, this permitting to be thrown open to public settlement 
the lands of the Canon del Rio Colorado grant, the miners would pay to Elder $1,000 in money and 20 valid lode claims. [SFDNM] 

 

Col. H. E. Elder    - of Denver & Hillsboro 
1894December17; Col. H.G. Elder, of Denver, Mr. A.B.C. Davis and Mr. George P. Pitkin, well known mining men, are in the city en route overland to 

Hillsboro, where they go to examine the placer fields. éThey carry letters from Santa Fe friends to Hon. W.S. Hopewell. [SFDNM] 

1895March27; Mr. George P. Pitkin, a nephew of the late Governor Pitkin, and Col. H.E. Elder, of Denver, spent some days in Santa Fe during the winter 

and carried from here letters of introduction to Hon. W.S. Hopewell, at Hillsboro, going there to experiment with a new process for extracting gold 
from placer ground. The last issue of the Hillsboro Advocate prints a letter from them dated at Faulkner, in which they say: ñThe machines are built 

and are in daily use at this place. The machines are a great success, pronounced by every practical miner in the camp to be the best machine they ever 

saw or need. We would be much gratified if you would be kind enough to inform us a day or two in advance of your next visit to Faulkner. We would 
like to have you to see it in practical use knocking out from 700 to 1,000 pans per day, saving from 20 to 30 per cent more gold than anything else in 

the country.ò [SFDNM] 

 

J. E. Elder    - Abq 
1898January11; At the Palace: N.L. Nelson, Madrid; Wm J. Mullin, Huntington, Pa.; Wm J. Williams, Cerrillos; J.E. Elder, Albuquerque; J.T. Murray, St. 

Louis; W.E. Halcomb, New York City; W.D?M. Miller, Denver; S. Sanders, Trinidad; Kate Kennedy, Embudo; Chas Essinger, Colorado Springs; A.A. 
Jones, Las Vegas; Geo Willis, Alamosa; F.W. Parker, Hillsboro; W.H. Kennedy, Cerrillos. [SFNM] 

 

John Elder    - Lamy Junction & Cerrillos 
1882March21(loc); Samuel Denham, Joseph Colman, John Elder Orphan mine 1500ôx600ô, about 12mi from Santa Fe SE direction, about 6mi S of 

Glorieta, W of AT&SF RR about 1.25mi on the Old telegraph road, cañon MD, rec 12Apr82; witness blank [b.F p.131] 



1890February18; John Elder was held up by Lee White on the road between Cerrillos and the coal banks early yesterday morning. Elder was on his way to 

pay off the men, when White stepped in front of him and covered him with his gun, demanding all the money he had. éWhen the news of the hold-up 
reached Cerrillos two posses were immediately organized, one under command of a miner and the other under Deputy Sheriff Bartholomewé Lee 

White is a black sheep in the well known White family of San Pedro, being a nephew of Mrs. S.C. White. He is well known here as the young man 

who recently ran a dance hall on lower San Francisco street. Last Friday he hired a horse from Richard Green, at Cerrillos, saying that he was coming 
to Santa Fe for a few days, but instead, he must have secreted himself in the mountains to await the passing of Elder with the monthly wages for the 

miners at the Jones coal bank. [SFDNM] 

1891May22; There was a very enjoyable ball at San Pedro Saturday night, at Armijo Hall. Messrs. John Maddux and John Elder and Misses Myra Harkness and Edith 
Rummel attended from Cerrillos and report the best of good times. [The Rustler v.III n.46] 

1891June19; Johnny Elder has been quite seriously ill the past week, but is at present better. [The Rustler v.III n.50] 
1891June26; John Elder has recovered from his illness sufficient to attend to business. [The Cerrillos Rustler, v.III no.51] 
1891June27; Mrs. Chas F. Bailey, Misses Sallie Gibson, Mabel Kellogg, Ida Elder and K.O. Elder, Mr. and Mrs. H.T. Vaille and S.H. Wallace, jr., of 

Albuquerque, who have been roughing it and having a good time generally, on the Elder brothersô ranch, near Lamy junction, will visit Santa Fe to-

morrow. [SFDNM] 

1891July17; Mr. John Elder made Santa Fe a visit Tuesday. [The Rustler v.IV n.2] 
1891September18; The following Cerrillos people visited the fair: Mr. and Mrs. W.H. Kennedy, Mr. and Mrs. Tony Neis, Mr. and Mrs. G.W. North, Mr. and Mrs. D.L. Miller, 

Mr. and Mrs. Hosmer, Mr. and Mrs. J.M. Lemon; Mrs. Jackson, Mrs. Nesbitt, Mrs. Brady, Mrs. U.C. North; Misses Bessie Sugar, Mira Harkness, Maude McCormac, 
Lucy Wadley, Maggie Jones; Messrs. C.W. Uptegrove, Dr. Palmer, Dr. Richards, Dr. Bishop, Edward Baker, Randolph Kelley, Hon. Chas. F. Easley, Chas. Lyons, 
Harry C Kinsell, Judge D.D. Harkness, Richard Mathews, John Hulscutter, John Elder, D.J. Jones, A.E. Laudenslager, James Miller, J.A. Jackson, E.L. Griggs, W.H. 
Coleman, Chas. Sylvester, P.F. Hogan, Wm. Sanborn, W.C. Rogers, Mrs. Hrry Scranton, Miss Allie Jones, Mrs Kinsell, and possibly others whose names the reporter 
missed. [The Rustler v.IV n.11] 

1891October16; Following were among the visitors to Santa Fe on the 6th, the day on which the great and only Forepaugh shows exhibited in that city: Hon. and Mrs. Chas. 
F. Easley and family, Mr. and Mrs. W.H. Kennedy, Mr. and Mrs. James Miller and family, Mr. and Mrs. E.B. Ames, Mrs Jackson, Mr. and Mrs Harry Scranton, Mr. and 
Mrs A. M Anderson and family, Mrs Kinsell, Mrs. Allen, Misses Phania Uptegrove and Effie Jones; Messrs. Randolph Kelley, W.H. Coleman, Dr. Palmer, Dr. Bishop, 
John Elder, Ben Brown, LaFayette Jones, Miss Legacy. [The Rustler v.IV n.24] 

1891October30; John Elder, Cerrillos, new Rustler subscriber. [The Rustler, v.IV no.26] 
1891December30; (Catron to Jeff Chandler) Catron had just returned from MexCity <w.Bandelier to buy Fr.Fôs papers<HM) and was upset that he had not been sent the 

$2500 for his work as he needed the money. Cunningham had been to see him and wanted suits started against Lucas and Elder, but wanted written instructions; had 
found 1806 conveyance by Miguel Ortiz of his interest in Juana Lopez Grant which would eliminate claims of Folsom, Thornton, Webb and others by had not gotten 
possession of it yet. [Elkins papers 750] 

1891December31; (Cunningham to Risque in St. Louis, copy of letter made by Kerens) Cunningham had been shutting down miners with no leases. Had talked to Catron 
about starting suit against Elder and Lucas. Griffith from White Ash Mine had come to see him about turning over equipment. [Elkins papers 749] 

1892January3; (Cunningham to Risque, copy by Kerens) Elder and Lucas developments and Catron has filed suit against them in which Company wants an accounting of 
the coal shipped by them. Tell Mr. Kerens that I am preparing a report for him on the Dolores district. [Elkins papers 749] 

1892May9; Elder, Mills and Jones, $564.26. ï paid by CC&IC to clean title. [Elkins papers 820] 
1893August29; James Lucas, David Jones, John Elder and Major Terrill came in overland from Cerrillos this morning. [SFDNM] 

1893December26; At the Exchange; Jno Elder, J. Lewis, A.L. Kendall, Cerrillos. [SFDNM] 
1894February27; John Elder, Marshall Jones and James Lucas came in from Cerrillos overland this morning. They report the roads in fine condition. 

[SFDNM] 

1894May1; Messrs. Thos OôDonnell and John Elder came in from Cerrillos at noon. [SFDNM] 
1894October13; At the Palace; John Elder, Cerrillos; Robert Hart, St. Louis. [SFDNM] 

1898May2; John Elder of Cerrillos, arrived in the city yesterday and registered at the Claire. ï At the Claire: John Elder, Cerrillosé ï Men For Active 

Service. Last night men from Cerrillos, Madrid and Gallup arrived. Those from Cerrillos and Madrid were in charge of Lieutenant Griffin, of this city, 
and are: W.E. Dame, J.S. Langston, John Elder, Wm. Cloud, Richard Connor, W.W. Wagner, James E. Merchant, Prince A. Holden, John S. Miller, 

John OôNeil, Wm Moran, John Mullen, William Hutchison, Sam McKennon, Ed Whitington, Patrick Downey, Will Musgrove, John Hulskotten and 

T.C. Livingston. [SFNM] 
1898July5; Geo Joss, Stuart Robinson and John Elder came over from Cerrillos yesterday to celebrate the Fourth, and look up the chances for enlisting. 

They are at the Claire. ï At the Claire: George Joss, Stuart Robinson, John Elder, Cerrillosé [SFNM]   

1898August5 [Cerrillos Register: Local Mention]- Sam Laird, writing from Whipple barracks under dat of July 31, states that the boys are getting along all right, but do not 
know when they will start for San Francisco. He says that is is not true that John Elder had ever suffered from a disordered mind. At one time he was very sick, but was 
now fully recovered.. 

-  as witness  - 
1882July15 (loc); Grand Central Tunnel Mining Co, By P.H. Warner Secy and agent Locator; Climax Lode, The undersigned having claimed by the Grand 

Central Tunnel located made 25Apr79 the right of possession of 1500ô of all veins or lodes on the line of said Tunnel there undiscovered and 

unclaimed and having complied with all the requirements of the US Mining laws and having discovered from the surface on the line of said Tunnel do 

hereby locate 1500ô linear and horizontal measurement on the lodes situated on Cerro del Oso Mt LCmDé Commencing at the point of disc on the S 
side line of said Tunnel claim 1885ô from the point at which said Tunnel enters covery on a course N51Á27ôW and running along said Tunnel side line 

on said course 150ô thence N28Á33ôE 1500ô thence S51Á27ôE 218ô thence S28Á33ôW 1500ô thence N51Á27W?ô to the place of beginningé to be 

developed by the working of said Tunnel. Witness E.J. Fenn, John Elder. Filed and recorded 21Jul82 N.B. Laughlin Recorder E.F. Nisbet Dept. 
{Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.1} 

1882July20 (loc); Grand Central Tunnel Mining Co by P.H. Warner Secy + Agent (locator); location for dumping purposes, 600ô square, at W end of tunnel; N38Á33ôE 
N57Á27ôW thence S&S; witness E.J. Fenn, John Elder, filed 24July recorded 26July1882 [Locations & Mining Deeds F#15410 p.215] 

1882July20 (loc); Grand Central Tunnel Mining Co, By P.H. Warner Secy and Agent Locator; Grand Central Tunnel, for dumping purposes for the GCT 

600ô square commencing at the Wend of Said Tunnel at a stake marked wext end centeré running N38Á33ôE 300ô thence N51Á27ôW 600ô thence 
S38Á33ôW 600ô thence S54Á27ôE 600 thence N38Á30E 300ô to the place of beginning. Witness E.J. Fenn, John Elder. Filed and recorded 21Jul82 N.B. 

Laughlin Recorder E.F. Nisbet Dept. {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.1} 

1882August11; PoL for 1882; J.P. OôBrien, John Elder, S.W. Bonner swear before Jordan B. Cottle Notary Public that $100 labor done on Silver Bank Lode, (loc 1Jan81 
reloc 3Jan82), about 1300ô SW of Great Western, in LCMD; attest J.L. Hayward, filed 12Aug recorded 14August1882 [Locations & Mining Deeds F#15410 p.231] 



1882August11 PoL; J.P. OôBrien, John Elder, S.W. Bonner, swear before ? that at least $100 worth of Labor Expended upon Silver Bank Lode, loc 

1Jan81, and reloc 3Jan82, in the Las Cerrillos Mining District, ca 1300ô SW from the ñGreat Westernò Mining Claim, for 1882. Attest J.L. Hayward. 
Filed and recorded 11Aug82 N.B. Laughlin Recorder per E.F. Nisbet Dept. {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.11} 

1882August18; The Grand Central tunnel will continue to be worked notwithstanding the accident. Day and night shifts will be run. [SFDNM] 

1882December15 PoL; E.F. Nisbet, John Elder swear before N.B. Laughlin NP for 1882 there was at least $100 worth of work was done upon Accidental 

Mining Claim,  in LCMD, loc 7Jul79; that least $100 worth of labor was done upon the Butcher Boy No.2 Claim during 1882, in LCMD, loc 

31May79, Rec b.B p.341. Said labor was done by J.C. Piersol and others owners of the Accidental and by J.C. Piersol and others of MO and 

Rogers+Cottle of Carbonateville owners of the Butcher Boy No.2 Claim. Cert 18Dec82 b.G p.417 Charles M. Conklin Probate clerk and Recorder. 
Filed for record 19Dec82 and recorded same day Arthur A. Cruttenden Recorder. {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.68} 

1882December29; PoL for 1882; Jno / John Elder, Samuel Harris swear before Jordan B. Cottle Notary Public at least $100 labor on Tip Top mining claim, in LCMD; 
recorded 2January1883 [Locations & Mining Deeds F#15410 p.310] 

1882December30 PoL; E.F. Nisbet, John Elder swear before N.B. Laughlin NP that at least $100.00 worth of labor has been performed on That Step 

Mother of ours, Crwon Point No.2, in LCMD, for 1882. Filed for record 23Feb83 and duly recorded the same day Arthur A. Cruttenden Recorder, 
{Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.147} 

1883January1<40 minutes to one oôclock] (loc); C.L. Long; Andy Robb Lode, 1500ô linear, in LCMD, 750ôNE & 750ôSW, with 150ô on ea side, at the 

base of the GCMtn on NE side and ca 3/4mi SW from Carbonateville. Witness E.F. Nisbet, Jasc Elder, Geo L. Wyllys. Filed for record 16Jan83 and 
recorded the same day Arthur A. Cruttenden Recorder, {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 p.97} 

1883January1 (reloc); W.V. Scneider ½, Joe de Silva ¼, Jno Burris 1/8, E.F. Nisbet 1/8; Comstock Lode 1500ô linear, in LCMD, 720ôNE & 780ôSW, 150ô 

on ea side, on the N slope of the GCM, ca 3/4mi SW of Carbonateville. This Relocation is made to take in abandoned surface ground. Witness Jno 
Elder. Filed for record 10Mar83 and duly recorded the same day Arthur A. Cruttenden Recorder. {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 7 p.10} 

1883January4 PoL; John Elder, Samuel Harris swear before Jordan B. Cottle NP that at least $100 worth of labor has been performed on Tip Top Mining 

claim, in LCMD, for 1882. Filed for record 4Jan83 and recorded the same day Arthur A. Cruttenden Recorder. {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 6 
p.86} 

1883February7; POL for 1883; C.W. Uptegrove swears before Arthur A. Cruttender Notary Public at least $100 labor on Golden Eagle No.2, expended by CW Uptegrove, 
AH Johnson, S Johnson owners, in LCMD; (witness block) Levey Gregory, John Eldet, recorded 17February1883 [Locations & Mining Deeds F#15410 p.354] 

1883February7<8 lined out] POL;  C.W. Uptegrove swears before Arthur A. Cruttenden NP that at least $100 worth of labor has been performed upon 

Golden Eagle Lode, in LCMD, for 1882. Such expenditure was made by C.W. Uptegrove, A.H. Johnson, S.Johnston>e lined out], owners of said 
claim. Witnesses Leroy Gregory, John Elder. Filed for record 8Feb83 and duly recorded the same day Arthur A. Cruttenden Recorder {Cerrillos 

Mining Records Book 6 p.122} 

 
R. R. Elder    - of Lamy Junction & Abq 

1889May28; Mr. R.R. Elder, of the tubular well boring and wind mill firm of Elder Bros., lately from Las Vegas and now of Santa Fe county, paid this 

office a pleasant call to-day. He is a live and aggressive young business man. These brothers have taken a ten year lease on several thousand acres of 
the Eaton grant, not far from Lamy junction, and have commenced a system of improvements theron that will develop plenty of water. Their first work 

has been to put in a reservoir from which they are now irrigating a six acre garden. Their scheme is to sow a great field of alfalfa and utilize it by 
pasturing beef steers and making them ready for the local market. [SFDNM] 

1890April24; Large Land Sale ï Hon. S.N. Laughlin, a California capitalist and owner of about 28,000 acres of the Eaton grant, has recently purchased the 

Gildersleeve interest in the grant of 52,000 acres. The purchase secures to Mr. Laughlin the entire grant of 80,000 acres. It is reported that he will fence 
the grant and stock it with several thousand head of graded breeding cattle, and that he will also seed large tracts of irrigable land to alfalfa. Mr. R.R. 

Elder, an experienced, energetic and efficient stock man, will continue to superintend the ranch. [SFDNM] 

1891June27; Mrs. Chas F. Bailey, Misses Sallie Gibson, Mabel Kellogg, Ida Elder and K.O. Elder, Mr. and Mrs. H.T. Vaille and S.H. Wallace, jr., of 
Albuquerque, who have been roughing it and having a good time generally, on the Elder brothersô ranch, near Lamy junction, will visit Santa Fe to-

morrow. [SFDNM] 

1895August9; Mr. R.R. Elder, of Albuquerque, the Bell telephone man, is visiting Santa Fe. ï At the Exchange: R.R. Elder, Albuquerqueé [SFDNM] 
1895August14; At the Exchange: R.R. Elder, Robt Stanfield, Albuquerque... [SFDNM] 

1895August31; List of letters remaining uncalled for in the postoffice in Santa Feé Elder, R.R. [SFDNM] 

1915; Testimony of Juan Ortiz; Frank Mendosa lived at the Armijo, then La Pintada before San Cristobal. Eaton moved ca.1876; a Mr. Joesph Willie in house, then Elder, 
then Mendosa, all agents for claimants of San Cristobal grant. Then Pankey. [per LLippard draft MS p.102; 2009] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 
W. W. Elderkin     - of PittsburgPA & E-town 
1899August14; The Smithfield Gold Mining & Milling company of Elizabethtown this morning filed incorporation papers at the office of the territorial 

secretary. The company was organized under the laws of West Virginia and appoints as the manager and local agent in New Mexico E.F. Cossun, of 
Pittsburg, who will reside at Elizabethtown. The capital of the company is $50,000, of which $11,000 is paid up. The incorporators are Joseph 

Hartman, W.H. Lusk, Butler, Pa.; Thomas J. Stevenson, Theodore G. Dunn, Emil D. Dant, H. Johns, Jr., T.F. Johns, F.J. Close, W.W. Elderkin, E. 

F????on, F.A. Spiller, Pittsburg, Pa. [SFNM] 

 

EL DORADO MINING COMPANY    - StaFe 

1883December7; Corporations Organized Under the General Incorporation Law, 1868-1904. El Dorado Mining Company. Date of filing Dec. 7, 1883, 50yrs, Santa Fe, 
Capital stock 100,000 [NMBlueBook 1905, p.202] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Eldot * Eldodt *  
Marcus Eldot  (d.San Francisco 4Apr1920)    - of San Juan 
1873November17; Mr. Marcus Eldot of San Juan in the city. [SFDNM]   

1877August; member of Montezuma Masonic Lodge, at the formation of the Grand Lodge of NM; Marcus Eldodt, D: 4-4-1920 San Francisco 
1877August; Marcus Eldot, member of Montezuma Lodge ï affiliated 2-3-1877 from Las Vegas D:4-4-1920@San Francisco [Seven Score & Ten; Montezuma Lodge No.1 

2001 p.21] 
1880September18; Marcus Eldot Samôl Eldot Eldot Bros, Dealers in General Merchandise and Countryé San Juan... [ad in SFDNM] 



1880October6; Marcus Eldot, of San Juan, was in the city yesterday. He is registered at the Grand Central Hotel. [SFDNM] 

1881July10; Mr. Marcus Eldot, of San Juan, was in the city yesterday spending his time with old friends. [SFDNM] 

1891June26; Wedles & Eldot, the popular Dry Goods and Grocery merchants of Santa Fe, new Rustler subscriber. [The Cerrillos Rustler, v.III no.51] 
1891October22; Hon. Stephen B. Elkins, Dear Sir:- The Santa Fe Board of Trade and all the citizens of Santa Fe send sincere and most hearty congratulations upon your 

well merited appointment to the Cabinet Office of Secretary of War of this great republic, one of the few prominent and highly responsible and important positions in this 
country. Respectfully your obedient servants, (Signed) Santa Fe Board of Trade, by Edward C. Bartlett, President, - attest, Geo W. Knaebel, Secretary; Sol Spiegelberg; 
Marx Frost; J. Howard Vaugh; W.T. Thornton; J.P. Victory; R.E. Twitchell; B.M. Read; H.L. Ortiz; L.H. Hughes; Wm M. Berger; R.H. Longwill, M.D.; W.S. Harrison, M.D.; 
John Symington, M.D.; Wm H. Griffin; Cad Griffin; Trinidad Alarid; Elias Brevoort; E.L. Bartlett; August Kirchner; T.B. Catron; J.R. Armiga; Pedro Perea; J.H. Christ; C.H. 
Gildersleeve; A. Staab; Wedeles & Eldork; Jake Weltmer; Bert Call; Enos Andrews; C.F.A. Fischer; Jose D. Senor; J.B. Lamy; Rt. Rev J.B. Salponte; Seligman Bros.; 
Felipe Selgado, and all the citizens and residents the city. [Elkins papers 728] 

1892May2; Santa Fe, N.M. May 1, 1892; The co-partnership heretofore existing under the name of Wedeles & Eldot has been dissolved this day by mutual 

consent, Mr. S. Wedeles retiring therefrom... continuing ñM. Eldotòé [SFDNM] 

1895June20; So far the following Masons have signified their intention to be present at the dedication ceremonies at Las Vegas on the 24th inst. from this 
city: E.L. Bartlett, G.W. Knaebel, E.L. Hall, Adolf Seligman, E.H. Bergmann, Arthur Seligman, J.B. Brady, E.E. Sluder, W.E. Griffin. Arthur Boyle, S. 

Spitz, Marcus Eldodt, W.M. Berger, H.B. Hersey, F.W. Davis and L.F. Parker. [SFDNM] 

1896April13; épetit jurorsé Marcus Eldodté [SFDNM] 
1898April19; Hon. Sam Eldodt and Mr. Marcus Eldodt have received word that their brother, Mr. Nathan Eldodt, of Conejos, Colo., is dangerously ill, and 

his recovery is in doubt. [SFNM] 

 
Nathan Eldot    - of San Juan, ConejosCO 

1874March31; Our old time friend, Nathan Eldot of San Juan, is in the city. [SFDNM]  
1898April19; Hon. Sam Eldodt and Mr. Marcus Eldodt have received word that their brother, Mr. Nathan Eldodt, of Conejos, Colo., is dangerously ill, and 

his recovery is in doubt. [SFNM] 

 
Samuel Eldodt  (d.StaFe 8Oct1925)    - of San Juan 
1868; comes to NM 
1874October23; Mr. Samuel Eldot, of San Juan, came in yesterday. He says sportsmen will find plenty of ducks and geese on the Rio Grande from now on. 

[SFDNM] 

1876June14; Arrivals at Herlowôs Hotel: éS. Eldot, San Juan. [SFDNM] 

1877August; member of Montezuma Masonic Lodge, at the formation of the Grand Lodge of NM; Samuel Eldodt, Merchant, D: 10-8-1925, Santa Fe 
1877August; Samuel Eldot, merchant, member of Montezuma Lodge ï EA 3-7-1873; D:10-8-1925@Santa Fe [Seven Score & Ten; Montezuma Lodge No.1 2001 p.21] 
1880September18; Marcus Eldot Samôl Eldot Eldot Bros, Dealers in General Merchandise and Countryé San Juan... [ad in SFDNM] 

1890July23; Julius Friedman, right hand bower for Samuel Eldot, is in the city from San Juan. [SFDNM] 

1895May21; Mr. Sam Eldodt, territorial treasurer, says he has been a resident of New Mexico for twenty-seven years and never before saw here such a 
drenching and beneficial rain as this region has experienced during the past twenty-four hours at this season of the year. [SFDNM] 

1895June1; The Santa Fe & Cochiti Railway company ï Amended articles filed adding Sanuel Eldodt and Edward H. Bergmann to directory. [SFDNM] 

1895July30; Gov. and Mrs. Thornton returned last evening from a trip to San Juan. They had a pleasant drive and a delightful visit at the hospitable home of 
Hon. Sam Eldodt. [SFDNM] 

1898March3; étransactions at the office of the probate clerk and county recorderé Mortgage deed: Thomas B. Catron to the British American Assurance 

company, of Toronto, Dominion of Canada; an undivided two-thirds interest in the Piedra Lumbre grant, in Rio Arriba county: also the tract of land in 
Santa Fe county, known as the Juan de Gabaldon grant; consideration, $10,000. ¶ Assignment of the foregoing mortgage deed by the British American 

Assurance company to Samuel Eldodt, treasurer of the territory of New Mexico; for the benefit and security of the policy holders in the British 

American Assurance company as required by the Insurance deposit law. [SFNM]   
1898April19; Hon. Sam Eldodt and Mr. Marcus Eldodt have received word that their brother, Mr. Nathan Eldodt, of Conejos, Colo., is dangerously ill, and 

his recovery is in doubt. [SFNM] 

1898May24; Hon. Sam Eldodt went up to Chamita this morning to look after his business interests. [SFNM] 
1898November22; [NM delegates to the Farmers National Convention, Dec.6 Dallas TX] Santa Fe ï Grant Rivenburg, Arthur Boyle, W.S. Harroun, M.D., 

S.H. Day, Samuel Eldodt, Enos Andrews, Henry Woodruff, H.B. Cartwright, S.S. Beatty, Alfredo Hinojos, Jacob Weltmer, J.H. Gerdes, Geo H. Hickox, 

George Marsh, Chas A. Spiess, L. Bradford Prince. [SFNM] 
1902February20; Palace: A.G. Kennedy, Mrs. Samuel Eldodt, Chamita... [SFNM] 

1903May6; Samuel Eldot, former territorial treasurer, a merchant at the San Juan Indian pueblo, is in town on business. [SFNM] 

1922July1; (El Palacio) DUES PAID Santa Fe Society. John K. Stauffer, Miss Manderfield, Mrs. I H. Rapp, E.C. Crampton, L.B. Bloom, W.A. Hawkins. Mrs. M.M. Van 
Beuren, Thos. P. Gable, Dr. Willard Bartlett, J.B. Wood, Sam Eldodt, Chas. Ilfeld, Wm Beacham, State College, El Paso Public Library, Mrs. L.L.W. Wilson, A.A. Jones. 
[McNulty Papers (McCraw) b.26] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Eldridge *  
E. S. Eldridge    - of Tres Piedras 
1895September9; Vallecitas, Sept.7. éLast spring Messrs. Neill, Liechtle & Loomis sold interests in several of the mines to Messrs. Harrell, Shoemaker 

Bros. & Co., and Mr. E.S. Edlridge, who went to work systematically and have developed inexhaustible quantities of as fine mica as exists anywhere, in 

sizes all the way from 1x2 to 12x24 inches. They are at present at work doing the assessment work on some eight or ten claims in the vicinity of Petaca 
and Cribbenville, and say that they are well pleased with their venture and have ñcome to stay.ò Messrs. Harrell & Shoemaker Bros. have located a mill 

site for a plant to grind all broken or cracked mica, and Mr. Harrell is now in Denver purchasing the necessary machinery for that purpose. [SFDNM] 

1898December16; G.W. Myers, secretary of the American Mica Mining and Milling Company, was in the city yesterday on business connected with his 
company and to arrange for the filing of articles of incorporation in the territorial secretaryôs office. The American Mica Mining and Milling Company 

is located at Tres Piedras, with a branch office at 120 Colonial Arcade, Cleveland, O., and owns six claims west of Petaca, in Rio Arriba bounty, 

comprising 120 acres of land. The capital stock of the company consists of 500,000 shares of stock, of $1 each, non-assessable, and the officers are E.S. 
Eldridge, of Tres Piedras, president; H.W. Fleming, vice president; Thomas McMannus, treasurer; G.W. Myers, secretary, and Charles A. Smith, 

superintendent of mines. All of the officers, except the president, are residents of Cleveland. [SFNM] 



1898December21; E.S. Eldridge, of Tres Piedras, N.M., I.J. McManus and H.W. Fleming, of Cleveland, O., have organized the American Mica Mining & 

Milling Company and filed articles of incorporation in Secretary Wallaceôs office. The objects are to mine mica, gold, silver and any other minerals that 
may be found in the territory of New Mexico, and dealing in mines and real estate. Captial stock; $500,000; principal place of business located at Tres 

Piedras, N.M., with branch office in Cleveland, O. [SFNM]   

 
C. S. Eldridge    - New Placers 
1928December1; 1Jan1923 In the District Court No.10180. W.H. Dicks, Walter E. Wood, A.B. Renehan, Plaintiffs, vs. The Santa Fe Dredging Co., The Gate City National Bank, 
Commerce Trust Co., Charles P. Baxter, Defendants. éComplaint 4; Charles P. Baxter holds indebtedness against the insolvent company for $13k which he pretends is not paid 
off. Complaint 6; Dicks owns 2500 shares of common stock of SFDCo and is a creditor of the company for $1750 for work and labor done. Complaint 7; Renehan owns 8000 shares 
of common stock and is a creditor for $6056. Complaint 8; Wood owns 2500 shares and is a creditor for $500. Complaint 11; SFDCo is indebted to the First National Bank of StaFe 
$2500, and to The Santa Fe Bank $2080, and to J.H. Vaughn $1500, plus accumulated interest of about $1200. Complaint 12; SFDCo owes StaFe co. taxes $8118.88. Complaint 
15; SFDCo has done no Placer mining and carried on no business incidental thereto for more than 3yrs. Complaint 19; a lease contract with L.F. Hulen who backed out for 
insufficient leasehold security. Compalint 21(last); W.H. Dicks has been custodian but has not been compensated. Restraining Order issued 3Jan1923 and W.H. Dicks appointed 
receiver. ï 2Sep1924 granting lease to F.E. Vassar. ï 1Aug1927 Order on cancellation of lease made to El Ortiz Dredging Co, and subsequently subleased to J.M. Barteaux, John 
McKeon of Los Angeles, and J.J. Walsh of Winnipeg CAN, then to Jason D. Jones, and ultimately vested in L.M. Cunningham and M.J. Laycock of Los Angeles; that for 25yrs 
hence L.M. Cunningham and Alamo Placer Mining Company, shall possess lease, except for said Jones sublease. ï 2Feb1928 contract given to J. Garland Tiller and E.S. Rust. ï 
Cunningham assigns lease 3Apr1928 to Mrs. Hattie B. DeLaney, who assigns it 5Apr1928 to F.N. Rose. ï 12Apr1928 lease is cancelled, except for that of Jason D. Jones. ï 
1Dec1928 C.S. Eldridge buys option on property. ï 28Apr1930 while receiver was at work on claims F.E. Vassar, Sam Padilla, Frank Davis staked them as El Ortiz No.1 thru No.6, 
under locator names F.E. Vassar, O.S. Emblem, Frank Davis, Frank Bolan, Synthia Emblem, Vesta Vassar, C.[Clarence] Muralter [Bolan & Muralter not on SFCo record; M.E. 
Jones & J.D. Jones in place]. Muralter, M.E. Jones, J.D. Jones are unaware their names are being used. ï 31Dec1930 lease to W.H. Patten. ï 29Oct1931 Order cancelling Jason 
D. Jones lease. ï 19Feb1932 J.H. Vaughn appointed co-receiver. ï 17Jan1934 Order to grant Golden Placers, Inc., successor in interest to Jason D. Jones, a renewal of lease for 
one year. ï 4Apr1935 Harriette A. Ayres, Mae Ayres Griffin, Maude Ayres Ziegler are owners of bonds of the defendant company. ï 6Feb1936 J.H. Vaughn appointed sole receiver; 
lease approved for D.B. Merchant, J.L. Nisbet. ï 25Sep1936 Lawrence A. Tamme apptd receiver in place of J.H. Vaughn deceased. ï 25Sep1945 Order approving contract for 
purchase of property with George W. Potter. [BHenderson Abstract of Title No.3 30Sep1983] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 

ELECTRIC MINING & MILLING COMPANY     - Jarilla m.d. 
1899September16; Jarilla Mining Camp. éthe Triangle, a fraction, located for placer, owned by the Electric Mining and Milling Company, 150 feet; the 

Little Joe, located as a lode claim, owned by the Electric Mining and Milling Company, 700 feet.... [SFNM] 
1899September19; Otero County Mining News. The Electric Mining and Milling Company, capital $100,000, owns five claims at Jarillaé [SFNM] 

1900July3; W.B. Bates, superintendent and general manager of the Electric Milling & Mining Coôs mines at Jarilla, says lots of rich placer gold is being 

taken out of the mines running at least ten dollars to the square yard, but owing to the lack of water only about half of it can be secured. [SFNM] 

 
Theodore Elerman    - of La Belle m.d. 

1899March28; La Belle. Theodore Elerman, owner of the Rebbecca lode in the La Belle district, has kept up continuous work on his property during the 
winter. He has driven the tunnel 150 feeté [SFNM] 

 
Laura Elgin  

1894June4; A party of fifteen residents drove to this city yesterday to witness the parade of the Blessed Virgin. éThe visitors were Mesdames J.P. 

McFadyean, Effie Williams, S.J. Cory, G.W. North and W.H. Kennedy; Misses E.D. Wayne, Laura Elgin, Ida Vandermark, Lulu Hanson, Della 

Burdick, Euretta Burdick and Messrs. E. Randolph, John McAndrews, Albert Steffin and S. Golding. [SFDNM] 

 
Francisco Manuel Elguea  (d.1806)    - Santa Rita del Cobre, CHIH 
Santa Rita (Grant). Copper-mining community on NM 180, 6 mi NE of Bayard, on AT&SF RR. Settled in 1803 by Francisco Elguea, a Chihuahua businessman, and originally 

named Santa Rita del Cobre. The mine was known in early Spanish times, and continued digging has made it one of the greatest open-pit excavations in the world. PO 
1881-. [T.M. Pearce 1965] 

1804; Col. José Manuel Carrasco filed three mining claims on the Santa Rita deposit. Only the discover[er] of a deposit had the right to three claims ï and it 

turned out that a Lieutenant Blas Calvo y Muro had filed earlier. However, Carrasco and his partner Francisco Manuel Elguea had the political 

influence to win in an appeal to the mining tribunal. Elguea purchased the major claim from Carrasco in 1805 and began productioné The copper 
produced was hauled over the Janos Trail to Chihuahua, Mexicoé Elguea died in 1806é [J.Park NMMiningHeritageGuide 2003] 

1873; émining of copper at the Santa Rita del Cobre Grant was carried on by Americans under lease from the heirs of Francisco Manuel Elguea of Chihuahua who held the 
title to the grant until 1873. In 1825 the mine was worked by Sylvester and James Ohio Pattie who agreed to pay $1,000 a year for the right. It is recorded that the 
Patties planned to buy the mine and sent $30,000 to the owners by an agent who disappeared with the money. In 1828 a Frenchman named Coursier who lived in 
Chihuahua was running the mine. Due to Indian difficulties work stopped. Robert McKnight operated the mine from 1832 until 1836. The last owner during the Mexican 
period was Leonardo Pesquieros who took control of the mine in 1840 and continued to work it until late in the fifties. [History of NM, Chas F. Coan, 1925, p.326] 

1873; Matthew D. Hayes obtained title to the [Santa Rita] property, apparently through a back-room deal. As insurance, Hayes also paid the Elguea heirs a 

$10,000 fee for their rights (The $10,000 was advanced to Hayes by Stephen B. Elkins, at the request of Jerome B. Chaffee.) éIn 1880, Hayes sold ï
out to Joel Parker Whitney. [J.Park NMMiningHeritageGuide 2003] 

 
Henry Eliel    - of E-town 
1898June6; Jack Raught, Henry Eliel and Louis Elingen have resumed work on their Grouse gulch placers near Elizabethtown. [SFNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Elgie *  
J. Eligie  (b.FRANCE 1882>    - widow;  of Madrid 
1920January12_census: Madrid building 68; J. Eligi?, 38y-o, widow, b.FRANCE, immig.1889, 3son, Luis Eligie, miner A&CCC, 18, b.NM, Charles, 13, b.NM, Alfred, 9 ,b.NM, 

1dau, Sybal, 16, b.NM. 

 
Luis Eligie  (b.NM 1902>    -  of Madrid 



1920January12_census: Madrid building 68; J. Eligi?, 38y-o, widow, b.FRANCE, immig.1889, 3son, Luis Eligie, miner A&CCC, 18, b.NM, Charles, 13, b.NM, Alfred, 9 ,b.NM, 
1dau, Sybal, 16, b.NM. 

________________________________________________________________ 

 
P. S. Eline  (d.Bland Feb1900)    - Bland 
1900February5; An unknown man was found dead in a room at Bland a day or two ago, with empty laudanum bottles by his side. A pawn ticket bearing the 

name of P.S. Eline and issued by H. Simpson, of Albuquerque, was also found. [SFNM] 

 
Louis Elingen    - of E-town 
1898June6; Jack Raught, Henry Eliel and Louis Elingen have resumed work on their Grouse gulch placers near Elizabethtown. [SFNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Elizabeth *  
Elizabeth    <E-town? 
1899June19; Elizabeth. The Elizabeth mining branch has many inquiries for well-developed copper mines. [SFNM] 

 

ELIZABETH HALSELL SIMMONS MINING COMPANY    - Rinconada 
1896July31; The Elizabeth Halsell Simmons Mining company has filed articles with the territorial secretary reciting the following particulars: Incorporators, 

W.T. Simmons, of Texas, A.B. Conley, of Rinconada, N.M., S.A. Woodward, of Texas; objects, mining and reducing ores; capital stock, $3,000,000; 
life, fifty years; directors, W.T. Simmons, S.A. Woodward, T.D. Woody, of Decator, Texas, A.B. Conley, W.M. Woody and A.L. Shoemaker, of 

Rinconada, N.M.; principal place of business, Rinconada. [SFDNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Elizabethtown * E-town * 
ELIZABETHTOWN 
Elizabethtown (Colfax). Former copper- and gold-mining camp on NM 38, 5 mi NE of Eagle Nest, and N end of Moreno Valley. First house was built in 1865, when the place 

was called Virginia City. In 1866 the group of prospectors found gold near Willow Creek. As the first semblance of a city appeared, it was named Elizabethtown in 
honor of Elizabeth Moore, daughter of John W. Moore. A ditch was excavated from Red River for a placer dredge called ñThe Elanor.ò Prospecting continued in Old 
Baldy Mountain as late as 1930. Town was first county seat of Colfax Co. Now deserted. PO 1868-1931. [T.M. Pearce 1965] 

Baldy (Colfax). Settlemen 5 mi NE of Elizabethtown. PO 1888-1926. Baldy (Taos). Gold-mining camp. Named for Baldy Mountain. [NM Place Names, T.M. Pearce 1965] 
Moreno River (Colfax). Flows S to Eagle Nest. These waters were used at one time for placer-mining operations, when gold was washed off the ground in the Elizabethtown 

district. [T.M. Pearce 1965] 
The water supply was small and uncertain, and large placering operations could not be based upon it. The early prospectors seem to have realized this immediately, for a 

survey of possible water sources was made, a construction company was formed, and work was begun on the ñBig Ditchò on May 12, 1868. The survey, made by 
Captain N.S. Davis, an engineer of the United States Army, resulted in the construction of a ditch 41 1/8 miles long. This ditch diverted nearly 1,000 cubic feet per 
minute from the headwaters of the Red River, a tributary of the Rio Grande, at a point about 11 miles west of Elizabethtown. Three large lakes were constructed to 
serve as reservoirs along this ditch, and several smaller reservoirs were built on Baldy Mountain above the placers in order to accumulated enough water to operate 
the hydraulics. The work was practically complete within six months. The rapidity of construction and the ingenuity shown is a monument to the ability of the men in 
charge, and to the engineering which made it possible. Although the ditch has not been used for over 50 years [70 years as of 1966], it is still well marked; and some of 
the original flumes are still found in place on the sides of vertical cliffs, in locations that cause wonder at the final cost, including reservoir construction, of only 
$230,000. Seepage from the ditch and leakage from the flumes, however, caused the loss of the major portion of the water, and the amount delivered was only about 
75 cubic feet per minute. Æ The ñBig Ditch was owned and built by the Moreno Water and Mining Company, of which the original members were L.B. Maxwell, Capt. 
N.S. Davis, W.H. Moore, William Kroenig, John Dold, Col. V.S. Shelby, and M. Bloomfield. The first water was delivered to Humbug Gulch on July 9, 1869. Because of 
the tremendous losses of water the company was soon in financial difficulties, and the assets passed into the hands of Col. Shelby, who had loaned the company much 
of the money used in the construction. Maxwell was the next owner, but he was unable to make it pay and sold it to Mathew Lynch in 1875. Lynch was successful in 
making it pay, selling water for very high rates and using much of the water for his own large operations. ¶ After the death of Mathew Lynch in 1880, Joseph Lowery 
succeeded him as the most prominent placer miner in the district, although the Lynch properties were operated by James and Patrick Lynch, brothers of Mathew. 
[History of Mining in Colfax County, R.F. Pettit, Jr.] 

High in the Sangre de Cristos, five miles above Eagle Nest, lie the remains of Elizabethtown, often shortened to E-town. Its history began in the mid-1860s 
with a Wild West-style gold rush that led to construction of 100 buildings. Bearded Charles Kennedy had a cabin beside the road leading to E-town. In 

1870 he took to robbing and murdering single travelers passing by. Upon learning of his crimes, a posse of miners went out and seized him. No hanging 

tree was in sight. So they put a noose around Mr. Kennedy's neck and dragged him behind a horse until he strangled. Much of Elizabethtown was 
consumed in a 1903 fire, but small-scale mining continued until World War II. Thereafter, vandals destroyed a majority of the few remaining landmarks. 

[M.Simmons, Trail Dust 18Jul2009] 

1866; éplacer gold [discovered] in Moreno valley. éñresulted in a stampede which increased the population of Elizabethtown to 10,000, made it the first 
incorporated city in New Mexico, and for a time the county seat of Colfax county which had then just been organized. It is estimated that more than 2 

1/2 millions of dollars in gold have come from the placer fields around Mt. Baldy.ò (I doubt that E-town ever had a population of 10,000. See other 

figures of 5,000-7,000.) [The Mines of Colfax County, New Mexico, South-Western Mines v.2 n.8 p.3-5, 1910, cited & commented by Northrup, 
1975] 

1900June28; The first information relative to the Moreno placer fields and their mineralization was given early in 1866 by a young Indian who visited Fort 

Union and told the soldiers that there was copper on Baldy mountain, referring to the present site of the Mystic. Upon this information the soldiers 
resolved to prospect there. A few men, two of them named Brownson and Kelly, left the fort and pitched their tent under a large tree in Willow gulch, 

near Elizabethtown. While in camp they panned some of the earth, and to their surprise found it filled with particles of gold. The tree was called 

ñDiscovery Tree,ò and was a landmark from which claims were staked and numbered consecutively. éinto a thriving community. To accomplish this 
end a stock company was incorporated with a capital of $150,000, but before the work was accomplished they had expended $300,000. Prominent 

among the stockholders were Lucien B. Maxwell, William Kroenig and William H. Moore. éThey sought to utilize the water of Red river, in Taos 

county, and to conduct it to the placers they constructed what is known as the ñbig ditch,ò with numerous reservoirs, all completed in 1868. It was a 
colossal undertaking, a work which stands to-day as a marvelous piece of engineering. The ditch forms three-quarters of a circle in its length of forty-

two miles, skirting along the edge of mountains, bridging ravines and gulches with more than twenty flumes. In places the water bed was made in 



perpendicular walls of solid rock with drill and powder. Later on the supply of water was increased by a ditch seven miles long, from Moreno creek, 

and out of the Ponil river from the east side of Baldy mountain. éit was this water supply that caused the village of Elizabethtown to reach the 
population of 1,000 during 1868 and bear the distinction of being the first incorporated city in this territory. [SFNM] 

1867-1868; The Big Ditch, 41 miles long, was constructed to bring water from Red River to Elizabethtown for placer mining. Lindgren, Graton and Gordon 

(1910 p.93) commented that the Big Ditch, ñbuilt at a cost of over $200,000 éhas stood as a monument to the energy of those early prospectors.ò 
Population of E-town: 5,000. [cited in Northrup, 1975] 

1869; Colfax and Lincoln Counties were established. Elizabethtown, with a population of possibly 7,000, was made the county seat of Colfax County. First 

newspaper in Colfax County: The Lantern. [cited in Northrup, 1975] 

1869; Kit Carson Masonic Lodge No.326, under disposition of the Grand Lodge of Missouri, at Elizabethtown. arrested in 1878. [Seven Score and Ten, Hall, 2001] 
1882August29; A ñclean upò at the Elizabethtown placer grounds last week resulted in a return of $40,000. This was at the grounds formerly operated by 

Mr. Lynch. [SFDNM] 

1882August31; The placer ground at Elizabethtown is attracting much attention. The work now being done is progressing favorably, and with fine results. 

[SFDNM] 
1895April15; Baldy District. More people are at work in Baldy and Elizabethtown than there have been for two years and everything goes to indicated a 

season of unprecedented prosperity. From present indications the coming summer will witness lively times in the gold mining camps of Baldy and 

Elizabethtown, in this county. Capitalists and practical miners are arranging for extensive development work in that sectioné [SFDNM] 
1895May3; Work will soon be resumed on the Aztec mine in the Baldy district. [SFDNM] 

1895August30; The large steam dredge, one and one-half miles south of Elizabethtown, is being repaired and put into shape to work. This is among the 

largest enterprises of that section and the outcome of the first test will be watched with interest throughout the mining districts of Taos and Colfax 
county. [SFDNM] 

1896February15; A 10-stamp mill is being erected on the ñAjaxò property near Elizabethtown. [SFDNM] 

1896February19; Near Elizabethtown a New York company has put in place a $20,000 plant and steam shovel in the heart of the Moreno valley and are 
going to its bottom for the rich deposit of gold that is known to exist. The plant is at the west base of the great iron mountain and if they should strike the 

phonolite that is now known to underlie this iron mountain a very noteworthy fact will have been developed. The phonolite ore is quarried in abundance 

in the adjacent mountains. It is supposed to be the original great gold bearing body, which Lucien B. Maxwell in the last days of his life so often referred 
to as existing in western Colfax county. [SFDNM] 

1896April16; The stage line from Springer to Elizabethtown is now doing a rushing business, many going to the wonderful mining district every week. 

[SFDNM] 
1896May8; The travel to the great gold mining camps of Elizabethtown, Baldy and Hematite, continues to increase. [SFDNM] 

1896August24; Since the abandonment of the Union Pacific branch from Trinidad to Catskill, there is beyond dispute but one route to the Elizabethtown, 

Hematite and La Belle mining districts, and that is to take the Santa Fe to Springer, where daily stages leave for these districts. ï Springer Stockman. 
[SFDNM] 

1896September26; C.D. Stevens, of Raton, contractor for the Red River smelter building, passed through Eôtown last Friday on his way to Red River, with 

a number of carpenters. The work of building the offices and mill building will begin at once. Mr. Connouse is in charge of the erection of the 
machinery and expects the smelter to be running shortly after the first of October. ï Elizabethtown Miner. [SFDNM] 

1896November20; A three ounce nugget was found last week on the Gillen placer claim in the Baldy district. ï It is said that the large vein from which the 

rich gold placers of the Elizabeth placers sprang, has at last been found. [SFDNM] 
1896December4; In 1869, there was gold discovered in the Moreno valley, in the northern part of the territory on the Maxwell land grant, creating quite an 

excitement, and there was a company formed of moneyed men of New Mexico to build a large ditch to bring water to the placer mines. Col. Shelby 

invested all the money he had available in this ditch with such men as Lucien B. Maxwell, Wm H. Moore, Jno Doll, Wm Kroenig and others. This 
ditch cost nearly $250,000 and proved to be a failure for the company that built it. [SFDNM] 

1896December29; Sister Mary Anthony and Sister Mary Theresa Quinn, of Denver, Colo., were in Elizabethtown, soliciting aid for the working girlsô 

home, in this city. [SFDNM] 
1897February9; Quite a strike has been recently made in the Ajax mines near Elizabethtown. From one ton of ore the owners secured $60 off the plates and 

in a new vein recently opened a half ounce nugget of free gold was found with no quartz mixed with it. ¶ A letter from Elizabethtown says that there are 

three different parties there from Colorado Springs to investigate the big strike in the Black Copper mine. [SFDNM] 
1897March23; In the vicinity of Elizabethtown, Colfax county, 13 new claims have been located and filed in the past three months. [SFDNM] 

1897July23; Although Elizabethtown is an old mining town it is only within the past two ore three years that lode mining has received much attention. 

Thirty years ago placer mining flourished there, and it was a city of almost 6,000 inhabitants 28 years ago. It also bears the distinction of having been the 
first incorporated city in New Mexico. [SFDNM] 

1897October23; Raton. Judge S.E. Booth, the affable representative of the Maxwell Land Grant company at Elizabethtown, was in town for a few days. The 

judge is a firm believer in the fu\ture greatness of the gold mining camps clustered around Old Baldy, and can talk by the hour of their mines and 
minerals, says the Reporter. [SFDNM] 

1897October28; The new dredge which has recently been put in below E town for placer started operation this week. [SFDNM] 
1898March29; General Territorial Mining. A mill run will be made on Albion Hill ores at Elizabethtown this week. [SFNM]   

1898May5; The Copper Glance mine on Comanche creek near Elizabethtown will be reopened this month. [SFNM] 

1898May21; Mining Notes. A force of men is at work on the ditch which is to furnish the Red River smelter with water, The works will start operation next 
week. [SFNM] 

1898June6; The average price paid by Elizabethtown merchants for gold from that locality is $17 per ounce. [SFNM] 

1898June10; Colfax County. Ranchmen around Elizabethtown have seeded a large area this season. [SFNM] 
1898June23; Red River, La Belle, Elizabethtown, Hematite, Black Mountain, Jicarilla, Organ and the Cochiti districts are showing the most activity in the 

development line. [SFNM] 

1898September28; Elizabethtown needs a 100 ton mill, as there are mines enough within a radius of three miles to furnish that amount. [SFNM] 
1898October5; The addition of a Whittley concentrator to the Ajax mill at Elizabethtown will save the owners $3,000 per month. [SFNM] 

1899Jaunary21; Elizabethtown Mines. The weather in Elizabethtown has been very cold during the winter. Each morning the thermometer ranges from 10 

to 20 degrees below zero and we have good sleighing from Elizabethtown to the creek. [SFNM] 

Black Copper Mine and Stamp Mill Historic District, at Red River, Taos co.; HPD#1794 StateRegisterdate 18Sep1998, NatRegisterdate 
16Feb2001  

 

ELIZABETHTOWN GOLD MINING COMPANY    - of Colfax co. 



Coyote Mining & Milling Co., of Mora County; Guadalupita Mining & Milling Co., of Mora County; Elizabethtown Gold Mining Co., of Colfax County; Moreno Valley Mining 

Co., of Colfax County; Red River Placer Mining Co., of Taos County; St. Louis & Las Vegas M.&S. Co., of Socorro County; White Oaks Consolidated Gold Mining Co., of 

Lincoln County; Jicarilla Placer Mining Co., of Lincoln County; Tres Hermanos Mining Co., of Santa Fé County; Las Animas Gold Mining Co., of Sierra County; The 

Buckeye Mining Co., of Socorro County; The Water Cañon Mining Co., of Socorro County; The Stone Wall Mining Co., of Socorro County; The Deep Down Mining Co., of 

Grant County; The Mammoth Consolidated M.&M. Co., of Santa Fé County; The Carbonate Hill Consolidated M.&M. Co., of Leadville, Colo.; The Corona Queen Mining & 

Milling Co., of Lincoln County; The writer was to some extent in all of these different mining companies, and still possesses enough handsomely lithographed stock 

certificates to paper the walls of a good-sixed room. [My Life on the Frontier] 

 

ELIZABETHTOWN SMELTING & REFINING COMPANY    - of E-town 
1896October30; The following corporations have filed articles with the territorial secretary: The Elizabethtown Smelting & Refining Company ï 

Incorporators, Harry K. Holloway, of Trinidad; Edgar T. Butler, of Elizabethtown, and Clark E. Dodge, of Colorado Springs; life, fifty years; capital 
stock, $200,000; objects, reducing ores and refining bullion; directors, same as incorporators; principal place of business, Elizabethtown, with an office 

at Trinidad; New Mexico agent Edgar T. Butler, of Elizabethtown. [SFDNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 *  Elkins *  
ELKINS PLACER    - Ortiz Mine grant 
1897June3; Santa Fe County. The Elkins placer property on the south side of the Ortiz mountains on the grant of the same name is being worked with a 

large force of some 40 or 50 men, and a good deal of gold is being taken out. On the whole southern Santa Fe county is active in the matter of mining 

and there is a fair prospect of seeing several new propositions opened up in the near future. [SFDNM] 
 

B. S. Elkins    - Denver 
1901November6; Palace: B.S. Elkins, Denver... [SFNM] 
 

Blaine Elkins    - son of S.B. Elkins;  of ElkinsWV 
1899October3; Senator Elkinsô Mining Company. Preparing to Work the Cunningham Claims On the Ortiz Grant. The Sandia Mining Company, with its 

principal office at Elkins, W.Va., has been incorporated by Senator S.B. Elkins, his sons, Richard and Blaine Elkins, and Richard C. Kerens, of St. 
Louis. The capital stock of the company is $10,000, and the company proposes to work the gold mining claims on the Ortiz grant, in the southern part 

of this county, known as the Cunningham and Cunningham Extension. These two claims are said to contain great quantities of low-grade gold ores, 

and are held by Senator Elkins and his associates under a ninety-nine-year lease from the New Mexico Mining Company, the owners of the Ortiz mine 
grant. It is said that the Ortiz Mining Company offered the senator and his associates $20,000 and all expenses heretofore incurred for the surrender of 

the leases of the Cunningham claims, and that this offer was declined. ¶ It is to be hoped that these claims will be worked to their fullest extent. They 

have been idle long enough. Men of the wealth of Senator Elkins and Mr. Kerens can certainly afford to make a trial in that direction. [SFNM] 
 

Davis Elkins    - son of S.B. Elkins;  of ElkinsWV 
1895October24: Senator S.B. Elkins and party are still looking over the senatorôs extensive properties in Santa Fe county. In the party are Mr. Elkinsô two 

sons, Davis and Stephen B., jr., their tutor, Collin H. Livingston; Col. T.B. Davis and E.E. Brunner, of New York; Frank Elkins, of Kansas City. 
[SFDNM] 

1895October25: Senator Stephen B. Elkins and party arrived in their special car last night from Cerrillos and have spent the day here very pleasantly. In the 

party are Col. T.B. Davis, interested with Mr. Elkins in West Virginia coal and railroad enterprises; Mr. Edward E. Bruner, a Wall street capitalist; Prof. 

C.H. Livingston, tutor to Mr. Elkinsô children; the senatorôs bright and manly sons, Stephen B., jr., and Davis, and Mr. Frank Elkins, of Kansas City, 

nephew of the senator. His brother, Mr. Sam Elkins, and Mr. G.W. North accompanied them from Cerrillos. Since Monday the gentlemen have made a 
thorough inspection of the Ortiz grant, in company with a Colorado mining expert. It is likely that extensive operations in gold mining will result from 

their visit. The party dined at St. Vincent sanitarium to-day, and leave to-night for the east, going via Chicago. [SFDNM] 

 

Della Elkins    - Cerrillos 
1895December30; Della Elkins, member Cerrillos ME Church [Church Register of the Cerrillos ME Church] 
1898; Della Elkins, member Cerrillos ME Church [Church Register of the Cerrillos ME Church] 
 
Frank Elkins     - nephew of S.B. Elkins;  of Kansas City 

1895October24: Senator S.B. Elkins and party are still looking over the senatorôs extensive properties in Santa Fe county. In the party are Mr. Elkinsô two 

sons, Davis and Stephen B., jr., their tutor, Collin H. Livingston; Col. T.B. Davis and E.E. Brunner, of New York; Frank Elkins, of Kansas City. 

[SFDNM] 
1895October25: Senator Stephen B. Elkins and party arrived in their special car last night from Cerrillos and have spent the day here very pleasantly. In the 

party are Col. T.B. Davis, interested with Mr. Elkins in West Virginia coal and railroad enterprises; Mr. Edward E. Bruner, a Wall street capitalist; Prof. 

C.H. Livingston, tutor to Mr. Elkinsô children; the senatorôs bright and manly sons, Stephen B., jr., and Davis, and Mr. Frank Elkins, of Kansas City, 
nephew of the senator. His brother, Mr. Sam Elkins, and Mr. G.W. North accompanied them from Cerrillos. Since Monday the gentlemen have made a 

thorough inspection of the Ortiz grant, in company with a Colorado mining expert. It is likely that extensive operations in gold mining will result from 

their visit. The party dined at St. Vincent sanitarium to-day, and leave to-night for the east, going via Chicago. [SFDNM] 

 
Hallie Elkins    - dau of S.B. Elkins;  of ColumbiaMO 
1898July14; Miss Hallie Elkins, daughter of Hon. S.B. Elkins, of Columbia, Mo., is the guest of Judge and Mrs. N.B. Laughlin. She will remain several 

days. [SFNM]   

 
Hattie M. Elkins    - dau of S.H. Elkins;  of ColumbiaMO 
1898August9; Miss Elkins, a popular young lady of Columbia, Mo., returned to her home in that city yesterday. Her many friends here regret to see her 

depart. [SFNM] 

1899August11; Hon. S.H. Elkins, receiver of the Ortiz grant and postmaster of Columbia, Mo., and his daughter Miss Hattie M. Elkins, a charming and 
accomplished young lady, are visitors in the city today. They are on their way home to Columbia, Mo. ï At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Dolores; Hattie M. 

Elkins, Columbia, Moé [SFNM] 

 



James E. Elkins  (b.AR 26Jun1869/1870)    - wife is Della Elkins (b.AR Oct1873>;  of Cerrillos 
1891October23; James Elkins, Cerrillos, Rustler new subscriber. [The Rustler v.IV n.25] 
1891October23; Jimmie Elkins is holding down a steady job at the Central. [The Rustler v.IV n.25] 
1891November20; James Elkins, new Rustler subscriber. [The Rustler, v.IV no.29] 
1894October8; At the Bon Ton hotel; D.J. Jones, H. Montoya, J.E. Elkins, W.H. Coleman, jr., Ed Hale, H. Pardee, Alex Clements, Pat Garrigan, Charles 

Zinsser, Charles Closson, Lafayette Jones, James Coleman, Daniel Dougherty, Lorenzo Lobato, Mike Brannon, D.C. Williams, John McCarty, L.H. 

Underwood, Lorenzo Martinez, Cerrillos. [SFDNM] 
1898June29; Santa Fe County. James Elkins and wife, of Cerrillos, are visiting relatives in Gainsville, Tex. [SFNM] 

1898October19; James Elkins and family, of Cerrillos, have removed to Las Vegas, and his position of railroad watchman is taken by Otis Kelly. [SFNM] 

1900June11-12_census: James Elkins, fireman locomotive, married 3yrs, born 6-69 AR [unk TN], resident Cerrillos (Town) renting with wife Della (10-73 2child/1living AR 
[AR AR]) son Willie[George William Elkins] (11-99 NM [AR AR]) sister Clara Womac (7-83 single TX [AR TN]) 

James Elkins, resident Cerrillos, laborer, b.AR 26Jun1870 [Historical Register of Membership (Cerrillos Lodge #19)] 
 

John T. Elkins    - surveyor & assayer; bro of Steven B. & S.H. Elkins;  of StaFe 
1877January22; Mr. S.H. Lucas having resigned the position of U.S. Gauger for New Mexico, Mr. John Elkins has been appointed to the position. 

[SFDNM] 

1877Janyary25 ï Supplementary Report; Field Notes of the Surveys made to connect this Grant with the Public Surveys, and with the Ortiz Mine Grant. Survey Commenced 
Janôy 25th, 1877. Survey Completed Jany. 28th 1877. éAffidavits of Assistants. We hereby certify that we assisted Rollin J. Reeves, Deputy Surveyor, in Surveying the 
Boundary Lines of the Mesita de Juana Lopez Claimé Walter C. Campbell, Chainman, W.J. Mason Chainman, Charles H. Fitch, flagman, J.T. Elkins, Moundman, R.J. 
Reeves, Compassman. é30th day of January 1877 WSWoodside, Notary Public. [Vol G1109] 

1877April23; Mr. Wm Rosenthall returned from Fort Defiance a few days since quite sick. We were pleased to see him on the street again this morning,as 
well as Mr. John Elkins, who has been confined to his room by illness for several weeks. [SFDNM] 

1877May29; The following were the arrivals at the Exchange Hotel yesterday: P.D. Elkins, and John Elkins, Las Valles. [SFDNM] 

1877September-October; [Maxwell Grant] The application [for patent] was again refused, however, on the grounds that the Griffin survey was a private one and not 

authorized by the government or any authority in the land office. ¶ Elkins and Marmon, two deputy United States mineral surveyors, were then engaged by the company to 

establish the boundary once more. They performed their work in September and October, 1877. It was substantially the same as the Griffin survey, and when this report was 

sent to the land office, a patent for the whole tract was issued. This patent the government brought suit to set aside, in 1883. [My Life on the Frontier B.2 p.111] 

1878; John T. Elkins (bro of Stephen) and R.T. Marmon [patriarch of Laguna Marmon Clan] survey the Maxwell Land Grant 
1878May18; Gen. Atkinson and John Elkins left on Mondayôs coach for the east. [Weekly New Mexican] 

1879May20 (loc): H.S. Swope, J. Forsha, J.T. Elkins, U.A. Gald; Silver Belle, 1500ô 750ôNE & 750ôSW, 300ô on ea side. Attest [blank]. W.P. McClure 
Deputy Recorder [rec 20May79] {Galisteo Mining Record ï Cerrillos Record Book 6 p.51} 

1879June6; N.S. Swope, J. Forcha, J.T. Elkins, U.A. Gould; Silver Bell lode, 750ô NE & SW, 300ôea side {GMD} [Locations & Mining Deeds A#15405 p443] 
1881June4; Mr. John Elkins returned to Santa Fe yesterday from a trip to the New Placers mining district where he made a visit to the camp of the Canon 

del Agua Company. [SFDNM] 

1881June18; Mr. John Elkins is spending some time at the New Placers. [SFDNM] 

1883December17; patent No.11375 Mineral Certificate No.14, Lot No.278 of T12N R7E New Placers issued for Jennie lode mining claim to Wm W. 
Griffin, Frank C. Whitney, Wm T. Thornton, John T. Elkins, the heirs of Owen Gleason deceased, E.J. Ware. Between Gold gulch on the N and Lehigh 

gulch on the S; 1500ô length, 20.66 acres; sigs 16Dec1886 Grover Cleveland By M. McKean secy, Robt. W. Ross Recorder of the General Land Office. 

1894November3; Steve And Tom. The Juana Lopez Grant, situated in the southern part of the county, is technically known as the Mesita de Juana Lopez. It has been regarded 

ever since it was granted by the Spanish government in the year of 1782 as the land upon the top of the mesa. In the year 1870 Catron and Elkins obtained from the heirs of 

the original grantees, deeds to their interest in the property, and with the ñmesaò fit only for grazing purposes, as the foundation of their claim, it did not take these schemers 

long to extend the southern boundary of this property to such a distance south as to cross the Galisteo creek and to embrace incidentally some of the most valuable coal lands 

in New Mexico. This was done with The Kindly Assistance of title papers which had accommodatingly gotten mutilated in their most material portions; and by one or two 

other methods connected with the survey, which appear hereinafter. As a result of this manipulation of the grant it came about that this property which could not have been 

more than three and one-half miles in length or breadth, was extended so as to stretch six miles from east to west and cover eighteen miles from north to south. These fickle 

boundaries as extended by Messrs. Catron and Elkins covered besides the Mesita (the only property that could possibly under the title papers been honestly held) 20,000 acres 

of the public domain, 12,000 of the Ortiz grant, and in addition a large slice of the Santo Domingo Pueblo grant. After this fraudulent survey an act was carried through 

congress by the same skillful hands confirming the grant as fraudulently surveyed and there the matter rests, The Arch-Conspirators being unwilling in view of the general 

character of the transaction to press it forward by asking for a patent. Surveyor General Julian made an investigation of the transaction in 1886 and his report on the subject to 

the authorities at Washington makes very interesting reading. The New Mexican quotes below a few extracts from this report as showing in what light the transaction was 

regarded by the government authority. Gen. Julian, in his report, refers to the fact that John T. Elkins, a brother of Claimant Steve, was the interpreter on the survey, and that 

the whole survey under his Republican predecessor in office, assisted by Catron and Elkins, had been conducted in a ñslip-shod and Very Suspicious Manner.ò He says that 

the claim as made by Catron and Elkins and established by the suspicious survey was ñabsolutely irreconcilable with the languageò of the original title papers. He refers to the 

fact that the title papers say not a word about Galisteo creek, which Catronôs claim crossed without conscientious scruples. He says that ñthe accuracy of the survey is wholly 

unsupported by proof and its fraudulent character will conclusively appear from the evidence and the unmistakable interpretation of the language of the writ of possession. He 

refers to the fact ñthat by A Strange Coincidence or by careful training, the witnesses for Catron and Elkins make almost exactly the same statement, which leads to a strong 

suspicionò on his part that ñtheir testimony was an after thought, simply indicating a disposition to accommodate the wishes of the claimants,ò Catron and Elkins. He then 

says: ñIt is difficult to escape the conclusion that the survey under consideration was an open and flagrant attempt to appropriate to private uses the large body of private lands 

covered by it which lie outside of the Mesita and which were never thought of by by the governor in making the grant or by the alcalde to his delivery of possession.ò In 

speaking of the evidence of Messrs. Catron and Elkins, he says that ñit only illustrates The Ravenous Hunger for land which frequently reveals itself in this territory,ò and he 

continues by saying: ñthe case which I am now considering is itself a very remarkable commentary upon Catronôs testimony; for it shows that in the case of a grant of 11,000 

or 12,000 acres of land whith boundaries so well defined that an honest man could scarcely fail to define them, Mr. Catron or Mr. Elkins or somebody else prevailed on the 

deputy surveyor to enlarge the grant so as to cover 42,000 acres.ò In conclusion, he referred to the fact that ñCatron and Elkins occupy a front rank in the art of measuring 

landò and calls attention to the fact that Claimant Catron on another occasion stretched a grant of 130 acres, easily defined and ascertained, to 130,000 acres. Mr. Julian 

concludes his commentary on Catron and Elkins by referring to them as belonging to that Class Of Land Sharks who are so abundantly equipped for their work ñboth by 

training and by exceptional aptitude,ò Col. C.G. Coleman, who was appointed by Gen. Julian to investigate the matter, reported that the southern boundary claimed by Catron 

and Elkins is ñnot only unwarranted but simply absurd and preposterous.ò   [SFDNM] 

1899December1; (US Assay Office, F.A. Jones, C.E., E.M. Kansas City, John T. Elkins assayer, to S.H. Elkins) 6 samples: from 0.12 to 0.48 oz per ton. At 1899 gold values 
$2.40 to $9.60 per ton. Candelaria Mine Assay ï written on the back. [John Elkins was S.B. & S.H. brother who lived in NM in the 1860s and 70s. He was one of the two 
original surveyors of the Maxwell Land Grant along with one of the great-grandfathers of the Laguna Marmon Clan. Marmonôs latter survey of the Laguna Reservation 
led to their having a large reservation. John worked in mining in CO for many years and apparently then moved to Kansas City. John Elkins was working for F.A. Jones! I 
wonder if Elkins had something to do with Jonesô appointment in 1898 as the first pres of the NM School of Mines?- HM] [Elkins papers 1287] 

 



Col. Philip Duncan Elkins  <b.VA 4Jul1810  d.ElkinsWV 3Jan1897)    - wife is Sarah Withers Elkins; father of S.B. & S.H. Elkins;  of StaFe 

1867; resides in Santa Fe 
1870July26_census: Stephen B.Elkins, lawyer, 29y-o, born OH, Value ofRealEstate$3,000 TotalPersValue$32,000, resident SF pct.4 with wife Sally S. Elkins (25 MO), Sally 

Elkins (3 NM), Bill Montgomery (27 domestic servant MO), Philip D. Elkins (58 VA) 
1873October4; Messrs. B.J. Smith, Geo H. Pradt, W.H. Manderfield, P.D. Elkins, J.A. McEschron, and Master D. Proudfit, left early this morning on a trip 

to the Rio Pecos to hunt, fish and seek other diverting things as may fall within the lengths of their ropes. [SFDNM] 

1874January26; P.D. Elkins, Esq., returned this morning from a trip down the Pecos. He reports pleasant weather and no snow down that way. [SFDNM] 
1874April24; Mr. P.D. Elkins left this morning to visit his ranch on the Pecos. [SFDNM]   

1874August13; Major Lewis, Secretary Ritch and Mr. P.E. Elkins have gone a fishing to the Valles. [SFDNM]   

1874September18; Messrs. Elkins, Hunter, Knapp, Pratt and Manderfield, left this morning for Los Valles on a fishing excursion to be absent about ten 
days. [SFDNM] 

1876February22; John H. Riley and P.D. Elkins came in last enening from Puerto de Luna. [SFDNM] 

1876August17; Gen. Thos S. Tucker and Col. P.D Elkins started out yesterday for another piscatorial jaunt, to be gone about ten days. Their destination is 
the Pecuris [riv]er, about 80 miles away. [SFDNM] 

1877May29; The following were the arrivals at the Exchange Hotel yesterday: P.D. Elkins, and John Elkins, Las Valles. [SFDNM]  

1877June20; Mr. Samuel Elkins, youngest son of Col. P.D. Elkins, arrived in the city a few days since and left yesterday for the south as an assistant to 
Lieut. C.C. Morrisonôs detachment of the Wheeler expedition. We are informed that the seasonôs work of this party is located in New Mexico south of 

this city. [SFDNM] 

1877July23; Mr. V.S. Shelby left for the Pecos river this morning, Col. Elkins says, armed with giant-powder to kill the trout. [SFDNM] 
1878May11; The arrivals at the Exchange Hotel for the past week are as follows: P.D. Elkins, Rio Pecos... [Weekly New Mexican] 

1880February21; Philip D. Elkins, Rufus J. Palen, Thomas B. Catron, William S. Woodside (absent from signature block), Edward P. North (signature óEdward P. Nashô); 
Pecos and Placer Water Pipe Company, from near Pecos river at Canon entering Pecos River S of Dalton Mill in San Miguel Co ï 2mi above cave ñLa Cuebraò or 5mi 
above Dalton Mill ï to Glorieta Summit; thence to NMMC Grant in Placer mining grounds; 5000shares @ $100ea = $500,000; certified N.W. Fine Notary Public, 
endorsed W.G. Ritch secy Territorial Secretary, filed 27Feb80 [Locations & Mining Deeds B#15406 p256] 

1880October2; Captain Louis Felsenthal and Col. Elkins will leave Santa Fe for the Pecos this morning to remain for several days. They go by the morning 

train. This will be the first time Captain Felsenthal has been in a railroad car for 25 years. When a very young man he traveled through Europe and 
Americaé [SFDNM] 

1880October5; Col. P.D. Elkins and Captain Louis Felsenthal returned yesterday from a fishing and hunting trip to the Pecos. [SFDNM] 

1881May31; S.H. Elkins, of Columbus Mo., arrived here last evening. He is the youngest son of Col. Elkins, of Santa Fe, and is here on a visit to his father. 
[SFDNM] 

1881November26; Col. Elkins, popularly known as ñPap,ò got home Thursday night from the East, where he had been on an extended visit. He was to New 
York and various other cities, and enjoyed the luxuries of eastern cities very much, if one my judge from his improved physique. He says he made 

oysters sick and had a good time generally. They tried to make him stay in the States permanently, but he sighed for the fresh mountain air of Santa Fe, 

and hied him home.  [SFDNM] 
1882June1; Col. Elkins was to have left for the east in a few days, but bad health will not permit him to go for some time yet. [SFDNM] 

1882June14; Messrs. Elkins, Manderfield, E. Crosson and Putnam, will leave Santa Fe for the Pecos this morning. They go out for a fishing trip, and will 

have a good time, whether they catch any fish or not. [SFDNM] 
1882August2; Robt E. Carr, of St. Louis, accompanied by Col. E.D. Elkins, Mr. and Mrs. Rumsey and Miss Edith Rumsey, of this city, left yesterday for a 

weekôs fishing excursion on the Pecos river. [SFDNM] 

1882September19; Col. P.D. Elkins contemplates another visit to the east. He will visit points in Maryland and New York City before returning to Santa Fe. 
[SFDNM] 

1895June28; Mr. J.H. Vaughn, the capable and popular cashier of the First National bank, returned from New York last evening and received a cordial 

welcome home form many friends. His health seems to be fully restored. While in the east, Mr. Vaughn paid a visit to Elkins, W. Va., and while there 
was the guest of Senator and Mrs. S.B. Elkins. He reports that ñPapò Elkins, well remembered in Santa Fe as the father of the senator, will celebrate his 

85th birthday on July 4, and is enjoying excellent health. [SFDNM] 

1897January6; A dispatch from Wheeling, W. Va., dated Jan 3, says: ñPhillip Duncan Elkins, father of United States Senator Stephen B. Elkins, died this 
afternoon at the senatorôs residence, at Elkins, this state, aged 87 years. The deceased was a colonel in the confederate army, and a Democrat. He was 

born in Farquilar county, Va., July 4, 1809. He was married in Ohio, in 1840, to Sarah Pickett Wethers. He leaves two sons, Senator Elkins, of West 

Virginia, and Samuel Hobbs Elkins, of Columbia, Mo.ò Æ The deceased became a resident of Santa Fe in 1867, soon after his distinguished oldest son, 
Senator Elkins, of West Virginia, became an active factor in the political and business life of New Mexico, and for a period of about twenty years was 

one of the best known figures on the streets of this historic capital, familiarly known even to the children as ñPapò Elkins. Æ He was a prince among story 

tellers, a persistent and expert angler and always a genial and generous companion. He was a dyed in the wool Democrat, but always found it a sore trial 
to vote against his talented Republican son, ñSteve,ò who was the pride and joy of his heart. Æ When Senator Elkins went to West Virginia his father 

went with him and there he passed the declining years of his life in peace and comfort. [SFDNM] 

 
P. D. Elkins jr.    - son of S.H. Elkins;  Dolores 
1896September5; At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, P.D. Elkins, jr., Dolores... [SFDNM] 

 
Richard Elkins     - son of S.B. Elkins;  of ElkinsWV 
1899October3; Senator Elkinsô Mining Company. Preparing to Work the Cunningham Claims On the Ortiz Grant. The Sandia Mining Company, with its 

principal office at Elkins, W.Va., has been incorporated by Senator S.B. Elkins, his sons, Richard and Blaine Elkins, and Richard C. Kerens, of St. 

Louis. The capital stock of the company is $10,000, and the company proposes to work the gold mining claims on the Ortiz grant, in the southern part 
of this county, known as the Cunningham and Cunningham Extension. These two claims are said to contain great quantities of low-grade gold ores, 

and are held by Senator Elkins and his associates under a ninety-nine-year lease from the New Mexico Mining Company, the owners of the Ortiz mine 

grant. It is said that the Ortiz Mining Company offered the senator and his associates $20,000 and all expenses heretofore incurred for the surrender of 
the leases of the Cunningham claims, and that this offer was declined. ¶ It is to be hoped that these claims will be worked to their fullest extent. They 

have been idle long enough. Men of the wealth of Senator Elkins and Mr. Kerens can certainly afford to make a trial in that direction. [SFNM] 

 



Samuel Hobbs Elkins  (b.MO 13Apr1847  d.1909)    - wife is Isa Smith Elkins;  youngest son of P.D. Elkins;  of Columbia MO & Dolores 

The brother of S. B. Elkins he came to New Mexico in the 1890's to manage S.B.'s interests.  He was appointed receiver of the NMMC by the Court and supervised the sale 
(99 year lease) to the Hoyts.  He was manager of the Sandia Mining Company, and the 99 year lease on the Cunningham and Cunningham Extension Claims from the 
NMMC in 1897 were in his name. The Sandia Mining Company property was not included in the 1899 sale to the Hoyts.  They acquired it sometime after 1905. [HM]  

Hoyts; Wealthy New York family (law) who in 1899 formed the Galisteo Company.  They purchased a 99 year leases to most of Ortiz Mine Grant from Samuel Elkins, receiver 
for the New Mexico Mining Company, and most of the other leaseholders leases on the Grant.   

1877June20; Mr. Samuel Elkins, youngest son of Col. P.D. Elkins, arrived in the city a few days since and left yesterday for the south as an assistant to 

Lieut. C.C. Morrisonôs detachment of the Wheeler expedition. We are informed that the seasonôs work of this party is located in New Mexico south of 

this city. [SFDNM] 
1881May31; S.H. Elkins, of Columbus Mo., arrived here last evening. He is the youngest son of Col. Elkins, of Santa Fe, and is here on a visit to his father. 

[SFDNM] 

ca1894; (C.E. Dewey to Elkins) Draft of a report by C.E. Dewey for Elkins made at the request of S.H. Elkins on Deweyôs inspection of the Cunningham Mine. He 
recommends mining 15-20 tons and sending it to a good stamp mill in Idaho Springs, CO to be evaluated. [see 897] Dewey also gives recommendations on what was 
needed to fix the Dolores Mill which had been inactive for so long. [Elkins papers 3000] 

1894-95? June10; William Breeden to S.B. Elkins; Asking for appointment as U.S. Attorney and promising loyal support when Elkins runs for president. ñI hope your brother 
Sam will be appointed Marshal.ò [Elkins papers 29 (53)] 

1894November26; Indenture; Between NMMC, for $5/yr + 10% of value of gross output, a 99yr lease on the E half (750ôx600ô) of the Cunningham mine, to Samuel H. Elkins 
(W half leased to SHE 15Aug1894). SHE must work 50ô x 6ô along vein for each of first 5years. Sig. L.M. Lawson, President, attest T. Moore, Jr, Secty; Samuel H. 
Elkins. [Elkins papers] 

1895January31; (S.H.Elkins, Georgetown CO, to Steve) I was not sure if you still wanted me to go to Dolores. ñthey save $3.22 of the $4.60 per ton of the car load of ore that 
was shipped.ò Dewey is of the opinion that it would do to run the mill down there. [Elkins papers 897] 

1895February1; (C.E. Dewey, Dewey Brs. Ore Sampling and Concentration Works to S.H.Elkins) Ore ï 18.85 tons, assay value $4.50 per ton. Product 2 oz. 15?, 17 grains 
fineness .875, value $30.44; $2.70 per ton: 80 pounds concentrates, assaying 1.10 oz gold 10.7 oz silver, worth at smelter $17.00 per ton. Saving of gold on plates about 
80%.ò His conclusion that more systematic sampling should occur but that the deposit should make a profit if mined on a large scale. [Elkins papers 898] 

1895February11; Mr. Sam Elkins, a younger brother of Senator elect S.B. Elkins, arrived at Cerrillos from Georgetown, Colo., on Saturday night, and 

expressed an intention to remain there for several months. It is whispered that his errand there is closely connected with a plan for the early development 
of mines on the Ortiz mine grant. The grant is believed to be controlled by Senator Elkins. [SFDNM]  

1895March25; The Cerrillos Visit. Special to the New Mexican. Cerrillos, Mch. 25 ï Senator and Mrs. S.B. Elkins and four children, in their special car, came up from the 

south and stopped off here yesterday morning. The party were met at the train by the senatorôs brother, Mr. S.E. Elkins, who, after breakfast, escorted them in carriages to 

Dolores and the Cunningham mine, returning about 4 p.m. via the coal mines at Madrid. ¶ The senator, upon hearing of the organization of the Cerrillos Board of Trade, 

indicated that he would be pleased to meet its members at their rooms, which was arranged for 7 oôclock, when he was introduced by Mr. George W. North and responded in 

an address of probably forty-five minutesô duration in which he said it was his intention to have thoroughly prospected the Cunningham hill property and erect extensive 

machinery. He stated that he was more than ever impressed with the valuable resources of southern Santa Fe county and that he and his associates would use every endeavor 

to bring them to the front. He was thoroughly convinced of Cerrillos being the most advantageous smelter site in the southwest and would endeavor to further the project 

looking to the erection of such works. On the subject of silver he announced himself as a bimetallist, and said that he was greatly surprised in his visit to old Mexico to see the 

prosperity of that country, where the fullest use of silver as a money is had. In conversation with President Diaz and his cabinet he had been told that that country was never in 

so good shape as now and he could see for himself the great advancement being made in every direction. After his address, which was briefly responded to by Mr. F.H. 

Mitchell, president of the Board of Trade, he made formal application to become a member of the organization. The application was acted upon in regular meeting this 

afternoon and the senator was duly elected to membership. [SFDNM] 

1895March25; Hon. Stephen B. Elkins, United States senator elect from West Virginia, reached the city last night in a private car in return from an extended tour through 

Mexico. He is accompanied by his wife, who is well known as the daughter of ex-Senator H.G. Davis, and by their three young sons and little daughter. Mr. Sam Elkins came 

up with them from Cerrillos, where the senator has large interests and where he spent yesterday. A Gladsome Greeting. ¶ To say that Senator Elkins is to-day receiving a 

cordial welcome at the hands of Santa Feans is putting it mildly. Among the older residents, particularly the native people, there are a very few citizens who do not enjoy a 

personal acquaintance with him, and some of the incidents that have attended his presence on the streets and about the plaza to-day were positively pathetic. Many stirring 

features in his early career in Santa Fe have been recalled to-day and entertainingly discussed by pioneer citizens. As for the native people his genial heart has always had for 

them a warm corner. Æ éThe most admirable figure in modern times the world over is the successful man. This Stephen B. Elkins is in the highest sense he is a self-made 

man. When he walked across the plains behind an ox team in 1863 he came west for a purpose. He was tired of the hum-drum of village life in Missouri and sought a field 

where a young man had a wider range for his work. Hence it was that, after serving as office boy in the post-office at West Port ï Old Gen. Brown, now clerk for Dudrow & 

Davis, was postmaster there ï and going through the Missouri state university, the young Missourian found himself in Santa Fe. In 1866 he was district attorney for southern 

New Mexico with headquarters at Mesilla. Thenceforward his life is an open book to nearly every resident of New Mexico, aye, to the reading men of the whole nation. 

[SFDNM] 

1895March25; (Elkins to Larocque, 35 William St. NYC) ñI find that our interests have been very much neglected here for the past ten years owning to our having 
incompetent agents. The property has been very much destroyed. Large lots of timber have been cut off the property and not paid for. People by drying washing 
process, are taking $1,000 per month out of the placers, besides we are having annoying suits, high taxes and other difficultiesé I have decided to put my brother in 
charge.ò [Elkins papers 905] 

1895April4; (Elkins to Lawson) Hanna wires that Mr. Larocque says that if peaceable possession of the Mill can be had, lease on Samôs terms would be proper, otherwise 
advises delay. The Company, through Lee English has the keys and possession of the mill, and has had since Wolf left the country. As I understand, the mill has been 
delivered to the Company, and Wolf is now seeking through the courts payment for improvements. éUnless Sam and friends can get the mill, as proposed, they will put 
the Clancy mill near by in order and go on, and we will lost our chance to sell. [Elkins papers 906] 

1895April12; Mr. Sam Elkins, manager of the Ortiz mine properties at Cerrillos, has bought Capt. J.R. Hudsonôs driving horse and cart in order to drive 

daily between Cerrillos and Dolores on mining business. [SFDNM] 

1895April15; The Cerrillos Rustler: Mr. Sam Elkins will make another trip to Denver between the 20th and 25th, and will meet his brother, the senator, 
there at that time. [SFDNM] 

1895April30; Senator S.B. Elkins is expected to reach Denver to-day en-route east from the coast. Messrs. Sam Elkins and Geo W. North, of Cerrillos, have 

gone there to have a conference with him on mining matters in south Santa Fe county. [SFDNM] 
1895May6; Messrs. North and Mitchell are in from Cerrillos to-day. They tell the New Mexican that the Elkins company have a car load of machinery 

ordered and an expert coming to set the Wolf stamp mill in motion at once. It will treat ore from the recent strikes on Cunningham mountain. [SFDNM] 

1895May7; Mr. Sam Elkins, brother of Senator S.B. Elkins, has returned to Cerrillos from the east, and will shortly begin the development of some excellent 
mining property thereabouts. His family will soon join him at the Little Pittsburg. [SFDNM] 

1895May17; (C. Wiegand, Gipsy Queen Camp to S.H. Elkins, Agt.NMMC, OMG) Requesting a lease on the three claims located some time ago on the western part of the 
grant and promising to work them. Map of the 3 claims: Gipsy Queen, Lone Cabin, Patagonia. The name Gipsy Queen is has persisted and was developed. [Elkins 
papers 909] 



The Lucas (or Old Reliable or Pat Collins) mine has had some production in this area. It supplied ore to a 5-stamp mill when Lindgren visited it in 1905. The Candelaria mine, 
southeast of the Lucas, has a 300-foot shaft sunk between 1934 and 1939 on a north-trending vein but has shipped no ore (McRae). Other lode mines and prospects in 
this area are the Alpine, Buckeye No.1 and Buckeye No.2, Captain Davis, Gold Leaf, Gypsy Queen, Pat Collins and Patagonia. All are in the southern part of the 
district and none has had significant production. [NMBM&MR 1967 p.47] 

1895June-1896February; Cunningham Mine Expenses and payroll, June 1895 through February 1896. [NMSU Folder # 2/18] 
1895-1896; Cunningham Mine receipts. [NMSU Folder # 2/19] 
1895June1; Correspondence New Mexican. Golden, May 31é Commencing about 16 miles south of Santa Fe is a district in the vicinity of the Cash Entry 

mine which covers about 15 square miles. It is noted principally for its silver and lead mines, and I predict that as soon as the silver question is settled, 
and with intelligent development this section will add a score or more  of good mines to the list of paying producers in the west. Here, also, is located the 

famous Turquoise mine, which furnishes the eastern market with some of the rarest specimens of these beautiful stones. ¶ East of Cerrillos, on the 

Galisteo, the Santa Fe Placer Mining company will soon commence operations on an extensive scale to wash the material of that stream, which is rich in 
gold washed down by the floods for ages from the famous ñOld Placersò and the Cunningham mesa. Æ At Dolores Mr. S.H. Elkins, who has a lease from 

the New Mexico Mining company on the Cunningham mine, is putting the stamp mill in repair to test the ores from said mine. He also has a force of 

men at work on the mine prospecting the great ore body. Should these tests be satisfactory the property will be worked for all it is worth and ¶ Stamp 
Mills And Other Reduction Works will be erected at Dolores, or on the Galisteo near Cerrillos. [SFDNM] 

1895June14; Golden, Santa Fe county, June 11 éMr. S.H. Elkins, of Dolores, was in camp Saturday last and reported his 10 stamp mill all ready to 

commence pounding on ore as soon as he could get it hauled from the mine. [SFDNM] 
1895June17; S.H. Elkins started up the Dolores stamp mill on Thursday. [Thurs = 13th] [SFDNM] 

1895June17; F.L. Frazier and wife have removed from Golden to Dolores, Mr. Frazier being employed in the Elkins stamp mill at the latter place. 

[SFDNM] 

1895June21; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) Started cleaning reservoir on Monday, test ran the stamp mill and have enough water with the well to run night and day if we need to. 
Surveyed the Cunningham and extension as Kerens requested. Brown will send me report and I will send it to you. [Elkins papers 916] 

1895June26; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) Finished the reservoir and water is coming fully. Lee English is anxious about this money and has none and is boarding with me. 
Enclosed is Brownôs [mineral surveyor] report and bill. [Elkins papers 917] 

1895June29; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) We ran 6 tons in 12 hours everything working smoothly. Mr. Wells thought it would take 8 or 10 days to run the 50 tons. The boys at the 
mine struck a body of ñPyratiesò. If there is a large body of it we will have to change our course. If I can i will go to Santa Fe to try to lower the assessment on the grant 
as the Commissioners are meeting on the 1st.. [Elkins papers 918] 

ca1895; assay results of ñ15 tons on Kellyôs Huntington Mill and McGee test at Albuquerqueò and on the reverse is written ñCunningham Mine Assaysò which would be 
samples his brother sent in years earlier. [Elkins Papers 2205] - Results 15 tons run on Kellyôs Huntington Mill; Ore, $2.27 per ton, Tailings, 4.34 per ton, Total $6.61. 
Results of McGeeôs test at Albuquerque ?uro?? Sample of the Mine; $25.28 per ton; Sample from Sacks or righ stuff, $48.50 to 58.00; As against Stricklers assay of 
$58.20 per ton. [Elkins papers 2205] 

1895Juiy1; Mr. Sam H. Elkins and wife arrived from Dolores to-day and are domiciled at the Palace. ï At the Palace: C.W. Waterman, Denver; S.H. Elkins 
and wife, Dolores... [SFDNM] 

1895July4; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) They are working around the pyrites in the mine. ñThey are letting me have coal at the mine for $1.50. They ought to let me have it for 
$1.00. Then it would cost me $3.00 per ton where it now costs me $3.50.ò They all ought to be notified at once to leave and not only that but a notice ought to be 
published in the papers and giving the names. What about the application of Chris Wiegands of Vegas. Did Thornton say anything to you about ejecting Lucas. [Elkins 
papers 919] 

1895July11; Ortiz Mine Grant. Meeting of Stockholders Called in New York ï Stock Assessed to Pay Outstanding Indebtedness ï Prospect that It Will Be 

Worked. The stockholders of the New Mexico Mining & Milling company, which controls the Ortiz Mine grant in south Santa Fe county, will hold a 

special meeting in New York City, on July 29, for the principal purpose of disposing of the outstanding indebtedness of the company and placing its 

affairs in such shape that it can proceed to the active and systematic development of its immensely valuable gold properties without embarrassment. 

Preliminary to this meeting an assessment of $2.50 per share has been levied on the stockholders. ¶ The managing directors of the company, Senator 
S.B. Elkins, of West Virginia, Mr. L.M. Lawson, of Boston, and Mr. R.C. Kerens, of St. Louis, with Mr. Thomas Moore, jr., of New York, officiating as 

secretary, makes the following statement to the stockholders: ¶ Indebtedness incurred since 1881 for which notes are outstandingé$47,261.58. Amount 

due to watchman and secretary for servicesé3,210.00. Taxes and sundries estimated for this yearé1,500.00. Total to be provided foré$51,971.58. ¶ In 
this connection it is explained that this amount covers a period of nearly nine years, during which the company borrowed money, hoping to be able to 

dispose of the property. ¶ A statement of the fact that Mr. Sam H. Elkins, brother of the senator, has been engaged for months in making quiet 

explorations of the Ortiz Mine grant with a view to ascertaining the gold producing possibilities thereof and that in the course of his investigations he has 
made trial runs on ore from the Cunningham and other mines of the grant at the old Wolf stamp mill, will aid the reader to understand what now is the 

probable plan of the company. As it is understood that these trial runs have proved most satisfactory, the company now doubtless contemplates making 

its grant a source of constant profit rather than expense by means of energetic development. [SFDNM] 

1895July13; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) Statement from min indicates we only saved 55% on the first 50 tons. Enclosed clipping from paper to show what Fitzgerald is doing on 
the grant. Home the directors [NMMC] do something in their meeting on the 29th. [Elkins papers 929] 

1895July15; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) Replacing the wood in the stamp batteries and foundation as mill would not take another 50 ton run. Assay kit has arrived. [Elkins papers 
922] 

1895July16; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) Shipped the clean up from the 50 ton run to Denver this morning. égave us 10oz. 3? and 5 grains of bullion. [Elkins papers 923] 
1895July18; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) The first 50 tons was out of the dump so we did not figure any cost of mining in the cost of production. ñI am glad to hear the Co thinks of 

doing something with these squatters on the 29th. Hope they will send me the notices to serve. They make their brags that the Co is afraid to do anything. Mat Reynolds 
[atty for Land Court] said he would see you while east.ò [Elkins papers 927] 

1895July20; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) ñI send you two papers today so you can see what is going on about busting the Grant. é There ought to be something done ï with these 
fellows. Fitzgerald & Lucas & others. They seem to think the Co are afraid to do anything & old Warren makes them believe it. é Old Dan Taylor is getting people to sign 
a petition to break the Grant.ò [Elkins papers 928] 

1895August19; The drift in the Cunningham mine at Dolores is now in 100 feet, at which point a cross cut is being made, which has already been run about 
twenty-five feet to the west. The mill is running regularly and is now treating the third test lot of ore. ï Cerrillos Rustler. [SFDNM] 

1895October16; (John Longmaid, Eureka and Excelsior Mines, Bourne, OR to S.H. Elkins) Assay results on samples sent to him on 9/26: no.1 = $16 per ton, No.2 = $0.80, 
No.3 = $0.60. ñHaving read carefully the reports of various experts on the Ortiz Properties & knowing well the general character of such large veins in New Mexico, I am 
of the opinion that the former workers have worked out the most valuable portions, leaving only the very low grade & worthless material.ò You should send samples to a 
chemist to try the cyanide process. [Elkins papers 940] 

1895October19; At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Dolores... [SFDNM] 



1895October20; (Geo McGee, Albuquerque, to Elkins) The samples I collected at Cunningham gave: no.1 = $25.28 per ton; No.2 = $48.00; No.3 = $58.20. Cost of the 
McGee chemical treatment will not exceed $1.50 per ton. S.H. Elkins will write you further. [Elkins papers 941] 

1895October25: Senator Stephen B. Elkins and party arrived in their special car last night from Cerrillos and have spent the day here very pleasantly. In the 

party are Col. T.B. Davis, interested with Mr. Elkins in West Virginia coal and railroad enterprises; Mr. Edward E. Bruner, a Wall street capitalist; Prof. 
C.H. Livingston, tutor to Mr. Elkinsô children; the senatorôs bright and manly sons, Stephen B., jr., and Davis, and Mr. Frank Elkins, of Kansas City, 

nephew of the senator. His brother, Mr. Sam Elkins, and Mr. G.W. North accompanied them from Cerrillos. Since Monday the gentlemen have made a 

thorough inspection of the Ortiz grant, in company with a Colorado mining expert. It is likely that extensive operations in gold mining will result from 
their visit. The party dined at St. Vincent sanitarium to-day, and leave to-night for the east, going via Chicago. [SFDNM] 

1895October28; Ortiz Mine Grant. Visit of Senator Elkins and Party ï Extensive Development Under Consideration. As heretofore stated in these columns 

the visit of Senator Elkins and party is likely to result in very extensive gold mining operations in south Santa Fe county. Mr. S.W. Mudd, of Leadville, 
one of the best known mining men of Colorado and manager of the Small Hopes, Leadville Consolidated and the Boreal Mining company, joined 

Senator Elkins at Cerrillos, and on Wednesday last a careful examination was made of the Ortiz grant gold fields. A visit was also made to the coal pits 

near Madrid, where 300 men are employed. On the Ortiz grant properties they found the ore very low grade, which in their opinions it might pay to work 
upon a very large scale. To operate these low grade mines in a business-like manner they estimate will require an expenditure of $300,000 for plant and 

water development. The tests which have, during the past six months, been carried on under Mr. S.H. Elkins, using the old stamp mill at Dolores, have 

not been satisfactory, however, and an unreasonable percentage of the gold in the ore, as shown by frequent assays, was lost. It is therefore the decided 
opinion that some process other than a stamp mill will be required to attain the best results. ¶ To decide just what methods are best to adopt further 

experiments are to be tried. A quantity of the ore is to be run through the Huntington mill at Golden, and about thirty tons are to be shipped to a smelter 

at Pueblo. ¶ If, as confidently expected, a satisfactory process is found to treat this product, there will be no hesitation in expending any amount of 
money necessary to handle several hundred tons daily. ¶ The question of leases to mineral lodes on the Ortiz grant was brought up, and in answer to the 

inquiry by the Cerrillos Rustler as to what would be the policy of the company in regard to them, Senator Elkins said that the old manner of granting 

leases had proved very unsatisfactory and had been discontinued. However, in future applications for leases from responsible parties will be entertained 
but each application must rest upon its own merits and will be dealt with separately. Leases will be made upon reasonable terms to people who are able 

and show a disposition to carry on actual work. [SFDNM] 

1895November; Expens apc. Cunningham Mine & Mill for Nov-1895. Cerrillos Sup. Co. Mill & Mine Supplies 58.30; M. Bell, Grain & Hay, 37.40; G.W. North, Lumber, 16.44; 
H.C. Kinsel, 1 ½ Box Candles, 7.50; C.Closson, Supplies, 37.50; S.H. Elkins, 5 trips to Santa Fe-Wolf Case; 3 trips Elkins & 2 trips English, 38.00; S.H. Elkins, 1 trip to 
Albuquerque-With McGee, 10.00; 205.14. 

1895November7; (F.E. Nettleton, The Viejo Placer Mining Association to S.H. Elkins) ñEnclosed please find new application for lease, modifying the old application from 160 
acres to 80 acres per your verbal advice. é I have amended the notes of the survey so as to include the tract wanted.ò [this would be for 80acres on Cunningham 
mesa.<HM] [Elkins papers 942] 

1895November9; At the Exchange: S.H. Elkins, Dolores; John Roper, Alamosaé [SFDNM] 

1895November15; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) ñI enclose you the assignment of the Cunningham Mine as agreed on as we talked the matter over on the road to Kansas City. 
[separate page ï transfer of 5/6 of S.H. Elkinsô 9/3/1895 lease of the Cunningham over to S.B.Elkins.] I copied the one you sent me word for word except the date & 5/6 
instead of 9/10. J.C. Bender was over to see me about the letter he had written to your & which you sent to me to look in to. He wants to lease the Candelaria Mine also 
the Candelaria No.2 which I enclose the field notesé He is one of the men that is putting in the 2 Huntington Mills at Kelleyôs Wells. é Chris Wiegand has been over to 
see if I had heard anything from his lease. ...Old Man Hutch has been here also to see when I could go over to the Magdalina to look at his claims, and he said that he 
had written to you about some coal lands over there. éNow what about putting the notice in the paper and sending out & posting up notices. éI saw Matt Reynolds the 
other day in Santa Fe & he said he was ready to put these fellows off and would start in at once if I would only give him the names. éwe better wait until this is put in the 
hands of a receiver and have the courts put them off. éStricklandé I think he has more than he can attend to already ï with the Ortiz outfit ï I cant see where he earns 
his $100 per month of course I donôt know what he has written to you.ò [Elkins papers 945] 

1895November19; (Herbert Strickland, Cerrillos, to Senator Elkins) Assay results of ore from Kellyôs mill, had a hard time getting the sample from your brother. 18 tons was 
milled and the retort weight 3 oz 3 owl or some $36.00. My assay was $2.27 per ton; Huntington savings $2.00 or approximately 88.1%. ñI know one thing about the 
Cunningham Ore, it must all be handled without selection. é What Dan Taylor, 3 years ago was throwing away was waste, I prove to be equally good as that he was 
shipping.ò Beware of new processes let someone else try them first. [Elkins papers 946] 

1895November19; (William H. Stevens, Assay Office, Albuquerque, to S.H. Elkins) Gold 2/10 oz. per ton, Silver 1/2 oz. per ton. [ñCunningham Ore ï Ricket Banks.<HM] 
[Elkins papers 2205] 

1895November21; S.H. Elkins, manager of Senator Elkinsô mining properties in the Ortiz grant, came down Monday in company with Geo W. McGee, of 
Chicago, and both gentlemen are in the city to-day. Mr. McGee was sent out by the senator to examine the Cunningham mine, and he is more than 

pleased with the prospects. He says it is more than a mine ï a mountain of ore, every part of which assays. All the gold is not free, however, and a 

different process for treating the ore is being considered. There appears to be no doubt of finding abundant water by boring at the mine, and the new 
plant will likely be located there. ï Albuquerque Citizen. [SFDNM] 

1895November20; (Herbert Strickland, Cerrillos, to Senator Elkins) I have not run the retort as Lee English brought it here and now says your brother has the key to the safe 
and he is gone.ò éthe St. Louis people I represent did go also & this delayed my survey of the Cunningham and Ortiz Mines. [Elkins papers 947] 

1895November23; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) We have the old tunnel cleared out but still need to go 25-30 feet to reach the rich seam. McGee thinks that the ore we are in is the 
best yet and wants to work it here rather than send it to the smelter in Cerrillos. Took a sample to Strickland in Albuquerque and he got $16.00 per ton against $25.28 by 
the McGee process. éI was up at the Ortiz all day yesterday with Strickland. He mad a reassay of his sample of the sack ore & got $43.00 against $34.00 which he got 
before. I had him reduce down the retort from the Huntington Mill ï which was 2 3/4 oz 654 1/2 fine ï which is worth $13.20 per oz. Making $36.20 for 18 tons a saving of 
a little over $2.00 per ton. éPlease send Weigand, Frank Manzanares and Nettleton leases. [Elkins papers 950] 

1895December2; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) ñI think you will be pleased with the McGee processé He is willing to guarantee a successé I see little of Stricklandé he is always 
promising to assay the mine but never gets around to it. éThe St. Louis parties have been gone about 3 weeks and nothing done as yet. éI send you the payroll and 
expenses for the month of Nov. also a duplicate of Oct. éI want to go home for the holidaysé Lee English can attend to things while I am away. éHave you come to 
any conclusion regard to putting these people off the grant.ò [Elkins papers 951] 

1895December6; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) Got your letter of the 1st and enclosed check for $600. Will pay the men tomorrow for Oct. éI donôt see much of Strickland. I see him 
now & then passing ï he is hardly ever at the ñOrtizò. he has rented the Old Mill below here & is going to bring in a Huntington Mill. He was over to Golden yesterday to 
the sale of the Huntington Mill at Kelleyôs Mill [Lawyer Southerland bought it]é I have not been down in the Old Ortiz since they finished cleaning it out. éI donôt think 
they have struck anything yet. [Elkins papers] 

1895December10; At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, M.L. English, Dolores... [SFDNM] 

1896January10; Mr. S.H. Elkins, who is largely interested in developing gold properties on the Ortiz grant, is in the city from Cerrillos. ï At the Palace: 

S.H. Elkins, Doloresé [SFDNM] 

1896January13; Six month option from W.E. Dame to S.H. and S.B. Elkins for SW4 of sec32 T13N R9E for $3,000. [Elkins papers 958] 



1896January18; (S.H. to Steve) I have 6 month option on the OMera Mineé it is only 40 acres. I can file other claims and get up to 160 or 320 acres if you wish.ò I have kept 
the driver hauling coal and working on the Juanita. I will let off a man at the mine tonight that will only leave George at the mine. J.C. Bender still wants to lease the 
Candelaria mine. Have not gotten any money since Oct. need to pay off the men. Enclosed is Dec Pay roll. [Elkins papers 962] 

1896February; Expense a/.c. Cunningham Mine for Feb-1896. Cerrillos Sup. Co. Mill & Mine Supplies 16.05; Brown & Manzanares Co., 1095 T Rail, 13.50; G.D. Arnold, 
Feed & Grain, 6.60; Chas Sylvester, Horse shoeing, 5.00; J.F. Williams, Feeding Horse at Cerrillos, 2.50; W.H. Stevens Assayer, 8 Assays Made at Albuquerque, 6.50; 
S.H. Elkins, 1 trip to Santa Fe to see Lawyers about acting for Reciever, 5.00; 55.15. 

1896February3; (S.H. to Steve) Only 2 men now on payroll, Cunningham mine expenses etc. éòwe went over to the Candelaria Mine ï to get the samples that Mr. Lawson 
wanted on last Friday ï I found Old Hutchason there ï he had taken possession of the mine and was at work on it & had been shipping some ore ï I told him that I 
thought he had better wait & see what the Co. was going to do in the matter as to giving him a lease. This is the mine that Bender wantsé I have learned that Matt 
Reynolds wants a lease on the Candelaria & that he has been promised a leaseé I say give it to him and he will have to fight old Hutché I understand from Matt 
Reynolds man that he wants 600 feet by 3000 feet long as on this Iron Lode.ò Enclosed is Old Hutchôs lease application do with it as you please. Also enclosed is the Jan 
Payroll and expenses. [Hutchôs application is elsewhere in the collection, unsigned. However he was eventually bought off for a small amount of money ï HM] [Elkins 
papers 964] 

1896February13; Mr. S.H. Elkins is up from Cerrillos. ï At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Doloresé [SFDNM] 

1896February18; Mr. Sam H. Elkins, of Cerrillos, is visiting his family at Columbia, Mo. [SFDNM] 

1896March13; Mr. S.H. Elkins, brother of Senator S.B. Elkins, has returned to Cerrillos from Missouri and will commence work on several good mines, in 
which the senator and other eastern capitalists are interested. [SFDNM] 

1896April1; Mr. S.H. Elkins, connected with the Ortiz mine grant, is in town from Dolores. ï At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Doloresé [SFDNM] 

1896April8; At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Dolores; L.M. Brown, W.E. Dame, Cerrillos... [SFDNM] 
1896April28; At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Dolores... [SFDNM] 

1896May5; Mr. S.H. Elkins, custodian of the Ortiz mine grant, is in town from Cerrillos. ï At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Dolores... [SFDNM] 

1896May6; Receiver Named. The New Mexico Mining Company Heavily Involved ï Sam H. Elkins Appointed Receiver by the Court. Newton S Finney, of 
New York, who owns 533,000 shares of the stock in the New Mexico Mining company, yesterday afternoon applied to the district court through his 

attorney, Hon. Matt G. Reynolds, for the appointment of a receiver for this property. The petition is based on the grounds of insolvency, ceasing to do 

business under its franchiers, want of revenue to pay current expenses and taxes, failure to protect the property from waste, destruction and trespass and 
numerous other grounds. The company was organized years ago by S.B. Elkins, Larson, Simpson and others of New York. It owns ?4,000 acres of the 

Ortiz mine grant in south Santa Fe county. Its capital stock was placed at $500,000. Its debts amount to about $80,000, of which sum about $20,000 are 

due for taxes to the territory and Santa Fe county and suit is now pending for some $18,000 of this amount. ¶ The showing in the petition was so clear 
and conclusive that the prayer was at once granted by Judge Laughlin, and Sam H. Elkins, of Cerrillos, brother of the senator, was named as receiver. He 

was given twenty days in which to file his bond, the amount of which was fixed at $2,500. [SFDNM] 

1896May25; (Kendall to Livingston) Received 2 samples from S.H. Elkins in Dolores and enclosed assay results. No.1 = 0.97 oz per ton, No.2 = gold 0.10 oz per ton. [Elkins 
papers 977] 

1896May25; Mr. S.H. Elkins and family have arrived at Cerrillos from Columbia, Mo. [SFDNM] 
1896May27; At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Dolores; W.E. Dame, Cerrillosé [SFDNM] 

1896May27; Mr. S.H. Elkins, recently appointed receiver for the Ortiz mine grant by Judge Laughlin, spent the forenoon in town. He said before long he 

would make a report to the court respecting the status of affairs on the grant. When asked if the mills and the miners now at work on the grant would be 
regarded as trespassers he said they would, and added that he ñthought they would havt to go.ò Hon. M.G. Reynolds, attorney for the receiver, also 

verified this statement, saying of course the grant would have to be cleared of all trespassers. ¶ Mr. Elkins said a one-ton plant for testing the process of 

Prof. Geo W. McGee, of Chicago, would soon be in operation on Cunningham mountain ore. If it is a success a contract for a 100-ton plant will be 

made. He also said that a Mr. Neustatter, of Montana, had succeeded Mr. Herbert Strickler as manager of the Ortiz mine, and that the property was now 

yielding about $300 in gold per week. This property is under the control of Mr. Bigot and others, of St. Louis. [SFDNM] 

1896July1; Mr. S.H. Elkins, receiver for the Ortiz mine grant, is here from Cerrillos. ï At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Doloresé [SFDNM] 
1896July25; The little Arnold mill has been running ssteadily for a week on ore from the Candelaria mine. Several tons of ore will be extracted from the Old 

Timer mine, there being now a number of miners at work. ï Cerrillos Rustler. [SFDNM] 

1896July28; Mr. Sam H. Elkins, receiver of the New Mexico Mining company and brother of Senator Elkins, has returned to Cerrillos from Columbia, Mo. 
[SFDNM] 

1896August19; Mr. Sam Elkins and his pretty daughters came in from Cerrillos last night and are stopping at the Palace. ï At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, H.M. 

Elkins, Juanita Elkins, Doloresé [SFDNM] 
1896September5; At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, P.D. Elkins, jr., Dolores... [SFDNM] 

1896October10; At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Dolores... [SFDNM] 

1896November21; At the Palace: F. Bond, Espanola; S.H. Elkins, Dolores; H.S. Kinsell, Cerrillos; E.L. Warren, Chicago, R.M. Johnson, Denver. [SFDNM] 
1896November26; Judge Louis Sulzbacher, of Las Vegas, and Mr. S.B. Elkins, of Dolores, are guests at the Palace. ï At the Palace: C.M. Shannon, Clifton, 

A.T.; Geo Stout, Alamosa; Louis Sulzbacher, Las Vegas; S.H. Elkins, Dolores... [SFDNM] 

1896November27; Mr. George E. Bigot, of St. Louis, head of the Ortiz Mine company near Dolores, and Mr. S.H. Elkins, manager of the Ortiz grant, spent 
yesterday in Santa Fe. [SFDNM] 

1897January6; A dispatch from Wheeling, W. Va., dated Jan 3, says: ñPhillip Duncan Elkins, father of United States Senator Stephen B. Elkins, died this 

afternoon at the senatorôs residence, at Elkins, this state, aged 87 years. The deceased was a colonel in the confederate army, and a Democrat. He was 
born in Farquilar county, Va., July 4, 1809. He was married in Ohio, in 1840, to Sarah Pickett Wethers. He leaves two sons, Senator Elkins, of West 

Virginia, and Samuel Hobbs Elkins, of Columbia, Mo.ò Æ The deceased became a resident of Santa Fe in 1867, soon after his distinguished oldest son, 

Senator Elkins, of West Virginia, became an active factor in the political and business life of New Mexico, and for a period of about twenty years was 
one of the best known figures on the streets of this historic capital, familiarly known even to the children as ñPapò Elkins. Æ He was a prince among story 

tellers, a persistent and expert angler and always a genial and generous companion. He was a dyed in the wool Democrat, but always found it a sore trial 
to vote against his talented Republican son, ñSteve,ò who was the pride and joy of his heart. Æ When Senator Elkins went to West Virginia his father 

went with him and there he passed the declining years of his life in peace and comfort. [SFDNM] 

1897February15; Mr. S.H. Elkins, receiver of the Ortiz grant company, returned from a visit to Missouri this morning. [SFDNM] 
1897February17; S.H. Elkins, receiver of the Ortiz mine grant, left last night for Dolores, where he will remain a few days, going thence to Missouri for 

some few weeks. [SFDNM] 

1897March3; (George M. McGhee to S.H. Elkins) Excuses as to why he has not tested the ore sent to him. [Elkins papers 996] 
1897March12; (S.H., Columbia MO, to Elkins) I reached home safe found all well ï I also found the enclosed letter [McGhee 3/3/97]. What did Lawson say about paying the 

debts? I wished you would have Livingston look up the letter that Kerens & I sent you so I can send it to Mr. Kendal. [Elkins papers 996] 



1897May3; Mr. Samuel T. Elkins has returned to Dolores from Columbia, Mo., and Washington, D.C. He is the receiver of the Ortiz mine grant. [SFDNM] 

1897May5; Mr. S.H. Elkins, receiver of the Ortiz mine grant, and who has been indorsed by National Committeeman R.C. Kerens for appointment as U.S. 
marshal for New Mexico, registers at the Palace from Dolores. ï At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Doloresé [SFDNM] 

1897May10; Samuel H. Elkins, Receiver of the Ortiz Mine land grant, went to Dolores this morning on official business. [SFDNM] 

1897May13; S.H. Elkins, receiver of the Ortiz mine grant, came back from a visit to Dolores last night. He stops at the Palace. ï At the Palace: W.E. Dame, 
Cerrillos; S.H. Elkins, Dolores... [SFDNM] 

1897May17; S.H. Elkins, receiver of the New Mexico Mining company, was a passenger east as far as Columbia, Mo., on yesterday. [SFDNM] 

1897May20; (Philip Hoefele, Mexico, to Kerens) Cover letter saying he distinctly remembers going over to Mr. Elkins house in Nov 1895 at his and your request and signing 
the lease. Most of letter deals with his work on Davis interests in Mexico. Assignment of Cunningham Extension lease of 11/2/95 to Kerens. [Elkins papers 1004] 

1897May23; Cerrillos. S.H. Elkins has gone to his home in Columbia, Mo., to be present at the commencement exercises of the Christian college on May 
27. His oldest daughter, Miss Hallie, will be graduated from that institution at that time. [SFDNM] 

1897June7; Mr. S.H. Elkins of Dolores, who has been in Columbia, Mo., on a short visit, has returned to New Mexico, and is attending to business matters 

in this city. He registers at the Palace. [SFDNM] 
1897June8; At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Dolores... [SFDNM] 

1897June26; Mr. S.H. Elkins and family have arrived at Dolores from Columbia, Mo., and will spend the summer partly in south Santa Fe county and partly 

in this city. [SFDNM] 
1897July6; Hon. Sam H. Elkins, one of the leading candidates for appointment as U.S. marshal for New Mexico, was in the city yesterday, consulting Hon. 

M.G. Reynolds on legal business. ï At the Palace; S.H. Elkins, Doloresé [SFDNM] 

1897July9; At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Dolores... [SFDNM] 
1897July15; Hon. Sam B. Elkins, receiver of the Ortiz mine grant, and Lee English of Dolores, are in the city, having business of a legal nature. [SFDNM] 

1897July15; Replevin Case Appealed. A Contention Over Ore from the Ortiz Grant to be Heard Before Judge Laughlin on Appeal. Hon. S.H. Elkins is in 

town today in the matter of a replevin suit of ore from a mine on the Ortiz grant, in which he as receiver of the property is plaintiff. The [4 illegibile 
words] Justice of the Peace Jenks on Tuesady last at Cerrillos. J.S. Hutchason is the defendant in the case, and Mr. Elkins was represented by Hon. Matt 

Reynolds. Judge Jenks after hearing the contention of the respective parties rendered a decision in favor of the defendant Hutchason, that is he dismissed 

the case, probably because he could dismiss it, and an appeal was immediately taken to the District court in this city. A hearing will probably be given 
the case this afternoon before Judge Laughlin, and if not today it will be taken up tomorrow. [SFDNM] 

1897July16; Hon. S.H. Elkins and Mr. Lee English left last night for Dolores. [SFDNM] 
1897July16; Cited for Contempt. Proceedings for comtempt have been instituted by Hon. S.E. Elkins as a receiver for the Ortiz mine grant, citing one J.S. 

Hutchason to show cause why he should not be punished for disobeying the order of the court and the receiver, in removing ore from one of the mines 

on the grant. ¶ The case will be heard on July 23 before Judge Laughlin. Hon. Matt G. Reynolds is attorney for the receiver. [SFDNM] 
1897July23; Hon. S.H. Elkins and Mr. Lee English are in the city from Dolores on legal business. [SFDNM] 

1897July25; Hon. S.H. Elkins and two daughters and niece, who have been here for several days, left this afternoon for Dolores. The young ladies visited at 

Mrs. Laughlinôs and had a most enjoyable time. [SFDNM] 
1897July28; The Cunningham Mine Contention. The Cunningham mine is situated on the Ortiz mine grant. Mr. S.H. Elkins holds a lease from the New 

Mexico Mining company and has so held this lease since May 1894; he has a 200-foot tunnel on the property and has taken about 500 tons of ore from 

it. The ore is low grade gold ore and of a refractory nature, but with the right sort of a process would return good money for working it. It seems that 
Dan L. Taylor of Dolores, claims to be in possession of the mine and has a cabin near the property. Mr. Elkins has brought suit for forcible entry and 

detainer against Taylor, and on yesterday a jury in the justice of the peace court for the Dolores precinct gave judgment for Taylor, holding that he was 

in possession of property. Mr. Elkins has appealed the case to the district court. Taylor also claims that the property is on public land and that he had 

done annual assessments thereon at a rate of $100 a year since 1888. [SFDNM] 

1897July28; Hon. S.H. Elkins, receiver of the New Mexico Mining company, is at the Palace from Dolores. ï At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Doloresé 

[SFDNM] 
1897July31; Hon. S.H. Elkins, receiver of the New Mexican Mining company, has been in the city for several days, and expects to leave for Dolores this 

evening. [SFDNM] 

1897August28; Hon. S.H. Elkins of Dolores, is in town on business, and registers at the Palace hotel. [SFDNM] 
1897November22; Mr. S.H. Elkins of Dolores, is in the city on legal business, and registers at the Palace hotel. ï At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Doloresé 

[SFDNM] 

1897December8; Meeting Of Directors. Local Members of Boards of Directors of Ten Corporations Held Regular Annual Meeting This Morning. The local 
members of the boards of directors of the New Mexican Railroad company, the Rio Grande, Mexico & Pacific company; the New Mexico & Southern 

Pacific Railroad company; the Silver City, Deming & Pacific Railroad company, the Rio Grande Land company, the New Mexico Town company, the 

Cerrillos Coal & Iron company, the Cerrillos Coal Railroad company and the Madrid Mercantile company, held the regular annual meeting at the Palace 
hotel this morning. The members present were F.A. Manzanares, A.M. Blackwell, R.E. Twitchell and Geo B. Kilmer, Las Vegas; Max Schutz, Silver 

City; M.S. Otero, W.B. Childers and E.S. Stover, Albuquerque; Major Palen and Levi A. Hughes, Santa Fe. ï At the Palace: Mr. and Mrs. R.E. 

Twitchell, G.L. Kilmer, Las Vegas; A. Hart, St. Louis; A.M. Blackwell, F.A. Manzanares, Las Vegas; J.W. Cooper, Pecos; P.H. Leese, Espanola; Ed 
Ledwidge, C.H. Austin, Denver; S.H. Elkins, R.M. Foree, Dolores; M.S. Otero, E.T. Stover, Albuquerque; C.R. Dunn and wife, Cerrillos; Jas Duggan, 

Madrid; Max Schutz, Silver City. [SFDNM] 

1897December9; Hon. S.H. Elkins, receiver of the Ortiz Mine grant, states that the M??? process mill at Dolores is running on ore from the Cunningham 
mine, but that no clean up has as yet been made. He expects favorable results from the present mill run. [SFDNM] 

1897December11; The Ortiz Mine Grant. Interesting and Instructive Interview with Receiver Elkins ï Leases Void ï Ortiz Mine Operations ï McGee Mill on Cunningham. 

¶ Mr. S.H. Elkins, receiver of the Ortiz Mine grant under an appointment made by Judge Laughlin, was a welcome visitor at the New Mexican editorial room yesterday 

afternoon. ¶ In conversation with a reporter he said that the leases of parts and all of the Ortiz Mine grant, reported in these columns recently as having been made by the New 

Mexico Mining company to James W. Perry, of New York, were null and void, because the leases had failed to comply with the conditions thereof. Æ ñI will add that I have 

never been notified, either as agent or receiver of the New Mexico Mining company, of the existence of any such leases. The 99-year lease of the Candelaria mine purports to 

have been made on September 3, 1895, when I was acting as agent and custodian of the grant, and the leas of the entire grant for two year appears to have been made in July, 

1897, after my appointment as receiver by the court. Certainly I should have been notified of such action. But these are minor matters in view of the vital fact that, as I have 

already said, Perryôs leases are rendered nugatory by his failure to do the required work.ò Æ Speaking of the work in progress on the grant, Mr. Elkins said that George E. 

Begold, of St. Louis, leasee of the Ortiz mine, was taking out enough ore from the property to keep two Huntington mills in constant operation, and had also shipped some ore 

to outside smelters. Æ ñAs Mr. Begold and his associates say very little about their operations, and as I have not recently availed myself of my privilege as receiver of the grant 

to examine the mine, I am unable to give you any details respecting the same,ò continued Mr. Elkins, ñbut I understand that they are taking out much good milling ore from 

the levels run from the 300 foot shaft. As they are required to make semi-annual reports of their operations to me, I shall possess full information in the premises when I 

receive their report at the beginning of the new year.ò Æ Mr. Elkins also holds a 99 year lease on the well known Cunningham mine on the Ortiz Mine grant. Questioned as to 

the experimental run of the new McGee mill on ore from this mine, he said that he could as yet add little to the information he gave the New Mexican a week or so ago. ¶ 



ñThe McGee people have a fine plant, with a Huntington mill attached and steam power enough to handle 100 tons of ore per day,ò added the gentleman, ñand I am now 

satisfied that they can free and save the gold on a small scale. The only question to be settled is one of mechanical construction ï whether the process can profitably be applied 

to large plants. I think it can. Æ ñSo far about 20 tons of the 50 tons of Cunningham ore, which I agreed to furnish the McGee mill for experimental purposes, have been 

crushed and pulverized, and about eight tons have been run through the process, but no clean up has been made. Æ ñThe ore is first crushed, then is pulverized, then is sent to 

the vats where the gold is freed by chemicals, and finally it goes to the Huntington mill where the gold is rescued by amalgamation on the plates. At present the Huntington is 

fed by hand, but an automatic feeder will soon be provided.ò Æ Touching the Cunningham mine Mr. Elkins said: ñAs you know the entire mountain upon which the mine is 

located carries gold. The 200 foot tunnel that has been driven into the hill from the southside, tapping the same 200 feet below the apex, shows gold all the way, with several 

rich pockets. From one of these pockets I recently shipped 16 1/8 tons of ore to the smelter at Pueblo, which yielded over $30 in gold per ton. This shipment, after paying all 

expenses, netted me $285. Æ ñThe ore is mainly decomposed quartz and competent judges are convinced that it is an overflow from a big chimney somewhere in the hill. 

When this is reached a large body of rich gold ore will doubtless be encountered. Æ ñI hope that the new Cerrillos smelter will make a rate that will enable me to ship to it. The 

Cunningham ore is rendered refractory by some kind of a coating that I am unprepared to name, some people pronounce it tellurium, but is can not be very bad, as the Pueblo 

smelter only charged me $6 for treatment and wanted to contract for 100 tons more of the same ore.ò [SFDNM] 

1897December13; Messrs. S.H. Elkins and M.L. English of Dolores, are in the city on business connected with mining interests, and register at the Palace 
hotel. [SFDNM] 

1897December15; In The District Court. Hearings of Contempt of Court Cases Against Alleged Trespassers on Ortiz Mine Grant in Progress. ¶ The oral 
hearing of the ten contempt of court cases, growing out of alleged disobedience of an injunction granted by Judge Laughlin against alleged trespassers 

on the Ortiz Mine grant, is still in progress in the Territorial District court, in spite of the fact that Judge Laughlin held a session of court last night. ¶ So 

far S.H. Elkins, receiver of the grant, M.L. English and three other witnesses have been examined to establish the fact of trespass on the part of the 
respondents after they had been formally notified of the injunction. ¶ Frank Romero, Juan Nieto, John B. Boyd, Janes Lucas, Joseph W. Eagan, 

Theodore Carey, Thomas Delalla and J.H. Shufelt, nine of the ten persons accused of contempt of court, had been examined in the premises when a 

recess was taken for dinner. Æ Upon the incoming of court at 2 oôclock this afternoon, the examination of Charles Closson, the last of the ten 

respondents, was commenced and concluded, and, at this writing, the court is listening to the arguments of W.H. Pope for the complainant and Judge 

Warren for the respondents. ¶ The case seems to hinge mainly upon the question whether the persons charged with contempt were properly served with 

notices of the injunction. [SFDNM] 
1897December16; Mr. S.H. Elkins, receiver of the Ortiz Mine grant and leaser of the Cunningham gold mine on said grant, left for Cerrillos this afternoon. 

Thence he will leave for Columbia, Mo., tomorrow night, to spend the holidays with his family. [SFDNM] 

1898February2; Apparently trustworthy information states that Thomas A. Edison, J.C. Burn, Richard Kerens and Senator Elkins have secured a two-yearsô 
option on the 65,000 acre tract of mineral land in south Santa Fe county known as the Ortiz Mine grant. It is understood that the purchase price agreed 

upon is about $1,500,000. [Mining and Scientific Press, cited in SFNM] 

1898February19; Strike in Cunningham. Mr. M.L. English, who has for sometime been doing development work for Mr. Sam H. Elkins on the 
Cunningham mine in Dolores district, writes to a friend in this city that he is now shipping high grade gold ore from an exceedingly rich pocket that he 

recently encountered in the course of his exploration work. The pocket he has uncovered shows 15 feet of exceptionally high grade ore across the ledge 

and it shows unmistakable signs of widening as more work is doen. Mr. Elkins, who is the leasee of the valuable property is expected from his home in 
Columbia, Mo., in a few days. [SFNM] 

1898March23; At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Dolores; J.P. McNulty, C.W. Ammock, Turquesaé [SFNM] 

1898June10; S.H. Elkins, postmaster at Columbia, Mo., and receiver of the Ortiz Mine grant in Santa Fe county, is a guest at the Palace. He is here looking 
after his duties as such receiver. ï At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Doloresé [SFNM] 

1898June17; S.H. Elkins, registering from Dolores, receiver for the Ortiz mine grant, is in town on legal business. He stops at the Palace. Mr. Elkins is also 

postmaster at Columbia, Mo. ï At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Doloresé [SFNM]   
1898July14; Hon. S.H. Elkins, postmaster at Columbia, Mo., and receiver of the Ortiz mine grant, is a guest at the Palace. ï At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, 

Dolores; W.H. Kennedy, Cerrillosé [SFNM]   

1898August8; At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Dolores; F.W. Parker, Hillsboroé [SFNM] 
1898August9; Hon. S.H. Elkins, who has been out to the Sulphurs for some time past will return home tonight. [SFNM] 

1898September4; A Big Transaction ï The sale by the New Mexico Mining Company of the Ortiz land grant in the southern part of this coury to Thomas 

A. Edison the celebrated electrician is understood to be a fact. L.M. Lawson, son of the president of the New Mexico Mining Company was here a 
couple of weeks ago, while negotiations were in progress. The interests of S.B. Elkins of West Virginia and R.C. Kerens of St. Louis go in the sale. 

The grant is in the hand of a receiver, Mr. S.H. Elkins, who is now here preparing the final report for submission to the district court and who will ask 

for discharge and turn the property over to the new purchasers as soon as they are ready to receive ité There are no squatters on the grant. Mr. S.H. 
Elkins, during his term as receiver, having had them removed one and all, and barring the leases avobe mentioned the property is absolutely clear and 

will  so pass into the hands of the new purchasers. [SFNM] 

1898December12; S.H. Elkins, receiver of the Ortiz land grant, was a guest at the Palace today from Columbia, Mo. ï At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Doloresé 
[SFNM]   

1898December14; No.38?5. S.H. Elkins vs. B.F. Taylor; set for trial Tuesday, December 20. [SFNM] 

1898December14; No.3902. S.H. Elkins vs. Rignaldo Sanchez; set for trial Monday, December 19. [SFNM] 
1898December17; éset for trial. No.3902. S.H. Elkins, receiver, vs. Reginaldo Sanchez: appeal; W.H. Pope for the defendant. [SFNM] 

1898December18; S.H. Elkins and Agnes McNulty are the witnesses at marriage of James P. McNulty & Emma Hawley [McNulty papers (P.McCraw) b.2] 
1898December19; No.3865, S.H. Elkins, receiver, vs. B.F. Taylor: civil: on trial. [SFNM] 

1898December19; S.H. Elkins came over from Dolores yesterday on business, and is a guest at the Palace. ï At the Palace: J.P. McNulty, Turquesa; Miss 

Emma Hawley, London, Eng.; Miss Fannie McNulty, Miss Agnes McNulty, Cerrillos; S.H. Elkins, Dolores; M.L. English, Doloresé [SFNM] 

1898December22; S.H. Elkins, who has been in Santa Fe for several days attending to business in the courts, returned to his home in Columbia, Mo., last 

night. [SFNM] 

1899Jaunary16; M.L. English, of Dolores, who is in charge of the Ortiz land grant under Receiver Elkins, is in the city watching legislative proceedings and 
stops at the Palace hotel. [SFNM] 

1899April15; S.H. Elkins, receiver of the Ortiz grant, and a brother of Hon. S.B. Elkins, is a visitor in Santa Fe. ï At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Doloresé 

[SFNM] 
1899April18; Ortiz Grant Mines. A Big Mill to Be Built and Much Development Done. S.H. Elkins, receiver of the Ortiz grant and a brother of Hon. S.B. 

Elkins, is spending a few days in Santa Fe on business pertaining to the receivership. A number of extensive improvemntes are being made at the Ortiz 

mine situated on the grant. The St. Louis capitalists who control the mine are erecting a ten-stamp mill that will cost $15,000 when completed. It will 
have the most modern machinery including concentrators. The old mill which is running steadily at present will be run in connection with the new nill. 

The amalgam process is used exclusively. Only a few days ago a strike of very rich ore was made by the men who are kept at developing the property. 



There are quite a number of other mining claims upon the grant but none of them are being worked at present. Mr. Elkins will, however, this summer 

let a contract for running 300 feet of tunnel in the Cunningham mine, which is owned by him. [SFNM] 

1899April21; (F.H. Mitchell, Cerrillos, to S.H. Elkins, Columbia MO) His bid for 200 feet of 5 x 6 foot tunnel extension on Cunningham at $6.74 per foot if Elkins supplies rail 
and car. [Elkins papers 1223] 

1899April21; (O.X. Kelley to Mr. Elkins) ñWe do your work on the Cunningham Tunnel for $9.00 Dollars for foot.ò [It is doubtful that Elkins stated this extension as no 
documents mention it or the cost. The Cunningham was not included in the Hoyt lease in 1899 and Elkins kept it at least until 1902 ï HM] [Elkins papers 1223] 

1899April27; (S.H., Columbia MO, to Steve) On his illness. He met and showed a man from CO [OConor] the Cunningham and the man thought it would be a good cyanide 
operation. ñYes Dan Taylor has left the Country as I wrote you we had beat him in the court and when the Court issued the order for him to vacate he left without a word 
when Lee English presented the papers. [He lived in cabin on south side of Cunningham Hill ï HM] I think your Idia about running the lower tunnel in 2 or 3 feet a good 
one. Lee and others seem to think to sink a shaft 200 feet on the Vein just about where Dan Taylors Cabbin stands then run a tunnel 250 or 300 feet from the shaft and 
cross cut of Course this would take considerable Money. éWe [Lee English] took a good look at this while there and Mr. OConor of Boulder that was with us thought we 
ought to run in on the soft streak. éI send you two bids on the work. One from a Mr Kelly and the other from F.H. Mitchell. The Mitchel bid is as cheap as it can be done 
for and I dont see how he can do it that cheap for 2 Men cannot shoot down + Tram out over 1 foot in a days work 10 hours and that would be 5.00 to [say] nothing of 
Tools Powder fuse Caps +c + sharpening of tools. éto send a Car of this Ore to some good Synide Mill and have it tested. éThe Kansas people done nothing. I am 
satisfied they did not use the McGhee process ï they say their Vat would not work and they are having another one Made in Chicago. There was none of them out there 
this trip. I would like to see something done on the Cunningham. I would like to make and accumulate some money before I get too old and entirely broken down + not 
able to do anything for I feel that I am beging to go down the other side of the ladder. éI wish the Lawson people would buy the stock and get Control and then settle up 
the Reciever and pay of the a/c. and what is due to me + Lee English. There is two years Taxes due. We paid up to 1897. I hope to go back by the 5th of May and will 
take Contract and have it signed so they can start work at once. for Mitchel.ò [S.H. was the Court appointed Receiver at this time and handed the property over to the 
Hoyt family that September and did get paid, none of this is in these papers though ïHM] [Elkins papers 1223]. 

1899August11; Hon. S.H. Elkins, receiver of the Ortiz grant and postmaster of Columbia, Mo., and his daughter Miss Hattie M. Elkins, a charming and 

accomplished young lady, are visitors in the city today. They are on their way home to Columbia, Mo. ï At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Dolores; Hattie M. 

Elkins, Columbia, Moé [SFNM] 
1899September4; The sale by the New Mexico Mining Company of the Ortiz land grant in the southern part of this county to Thomas A. Edison, the 

celebrated electrician, is understood to be a fact. éThere are about fourteen leases of mines on the grant yet in force, and of course these will stand. 

Among the leasers are S.H. Elkins, of Columbia, Mo., who holds a lease on the Cunningham mine and extensions; the Ortiz Mining Company of St. 
Louis, holding a lease on the Ortiz mine; L.M. English, of Dolores, who holds several leases near Dolores; J.B. Mayo, of Golden, who has the Pat 

Cullom leases; J.W. Akers, of this city; Chris Wiegand and others. The Benton and Live Oak claims were also under lease to the Waddingham estate but 

who holds the leases now is not definitely known. ¶ L.M. Lawson, son of the president of the New Mexico Mining Company, was here a couple of 
weeks ago, while negotiations were in progress. The interests held by Senator S.B. Elkins, of West Virginia, and R.C. Kerens, of St. Louis, go in the 

sale. ¶ The grant is in the hands of a receiver, Mr. S.H. Elkins, who is now here, preparing his final report for submission to the district court, and who 

will ask for discharge and turn the property over to the new purchasers as soon as they are ready to receive it. Mr. Burn, who is now on the grant, will 
very likely be the man to relieve Mr. Elkins. ¶ It is said by the Edison people that should the extensive placer beds on the grant yield 20 cents per yard 

they will have an immense thing under the process that Mr. Edison proposes to inaugurate. ¶ There are no squatters on the grant, Mr. S.H. Elkins, during 

his term as receiver, having had them removed one and all, and, barring the leases above mentioned, the property is absolutely free, and will so pass into 
the hands of the new purchasers. [SFNM] 

1899September4; S.H. Elkins, Esq., Postmaster at Columbia, Mo., and leasee of the rich Cunningham mine in southern Santa Fe county, is in the capital on 
business. ï At the Claire: E.S. Mason, Pueblo; S.H. Elkins, Dolores; E.S. Strong, Denver; J.T. McLaughlin, San Pedroé [SFNM] 

1899September6; Out Of Court. Receiver S.H. Elkins, of the Ortiz Grant Is Discharged. In the district court this morning, in the case of Newton S. Finney 

vs. the New Mexico Mining Company, Judge McFie discharged the receiver, Samuel H. Elkins, and approved his report, and also dissolved the 
injunction against the company. ¶ The New Mexico Mining Company is owner of the Ortiz mining grant in southern Santa Fe county, about twenty-five 

miles from this city. The grant was confirmed by act of congress March 1, 1861, for 69,000 acres. Of the original grant, 15.026 acres was sold to the 

Cerrillos Coal and Iron Company, leaving 54,000 acres in the grant as now constituted. Samuel H. Elkins was appointed receiver of the grant May 15, 
1896, and administered the trust so efficiently that every claim against the company has been paid, and many improvements made that increased the 

value of the grant many fold. ¶ Among the accounts paid were twenty-four notes in favor of Hon. S.B. Elkins, of West Virginia, for $16,230.52; eight 

notes held by R.C. Kerens, of St. Louis, for $6,331.29; expenses and salary of the receiver from May 15, 1896, to June, 1896, amounting to $6,503.73; 
to H.C. Kinsell for sheriffôs fees, $716.75; to Charles H. Gildersleeve, clerk of the district court, $150; to L.M. English for wages as watchman up to 

June 1, 1896, $2,000; and all other expenses and salaries from the dates mentioned. ¶ Mr. Elkins left this afternoon to turn the property over the S.G. 

Burn, who will take charge of the grant in the interest of Thomas A. Edison, the famous electrical inventor, who is the purchaser of the property, for a 
consideration of about $3,000,000. [SFNM] 

1899September11; The Ortiz Grant Transferred ï S.H. Elkins came to this city last night from the Ortiz grant where he made final transfer of the grant to 

S.G. Burn representing Thomas A. Edison. Mr. Elkins also transferred the old mill at Dolores which has been idele for several years, and upon which 
the lease he held has expired. The old company houses at Dolores where also transferred to Mr. Burn who will make Dolores the headquarters of the 

interests he represents and establish general offices at the ancient mining town... ï At the Palace: J.T. McLaughlin, San Pedro; S.H. Elkins, Dolores; 

C.M. Foraker, Albuquerqueé [SFNM] 
1899September13; Territorial District Court. S.H. Elkins vs. D.T. Taylor; stricken off the docket. éTerritorial District Court. S.H. Elkins, receiver, vs. 

Rignaldo Sanchez; dismissed at plaintiffôs costs. [SFNM] 

1899November13; Hon. S.H. Elkins, postmaster of Columbia, Mo., and interested in mines in the southern part of this county, arrived in the city to-day 

from Dolores. ï At the Claire: S.H. Elkins, Doloresé [SFNM] 

1899December1; (US Assay Office, F.A. Jones, C.E., E.M. Kansas City, John T. Elkins assayer, to S.H. Elkins) 6 samples: from 0.12 to 0.48 oz per ton. At 1899 gold values 
$2.40 to $9.60 per ton. Candelaria Mine Assay ï written on the back. [John Elkins was S.B. & S.H. brother who lived in NM in the 1860s and 70s. He was one of the two 
original surveyors of the Maxwell Land Grant along with one of the great-grandfathers of the Laguna Marmon Clan. Marmonôs latter survey of the Laguna Reservation 
led to their having a large reservation. John worked in mining in CO for many years and apparently then moved to Kansas City. John Elkins was working for F.A. Jones! I 
wonder if Elkins had something to do with Jonesô appointment in 1898 as the first pres of the NM School of Mines?- HM] [Elkins papers 1287] 

1900May18; Samuel H. Elkins, postmaster at Columbia, Mo., is here on a visit. He leaves to-morrow for Dolores, where he will let a contract to do 150 feet 
of development work on the Cunningham and Cunningham extension mines, situate on the Ortiz mine grant, but under lease to the Sandia Gold Mining 

Company, of which he, Senator S.B. Elkins and R.C. Kerens, of St. Louis, are members. He expects to be in southern Santa Fe county several days, 
returning thence to his Missouri home. ï At the Claire: S.H. Elkins, Doloresé [SFNM] 

1900May28; Hon. S.H. Elkins came in this morning from Dolores, where he lte contracts for development of his Cunningham mountain mines. He leaves in 

the morning for his home at Columbia, Mo. ï At the Claire: S.H. Elkins, Doloresé [SFNM] 



1900September5; At the Palace: S.H. Elkins, Dolores; H.L. Waldo, Las Vegas, George F. Glasser, Denver; E.G. Atkins, Denveré [SFNM] 

1901February16; Hon. S.H. Elkins, postmaster at Columbia, Mo., a brother of Senator Stephen B. Elkins, of West Virginia, left for Dolores this afternoon 
after spending several days in this city. [SFNM] 

1901February20; S.H. Elkins, of Columbia, Mo., returned last evening from a trip to Dolores, in the southern part of the county. ï At the Palace: S.H. 

Elkins, Doloresé [SFNM] 
1901February23; S.H. Elkins, postmaster of Columbia, Mo., and brother of Senator S.B. Elkins, left on Thursday for Kansas City to attend a convention of 

postmasters of Missouri. [SFNM] 

1901April20; It is said that Mr. Samuel H. Elkins, who is now postmaster at Columbia, Mo., and who for many years was a resident and citizen of New 
Mexico, would like the position of U.S. marshal. Mr. Elkins was candidate for the same position four years ago, but the pole of the present incumbent, 

Mr. Foraker, was a little the longest and he knocked the persimmon. Mr. Elkins had at that time the support of his brother, U.S. Senator S.B. Elkins and 

Hon. R.C. Kerens, of St. Louis. Mr. Foraker was supported by his brother, Senator J.B. Foraker, of Ohio. The chances are that U.S. Marshal C.M. 
Foraker will succeed himself. [SFNM] 

1901May13; Hon. S.H. Elkins, postmaster at Columbia, Mo., and interested in mining enterprises in this county, arrived in the city last evening from 

Dolores. ï Palace: S.H. Elkins, Dolores... [SFNM] 
1901June12; Hon. S.H. Elkins, postmaster at Columbia, Mo., who has been in this part of the country since last month looking after his various interests in 

this county, returned this noon from a trip to Dolores. [SFNM] 

1901June13; Palace: W.E. Dame, Cerrillos; S.H. Elkins, Dolores... [SFNM] 
1901June15; Hon. S.H. Elkins, of Columbia, Mo., who has important mining inereests in the southern section of this county, and who has been visiting the 

same, leaves tomorrow evening for his home in Columbia. [SFNM] 

1901August27; Mrs. S.H. Elkins and Miss Juanita Elkins of Columbia, Mo., are visitors in Santa Fe today. [SFNM] 

1901August28; S.H. Elkins of Columbia, Mo., arrived last evening and joined his wife, Mrs. S.H. Elkins and Miss Juanita Elkins who had arrived here on 

the afternoon train. ï Palace: Mrs. S.H. Elkins, Miss Juanita Elkins, Columbia, Mo.; S.H. Elkins, Columbia, Mo.... [SFNM] 

1901August31; Hon. and Mrs. S.H. Elkins and daughter, Miss Juanita Elkins, arrived in Santa Fe this week from the Jemez Hot Springs and are bound for 
the east at the present. [SFNM] 

1901October8; Hon. S.H. Elkins, postmaster at Columbia, Mo., arrived last evening on a brief business visit after which he will leave for southern Santa Fe 

county where he is interested in lands and mines. ï Palace: S.H. Elkins, Columbia, Mo... [SFNM] 
1901October14; S.H. Elkins returned this noon from a trip to Dolores in the southern part of the county where he has mining and land interests. [SFNM] 

1903May6; S.H. Elkins, postmaster of Columbia, Mo., and M.L. English of Dolores, who attended yesterdayôs reception here, left this afternoon for the 
Ortiz Mine Grant where Mr. Elkins has important mining interests. [SFNM] 

1903May11; S.H. Elkins, brother of U.S. Senator S.B. Elkins, postmaster at Columbia, Mo., was in the city last night on his way home from a visit to his 

mining property near Dolores. [SFNM] 
1903May19; S.H. Elkins, the postmaster of Columbia, Mo., who has been in this city for some time on business, departed this morning for Silverton, 

accompanied by J.H. Vaughn, territorial treasurer. The two have valuable mining interests at that point. [SFNM] 

 

Stephen Benton Elkins  (b.ZanesvilleOH 26Sept1841 d.Jan4,1911)    - 1st wife is Sallie/Sarah Simms Jacobs (b.Grundy co.MO 1Sep1841  d.StaFe 28Oct1871); 

2nd wife is Hallie Davis Elkins [she is later Mrs. George A. Percy] 
Santa Fe Ring: Loose-knit group of lawyers, businessmen, investors and land speculators who used the law to enrich themselves and to punish their competitors and others 

who opposed their interest. Members resided in New Mexico, Washington, D.C. and other states and included: William Mills, Franck Clancy, Charles Spiess, Republican 
Territorial Senator Pedro Perea, Stephen Elkins (Former law Catron Law Partner and Secretary of War), Stephen Dorsey, Henry L. Waldo, John Knaebel. O. D. Barrett, 
William Rynerson, John Riley, L. S. Twimble, Ralph Twitchell, Charles Gildersleeve (Chairman of the State Democratic Party), and Mariano Otero. 

Stephen B. Elkins, more than any other individual, was responsible for the successful consummation of the schemes of the [Maxwell] land company to defraud the American government and the 
people of New Mexico. Elkins, having graduated from the University of Missouri in 1860 and been admitted to the bar in 1863, came to New Mexico, and, by interesting himself in politics, was 
appointed to the federal office of district attorney. The Mexican system of peonage, slavery for debt, was in full operation then, and Elkins laid the foundations of his fortune by wholesale 
prosecutions, each of which netted him a good sum of money, whether there was conviction or compromise. With the capital thus gained lawfully, the young lawyer and politician went into the 
business of grabbing public land ï keeping a fire grip on his political power, and getting successively the invaluable offices of attorney general of the Territory and territorial representative in 
Congress. As a citizen of New Mexico, a ñcaptain of industryò and a ñdeveloper of resourcesò he was compactly described by the distinguished George W. Julian, one time surveyor general of 
New Mexico and a careful, honest man, in a speech at Indianapolis, on September 14, 1892. Said Julian: Æ ñElkinsô dealings were mainly in Spanish grants, which he bought for a very small 
price. Elkins became a member of the land ring of the Territory, and largely through his influence the survey of these grants was made to contain hundreds of thousands of acres that did not 
belong to them. He thus became a great land holder, for through the manipulation of committees in Congress grants thus illegally surveyed were confirmed with their fictitious boundaries. 
[History of New Mexico, G.B. Anderson, 1907 p.186] 

1841 ï born near New Lexington, Perry county OH; @3yrs family moves to Westport MO 
1856 ï to college in Lexington KY 
1860 ï law<no evidence for this] graduate from Univ. of Missouri at Columbia (2yrs course?) ï [or 1yr course 1859-60]<w.Waldo, Kerens & Catron, maybe Laughlin 
 Elkins teaches school in Cass County ï students included the Younger Bros, who later saved Elkinsô life, and E gets Presidential pardon for Cole Younger 
I have found some evidence that Elkins worked with or for John Fremont who was the first Republican candidate for President. Fremontôs wife was 

Jessie Benton, Senator Thomas Hart Bentonôs daughter. éI did talk to an historian in the county where the Masonic College is located ï talked 
on the phone. There was indeed a womenôs college in Lexington where Elkins and Catron went to three years of college . [Elizabeth Rogers] 

1862Dec ï E joins Missouri Militia 
1863May11 -- SB Elkins begins active duty; elected Captain in USA Kansas militia; serves as MO home guard - father P.D.Elkins, bros, & Catron had all joined CSA 
 possible Younger-sponsored release by Quantrell - included agreement to no longer fight? 
1863July3 ï request for relief from military duty granted 
1863Sept ï SB Elkins starts for NM;  arrives Novõ63; early Dec Elkins is persuaded by Goodwin & McCormick not to go to AzT with them, rather to Mesilla, to organize 
proposed Montezuma Ter. 
 takes job as quartermaster clerk for USA militia, fired by Capt. Archer. Studies law books of Judge J.C. Knapp 
1864 ï under guidance of Judge Benedict, admitted to NM bar; practices in Mesilla;  
1864-1865 ï territorial house of representatives for Dona Ana county  
1864December3; The members of the legislature have begun to arrive. We hear of the arrival of Mr. Elkin of Doña Ana... [SFWeeklyGazette] 

1865; In looking over old flat of the New Mexican for the year 1865, the following professional card is found: ñS.B. Elkins, attorney at law, Santa Fe, 

New Mexico. Will practice in all the courts of equity and law in the territory. Prompt attention given to the prosecution and collection of claims. 
References: R. Campbell & Co., St. Louis, Mo.; W.R. Bernard, Kansas City, Mo.; J. Bernard, Westport, Mo.; A.P. Warfield, Westport, Mo.ò 

[1897July16 SFDNM] 



1865July22; S.B. Elkins Esq., Attorney at Law, publishes his card in this issue of the Gazette. He has lately commenced the practice of his profession 

in Santa Fe and promise fair to meet with good success. ï S.B. Elkins, Attorney At Law, Santa Fe, New Mexico, Will practice in all the Courts of 
law and Equity in the Territory. Prompt attention given to the collection and prosecution of claims. References. R. Campbell & Co., St. Louis MO; 

J. Bethard, Westport MO; W.H. Bernard, Kansas City; A.A. Warfield, Westport MO. [SFWeeklyGazette] 

1865December30; Messrs. C.P. Clever and S.B. Elkins returned from Doña Ana last week. [SFWeeklyGazette] 

late1865-early1866 ï Judge Benedict convinces Elkins to relocate to StaFe 
1866-1867; Stephen B. Elkins appointed by Gov, confirmed by LegAssembly, NM Attorney General 
1866June5; S.B. Elkins and Sallie S. Jacobs married 5Jun1866 in Wellington by E.S. Dulin, a Baptist minister. ï Sallie knew Stephen from the 

beginning of their college experience and they werenôt married until [over 8yrs later]. [Elizabeth Rogers] 

1866 -- S.B. Elkins travels from MO with new wife, nee Sarah Jacobs of Wellington MO, back to StaFe; married 5Jun or 10Jun (T.B. Catron on same wagon train with 
2 wagons of flour; Spanish grammar & help from Elkins) 

Edgar A. Walz, TBôs bro-in-law: I have often while in NM heard it said that if one asked Mr. Elkins for a favor, he would shake you by the hand, smile on you, pat you on the back, and ask you 
to come again, but he would never grant your wish; that if you asked Catron for a favor, he would bluster, take your head nearly off, but give you what you asked for if it was a reasonable 
request. [VWestphall, TBCatron & His Era, 1973 p.25] 

1866 ï submit Nov, confirm Dec; Acting Gov Arny appoints SB Elkins Territorial Atty General, but Gov Mitchell returns and demotes E. to U.S.Atty Gen 
1867-1871; Stephen B. Elkins appointed United States Attorney for NM 
1867February8; Elkins takes oath of office as Atty General [TANM 21:267-268] 
Elkins was Attorney General for only a short period in 1867 when the election was evidently contested. The offices of Delegate to Congress and 

Attorney General were the top offices on the ticket and you can see where the Delegate office that year was highly contested with Clever serving 
the first half of the term and Chaves the last half. (Elkins was a Radical Republican and the moderate Republicans were behind Clever.) Clever 

continued to support Carleton and his policies with regard to the Bosque Redondo reservation. Then too, I believe Elkins resigned to defend 

Rynerson. Not even Twitchell will provide you with who replace him at his resignation. [Elizabeth Rogers] 

1867March1; Elkins is replaced (3 weeks in office) by Charles Clever as NM Ter Atty General [TANM 21:267-268] 
1867May22 ï dau Sara is born in StaFe; later dau Elizabeth b.StaFe 
1867Dec15 ï Wm Rynerson kills Chief Justice Slough at La Fonda; Elkins wins for Wm Rynerson before Judge Benedict 
1868February2; After failing to persuade the Territorial Legislature to subsidize the construction of the proposed ditch from Pecos to Real de Dolores, the principal 

stockholders in the NMMC decided to create a subsidiary company for the purpose of floating the capital necessary to build the ditch. On Feruary 2, 1868, the new 
firm titled the Pecos and Placer Mining and Ditch Company, announced that contracts for the initial work on the Pecos River extension had been let. A ceremony 
was held at the site of construction. éThe officers were: Dr. Steck, President; Secretary, W.W. Griffin; Treasurer, Governor William B. Mitchell; Attorney, S.B. 
Elkins; Directors, M.W. McGee and General Herman H. Heath. Director McGee promptly left for the East to interest investors in the project. [Santa Fe Weekly 
Gazette, per Townley 1968 p.82] 

1869 -- the rise of the Santa Fe Ring; Stephen B. Elkins, Thomas B. Catron, Stephen W. Dorsey 
1869 ï overspending and poor results leads NMMC to be acquired by SBElkins and Jerome B. Chaffee of CO; Elkins remains the major owner of the Ortiz mine until 

1900 
1869 -- Interior Secretary J.D. Cox decides the Maxwell Land Grant contained about 96,000 acres; Elkins, Catron, Dorsey, Frank Springer et al arranged a survey (see 

ô78) that gave it as 1,714,764 acres. Elkins attempted to have the public pay for this survey. 
1870June16: Location claim by Robert B. Willison, Steven B. Elkins, Thomas B. Catron, William A. Pile, Charles Thayer and Lehman Spiegelberg 6 

claims of 200 feet each. The Infallible mine on the Brown lode. [JParson - Mining Deed Book 1868-1870 (Santa Fe Archives), p.250] 

1870July26_census: Stephen B.Elkins, lawyer, 29y-o, born OH, Value ofRealEstate$3,000 TotalPersValue$32,000, resident SF pct.4 with wife Sally S. Elkins (25 MO), 
Sally Elkins (3 NM), Bill Montgomery (27 domestic servant MO), Philip D. Elkins (58 VA) 

1871February8(filed); Willison Silver Mining Company Articles of incorporation: (Santa Fe Archives, State Corporation Commission files); 

Incorporated by: Lehman Spiegelberg, S.B. Elkins, T.B. Catron and William Pile and their associates Robert B. Willison and Charles Thayer; 

Amount of capital stock is $2,500,000 and shall consist of 25,000 shares of $100 each. Three directors for the first three months shall be: R.B. 
Willison, S.B. Elkins and William A. Pile with a principal place of business to be Santa Fe, New Mexico. 

1871March2: Certificate of the Probate Judge for location and claim by R.B. Willison, S.B. Elkins, T.B. Catron, W.A. Pile, C. Thayer and L. 

Spiegelberg - the Infallible mine at the place known as Ralston. [JParson - Mining Locations and Notices, 1870-1871 (Santa Fe Archives), p.244] 
1871May17; Lucien Maxwell starts First National Bank of SF on May1. Replaced on May17 by Stephen B. Elkins, president and W.W. Griffin, 

cashier.  

1871April14: Deed of sale S.B. Elkins, Sallie Elkins, C.L. Thayer, Guadalupe Thayer to the Willison Silver Mining Company in the sum of $100 for 3 
claims of 200 feet each on the Infallible mine on the Brown lode, precinct number 4, Grant County. [JParson - Mining Locations and Notices, 

1870-1871 (Santa Fe Archives), p.388] 

1871October28; Sallie S. Elkins, dau of Thomas W. and Elizabeth Jacobs, dies in StaFe. Born Grundy co.MO 1Sep1841. Married Stephen B. Elkins 
5Jun1866. Buried in Mt. Olivet Cemetery, Wellington MO. [Elizabeth Rogers] 

1871December8: Stephen B. Elkins, Homestead Patent No.55 = 139.3ac Lots 1& 2 SE ¼ of Sec18; Homestead Patent No.51 = 120ac quarters> N ½ , SE, SW, SE of 
Sec8; Homestead Patent No.52 = 120ac quarters> S ½ , NE, NW, NE of Sec17; Homestead Patent No.53 = 80ac quarters> E ½ , NW of Sec17 ï  all cash entry 

1871 ï Steven B. Elkins purchases land from Government 606 acres (future Cerrillos) @ $2.50/acre where he assumed a town could be built following the arrival of the 
railroad. He or Tom Catron, whom he left in charge of developing the town about 1876, probably chose the name Cerrillos without the article "Los" for the projected 
town.  

Rencher vs. Elkins ï Lawsuit over 1/3 int in the land of Town of Cerrillos. Elkins bought 606 acres and Rencher claimed a 1/3 interest and Catron had the other 1/3. 
Rencher then (1884) signed his interest over to Abraham Staab and Henry G. Prout. [NMSU Folder #s 2/4 2/5 2/6, Lawsuit] 

1871December8 ï patent issued to S.B. Elkins for land including Cerrillos Smelter site; recorded 12June1893 b.A-1 p.272 
1871December8 ï patent issued to S.B. Elkins for land including Cerrillos Smelter site; recorded 19June1893 b.A-1 p.278 
1872 October 19 ï Consolidated Land, Cattle Raising & Wool Growing Company incorporated (1st and only cattle co. in NM until 1881 ï offices Ft.Bascom, Santa Fe, 

Denver): S.B.Elkins (1873 Delegate to House of Representatives), Marsh Giddings, 
1872lateNov ï Elkins, having won election for Territorial Delegate, goes to Washington; hereafter returns to NM rarely 
1873, March 4 ï Stephen B. Elkins becomes NM territorial delegate ( R) to 43rd & 44th Congress; reelected 1875; holds office to March 3, 1877  
1873; NM delegates to Congress: John S. Watts 1861-1863; Francisco Perea 1863-1865 <1863contested by J.M. Gallegos); J. Francisco Chaves 1865-1871 

<1867contested by C.P. Clever); José Manuel Gallegos 1871-1873; Stephen B. Elkins 1873-1877; Trinidad Romero 1877-1879. [History of NM, Chas F. Coan, 
1925, p.387] 

1873April15; Hon. S.B. Elkins arrived this morning after a six monthôs absence in Washington City and the east. [SFDNM] 



1873September29; document conveying guarantee by S.B. Elkins for J.B. Chaffeeôs offer to McMannus to purchase the Santa Rita Copper Mine Spanish Grant from 
the heirs in Spain [H.Milford collection] 

1873; Matthew D. Hayes obtained title to the [Santa Rita] property, apparently through a back-room deal. As insurance, Hayes also paid the Elguea 

heirs a $10,000 fee for their rights (The $10,000 was advanced to Hayes by Stephen B. Elkins, at the request of Jerome B. Chaffee.) éIn 1880, 
Hayes sold ïout to Joel Parker Whitney. [J.Park NMMiningHeritageGuide 2003] 

1874January; Elkins, now absent as TerDelegate, partners with Catron, to Mayõ76; Henry L. Waldo was Elkins choice when Catron would be adversely employed 
1874February14; (Las Vegas) We are proud of our Delegate in Congress, Hon. S.B. Elkins, and so are his thousands of friends. We have good reason to be; he is 

working like the energetic, good natured giant that he is, for the interests of New Mexico. God grant that he may be successful! Stephen is a pet of New Mexico, as 
was evidenced by his overwhelming majority. Everybody believes in him, trusts in him swears by him. What Steph Elkins canôt do, canôt be did. Thatôs all. ï ñThe 
New Mexican.ò [The Advertiser v.4 n.22] 

1874May31; William Breeden, Rep Central Com., to S.B. Elkins; ñCol. Chaves is striving very hard to regain his financial footingé please try to do something for him.ò 
[Elkins papers 14-B] 

1874August4; éwe learn from Professor Tracy that he is in correspondence with Hon. S.B. Elkins, Col. J.F. Bennett and others in that country [NM]... 

St. Louis Dispatch. [SFDNM]   

1874September21; Hon. S.B. Elkins and Wm Rosenthal, Esq., left this morning for Plaza Alcalde, Rio Arriba county, to attend the district court at that 
place. [SFDNM] 

1874October5; Hon. S.B. Elkins and Capt. John Pratt left this morning for Albuquerque to attend the District Court of Bernalillo county. They take 

Galisteo en route. [SFDNM] 
1875October22; Hon. S.B. Elkins, Mrs. and Miss Jacobs, and Mrs. Elkinsô two little girls, were passengers on the eastern bound coach to-day. éAfter 

a short visit with old friends and acquaintances in Missouri, Mr. Elkins will devote the major portion of his time before the sitting of Congress to 

looking after the railroad interests of New Mexico. [SFDNM] 

1875? <dated incorrectly 3/3/77]; typed copy of certificate by President Ulysses S. Grant; Presidential Appointment of Elkins as New Mexico Commissioner to 
Centennial Commission for American Independence to be held in Philadelphia in 1876. [Elkins papers] 

1875 night of 3-4Mar = fatal handshake with Burrows that cost NM the 6 Southern votes it needed for statehood ï Chaffeeôs CO state passes that same night 
1875March16; [Cañon del Agua fraud] The opposition of the Ortiz mine claimants, who insisted the survey included some of their grants, was also procured to be 

withdrawn. It appears that Mr. Elkins had an interest in the Ortiz mine, and that his wife was a stockholder in the San Pedro Company, so it would not be difficult 
to arrange for a withdrawal of opposition by the Ortiz mine owners; and so by the withdrawal of opposition, but concealments and ex parte affidavits, the action of 
the commissioner was procured. ï and as claimants of the Ortiz mine aforesaid have, by conveyance acknowledged March 16, 1875, released to the claimants 
of Canon del Agua all interest in said mine, as claimed, which appear to conflict with the survey of the Canon del Agua now under consideration, I have decided 
to approve said survey. [US vs. SP&CdACo. NMSupCt 23Jan1888, p.464, 469] 

1875April23; Missouri Valley Life Insurance Co. of Leavenworth, Kanasa. New Mexico Department. Officers. S.B. Elkins, President, A. Staab, Vice 

President, S.B. Wheelock, Secôy, Thos B. Catron, Attôy, J. Symington, M.D., Medical Examiner. Directors. S.B. Elkins, John Pratt, E. Andrews, A. 
Staab, W.W. Griffin, N. Pope, Thos McDonald, Wm Breeden, Thos B. Catron, Wm. H. Manderfield, Chas Probst, Col. J.P. Willard, Col. A.B. 

Carey, Thos F. Conway, S.B. Wheelock, Wm Rosenthal. [ad in SFDNM] 

1875April23; Hon. S.B. Elkins, ex-Delegate from New Mexico, was married yesterday in Baltimore to the daughter of Senator Davis, of West 
Virginia. éFrom NM there were Capt. Pratt, marshal of the Territory; Col. J.C. Hill, and a few others. ï Washington Republican 15Apr1875 

[SFDNM] 
1875April30; Fashionable Wedding in Baltimore. Hon. S.B. Elkins, of New Mexico, was married yesterday in Baltimore to the daughter of Senator 

Davis [D], from West Virginia. The ceremony took place in the Franklin street Presbyterian Church at 1:30 p.m. It being a private wedding, only 

the personal friends of the bride and bridegroom were present. From Washington a good many friends of Mr. Elkins were present among them 
Governor and Mrs. McCormick, Colonel Smoot, Colonel ?arling, Mr. Pratt and Mr. Robbins. The happy pair left for Philadelphia in the ?:?0p.m. 

train; from there they will go to Boston to stay about a week, and then they will return to New York, from which place they will sail for Europe to 

stay until next July. The bride was attired in a handsome traveling dress, and she received many beautiful and costly presents. ï Washington Star. ï 
15th inst. [SFDNM]   

1875October25; Hon. S.B. Elkins and Capt. Pratt left yesterday for the lower country. [SFDNM] 

1875November1; Hon. S.B. Elkins and Marshal Pratt returned Saturday from the Rio Abajo. We learn from Mr. Elkins that the counties of Bernalillo 
and Valencia promise material aid in the construction of the southern telegraph line provided it follows the river instead of east of the mountains. 

[SFDNM] 

1876 -- The Mesita de Juana Lopez grant survey by Rollin J. Reeves took it all the way to just north of the modern town of Madrid. Elkins & Catron then used the 
overlap with the Ortiz Mine Grant which Elkins controlled to get a major stock interest in the Cerrillos Coal and Iron Company which Elkins created in 1884 to 
develop the Madrid Coal field. 
SB Elkins not a candidate for NM rep @ Congress 
Davis Elkins, son, born at WashDC; future senator from WV 1911, 1919-25 

1876; Elkins involved in purchase of large tract of WVa land with Senators Davis (D) & Camden (R) [early action by WVa Ring] 
1876May27; Dated. Warranty Deed. Thomas Ewing Jr. and Ellen C. Ewing his wife of Fairfield co. OH, for $3,500.00, sell undivided one twelfth of the Cañon del Agua 
Grant of landé to Stephen B. Elkins of NM. Sig. Thomas Ewing Jr., Ellen C. Ewing. Wit. Windham C. Jones, George W. Graybill. b.H Deeds p.467. [BHenderson 
Abstract of Title No.2 30Sep1983] 

1876September25; Hon. S.B. Elkins and Con Cosgrove left Saturday for a visit to the Placer mines. [SFDNM] 

1877April2; Hon. S.D. Elkins informs us that after a long effort, a daily mail has been ordered to San Diego, California, from Mesilla, N.M. [SFDNM] 

1877August; member of Montezuma Masonic Lodge, at the formation of the Grand Lodge of NM; Stephen B. Elkins, Attorney, U.S. Senator. EA: 9-27-1866; FC: 1-7-
1866; MM: 1-2-1867; JW: 1869; KT: 11-2-1869; NPD: 7-3-1893; Reinstated: 2-4-1897; Demitted: 2-4-1897; D: 1911 West Virginia 

1877August; Stephen B. Elkins, attorney, member of Montezuma Lodge ï EA 3-7-1866; NPD 7-3-1893; reinstated 2-4-1897; Demitted 2-4-1897 D:1911@WV [Seven 
Score & Ten; Montezuma Lodge No.1 2001 p.21] 

1877August6; Hon. S.B. Elkins is again in our midst after about a yearôs absence in Washington and West Virginia. He returned to the city in last 
nightôs Eastern coach in good health, and can be found at the Exchange Hotel. [SFDNM] 

1877August6; The arrivals at the Exchange Hotel on Saturday were H.D. Lewis, S.O.M; W.L. Rynerson and S.B. Newcomb, Las Cruces; John S. 

Crouch and D. Chaves, Mesilla; John Watts and J. Howe Watts, city; and John W. Walker, N.Y. On Sunday, Alex Gusdorf, Rancho de Taos; S.B. 
Elkins, West Virginia; Geo M. Stebbins, Las Vegas; John Ford and John Bullock, S.O.M. [SFDNM] 

1877August10; Among the arrivals at the Exchange Hotel a few days since we inadvertently published Mr. S.B. Elkins as from West Virginia, which 

of course was a mistake. He claims nowhere else than Santa Fe as his place of residence. [SFDNM] 



1878-81; Elkins lives in DC; practices law in DC and NYC 
1878 -- John T. Elkins (bro) and R.T. Marmon survey the Maxwell Land Grant 

S.B. Elkins, T.B. Catron, et al hire Robert Hart of Oro City to develop their Cerrillos Hills properties  
1878 Oro City CO becomes Leadville; worldôs largest silver camp with 30 producing mines & 10 smelters 
1878; supporters of Gov Axtell includeé William G. Ritch, secretary of NM Ter, S.B. Elkins, former congressional delegate from NM, William 

Breeden, attorney general of NM, and NM congressional delegate J. Romero. [NMôs Troubled Years, Calvin Horn 1963 p.180] 

1878July19; Dated. Warranty Deed. Hampton B. Denman of StaFe co. and Mary B. __, his wife, for $4k, sell interest in the San Pedro and Canon del Agua Grants of 
landé for which grants contain about 36,000acres more or less. My interest in said grants being an undivided one twelfth. to Stephen B. Elkins of StaFe. Sig. 
Hampton B. Denman, Mary B. Denman. b.Y Deeds p.220. [BHenderson Abstract of Title No.2 30Sep1983] 

1878August9; names associated with the ñRingò per Frank Springer: Judge Palen, Mr. Elkins, Mr Catroné Dr. R.H. Longwill 

1879May5; NMMC stockholderôs meeting at which liquidation was unanimously approved. In person: Henry D. Sedgwick 219sh; D.H. Gildersleeve 757sh; Richard M. 
Hunt 439sh; A.N. Lawrence 263sh; J.G. Rencher 500sh; Alfred J. Wolff  6sh; Z. Staab 200sh; Wm C. Rencher 370sh; (arrived late) S.B. Elkins 255sh; by Proxy: 
Lars Anderson 2,900sh; Wm Lilly 420sh; A. Rencher 1,831sh; Sara D. Anderson 500sh; A.L. Anderson 100sh; F.W. Jones 550sh; N.W. Condict 67sh; Mary M. 
Voorhees 266sh; Anna M.V. Gildersleeve 250sh; S. Norment 2,152sh; S. Norment, Guar. 220sh; H.B. Noble 5sh; Caroline S. Risque 608sh; J. Van Riswick 272sh; 
R. Squires 60sh; E.S. Ingle 114sh; Ulie N. Hurley 110sh; W.W. Whittlesey 52sh; Chas Mackall 43sh; John Middleton 213sh; Lucy Buckland 55sh; Emlen N. 
Lawrence 219sh; Geo N. Lawrence 910sh; C.B. Jones 13sh; V.E. Pickrell 1sh; Esa Pickrell 550sh; Carrie S. Pickrell 1sh. Total 15,491sh represented. [August 10, 
1880; NY Supreme Court record 172, 1882, p.23, 24] 

1879July4; éthe AT&SF RR crossed Raton Pass, track to Las Vegas being opened for operation July 4, 1879. A short pause ensued while A.A. Robinson, the 
railroadôs chief engineer, evaluated alternative routes to the Rio Grande valley. One alternative crossed Glorieta Pass, then followed the Rio Galisteo to its 
confluence with the Rio Grande. Among other factors, the availability of timber along that route, and the presence of the coal near Cerrillos, convinced Robinson to 
choose the Glorieta Pass alignment. é J.M. Robinson, a mining engineer, was hired to evaluate the several coal fields: Galisteo, Tuerto, Tijeras, and San Pedro. 
Working with him on the real estate issues was George T. Anthony, a former Kansas governor. They soon eliminated the Tuerto (now Hagen) and Tijeras fields as 
inadequate. The owner of the as-yet unconfirmed Socorro Grant, within the boundaries of which it was situated, proposed what they considered a reasonable offer 
for the San Pedro, or Carthage, coal field. é As a step toward opening the Galisteo or Cerrillos field, entries were filed on behalf of the AT&SF with the General 
Land Office on potential coal-bearing lands outside the Juana Lopez and Ortiz Mine Grants. These filings were along Ortiz Gulch, south of Cerrillos. ¶ Anthony 
also began negotiating with Catron for the coal within the boundaries of the two land Grants. Catron initially offered to sell the railroad his undivided half-interest in 
the Juana Lopez Grant for $100,000. Both Anthony and W.B. Strong, the Santa Fe Rail Roadôs general manager, considered the price excessive, since 
approximately two-thirds of the coal bearing lands, including all of the anthracite, lay within the area of overlap between the Juana Lopez and Ortiz Mine Grants. 
Further, a challenge to the Ortiz Mine Grant title, still not resolved, further clouded the issue. ¶ Strong and Anthony agreed that if Catron and Elkins were confident 
of their titles to the two land grants, and confident of the value of the coal field, rather than insist upon selling the property, they ought to be willing to participate in 
a corporation, along with the AT&SF, to develop and operate the resource. Catron and Elkins agreed to such an arrangement, the proposed company essentially 
to be owned on a 50-50 basis. Elkins, though, could bring along the other owners of the NMMC. They were likely to insist, he advised Anthony, on a greater share, 
perhaps as much as two-thirds, of the new company. In view of the reasonable offer in hand from the Socorro Grantôs owner, Anthony and Strong could not agree 
to accepting less than half the stock of the proposed new company. So far as they were concerned, Elkinsô communication closed the matter. The Santa Fe 
proceeded to organize the San Pedro Coal & Coke Company, which opened mines and built coke ovens near Socorro. The SPC&CC operated into the early 
1890s. [JPHereford, TheCerrillosCoalRailroad, 8Feb2008 draft] 

1879August15; (Elkins to Catron) Asks Catron for peaceful solution to the problems that Catron expressed in a recent letter, in light of their long personal and 
professional relationship and the many favors he had done Catron. ï Why donôt you send me a deed to my four ninths [of Mesita de Juana Lopez]. Send me the 
agreement Collinson sent about Bosque del Apache Grant. [Elkins papers 26] 

1879August19; S.B. Elkins, Boreel Building, Rooms 59 and 61, No. 115 Broadway, New York, Aug 19 1879. Hon. J.A. Williamson, Comr Genôl Land Office, Washigto 
DC. Dr Sir. An the 1st inst I wrote you asking for a certified copy of the patent to the Ortiz Mine Grant situate in Santa Fe County New Mexico, containing about 
64000 acres but up to this writing have recôd no reply. Æ If you will cause a certified copy prepared + sent me I will pay the fee required in such case Very Truly 
S.B. Elkins [HM-AML docs GLO#39586] 

1879November17; (J.G. Blaine to Elkins) Blaine promises to make Elkins Senator from NM in 2 years. ñThereôs bribery for you on a huge scale!ò [Elkins was 
convention floor manager that got Blaine the Republican Presidential nomination, and they remained best friends.] [Elkins papers 27] 

1880, the NM Mining Company transferred the property embraced in the letters patent to Stephen B. Elkins and Jerome B. Chaffee, but the greater portion of the 
property was reconveyed to the company in 1884. 

1898June9; Secured A $200 Watch. Thieves Enter the Home of Hon. T.B. Catron and Rifle His Clothing. Two thieves entered the residence of Hon. 

T.B. Catron last night and after finding the bedroom, took Mr. Catronôs clothes into an adjoining room where they lighted a candle and rifled the 
pockets. A watch, valued at $200, was secured. Papers, etc., were strewn about the floor, but no other valuables taken. Description of watch: 

Patique, Phillipe & Co., manufacturers, marked monogram ñT.B.C.ò on outside, and ñPresented by S.B. Elkins to T.B. Catron, 1880,ò on inside 

case. Mr. Catron was in his room asleep, and knew nothing of the raid until this morning, when he missed his watch. The watch is a handsome gold 
affair, a present from Hon. S.B. Elkins. The trail of the thieves was followed to the divide five miles north of the city where it was lost. The 

bloodhounds were called to pick it up again. [SFNM]   
 [early 1880s] éthe Star Route Mail Contracts sprang into prominence through the manipulations of such men as Stephen W. Dorsey, Richard C. 

Kerens, Stephen B. Elkins, Thomas B. Catron, Numa Raymond, John H. Riley, Michael Cosgrove and numerous lesser lights, as well as others in 

Washington higher up and behind the scenes. [My Life on the Frontier] 

1880January16; James F. Calendar ½ , Hugh Marshall ½ ; Ground Floor lode, loc shaft is SE of Cactus lode near Griffin claim, loc shaft of S.B.Elkins lode is SE 
190ô, loc shaft of Catron lode is S 195ô, NW end of Catron & S.B.Elkins claim are common with SE of Ground Floor, on Callender Hill, SW of StaFe-Carbonateville 
road, at NE post of Cerrillos Mtns; Gonzales Mining District; 250ô N40ÁE 1250ô S40ÁW, 150ôea side; recorded 4March1880 [Locations & Mining Deeds B#15406 
p.266] 

1880January20; dated. Warranty Deed. NMMC sells to Stephen B. Elkins & Jerome B. Chafee, both of the City, County and State of NY, for $375,000.00 the real 
property of the NMMC. b.J Deeds p.54 [BHenderson Abstract of Title No.1 30Sep1983] 

1880February5; Dated. Quitclaim Deed. Stephen B. Elkins and Hallie D. Elkins his wife of StaFe, for $1.00, sell undivided one twelfth of the Cañon del Agua Grant of 
landé to Benjamin F. Graffton of WashDC. Sig. S.B. Elkins, Hallie D. Elkins. Wit. Chas Edgar Miles. b.K Deeds p.41. [BHenderson Abstract of Title No.2 
30Sep1983] 

1880February7; from S.B. Elkins to Sec of Interior; Do not reappoint W.G. Ritch as Gov of NM. [NatArchives, RecGroup 48] 
1880February17; On the 13th we made up a party, consisting of F. J. Leonard, of the Kansas City Journal, O. F. Boyle, A. H. Lemmon, and the writer, and rode out 

southwest 23 miles to the Cerrillo mines, and put up at the principal mining camp called Carbonateville. ¶ The old Turquoise mines are the most interesting feature of 

this district. The amount of labor that was expended in these mines prior to 1680 is incalculable. The site was a large hill, almost mountain, of rock of a yellow-white, 



not very hard, and the precious Turquoise stones or crystals were found deeply imbedded in this rock. The two sides of the hill have been dug down and huge pits 

sunk, from the bottom of which drifts were excavated to such extent that all through under the mountain was a labyrinth of passages, and the mass of the mountain 

seems to have sunken to some extent. On the hills of debris taken from these mines are growing trees that must be near 200 years old. ¶ At Carbonateville we made the 

acquaintance of a Spaniard named Aoye, who exhibited such wide knowledge, such progressive and radical views and eloquence of expression, that we christened 

him "the Castellar of New Mexico." From him we derived much valuable information. He is an editor, has been the leading one of Santa Fe, and now publishes the 

Cerrillo Prospector, at Carbonateville. ¶ Our landlord, A. Algiero, was a very intelligent and sociable man and entertained us hospitably. A young man named Bonner 

pleased us much, and a Mr. Giles, a very intelligent gentleman, spent the day with us to show us the mines. We were much pleased with the mines generally, but there 

was one exception. We hired a man by the name of Howard to go with his team and carry us through the mines to the south and west. He appeared well enough, but 

proved to be a thieving scoundrel, and we parted with him at Albuquerque after two day's trial. ¶ LOS PLACERES. On February 15th, in the morning, we started for 

Carbonateville south for Los Placeres, or the Placer Mountains. The first five miles was down grade, among hills and winding, rock canon, to Cerrillos station, on the 

Gallistes river. Here the track layers were in force, laying a switch on which to run a long train of freight cars, which was standing on the main track. Here is being 

constructed a large smelter and reduction works by the Carpenter company. Here also are extensive coal mines. From thence we passed on south up a high mesa and 

long slope seven miles to Old Placers, which is an old Mexican town and around which are extensive placer gold diggings in the bars of streams and beneath the 

terminal moraine of an ancient glacier. Here, also, is a large forty stamp mill, large steam works for the reduction of the gold bearing quartz in the adjacent mountains. 

This mill has not been run of late for want of water. These mines are on a grant known as the Ortiz grant, ten miles square, and has been recently purchased by Elkins 

and others for $1,500,000, and the works are to be refitted and supplied with water by tubs from the head of the Pecos river, thirty-five miles off. [D. A. Millington, 

Albuquerque, N. M., Feb. 17, 1880] 
1880February28; Sale of the Old and New Placers. Now that the sale of the Old Placers has been effected, we learn that negotiations are almost concluded for the 

sale of the New Placers to eastern capitalists, and there is a fair prospect that this valuable property will soon pass into the hands of a company which will at 
once prosecute work with skill and energy. These mines are only respectively twenty-seven and thirty-seven miles from the city. The rich gold diggings at the Old 
Placers were worked by thousands of people from 1829 to 1849, and the amount of gold taken from the two Placers was estimated some years at $40,000 and 
others at $60,000, rising in value towards 1845 as high as $250,000. The gold washings at the Old Placers were discovered by accident in 1828, and were filled 
with people, until in 1839, the discovery of the New Places ten miles distqant, caused a partial stampede of the diggers to the new mines. At the New Placers 
there was no water, and although every drop was transported upon burros some distance, the diggings were very profitable. A large town sprang up immediately, 
containing over a hundred houses and twenty-two stores, transacting more business than was done in Santa Fe. After the American possession of the country, 
the two Placers were almost entirely abandoned, as with the rude process by which the gold was extracted the mines could only be profitably worked with cheap 
labor and most of the miners entered the service of the government as teamsters, etc., on account of the higher pay. For the past few years very little work has 
been done upon these properties, though no one doubts that a careful and economical arrangement would give the largest returns. [SFDNM] 

1880June30; dated. Deed. Elias Brevoort claims to be the legal and equitable owner of the said Ortiz Mine Grant, and further claims that the said letters patent were 
issued to the said NMMC in trust for him the said Elias Brevoort, and that the conveyance so made to the said Stephen B. Elkins and all rights, titles, estates and 
interest acquired by the said SBE, R.W. Donnell, Lars Anderson and Jerome B. Chaffee or by any other person, under or in surbordiation to the said letters patent 
are subject to the same trusté Therefore EB sells for $1 to Charles H. Gildersleeve and John H. Knaeble all the undivided one half part of the said OMG. b.O 
Deeds p.74 [BHenderson Abstract of Title No.1 30Sep1983] 

1880September16; from Larz Anderson to S.B. Elkins; ñéMr. Sickels ought to be satisfied with our arrangementé If Chaffee has taken the Lawson $10,000 for 
himself and not simply to accommodate Lawson at his return, it makes the ñLawson matterò the more inexplicable, which I hope you will unravel for me in due 
time.ò [Elkins papers 047] ï Chaffee and Elkins got control of the NMMC. Lawson apparently bought a major stake in the company around 1879-1880 and 
became its president, until the lease of the OMG to the Hoyts in 1899. The Elkins papers seem to indicate Elkins exercised control of the NMMC even though 
Lawson signed documents. 

1880October6; Deed; Stephen B. Elkins by his attorney in fact Thos B. Catron sells for $125 to Elliott D. Horubek Lot No.1, Block No.14, Lot No.6, Block No.9 in the 
town of Cerrillos, in SE ¼ of Sec18 T14N R8E, all 25ôx150ô; certify 6Oct80 William S. Woodside Notary Public, recorded 15December1880 [Locations & Mining 
Deeds E#15409 p.38] 

1880October6; Deed; Stephen B. Elkins by his attorney in fact Thos B. Catron sells for $150 to Elmira S. Harkness Lots No.3, 5, 7 Block No.14 in the town of 
Cerrillos, all 25ôx150ô; certify 6Oct80 William S. Woodside Notary Public, recorded 15December1880 [Locations & Mining Deeds E#15409 p.40] 

1881-88; Elkins relocates from DC to NYC; practices law in DC and NYC; Elkins office at 1 Broadway (building built in 1881) 
1881; While negotiations with the Santa Fe were ongoing, Catron and Elkins granted a concession to Arthur Boyle, Wilmot E. Broad, and Charles H. Irvin to open 

mines on that portion of the field wholly within the Juana Lopez Grant. Boyle was an Englishman who immigrated to Santa Fe; in Great Britain, he had been a 
mining engineer, though he pursued other interests in New Mexico. Broad came to New Mexico interested in livestock but remained to become an associate of 
Catron in a variety of business ventures. Irvin, a former Union officer, had been a member of Palmerôs surveying party into NM. ¶ When Palmer left the Kansas 
Pacific to organize the Denver & Rio Grande, Irvin followed. Irvin was a locating engineer on the extension south from Antonito CO. At the time of the March 1880 
ñtreaty of Boston,ò by which the two companies agreed to stay out of each othersô territory. The treaty ended the D&RGôs southerly progress at Espanola NM. 
When a group of Santa Fe businessmen organized the Texas, Santa Fe & Northern to connect the territorial capitol with Espanola, thirty miles to the north, he 
joined the new railroad as its first chief engineer. (The TSF&N ultimately was completed in January 1887.) ¶ Irvin also associated himself with two projects to 
develop the Galisteo coal field. One, to which we have alluded above, was incorporated on December 17, 1881, as the Anthracite & Bituminous Coal Company. 
The other, was the Cerrillos & Southern Railroad, which was to build about six miles of track, connecting the mines with the AT&SF. Irvin was chief engineer and 
T.B. Catron was an organizer for both companies. [JPHereford, TheCerrillosCoalRailroad, 8Feb2008 draft] 

1881March22; The owners of the Ortiz grant have decided that the Delgado mine of the Mammoth consolidating company is not located upon the 

grant. Several other leads of this company which have heretofore been supposed to be on the grant have also been declared off. This is a big thing 

for the mining company, for whether the issue between the miners and the grant holders be either right or wrong for the former the question 
unsettled is calculated to injure the value of the property. The decision of the owners of the grant will have its effect upon the value of the stock of 

the Mammoth company now upon the market, and the difference will not be to the disadvantage of the company. [SFDNM] 

1881March23; S.B. Elkins, former US Attorney, congressional delegate, and partner of Thomas B. Catron, asked Pres Arthur to reappoint Axtell as 
NM gov; fails 

1881July14; Letters From The Camps, No.9. ¶ Los Cerrillos is a station on the A.T.& S.F. railroad, at the crossing of the highway from Santa Fe to the Old and New 
Placers. There are two stores, two saloons, a hotel and two or three dwelling houses. This is the natural outlet for the whole country to the north and southwest 
for many miles, and is destined to be quite a commercial point in the near future. ¶ Two miles west of this station is a coal mine, which produces coal equal in 
quality to any in the whole West. On the 30th day of June, 1881, the miners who had been at work in this shaft, to the number of eighteen, struck for higher 
wages, demanding an increase of 25 per cent on each ton mined. Their demand was not acceded to. Two or three of them went back for a day or so to finish up 
a car load partially filled at the time of the strike. About this time, I think a little after, Mr. W.H. Patton received advices from the railroad company of a change in 
freight rates. Mr. Patton informed me that he had a contract with the company for freight as follows: To Santa Fe, $2.50 per ton, to Albuquerque, $2.75; Las 
Vegas, $3.25. This had been the price for six months. The change on freight rates was as follows: To Las Vegas, $12.45; to Albuquerque, $7.35; to Santa Fe, 
$5.55. At these rates Mr. Patton said that he could not afford to ship coal, and therefore on last Saturday all the lumber for shutes, &c, at the mine was hauled 
away, and no more work will be done there. Mr. Patton lays all his trouble to the railroad company, and the miners declare it all proceeded from this strike. I give 



both sides as given to me by the parties themselves. ¶ Mr. Patton had leased the mines from the owners, Messrs. Catron & Elkins, and had expended over 
$5,000 in improvements. I have never seen a better quality of coal than that taken from this mine. ¶ A smelter was put up here about a year ago, but it is not now 
worked. There are a dozen or more reasons given by the people here why this smelter is not running, the principal one being that the machine is not suitable for 
treating the peculiar quality of mineral in this Territory. There is a strong probability that it will start up again next spring under a different management. ¶ The 
machine, however, that is expected to revolutionize the placer working is the dry washer or precious metal separator, as it is called. Mr. Hall, the inventor and 
manufacturer, is here, and is confident that the machine will be in running order within ten days. I give below a brief description of this machine, and there is 
general confidence that it will be a success. It is used to extract the precious metals from the auriferous and argentiferous ores, sand, gravel, or other deposits or 
tailings, and it is particularly designed to furnish an apparatus whereby such extraction may be thoroughly effected by means of a pressure blast of air, or 
compressed air in connection with suitable chemicals, although the apparatus may be employed in connection with hydraulic pressure. ¶ The invention further 
has for its objects to provide an apparatus which shall be simple in construction, so that it can be readily taken apart and conveniently packed for transportation, 
and expeditiously put together when required for use, and by means of which the finest particles of gold, silver, or other metals may be separated from foreign 
substances and concentrated. ¶ The operation of this apparatus is as follows: Two sets of pans are employed, one set being placed in the machine while in 
operation, the other set being held in reserve to take the place of the first mentioned set when the same have to be removed to discharge the mercury or 
chemicals and extracted metals. The pans being properly charged with chemicals and secured in the machine, the doors are closed, making the machine air 
tight, except at the induction and eduction air-openings. The ore, which may be in the form of gravel, sand, placer ore, or other natural deposits or tailings, is fed 
into the hopper, the casing being oscillated by rotating the driving shaft. The ore, by means of the agitating shaft and its arms, is fed from the hopper in a finely 
divided condition into one end of the upper pan. Here it meets with the incoming draft of air from the blowing machine and is carried by the draft of air, which, 
meeting with the dampers, is by them together with the ore, directed into the pockets containing the mercury or chemicals, violating the same and forcing the ore 
into intimate contact therewith. The ore, after being thoroughly deprived of the precious metals, escapes through the eduction opening at the lower corner of the 
machine. ¶ A dry-washer was brought here by four inexperienced young gentlemen a few months ago, but was not unloaded from the cars, although many 
claims were offered them where they could test the quality of the deposits. The boys were looking for something better. Mr. Hall has great faith in the placer 
diggings around here, and as he is energetic, and has a large amount of vim and snap about him, he will very likely succeed. We shall await with interest to hear 
of the successful operation of this machine. W.W.C. [W.W. Cone] Los Cerrillos, July 12, 1881 [SFDNM Vol.X No.114] 

1881October12; Warranty Deed; Stephen B. Elkins of SF Co sells for $50 to Mary J. Hammondé entry voided; [b.F p.505] 

1882June25; Amount of Property Owned By the Residents of Santa Fe County. April 14, 1882. Elkins, S.B. _ 75,15? 00 [SFDNM]   

Rencher vs. Elkins ï Lawsuit over 1/3 int in the land of Town of Cerrillos. Elkins bought 606 acres and Rencher claimed a 1/3 interest and Catron had the other 1/3. 
Rencher then (1884) signed his interest over to Abraham Staab and Henry G. Prout. [NMSU Folder #s 2/4 2/5 2/6, Lawsuit] 

1884 -- Cerrillos Coal and Iron Company created by Elkins to develop the Madrid Coal field. 
1884; future Madrid, 15,026acres, is sold to Elkins & Chaffee; Ortiz Grant now 57,267acres 
1884January10; NOTICE; Edward T. Farish, Benjamin M. Read, Larkin G. Read, Alexander Read, Modesto Ortiz, Teodora Ortiz de Martinez and 

Transito Ortiz, plaintiffs, vs. The New Mexico Mining Company, Stephen B. Elkins, Jerome B. Chaffee, R.W. Donnell, Lars Anderson, Elias 

Brevoort, Nestor Sandoval, Marcus Ramerez, Luis Ortiz and Juan Ortiz, defendants. [Weekly New Mexican Review, p.2 c.7] 

1884January24(disc&loc); S.B. Elkins, locator Lamp Lighter Lode from N bank of Rio Galisteo 94ô at or near the Village of La Vaca NEly40Ü 500ô 
SWly1000ô 300ôNW+SE, ca NE from the Placer Mtns, ca NW from Cerro Pelon, ca W of SW from E Penasco, La Vaca MD, rec 1Feb84 [b.F 

p.623] 

1884January28; Mining Deed; Joseph Richards, Wm/W.C. Hurt, Wm/W.S. McClaury, Horace/H.M. Jones, Manuel Stevenson, John Patterson, 
Daniel/D.D. Harkness, Charles B./C.P. Hammond sell for $1 to Stephen B. Elkins of Co&City of New York, Galisteo Placer Mining Claim loc 

24Jan84, 160ac, T14N R8E Sec26,35,36; La Vaca MD, rec 1Feb84 [b.F p.620] 

1884April4; Dated. Quit Claim Deed. Jerome B. Chaffee, of Denver and Stephen B. Elkins of StaFe for $10 to NMMCé the land hereby conveyed and intended to be 
conveyed being the rest residue and remainder of said Ortiz Mine Grant left after the conveyance of that part of the same made by deed executed by the parties of 
the first part on the fourth day of April A.D. 1884, to the Cerrillos Coal and Iron Company containing 15,026.06 acres more or less. Sig. S.B. Elkins, J.B. Chaffee. 
Wit. H.Ebert, William H. Clarkson, David Mitchell<com.for NM in CO], Wm B. Harrison. SBE ackn before Charles Edgar Mills, com.for NM in NY 117 
BroadwayNYC. b.N Deeds p.36. [BHenderson Abstract of Title No.1 30Sep1983] 

1884March; As time passed, Catron and Elkins still hoped for an understanding with the Santa Fe to develop the field. They were sufficiently optimistic to organize in 
March 1884 the Cerrillos Coal & Iron Company and purchase improvements made by the Anthracite & Bituminous Coal Company. The new companyôs 
stockholders included the other owners of the NMMC, Jerome Chaffee and Richard C. Kerens. But neither did CC&IC continue the work nor was an agreement 
reached with the Santa Fe. CC&IC remained dormant for another eight years. ¶ With the CC&IC inactive, trespass mining increased, though the scale remained 
small. In 1888, for example, five bituminous and two anthracite mines extracted a total of 25,200 tons of coal. By comparison, that year some 300,000 tons were 
mined at Gallup NM, on the Atlantic & Pacific Railroad; 227,427 tons by the Raton Coal & Coke Company at Raton, and, at Carthage, the San Pedro Coal & Coke 
Company produced 62,038 tons. Æ CC&IC took no effort to stem the misappropriation of its resource. The companyôs officers were spread across the nation; 
Richard C. Kerens, president, residing in Missouri, alone could initiate action to assert the companyôs ownership of the coal. For some reason, he declined even to 
convene a meeting of the directors. ¶ Eventually, the talks with Elkins bore fruit. On December 10, 1891, Elkins agreed to deliver to the railroad the entire capital 
stock of the CC&IC in exchange for $300,000 cash plus $700,000 in bonds issued by the coal company. Those bonds were secured by a first mortgage on some 
26,000 acres of land owned by CC&IC. The land comprised all of the Mesita Juana Lopez Grant south of the Rio Galisteo, plus the 15,000 acres of the Ortiz Mine 
Grant falling within the boundaries of both grants. It thus embraced all of the coal lands within either grant, and much land to the west barren of coal. [JPHereford, 
TheCerrillosCoalRailroad, 8Feb2008 draft] 

1884July25; If the San Pedro people had any confidence in the justice of their cause, why is it that as soon as it was knowin Col. Webb had succeeded 
in having the suit removed from the jurisdiction of Axtell, Steve Elkins immediately went to Washington and sought the Attorney General, urging 

him to dismiss the case or at least to revoke the order which took the matter out of the hands of Axtell. But as the Hon. Steve Elkins now owns 

largely in San Pedro grant stock, and since the Chief Justice lately bought into the concern through his son-in-law, Mr Philipps, it is but natural for 
the Hon. Steve Elkins of course to wish this Chief Justice Axtell to to pass on the merits of the San Pedro grant. [The Golden Retort. Vol.V No.2] 

1884August7; SB Elkins resigns from First National Bank of SF; Wm W. Griffin was elected president; Mr. Pedro Perea, vice president; Mr. J.M. 

Perea, a director, and Maj. R.J. Palen remains as cashier. 
1884August15; As the fraudulent grant clouds are lowering, portending destructive financial storms to those who have sold these stolen claims by 

warranty to the gullible, Steve Elkins is drawing in all his property subject to seizure; hence his retiring from the presidency of the Santa Fe bank 

and the disposal of his stock therein. [The Golden Retort. Vol.V No.4] 
1884August22; R. Kearnes, a noted star route thief, is a great Blaine man. He is also, as is the Plumed Knight, interested with Steve Elkins in his land 

steals in New Mexico. ï With Elkins Secretary of the Interior, Dick Kearnes as Land Commissioner, Atkinson Surveyor General, Max Frost Land 

Register, Ortiz y Salazar Receiver of public moneys, Tom Catron United States Attorney, Axtell Chief Justice and Morrison Marshal, what rapid 
strides New Mexico would take in point of permanent prosperity! Elect Blaine and the above is about the size of it so far as this Territory is 



concerned. ï Vast sums in placer gold are being taken out of ground claimed by the Ortiz grant fraud. Why does not Elkins collect royalty? 

Waiting till after November, probably. [The Golden Retort. Vol.V No.5] 
1884August29; Will ñour Steveò be able to send us any money from the national campaign fund? is the query that goes up from the ring just now. [The 

Golden Retort. Vol.V No.6] 

1884December10; Goldené Steve Elkins is the boss thief of the lot, and he is a choice one. He is universally detested and feared throughout all NM, and his life 
wouldnôt be worth much if he were to venture into this part of the country. [Charles Lummis, Letters from the Southwest, UofAz 1989 p.146] 

1884-85 S.B. Elkins, pres. First National Bank ï W.W. Griffin cashier, resident StaFe, listed, in Gazetteer, R.L. Polk & Co + A.C. Danser 

1885-89 ï Cleveland (D) administration; Republican appointee drought in NM 
1885; [draft of CC&IC organization resolution] Whereas, a conflict of title has existed between the owners of the Ortiz Mine Granté and the owners of the Mesita Juana 
Lopez Granté the several owners of said properties have formed a joint stock Company known as the Cerrillos Coal And Iron Company, with a capital stock of 
One million dollars. ca.14k acres of OMG = $400k; ca.20k acres of MJLG = $600k. And Whereas, it has been agreed that Stephen B. Elkins, Thomas B. Catron 
and Antonio Ortiz y Salazar, as representing the ownership of said MJLG, will own, the said Elkins $160k, the said Catron $160k, Antonio Ortiz y Salazar $40k of 
the capital stock remaining after deducting said $400ké = Elkins 1600sh, Catron 1600sh, OrtizySalazar 400sh. Whereas the following own the OMG: Jerome B. 
Chaffee 90/375; Leonidas M. Lawson 80/375; Larz Anderson 72.5/375; Stephen B. Elkins 54/375; Joseph Larocque 25/375; M.P. Bush 22/375; Richard C. Kerens 
20/375; Alfred J. Wolf, Trustee, 3.5/375; M.F. Hunt 3/375; Matthew Addy 2.5/375; Nicholas L. Anderson 2.5/375é are entitled to receive the following stock: 
Chaffee 576sh; Lawson 512sh; L. Anderson 464sh; Elkins 345sh; Larocque 160sh; Bush 140sh; Kerens 128sh; Wolf, Trustee, 23sh; Hunt 19sh; Addy 16sh; N.L. 
Anderson 17sh. éappoint Augustus Ebert of NYC and Frank W. Clancy of StaFe as trusteesé  

1887February4; F. Hiss, C.E., Fort Dodge, Iowa, to S.B. Elkins; Asking for right of first refusal on the Bosque del Apache Grant until 1Jun1888. [Elkins papers 229] 
1887February7; B.F. Hobart, to S.B. Elkins; ñI feel Mr. Perkins should become interested in the Ortiz scheme he would be of great benefit in developing that property if 

it is reorganized and put on its feet as proposed by you and Mr. Kerens.ò [Elkins papers 230] 
1887March11; R.C. Kerens to S.B. Elkins; ñP.S. I find that the adverse publications on the Ortiz came from New Mexico; think it was inspired by Gildersleeve. I think it 

has had considerable effect on the St. Louis parties and there is no day now set for going down there. éI hope the English people will take the property.ò [Elkins 
papers 255] 

1887April15; R.C. Kerens to S.B. Elkins; ñWhat has been done about the Ortiz? I hope the trade will go through with the English.ò [Elkins papers 276] 
1887September15; patent claims in Ora Qua canyon; the Jennie, owned by Griffin, Elkins, Thornton and Palen of Santa Fe. [SFWeeklyNMexican] 
1887December29; Benjamin Harrison to S.B. Elkins; Asking Elkins help in finding employment for his nephew George C. Eaton who had recently moved to Las Vegas 

NM for his health. [Elkins papers 358] 
1888January7; Benjamin Harrison to S.B. Elkins; Thanking Elkins for having a friend take his nephew there under his care. [Elkins papers 361] 
1888 -- Stephen B. Elkins moves to WVa to establish power base 
1888February6; Antonio Ortiz y Salazar, Treasurer of NM, letter on politics to S.B. Elkins. [Elkins papers 379] 
1888February21; Antonio Ortiz y Salazar to S.B. Elkins; re letter to OyS from the directors of the NMMC. [Elkins papers 388] 
1888March9; L.M. Janney, of Chrystie & Janney, Bankers, NY, to S.B. Elkins; Mr. Chrystie is presenting the Ortiz matter to the principals in London and needs a letter 

of authorization for him to carry on the negotiations for the sale.. [Elkins papers 396] 
1888March22; L.M. Janney to S.B. Elkins; Janney had called at Elkinsô office but not caught him. ñéChrystie cabled day before yesterday that he was in 

communication with his parties we hope the present interviews will result in something definite.ò. [Elkins papers 405] 
1888April11; L.M. Janney to S.B. Elkins; re the need for passage of the amendment to the Alien Land Act, allowing foreigners to again invest in mines in the territories; 

also a copy of a newspaper article on Congress passing the act. [Elkins papers 424] 
1888May12; Antonio Ortiz y Salazar to S.B. Elkins; re Ortiz Mine Grant. [Elkins papers 399] 
1888August26; J.T. Harding, atty Randolph co, WVa, to S.B. Elkins; re Elkinsô purchase of property in and around Leadville CO, including mines. [Elkins papers 505] 
Elkins, when you read widely the references to him in other books, was a renowned scoundrel. Even Benjamin Harrison [Pres 1889-1893] admitted to 

it in one (or more) of his biographies. In one particular instance, he did not want Elkins to continue providing advice to his son on a business 

investment in a ranch in the West. The men who built empires in the Reconstruction Era were thieves and roguesé Among these Industrialists of 

Reconstruction, Elkins was a knight. His so-called ñrebateò bill was a sham and a number of sources point out how the railroads used it to gain 
their monetary objectives. [Elizabeth Rogers] 

1889September14 ï Deed; S.B. Elkins to Harry S. Clancy for land including Cerrillos Smelter site; recorded 11May1891 Book W Deeds p.249 
1889September16 ï Deed; Harry S. Clancy & Susie Clancy to Thomas B. Catron for land including Cerrillos Smelter site; recorded 11May1891 Book W Deeds p.253 
1889October25; W.C. Rencher, who has a transfer of a third interest in the land a portion of which comprises the original town site of Cerrillos, from 

Mr. Elkins, and who has enjoined the further sale of lots by Mr. Catron, until his rights are recognized and a settlement adjusted, informs this paper 
that his claims will not be allowed to interfere or disturb the titles as vested in former purchasers, and that his sole airm is and shall be for the 

advancement of the town. He goes east next week to obtain an interview with Mr. Elkins, so says the Rustler. [SFDNM] 

1889October29; Also there has been filed a description (certificate of the register of the local land office) showing what lands at Cerrillos and 
elsewhere were sold to Stephen B. Elkins by the U.S. government September 13, 1871, and in which W.C. Rencher claims an interest. [SFDNM] 

1889December26; (Catron to Elkins) Sets out Rencherôs case for a 1/3 interest in the 606 acres at Cerrillos based on an Oct.17 1871 agreement at $1.25 per acre. 
Catron also discusses their enemies in congress and other items such as the promise of a 1/2 undivided interest in all the Cerrillos property to him by Elkins. 
[NMSU Folder #s 2/4 2/5 2/6, Lawsuit] 

1890 -- Elkins, WVa, incorporated; named for / founded by? WVa Senator Stephen B. Elkins 
1890September4; A trust deed to the Farmerôs Loan and Trust company of New York and made by the Irrigation & Hydraulic Mining company, to 

secure the payment of first mortgage gold coin bonds to the amount of $2,000,000, was placed on file in the office of the clerk of Santa Fe county 

yesterday. This company was originally organized two years ago as the Rio Grande Water company, and its objects are to take the waters of the 

Rio Pecos across the Galisteo mesa in south Santa Fe county and carry them upon the rich placer fields about San Pedro. They are operating under 
a charter granted many years ago to Hon. S.B. Elkins and others. N.W. Kingsley, H.H. Armstead, D.H. McPherson, James R. McPherson, H.C. 

McPherson, H.N. Savage, Lyman Brown and others, of New York, and a number of territorial capitalists, are the promoters of the enterprise. 

Norman W. Kingsley is the president and Henry H. Armstead the secretary of the new corporationé [SFDNM] 

1891January9; Jefferson Chandler to S.B. Elkins; re Folsom suit and settling it and back taxes for Cerrillos Coal Field. [Elkins papers 672] 
1891June22; T. Moore Jr., on S.B. Elkins stationery, to S.B. Elkins; Cover letter for letters from Bartlett re Cerrillos, and Gentry on Dolores mill lease. Offer to lease the 

NMMC mill for $1,200 per year by Neil Gentry. [letters absent] [Elkins papers 688] 
1891September5 ï press announcement that S.B. Elkins has been appointed Sec of War ï Aug1891 Sec of War Proctor is appointed Senator from VT effective 

1Nov1891, leaving position in Harrisonôs cabinet open 
 Stephen B. Elkins becomes Secretary of War; holds office until 1893  



1891September5; Jefferson Chandler to S.B. Elkins; congratulations on Sec of War; important to be there on the 14th and that Catron will be there.. [Elkins papers 
718] 

1891September16; (B.F. Hobart to S.B.Elkins) on building a railroad to coal mines and dealing with Catron and adverse claims to the area [Elkins papers 722] 
1891October2; It is currently reported that Mr. Catron has sold his interests in the Cerrillos coal fields to Elkins and Kern. [The Rustler v.IV n.22] 
1891October3; It is currently reported that Mr. Catron has sold his interests in the Cerrillos coal fields to Elkins and Kerens. [SFDNM] 

1891October22; Hon. Stephen B. Elkins, Dear Sir:- The Santa Fe Board of Trade and all the citizens of Santa Fe send sincere and most hearty congratulations upon 
your well merited appointment to the Cabinet Office of Secretary of War of this great republic, one of the few prominent and highly responsible and important 
positions in this country. Respectfully your obedient servants, (Signed) Santa Fe Board of Trade, by Edward C. Bartlett, President, - attest, Geo W. Knaebel, 
Secretary; Sol Spiegelberg; Marx Frost; J. Howard Vaugh; W.T. Thornton; J.P. Victory; R.E. Twitchell; B.M. Read; H.L. Ortiz; L.H. Hughes; Wm M. Berger; R.H. 
Longwill, M.D.; W.S. Harrison, M.D.; John Symington, M.D.; Wm H. Griffin; Cad Griffin; Trinidad Alarid; Elias Brevoort; E.L. Bartlett; August Kirchner; T.B. Catron; 
J.R. Armiga; Pedro Perea; J.H. Christ; C.H. Gildersleeve; A. Staab; Wedeles & Eldork; Jake Weltmer; Bert Call; Enos Andrews; C.F.A. Fischer; Jose D. Senor; 
J.B. Lamy; Rt. Rev J.B. Salponte; Seligman Bros.; Felipe Selgado, and all the citizens and residents the city. [Elkins papers 728] 

1891October22; (J. Francisco Chaves to S.B.Elkins) congratulations of Sec of War. [Elkins papers 729] 
1891October28; A correspondent at Silver City wires this to the Globe-Democrat: ñBetween thirty and forth mines in the Hanover district have been 

bonded to the Cerrillos Coal & Iron company, in which R.C. Kerens, S.B. Elkins and T.B. Catron are heavily interested.ò [SFDNM] 

1891November; incomplete contract for Cerrillos Coal & Iron Company sale to AT&SF railroad, for $250k cash and $750k in the first mortgage securities of the 
AT&SF. Sig Kerens, but place for Elkinsô sig. is blank. [Elkins papers] 

1891 -- S.B. Elkins sells (future site of) Madrid land he had acquired in 1871 to AT&SF 
1891December10; copy made after signing of the contract for the sale of Cerrillos Coal Fields to AT&SF on this date, signed only by Elkins, for $1,000,000. [Elkins 

papers (no #)] [This is the final document that sold the Madrid area to the AT&SF. However, it operated as a totally independent company on paper. RR histories 
do not show this AT&SF control until the 1906 bankruptcy of the AT&SF, and in the reorganization it was made part of the parent company. Certainly one reason 
for independent operation was to manipulate Elkins & Kerens out of as much as possible of their $700k in bonds on the property. Kerens complained in 1894 that 
they were being cheated by the AT&SF.] 

1891December10; copy of memorandum that shows S.B. Elkins has sold and that the AT&SF Railroad Company has bought from the first named party, for 
$1,000,000 éall the capital stock of the Cerrillos Coal and Iron Company, being 10k shares at $100 each. The said CC&IC being the owner of about 26,000 
acres of land lying on the S side of the Galisteo River; 15,026.06acres within the Ortiz Mine Grant, and conveyed by Jerome B. Chaffee and Stephen B. Elkins to 
the CC&IC by deed 4Apr1884 b.Deeds N p.34. The portion of the Ortiz Mine Grant hereby conveyed 15,026.06acres éembracing that part of the Mesita Juana 
de Lopez Grant in conflict with the Ortiz Mine Grant. Also all that prat of the Mesita de Juana Lopez Grant lying south of the Galisteo River and extending to the 
north boundary of the Ortiz Mine Grant, estimated to contain about 11k acres, conveyed by Thomas B. Catron and Julia A., his wife to the CC&IC 1Jul1885, 
b.Deeds N p.222. The AT&SF agrees to pay for the stock as follows $300k on the surrender of CC&IC stock on Tues 22Dec1891, and not later. Upon it 
appearing that the CC&IC has a good and perfect title to the lands, except that portion of the San Domingo Pueblo Grant in conflict with the Mesita de Juana 
Lopez Grant, and that the said lands are free and unencumbered except as to the leases hereinafter mentioned, and that the CC&IC has no indebtedness, the 
AT&SF will maker a further payment of $700k par value of the first mortgage sinking fund 4% bonds, of an issue of $1M of like bonds. 30days to back out. Sig. in 
NY 10Dec1891; S.B. Elkins; The AT&SF RCo, J.W. Reinhart, President. Presence Geo F. Crane. [Elkins papers] 

1891December10; (Kerens to Elkins c/o C.L. Bretz, Cumberland MD) Have had a pretty lively time this week trading with Thornton, Webb and Hobart in succession. 
Have just concluded with Hobart. Under all the circumstances, taking into consideration the position into which Hobart is placed with Catron and others, I guess I 
have not given him any more than he was entitled to. You will have seen Chandler when you get this, and of course he will explain to you the deals with Thornton 
and Webb. We paid Thornton $5,000. for all his interest, together with maps, plats, abstracts, etc. He claimed a one-twentieth interest in the Juana Lopez Grant. 
His interest, I think, comes from Gonzales. Bought Webbôs interest for $17,500. He claims one-sixth of the Juana Lopez. éWebb went away in flying colors, 
swearing everlasting friendship etc. The purchase from Webb had a marked influence on some of the operators who are here in St. Louis, and I think breaks up 
the entire opposition. éHobart is very much disappointed that we have traded with the Santa Fe. He says he has positive information which leads him to believe 
that the property is worth five million, dollarsé [Elkins papers 738] 

1891December11; (R.C. Kerens to S.B. Elkins) K. now has all 10k shares of CC&IC stock, 3950sh being in the Treasury, and just having bought back Clancyôs 50sh 
@ $25ea. Cunningham tells RCK that Manvel and Waldo have repeated told the squatters that they charged the extraordinary freight rates they do, to cover 
royalty, which they expected, when title was settled, the railway Company would have to pay. Cunningham says there has been an average of 200 tons per day 
shipped from Cerrillos for the past 5 years. éthe royalty at 50 cents per toné would amount to nearly $200,000. Their freight rates are simply awful; $2.50 per 
ton for 50 miles. Judge Waldo in his decision about title, has given character and dignity to Thornton, Webb and Folsomôs claims. I believe Waldo is in with both 
Thornton and Webb, and feel sure that Thornton will give Waldo $2,500 of the $5,000. he  got from us. Same with Webb. I have good reasons for this belief. 
AT&SF bond offers, 4% vs.6%. Catron threatens if we buy Webb out suit will be brought to maintain title for others. He says they are ñmen in the moonò. ï Risque 
recommends townsites; Business Town Site A at Waldo Station, where the side tracks would come in from the coking region. This is at the mouth of Keystone 
Gulch, our only outlet to the railroad from that portion of the property. Mining camp and company store Site B (Madrid), just where Kesees [Kerens<HM] house 
now stands, about 4.5mi to the SW of the town of Los Cerrillos, in a beautiful valley where the principal coal measures are now operated. Crude map is file 742. 
[Elkins papers 740] 

1891December12; (R.C. Kerens to S.B. Elkins) Risque has selected a splendid town site on the Cerrillos property, as per enclosed memorandum. When these coal 
fields are properly opened and the smelters moved there, as they will be on account of the coal and coke and iron for flux; also lime-stone, there will be a City of 
eight or ten thousand people, and a half million dollars is not a large estimeate to realize from a town-site. éYou know they agreed when we were in New York 
before, to give us a one-half interest, and allow us to manage the town site. I wish you would at once telegraph McCook about this, as I propose to bring it up in 
Chicago. éWe must be in on this town site, + McCook could be taken care of through us. <AT&SF kept them out of this business opportunity by making Waldo & 
Madrid company towns<HM). [Elkins papers 742] 

1891December14; (W.T. Thornton to S.B. Elkins) I have just returned from St Louis where I arranged satisfactorily my business. need to write power of atty to Catron 
so that the titles to lots in the Town of Cerrillos can be cleared up; that Victory is enclosing a power of atty and to correspond directly with him on this. <Elkins 
bought the area in 1871 and left development and sale in Catronôs hands when he left NM in 1873. Catron could not find his power of atty, so lot titles were not 
clear<HM) [Elkins papers 744] 

1891December17; Telegram from Kerens to S.B. Elkins; Waldo has examined titleé report not favorable. [Elkins papers 745] 
1891December17; President Harrison, To-day Nominated Hon. S.B. Elkins to be Secretary of War. Hon. S.B. Elkins was born in Zanesville, Ohio, Sept. 21, 

1841. When he was about 1 year of age his father removed to the western frontier and settled in Westport, Mo. Mr. Elkins received his education in the 
public schools and at the Missouri State university, at Columbia, and graduated in the class of 1860. Hon. T.B. Catron, of Santa Fe, was one of his 
class-mates. After being admitted to the bar he came to New Mexico from his native state in 1863, and very soon mastered the Spanish language. He 
was elected to the legislature from Dona Ana county in 1864 and 1865, and after his term expired he located in Santa Fe. He served as attorney general 
of the territory in 1867, and some six months later was commissioned by President Johnson United States attorney for New Mexico. He was elected a 
delegate to the 43rd congress as a Republican by a handsome majority and re-elected to the 44th congress by a still larger majority. He was the founder 



of that flourishing institution the First National bank here and its firs president, and remained as such for twelve years. He left the territory in 1876, 
becoming a resident of West Virginia. Prior to coming to New Mexico he, in 1862 and 3, organized and was elected captain of a company of Missouri 
volunteers, and Judge H.L. Waldo, of this city, was corporal of his company. Mr. Elkins was a very popular man in New Mexico and during his twelve 
years residence in the territory was without doubt its most influential citizen. His record as an official and a delegate to congress proves him to be a 
remarkably brainy, energetic, hardworking and successful man, while his great ability in business matters is fully conceded. Mr. Elkins is a son-in-law of 
one of the most remarkable men produced by West Virginia, ex-Senator Davis, and though they do not agree politically, the business and family 
relations between these two men are closer than is usually the good fortune of men to enjoy. [SFDNM] 

1891December22; from Elkins (no sig) to George Magoun & John Cook, trustees; ñAmong shares of capital stock of the Cerrillos Coal & Iron Co. delivered to you by 
me to-day, is Certificate No.9éò to M.F. Hunt for 19 shares not signed on back but will be guaranteed. [Elkins papers 746] 

1891December23; memo by S.B. Elkins; New York, December 23rd. 1891. For Value Received, I hereby undertake and agree, that upon the receipt by me of Seven 
Hundred Thousand ($700,000) Dollars par value of the four per cent Sinking Fund Bonds of the Cerrillos Coal Railroad Company, under the agreement of 
December tenth, 1891, that I will deliver to Logan C. Murray, Trustee, Seventy Thousand ($70,000) Dollars par value of said bonds. S.B. Elkins [Elkins papers 
746] 

1891December23; from Victory to S.B. Elkins; re Elkinsô reported power of attorney claimed to have been executed by SBE to Catron to sell land in the town of 
Cerrillos. Enclosed is a list of recorded sales by Catron [not present]. Enclosed is a deed for Elkins to sign. Cover note for deed is on separate sheet. Also copy 
of notice as run in a newspaper. [Elkins papers 747] 

Elkins & Kerens developed a major N-S RR from MO to the Gulf Coast through TX 
1892; Kerens, as Elkins partner uses Cerrillos Coal RR Co to bring in houses to develop future Madrid ï Madrid was not a designed company town it 
just grew around Kerensô house and those built by 1880s squatters that Elkins bought or forced out. CCRC was totally owned by the AT&SF though 

Elkins and Kerens owned all of the company bonds. 

1892January1; (Kerens to Elkins) Please pay Mr.Denman $600 and L? Moore Jr. Secty. NMMCo same amount $600. This is due and was deducted from L.M. 
Lawsons stock and is in payment of the Lawsons stock. I paid Clancy for 50sh of stock $1250, Risque working exp? 2000, Catron 1250. [Elkins papers 748] 

1892January7; (Kerens to Elkins) Risque is ready to start. He has delivered checks to Smith and Schaurte for their stock and Denman and Moore to pay the $1200 
due on the Lawson stock. Enclosed is a copy of letter to Manvel. [Elkins papers 750] 

1892January7; (Kerens to Elkins) Since the letter of this morning Chandler went to see Mr. Smith and wants to wash his hands of the Cerrillos affair. He will turn over 
Thornton deeds if we will give him a receipt that he can send to Thornton. Enclosed is a copy of the letter from Catron to Chandler. My idea is to offer Thornton 
$4800 to settle the matter in full. [Elkins papers 751] 

1892January8; (Kerens to Elkins) Chandler could not come see him. Enclosed is letter to Thornton, Catron & Bartlett from Chandler. Colorado Fuel Co., Paul Morton, 
Vice-president, is backing one of the major squatters, and has put up machinery for crusing anthracite. He is sending Risque out to their place tomorrow night. I 
am afraid Catron is putting himself in shape to make trouble for us with this deed that he has dug up. ï 7Jan1892; Office of Cerrillos Coal & Iron Co., to Mr. T.B. 
Catron; I am glad you have the deed you speak of, which will clean up the whole ground of claims made against the Company. I hope you many secure that, and 
put the whole thing at rest for the Company. My suit pending here is against the Santa Fe Company and against Folsom, in the State Court. I did not bring it in the 
Federal Court for the reasons suggested in your letter. Yours truly, Jeff Chandler, Genl.Atty. [Elkins papers 752] 

1892January8; Kerens to Elkins; Chandlerôs answer to Fieldôs communication about Folsom interest.. [Elkins papers] 
1892January9; letter from Kerens to Elkins re telegraph to Fields in Albuquerque, and Risque leaving for NM. [Elkins papers 754] 
1892January11; (Thornton to Elkins) Waldo had asked him to act for CC&I on perfecting the Juana Lopez title. Suggest buying claims of original heirs before some 

speculator does as sale of the grant is in the news. Suggests giving titles to Cerrillos lots and he is satisfied with sale of his interest in [CC&I] Company but would 
like cash. [Elkins papers 755] 

1892January12; (Kerens to Elkins) Cunningham has kept new squatters out but people [coal miners<HM] are shipping coal under false names to avoid paying royalty. 
Catron may be a problem. [Elkins papers 757] 

1892January12; (Kerens to Elkins) re Catronôs claim for $1750 for defending the south boundary of the Juana Lopez grant with Knaebel. ñI never knew that anyone 
had employed him or Knaebel to protect the boundaries of the Juana Lopez Grant. Could this have been before it was deeded to the Cerrillos Company?ò This 
should be settled quickly. Catron is real hard up for money. ñYou might say to Catron in your letter that the proceeds from sale of town lots at Cerrillos ought to pay 
all those expenses. This would be a gently reminder that he sold these lots without accounting to you.ò [Elkins papers 758] 

1892January15; (Jeff Chandler to Elkins at Normandie Hotel) re negotiations with the [AT&]Santa Fe people on Cerrillos Company: form of mortgage, deed ï quit 
claim as good as warranty deed. All stock to be delivered to Atchinson Co. as a consideration of its guaranty of the bonds. ï The property in the new company is 
represented by the stock of the Cerrillos Company, which stock is to be delivered as I understand, to the Atchinson Company as a consideration of its guaranty of 
the bonds. ï McCook of AT&SF wants deeds to all the Cerrillos Co. property and other items on sale of old Cerrillos Co. and creation of new one. [Elkins papers 
762] 

1892January16; (Kerens to Elkins) Enclosed is Risque report. Paul Morton of Colo.Fuel Co. came by to see me and they will quietly drop Mr. Lucas and all others. 
[Elkins papers 764] 

1892January16; (Kerens to Elkins) re Folsom developments. [Elkins papers 764] 
1892January18; (McCook to Elkins) Waldo could not find deeds of CC&I to the Madrid area for the bonds so had to use description in sales contract. [Elkins papers 

765] 
1892January18; (McCook to Elkins) Procedure CC&I Company directorôs meeting should follow to legally approve sale of Cerrillos coal field. [Elkins papers 766] 
1892January18; (Risque to Elkins) re Catron & Knaebel claims for money. [Elkins papers 767] 
1892January19; (Kerens to Risque) Instructions in code on what to do. [decoded on letter] ï ñI explained to you very fully the fact that Thrifty [Thornton] was the factor 
as to his knowledge to the title, and Temperôs [Waldoôs] belief in Thriftyôs [Thornton] opinion. Think I also advised you to get Thriftyôs [Thornton] assistance.ò ï also 
Kerens to Elkins cover letter for copy of this. [Elkins papers 768] 

1892January20; (Kerens to Elkins) re Risqueôs letter about Folsomôs interest and they probably should buy it for $15k. It seems $2502.50 is the best he (Risque) can 
do on taxes, including 1891. Just received telegram to that effect. He has drawn for that amount. You understand about the perpetual lease. It was offered to 
Catron as atty for the Co., for a few hundred dollars. He refused, and announced it worthless. Thornton takes account of it in his abstract. Waldo says it must be 
taken up. We shall have to get it. [Elkins papers 769] 

1892January21; (Kerens to Elkins) re Folsomôs claim andé There is danger that the Cerrillos deal will leak out [The agreement to sell was made by Elkins on 
10Dec91 but kept secret for several months<HM] ï then we will have fresh complications and an army of blackmailers ï perhaps a flood of vicious legislation and 
trouble fomented with the miners, which might result in blood-shed. Risqueôs position is a trying one. He is all alone ï has not the benefit of a reliable attorney, and 
it is difficult for one man to cope successfully with what he has to meet. éHave written you about employing Judge Phillips. éJudge Phillips is not a great lawyer, 
not a fighter in Court, but he is diplomatic, has good judgement and is first rate in compromising matters. He also looks well after details. [Elkins papers 770] 

1892January21; (Kerens to Elkins) re Thorntonôs letter and paying him and hiring him as confidential attorney to help Risque. [Elkins papers 771] 
1892January22; (Kerens to Elkins) re Chandlerôs and Risqueôs ideas of what to pay Folsom. [Elkins papers 772] 



1892January23; (B.F. Hobart, pres. Kansas & Texas Coal Co. to Elkins) Catron has been given a $15k loan on his K&TCoal stock by the bank. Hobart would like 
payment on the $15k for his Cerrillos Coal stock he gave up so they could sell the company. [Elkins papers 773] 

1892February5; (Kerens to Elkins) Needs 30-40k for Cerrillos expenses as he is tight. Catron is expected in a week. Catron may go into partnership with Matt G. 
Reynolds, US attorney for the Land Court. [Elkins papers 776] 

1892February6; (Hobart to Elkins) Accepts $15k for release of Kerens from all liability in connection with Catron stock. [Elkins papers 776] 
1892February9; (Moore Jr. on Elkins stationery to Elkins). re M.F. Huntôs 19sh. also memo 17Feb re Mrs. Wrightôs interest in the Ortiz Grant remains intact and she 

got 19sh of the Cerrillos stock as part of that interest. she was paid $25 per share for her stock just like everyone else. [Elkins papers 777] 
1892February10; (McCook to Elkins). re M.F. Hunt certificate No.9 for 19sh which was surrendered on 25Sept1885. [Elkins papers] 
1892February13; (Smith to Elkins) re getting release of Kerens before you pay him [Hobart?] $15,000. [Elkins papers 781] 
1892February14; (Kerens to Elkins) ñThe enclosed [ref 2/2 & 2/10] just received from Risque. Please give it whatever attention is necessary at the Interior Dept. It 
seems to me Russell could attend to this matter.ò [Elkins papers 782] 

1892February17; (McCook to Elkins) Minutes of last meeting of Cerrillos Coal & RR Co. of December 11th show Risque resigned as Treasurer and C.H. Smith was 
elected Sec & Treas. Whose signature do you want on the bonds? [Elkins papers 785] 

1892February17; (Thos. Moore Jr. as agent for Elkins) re Mrs. Wrightôs interest in the Ortiz Grant. Assuring her that part not conveyed to CC&ICo is still intact. [Elkins 
papers 777] 

1892February17; (Kerens to Elkins) I have limited Risque to $20k for the Folsom purchase and still hope he will arrange inside of that. But donôt you think we had 
better close it quickly, even if we pay $25k? A suit would be an ugly thing to defend, and sooner or later the Cerrillos deal will leak out. It is my judgement we had 
better close it out, and skip. Of course I cannot leave here until this matter is settled, as I must keep in touch with Risque. All of this work which I have to give daily 
attention to, and constant thought, is work for which we employe Chandler. I feel that the manner in which he has dropped this matter, ignoring his plain duty, is an 
outrage. ï Elkins should write him to do the job he is being paid to do. éPS Webb has telegraphed for $7000 ï which I will have to authorize him to draw for at 
once he is in New York. RCK. [Elkins papers 784] 

1892February18; (McCook to Elkins) Enclosed is paper to sign to clear up the J.G. Hunt 19 shares of CC&I Co. [Elkins papers 786] 
1892February20; (Hobart to Elkins) Enclosed is the agreement you asked for [Kerenôs release from guarantee on Catron stock<HM] which should have been enclosed 

in my last letter. I shall hope to receive a check for $15,000 at an early date. Please try to get a bill through congress for improvement of San Pedro Harbor even 
though you are no longer involved in California Improvement Co. [Elkins papers 788] 

1892February23; (McCook to Elkins) Thank you for returning the Hunt stock papers. [Elkins papers 789] 
1892February29; (McCook to Elkins) Just got letter from Waldo on the delays in getting the balance of title papers to the Cerrillos Coal fields. Please impress on him 

the need to complete this so mortgage and bonds can be issued. [Elkins papers 790] 
1892March9; (McCook to Elkins) Just received your letter of March 7th on the difficulties in perfecting title to the Cerrillos Tract. Regret Judge Waldoôs sons accident 

and his being so technical on the title. It was not our intent to be unreasonable. After the bonds were engraved I learned that A.G. Taylor was listed as Treasurer in 
the articles of Association so the name on the bonds had to be changed. [Elkins papers 791] 

1892March11; (McCook to Elkins) ñI hoped to see Mr. Kerens here this week to arrange to complete the details of organizing the railroad company, executing the 
mortgage and signing the bonds, but I have not seen hom.ò Please have him contact me. [Elkins papers 792] 

1892March12; (McCook to Elkins) Mr. Magoun thinks he has a buyer for some of the bonds but they will want either a six month option on the remainder or agreement 
not to sell any other bonds for a year. [Elkins papers 793] 

1892March25; (Chandler, in WashDC, to Elkins) ñYour letter came yesterdayé I do not understand one or two expressions in it.ò It was our understanding when we 
compromised that I was under no legal obligation but only try to accommodate to you in the matter of the Folsom suit which I instituted in Saint Louis. I have a 
case before the Supreme Court here but will try to see you. [Elkins papers 794] 

1892March25; (Kerens to Elkins) Mr. Devlin was there and they had a CC&I Co meeting and have adopted all the proceedings mapped out by McCook. Develin will 
allow all expenses for purchase of mines, machinery, etc. but they must be approved by Manvel before payment to us. The only remaining interest to acquire is 
Romero-Flores at Las Vegas. Catron has not gotten the interest even though he has an option on it. Please send money. [Elkins papers 794] <dupe#798? 

1892March29; (John J. McCook, General Counsel to AT&SF, to Elkins) Met with Kerens; we agree on exact procedure for the meeting of CC&I Co. directors in Saint 
Louis and the transfer to new company (CCRC) of all property. At the Directorsô Meeting of the Coal Company in St. Louis, resolutions will be passed transferring 
the coal lands and property of every description to the Railroad Company, and Mr. Kerens and Mr. Smith will execute the conveyances as President and Secretary 
of the Coal Company, so that the property will be vested in the Railroad Company, and be covered by the mortgage, which has also been prepared, as heretofore 
reported to you, and the execution of which will be authorized at the organization meeting of the Railroad Company. Kerens & Smith will then go to NM to meet 
with Palen and Risque and form the new Cerrillos Coal Railroad Co., with C.H. Smith as Sec. Please deliver the deed Mr. Manvel sent you for you and your wife to 
sign to the land between the railroad and the Galisteo River. Have Mr.& Mrs. Catron execute the deed for their interest in the same property? [Elkins papers 795] 

1892April21; [Risque letter to Kerens, re Coal Bank] Title. I have deeds here for everything except 15/1890, in name of W.W. Griffith, Seattle for which deed has been 
forwarded by Folsom, and daily report expected; cost, $1,000. ¶ 1/105, Seven Baca heirs, Bernalillo Co: all but one having signed, and Notary gone for seventh; 
cost, Int. 500. And expenses of Notary (?) ¶ 1/1134, D. Romero, Las Vegas, cost (?) ¶ 3/1134, Flores, Las Vegas to have technicality corrected; these last two by 
Catron. ¶ Thornton has passed on title, and Waldo examined all the papers and has assured me that the evidence is satisfactory and all regular except these 
exceptions just noted, and that he sent Mr. Peck his certificate April 11th, and wrote Mr. Elkins on the subject the same night. ¶ I could not get Antonio Ortiz 
Salazar stock less than par, and Catron I thought had better not be approached on the subject, but let him rest until he wanted to sell. ¶ Catron would not dismiss 
his suit for fee, and Bartlett said he thought a compromise would be the only course since he (Catron) could substantiate his case in Court, prove by his Co-
Directors his services, and we could only set up a general denial with no specific proof, etc.. I think later you might defeat him by calling for bill of particulars and 
make him prove it. F.W. Clancy, a former Director, and his late partner, is at outs with him and would be glad to get even I think, and help him as little as possible. I 
think every title should be in within next ten days. [Elkins Papers 797] ï PS I wish you would send me $10,000. For Cerrillos evry draft paid lally + there are many 
have had to borrow the money ï the money advanced for the (Santa Fe RRd) is about $9000 ï after accounting to them for Royally about $3000 of the amt due is 
for expenses ordered by Mr Devlin and $6000 for mine machinery + improvements. ï love to all Truly RCK. [797-B] 

1892April22; (Risque to Elkins) Enclosed is brief report on CC&I. The railroad contractor, I?F. Moor, for the Coal Road asked me if he can cut ties on the Ortiz Grant 
and if so what would be the charge? [Elkins papers 797] 

1892April30; (Kerens to Elkins) Mr. Devlin was there and they had a CC&I Company meeting and have adopted all the proceedings mapped out by McCook. Develin 
will allow all expenses for purchase of mines, machinery, etc. but they must be approved by Manvel before payment to us. The only remaining interest to acquire is 
Romero-Flores at Las Vegas. Catron has not gotten the interest even though he has an option on it. Please send me money. [Elkins papers 798] <dupe#794? 

1892May2; éthe land and the waters on the Bosque del Apache grant. The grant is situate on the Rio Grande some ten miles above San Marcial, and 

is owned by Hon. S.B. Elkins and others. éAnother grant in the vicinity of San Marcial, the extensive Armendaries, owned by Wilson 

Waddingham, is also likely to be opened for settlementé [SFDNM] 

1892April30; (Risque to Elkins) Mr. Devlin is here to attend to CC [Cerrillos Coal] Inventoryé he seems anxious to begin operating at Cerrillos in large scale, build 
Coke ovens, put up Crusher, etc. In fact he wants the property turned over. We are not ready for this yet ï The D.? Romero, Las Vegas interest is still out. I am 



worried about it. I am afraid Catron has ? the ? and it would be a terrible blow to have the game flushed not. Catron must be ? at once ï I am at the end of my rope 
with him for speedy work ï You or Mr. Kerens must come to the rescue. éHe or you could handle Catron, which I can not. [Elkins papers] 

1892June3; (Risque in St. Louis to Elkins) Enclosed in accounting of CC&I Co expenses since I took charge, July, 1891 to May 31, 1892. Column A=Syndicate 
[AT&SF]=$19,281; column B=R.C. Kernes & associates=$15,883 and he has advanced $73,418. Kerens asked me to send this to you for your examination. 
[Elkins papers 801] 

1892June14; (Risque to Elkins) accounting ï Total is $73,273.55 of expenses. Heirs Direct?=3,298.10; Webb=7,500; Folsom original & purchase 24,465; 
Thornton=5,000; H.S?Clancy thru Catron=20,000; D. Romero=400. Total 70,663.10. Expenses: Thornton fee 2500; R??=50.45; Bz??=60.00; total=2,600.45. 
[Elkins papers 802] 

1892June14; (Kerens to Elkins) Stopped in Chicago to settle with Manvel but he has left for California and I can not go. I need money. ñI have advanced for the Santa 
Feôs interest something like $15,000 [all ready and they still want me to buy the houses and other building], and have paid out for you and I, $140,000. This is 
$18,000 more money than you gave me. You still have on hand $12,000 or $13,000 and I wish you would help me out. I am largely in debt.ò [Elkins papers 802-A] 

1892June20; (Elkins to Messrs. Baring, Magoun & Co.) Deliver the $700,000 in Cerrillos Coal Railway Co. 4% Bonds you hold for me to First National Bank of New 
York [Elkins papers 804] 

1892June22; (Kerens to Elkins) ñYours of June 19th, from Elkins [WV] received. $292,612.50 paid out by you on account of Cerrillos matters, is correct. As near as I 
can figure up to date I have paid out for our joint account $142,074.07. Of this I have received from you $128,000é I have paid out several thousand dollars for 
May pay rolls, purchase of houses and building, which the Cerrillos Company needed and needed badly for their men who have been sent there in large numbers 
with families.ò To date AT&SF has not paid me but they will. Deeds for land north of river have been sent to New York. ñSuggest you make arrangements to meet 
Col. McCook in New York on June 29th for settlement of Cerrillos mattersé All the revenues of the company, which are quite large, go to the Treasurer of the Co. 
in Topeka. I say the income is quite large because of the immediate use of the mines, machinery and conveniences which through my efforts were turned over to 
the Company, and not a day was lost in continuing the output of coal. There are several hundred teams there which haul the coal to the railroad at 60¢ per ton. 
This rate for hauling has been brought about by our own management. There never was a more satisfactory ending of so perplexed a situation as has been the 
case in this Cerrillos business, and everything has terminated to the immediate advantage of the Cerrillos Co.ò [Elkins papers 803] 

Financial accounting attached to Elkins papers 803 22Jun1892: Kerens & Elkins are to divide proceeds of 1689 shares of CC&IC stock = $21,112.50ea, but according 
to understanding Kerens is to pay Elkins as part payment for outlay in purchasing Cerrillos property = $5k, and also 1/2 value of lots in town of Cerrillos sold by 
Catron = $3k. Cash received (by Elkins) = $300k. Amt paid out to redeem outstanding stock (other than the 1689) = $111,775. Amts paid for adverse title, lawyers, 
etc. to date $47,500. Yet to be paid out $52,500, plus another $20k est. for outstanding title not yet purchased. ï Paid out by E: Chandler 500; Laroque 4k; 
Attorney 25k; Lawson 5k; T. Moore Jr. 500; Waldo 500; Nat.Met.Bank 30k; Kerens for Hobart 38k; C.H. Smith 10k; Schourtie 6k; R.B.L. 4k; R.C. Kerens 100k; 
19sh Hunt stock 475; Hobart 15k = balance in Eôs hands $30,912.50 ï Paid out by Kerens: Webb 2.5k; Clancy 10k; Chandler 4.5k; Lawyers 150; Wolfôs 35sh 575; 
Wolfôs 16sh 400; Lawsonôs stock 6.6k; Risqueôs wages 2k; Catronôs wages 1,250; Clancyôs 50sh 1,250 = balance in Kerensô hands (of the 100k paid him plus 
21,112.50 for the stock) $49,668.50. 

1892June29; ((Baring, Mogoaun & Co. to Elkins)  receipt for the July 1892 coupons off of the bonds. 700x$20 = $14,000.. [Elkins papers 805] 
1892June29; (receipt) receipt by S.B. Elkins for the $700,000 in Cerrillos Coal Railway bonds as final payment to him for the stock of the Cerrillos Coal & Iron 

Company stock from George C. Magoun and John J. McCook trustees of the company. As per Dec 10, 1891 contract with the AT&SF Railroad Co. [Elkins papers 
805] 

1892July8; The preliminary hearing as to whether the government should resurvey and reestablish the boundary lines of the Ortiz mine grant occupied the 

forenoon of yesterday at the surveyorôs generalôs office. This hearing was first set for March 1, but was postponed for various reasons. Hon. T.B. Catron, 
attorney for the Cerrillos Coal & Iron company filed a protest in which he claimed that the grant as surveyed and monumented by the United States was 
conveyed by the U.S. patent to the New Mexico Mining company, who sold it to Chaffee and Elkins for about $375,000, and that Chaffee and Elkins sold 
to the Cerrillos Coal & Iron company the portion of the grant which they held. Therefore the Cerrillos Coal & Iron company protested against any change 
or alteration in the northern boundary of the Ortiz mine grant as established by the survey made for patent and as it existed at the time of the issuance of 
the patent. The hearing was afterwards postponed by the commissioner of the general land office to July 6. At the hearing held yesterday the testimony 
of Ed. E. Sluder, of San Pedro, was taken. Mr. Sluder is the principal applicant for a recovery, having located coal lands on the edge of and lapping the 
grant as now surveyed and which, it is contended, is really government land. His attorneys are Gildersleeve and Easley. Mr. Coons appeared yesterday 
on behalf of the firm of Catron & Coons, who are attorneys for the C.C.& I. company. Mr. Sluder testified that he knew the eastern boundary line as it 
exists at present to be 2,700 feet farther east than where the true boundary should be because he had found the monuments designating the eastern 
boundary as it shold be. As to the north boundary his judgement was that is is 1,284 feet north of its proper position. In the lawful boundaries of the Ortiz 
grant, he said, there were 69,458 acres, whereas the area covered by the boundary lines as they now exist amount to 77,000 or about 8,000 acres in 
excess of what it should be. The witness said he had once called Hon. S.B. Elkinsô attention to this discrepancy and that gentleman said if anybody 
wanted the land embraced witin this strip in error they were perfectly welcome to it, but he did not care to be put to the expense of having the boundary 
readjusted, that that would have to be done by the government in an official manner. At the conclusion of Mr. Sluderôs testimony the hearing was again 
postponed until August 3d. This postponement was obtained by Mr. Catron in, Washington, from the commissioner, in order that he might be present at 

the hearing, the surveyor general being advised of it by wire from the general land office. [SFDNM] 

after 1892October14 [enclosure in Kerens letter to Elkins 28Dec1892]; Cerrillos Coal & Iron Co. to R.C. Kerens, Dr.; expenses Aug.1891 to Oct.14, 1892. [It lists to 
whom paid and for what. Thus it gives names of people houses were bought from in the area as well as mines.] Total credits $146,915.00 and expenses 
$149,013.91. [Elkins papers 820] 

 [1892]December28; (Kerens to Elkins) Will send you full Cerrillos statement when the Santa Fe Railway pays up. How many bonds are to be called this year? [The 
CCRC bonds were sinking funds, which meant a certain number should be redeemed each year.] [Elkins papers 820] 

1893January3; Denver, Jan.3 ï For some weeks an effort has been made to discover the parties who are really back of the San Juan river gold 

excitement. A Mancos, Colo., special to the News says: ñSteve Elkins is the ñnigger in the woodpile.ò J.P. St. Clair has just returned from the gold 
fields on the San Juan, bringing the first direct and reliable information from the new Eldorado. St. Clair left the mouth of Clay Wash on the 24th 

and states that Steve Elkins is manager of a company that has seventeen miles of the Rio San Juan staked down the river from the mouth of Clay 

Wash. [SFDNM] 

1893-97 ï Cleveland (D) second administration; Republican appointee drought in NM; Cleveland appoints his cousin W.T. Thornton, as NM Gov 
1893 ï Elkins resigns as Sec of War to seek WVa senator 
1899May23; (William T. Lawson, Attorney, {of Knevals & Perry, Attorneys At Law, 34 Nassau St., Sherman W. Knevals. James W. Perry. Dudley Phelps. William T. 

Lawson.} home- 15 East 67th St., NY to My Dear Senator) A plea if not a demand that Elkins, Kerens and his father take action on leasing the grant to the Hoyts. 
That the Hoyts have done more than was asked of them in February. They have paid $20k worth of NMMC debts and bought up more of the stock than they were 
asked to buy. ñIt stands ready with the money to develop the property at no outlay whatever to the old stockholders. éover three months have elapsed and the 
Hoyt syndicate has been ignored. Surely, there can be no obstacle to granting the lease. The only indebtedness outstanding of the NMM Company is held by 
yourself and Mr. Kerens and my father and the Andersons. The latter people are certainly anxious to sell their stock and will jump at any chance to get rid of it. 
éthat old property, which is valueless as it stands. éI advise the immediate granting of the new lease otherwise the syndicate will transfer its interest and money 



to the other placer properties which it now controls.ò [This is the only Elkins papers document that mentions the Hoyts ï there were obviously many more ï HM] 
[Elkins papers 1236] 

1893November11; The marriage of Miss Elizabeth Elkins, [2nd] daughter of ex-secretary of War Stephen B. Elkins, to Mr. Edward E. Brunner on the 

morning of Nov.16 will be one of the most notable weddings of the year. [SFDNM] 

1893November17; (article in Washington Post) When Life Was Cheap, Story of Cole Younger saving S.B. Elkinsô life from Quantrelôs Raiders during the Civil War. 
[The Younger Bros were students of Elkinsô when he taught school in 1860-61 he got Cole Younger a Presidential Pardon. There are a number of related 
documents in WVa.<HM] [Elkins papers] 

1894January11; John Gwyn Passed Away Last Night. A Prominent Figure in the stormy Times of the Past. éhis brother Tomé John Gwyn was born 
in Shelby county, Ky. sixty-four years ago. Mr. H.C. Carson, of this city, was one of his schoolmates. He went to Missouri at the age of 15, and in 

1853 came to Santa Fe. Here he has resided ever since, occupying the rooms where he died for thirty years. His business was that of a claim agent 

and land dealer. At one time he was adjutant general of New Mexico. He was a prominent figure in the stormy times of the past and was a close 
friend of Hon. S.B. Elkins, when that gentleman was a power in territorial affairs. éHe also owned land at Cerrillos and elsewhere. éFairviewé 

The pall bearers will be the present adjutant general, George W. Knaebel, Louis Felsenthal, J.P. OôBrien, E.L. Bartlett, W.S. Fletcher, ex-adjutant 

general and Capt. P.H. Warner. [SFDNM] 

1894January17; deed between Stephen B Elkins of West Virginia and Thomas B Catron and Julia A. Catron, his wife, of the County of Santa Fe, of the first part, and 
George W. North, of the County of Santa Fe, of the second part:. for and in consideration of the sum of $700 to the said parties of the first part in hand paid by the 
said party of the second part, sell unto the said party of the second part all the following described lot or parcel of land, situate in the town of Cerrillos: Lots 5 and 6 
in Block 79. T.B. Catron, Julia A. Catron, Stephen B Elkins by T.B. Catron, his Attorney in fact [McNulty papers (P.McCraw) b.2] 

1894June6; (Lee English, Dolores NM, to Elkins) Response to Elkinsô letter of the 29th on OMG status. [English had worked for and managed the area for Wolf who 
had a NMMC lease] The stamp mill is in good condition, and can be started up at any time with the exception of the chimney or smoke stack. During a storm last 
Winter one of the guy ropes gave way, and the chimney fell. It was the old chimney that was at Lobaccaor. The old pump station was rusted out, so when it fell it 
bursted up so that it was no more account. ¶ The dry washing men has done well here all last Fall and Winter, and up to about two weeks ago when it commenced 
raining, and that compelled them to go into the old workings so as to get dry dirt. There is two stores here that is kept up by the dry washers. There has been 
several thousand dollars of gold dust shipped from this camp since last October. éThey are developing some good properties on the other side of the mountains 
next to Golden. James Lucas has a fine stamp mill on the Tuento, and is milling ore from a claim joining the old Burens Mine, and he claims that he is making a 
good thing out of it. A Mr. Dansby, who has been prospecting over there, has showed up some very rich ore. He told me a few days ago that his Company had 
secured leases to a group of five claims from the N.M.M.Co. Mr. Edmonds, a gentleman from Iowa, who has been prospecting here, struck some good ore in a 
vein about a mile West of the Ortize Mine. He is only down 20 feet yet, and has some very rich ore. ¶ The company house needs repair very badly. The wind 
during the last three years has blown all the shingles off. If you have the house covered right away, before the wet weather sets in, it will be as good as it ever was. 
[Elkins papers 865] 

1894June20; (Lee English to Elkins) Pushing the value of the Cunningham vein being developed. The claims were called ñSanta Ninaò and ñSanta Ritaò. Lee English 
describes their location relative to Cunningham claim in #871. ñThe 1000 feet between the Santa Rita and Cunningham claim has ben prospected with 40 ft. shaft 
and two different tunnels, but it donôt show as well as the Cunningham or Santa Rita. The Santa Rita and Santa Nina are leased claims, but both leases have been 
forfeited. éF.H. Strong, when he was working showed up a big body of very good ore, but neither I nor anyone else can tell what the vein will run without drifting 
and prospecting it. Col. Isaac Taylor tested four tons of Cunningham ore in New York that F.H. Strong had shipped there, and Mr. Taylor told me that he got from 
$4.50 to $5.50 on the Grippin mill process, and the ore that Mr. Strong shipped was about an average lot from the old workings. Three or four tons of ore from a 
mountain of ore would not be much of a test. The only way to test the Cunningham mine is to run in tunnels three or four hundred feet. éThere is an old 
gentleman who says that he intends to put in a five stamp mill at Los Nories <possibly last ref to Las Norias] at the Clancy Mills.ò [Elkins papers 866] 

1894June21; First National bank of Santa Feé The board of directors as re-organized is composed as follows; H.L. Waldo, V.S. Shelby, T.B. Catron, 

R.H. Longwill, L. Sulzbacher and Rufus J. Palen, with one vacancy, caused by the resignation of Pedro Perea, still to fill. éfounded in December 

1870, by Lucian B. Maxwellé In May 1871 a majority of the stock changed hands and Hon. S.B. Elkins, late secretary of war, became 
presidenté [SFDNM] 

ca1894; (C.E. Dewey to Elkins) Draft of a report by C.E. Dewey for Elkins made at the request of S.H. Elkins on Deweyôs inspection of the Cunningham Mine. He 
recommends mining 15-20 tons and sending it to a good stamp mill in Idaho Springs, CO to be evaluated. [see 897] Dewey also gives recommendations on what 
was needed to fix the Dolores Mill which had been inactive for so long. [Elkins papers 3000] 

1894July5; Ex-Secretary of War Stephen B. Elkins and Hon. R.C. Kerns are expected to visit Cerrillos within a few days. It is rumored their business 

relates to the Ortiz land grant. [SFDNM] 

1894July18; (Lee English to Elkins) Describes Cunningham claim vs. an old drawing found in Companyôs safe. ñBy commencing a tunnel higher up the mountain on a 
level with the exscavation, it would be 300 ft. through to the open cut, and would be a greater fall to the mill ï more than would be needed. Can get all the fall 
necessary from the old tunnel site that was located by Mr. Chaffee some years ago. The Uptegrove shaft was sunk before the Cunningham claim was surveyed, 
and when he found he was on the Cunningham claim he abandoned it. The ore there is as good as it is over at the old workings.ò [This along with the map is the 
best description of the workings I know of.<HM] [Elkins papers 871] 

1894July18; Plat of Cunningham Lode. Reserved Claim, on printed NMMC Lease form. [Map on reverse side. This item is stamped 953 but is the map Lee English 
marked in red months before and sent [#871] to Elkins. It was mis-numbered in the collection. It is the best map of the Cunningham workings, and shows the 1868 
railroad bed down the west side of the hill.<HM] [Elkins papers 953] 

1894August1; (Lee English to Elkins) Thanking Elkins for check for $100 from NMMC. Enclosed a map made by Wolf when the Cunningham was reserved [excluded 
from his lease on the OMG] òThe Wolf mill has 20 stamps and a place for 20 more.ò Ed E. Sluder sold the other 20 stamps and five copper plates that were 
intended for the other 20 stamps. There have been 3 wells bored at Golden and they have all got water that come up to 100 feetò Recommends an exploratory drift 
at Cunningham before tunnel dug or mill built. [Elkins papers 878] 

1894August5; (Lee English to Elkins) ñDolores N Mex. I received your favor of July 31sté F.H.Strong milled on the Fisk or Clancy Mill 150 tons and it run $3.65 cents 
per ton and I donôt believe that he save over 50 Percent of the gold that was in the quarts he got his ore along the face of the old workings and that would be the 
same ore that you would ship to Colorado the Cunningham ore carries fine flake gold and is coted with sulpher and is hard to save on a copper Plateéò From the 
face of the old Cunningham workings. Recommends a concentrator as the copper plates only save about 65% of the gold because of the sulfur. In the mills here 
there is nothing but plates to catch the goldé ñand the gulch gets the biggest part of the gold. Lee Englishò [Elkins papers 875] 

1894August15; (Lee English to Elkins) Will cost about $200 to get mill ready for a test run of ore from Cunningham. Suggests Elkins write E.E. Burlingame for a good 
mill man to run it. ñDan Taylor claims the Cunningham Mine he believes or claims to believe that Judge Warren will establish a community grant here and knock 
the Ortiz grant clear outéò [Elkins papers 879] 

1894August22; (Lee English to Elkins) On wells at Golden. [Elkins papers 880] 
1894August27; (E.E. Burlingame of Denver to Elkins) Recommends Phil Reardin of Denver as a good mill man for Elkins at $150 per month and he can start 

whenever you want. [Elkins papers 881] 



1894August30; Last week Sheriff Cunningham levied upon and took possession of the property of the Cerrillos Coal & Iron company and the Juana Lopez grant for 

failure to pay taxes. The Records in the office of the sheriff and collector of Santa Fe county show a very interesting, not to say peculiar, state of affairs relative to these 

properties. As far as these official records indicate there has never been a cent of taxes paid on the Juana Lopez grant. The Cerrillos Coal & Iron companyôs delinquent 

taxes for the years 1890 and 1991 amount to $1,153. In former years this corporation was known and taxes assessed against it under the title of the Cerrillos Coal & 

Coke company, and for the years 1885, 1886 and 1888 the Cerrillos Coal & Coke companyôs delinquent taxes, as per The Official Figures, amount to $2,029, the tax 

returns having been made by T.B. Catron. Thus, the delinquency on taxes by the Cerrillos Coal & Iron company amounts to a total of $3,184 in addition to the 25 per 

cent penalty. For the year 1887 this corporation, through its agent, F.W. Risque, paid its taxes under the name of the Cerrillos Coal & Coke company: said taxes 

amounted to the enormous sum of $309, and they were not paid until the 26th day of May, 1893, although they had been due for More Than Six Years there was no 

penalty added, as the law requires, and the settlement took the nature of  ña compromiseò with the then district attorney, R.E. Twitchell. The delinquent taxes due by the 

Juana Lopez grant, on which the above corporations (if there are two of them) base their property title, amounts to $1,289.85 for the years 1888, 1889, 1890, 1891, 1892 

and 1893. It should be here noted that while the Juana Lopez grant was confirmed by congress in the year 1879 as the private property of S.B. Elkins, T.B. Catron and 

others, it has never paid, as above stated, a single penny of taxes, and it was never even assessed as private property (although it covers 42,000 acres of the most 

valuable land in the west) until the year 1888. Thus it appears that by an official system of finesse and Political Jugglery, through connivance with Santa Fe county 

officers of former administrations, the owners of this vast property have up to date enjoyed absolute immunity from all taxation. Yesterday afternoon the Cerrillos Coal 

& Iron company and the Cerrillos Coal Railroad company, through their attorneys, applied to and obtained from Judge Laughlin a Writ Of Injunction temporarily 

restraining Sheriff Cunningham from longer holding the property under levy and an order for the sheriff to show cause on September 20 why such restraining order 

should not be made permanent. Cerrillos Coal & Iron company sets up that it has given a contract to the Cerrillos Coal Railroad Company to mine the coal on its 

property, erect buildings, coke ovens, etc., and that the sheriff has no right to levy upon the Cerrillos Coal Railroad companyôs property, as he has done, they allege, 

because under the law the property of new railroads is exempt from taxation for a period of six years. It is also contended that the assessment of the Juana Lopez is void 

for all these years because of uncertainty in descriptions on the county tax rolls, the same being listed simply as the ñJuana Lopez grantò and not in the name of T.B. 

Catron, owner, or against unknown owners, and because also the Assessment Is Against The Grant as a whole and the property of the Cerrillos Coal & Iron company as 

a separate concern, which would amount to double taxation for the latter corporation. Sheriff Cunningham has retained the services of Judge H.L. Warren and Chas H. 

Gildersleeve to defend his action in the premises and Hon. Frank Springer will represent the corporations. The sheriff says this injunction will in no way retard his 

action in forcing the collection of taxes long overdue Santa Fe county, he being guided wholly by the official records in his office, his legal counsel and by what he 

deeds his official duty to the long suffering tax payers of this community. [SFDNM] 

1894September4; (Lee English to Elkins) He could not find Mr. Harrold the well man to get a price for a well as he has gone back east. Taylor has got all the 
prospectors to believe that the Grant will be busted before Christmas. There is a good many men here and they all think that before the first of January the grant 
will be busted and they will have everything there own way. [Elkins papers 883] 

1894October28; To the editor of the New Mexican, Brooklyn, Oct. 15, 1894, 301 Hicks st. ï Through the considerable kindness of a friend I am in receipt of the New 

Mexican of September 15, containing a long and interesting article on ñtax dodging.ò Allow me to say your account of. the affair does not begin to picture the cold 

blooded villany of Elkins and Catron in connection with the Ortiz and Mesita de Juana Lopez grants. If the story is interesting to your readers I shall be glad to have you 

publish my account of the formation of the Cerrillos Coal & Iron company. I was one of the principal, though innocent, actors to that nefarious business and am 

prepared to prove by irrefutable testimony every statement which I make. In 1880, or thereabouts, Stephen B. Elkins, then living in New York city, induced a number of 

friends to join him in buying The Ortiz Mine Grant, the management and agency of which had been in his hands for many years. He assured them that the title was all 

right and at that time he did not utter a syllable about any conflict of title with the Juana Lopez grant. His friends, relying absolutely upon ñSteveôsò supposed integrity 

and upon his known familiarity with the property, invested $375,000 in cash in the property. The title deed  and stock of the original New Mexico Mining company 

were placed in the names of S.B. Elkins and J.B. Chaffee, as trustees, for all the purchasers. Afterwards the title was transferred to the New Mexico Mining company 

and the stock of the rehabilitated company was distributed pro rata among owners. Some time after the consummation of the purchase and while the syndicate were 

filled with joyful anticipations of huge and speedy returns on their investment, Catron, seeing A Chance To Hold Up the hands of this wealthy crowd, began to write 

Elkins letters threatening suit to compel a settlement of the pretended conflict of title. Then, for the first time, Elkins was forced to disclose the claim, made by his 

partner, Catron, for these worthies were co-partners in the Juana Lopez grant. Elkins affected at the time to treat Catronôs threats lightly, and he re-assured his alarmed 

associates by saying that he ñwould take care of Catron.ò All who know the latter gentleman need no assurance from me that he was not to be put off with honeyed 

words and promises. He probably knew enough about the secrets of Steveôs phenomenal prosperity in the territory to make his former law partner fear his disclosures. 

Elkins, finally made desperate by Catronôs threats, changed his tone toward his still confiding associates and assured them that the prospects of Catronôs successful 

prosecution of his suit were sufficiently serious to warrant a compromise. His associates Were Helpless And Acquiesced. As a result they were induced to deed to a new 

company, the C.C.& I.Co., the entire northwest corner of the Ortiz mine grant comprising about 15,000 acres of anthracite and bituminous coal land of great present and 

enormous prospective value. Elkins and Catron deeded to the new company their pretended interests in the Ortiz by virtue of the overlap, and 12,000 acres additional to 

the northward of the Ortiz grant. In dividing up the stock 60 per cent of the shares were assigned to The Joint Corporation. Elkins and Catron, and the sheared lambs 

were permitted to take the remaining 40 per cent. In English, the trapped innocents were ñbuncoedò into making a present of six-tenths of  their magnificent property to 

a pair of sharpers who gave absolutely nothing in return. I am prepared to prove beyond the possibility of contradiction that Elkins and Catron as claimants of the 

Mesita de Juana Lopez grant, had no more title to the part of the Ortiz grant which they claimed than if the latter were situated in the moon. Their Conspiracy To 

Defraud the people was exhaustively laid bare during the investigation conducted by Surveyor General Julian under my direction in 1886. Should you care to publish 

the story at some future time I shall be very happy to communicate it. Furthermore I shall be pleased to be allowed the opportunity of pointing out how and why just 

such transactions as the above retard the prosperity of the territory, and howé Alfred J. Wolf. [SFDNM] 

1894November3; Steve And Tom. The Juana Lopez Grant, situated in the southern part of the county, is technically known as the Mesita de Juana Lopez. It has been 

regarded ever since it was granted by the Spanish government in the year of 1782 as the land upon the top of the mesa. In the year 1870 Catron and Elkins obtained 

from the heirs of the original grantees, deeds to their interest in the property, and with the ñmesaò fit only for grazing purposes, as the foundation of their claim, it did 

not take these schemers long to extend the southern boundary of this property to such a distance south as to cross the Galisteo creek and to embrace incidentally some of 

the most valuable coal lands in New Mexico. This was done with The Kindly Assistance of title papers which had accommodatingly gotten mutilated in their most 

material portions; and by one or two other methods connected with the survey, which appear hereinafter. As a result of this manipulation of the grant it came about that 

this property which could not have been more than three and one-half miles in length or breadth, was extended so as to stretch six miles from east to west and cover 

eighteen miles from north to south. These fickle boundaries as extended by Messrs. Catron and Elkins covered besides the Mesita (the only property that could possibly 

under the title papers been honestly held) 20,000 acres of the public domain, 12,000 of the Ortiz grant, and in addition a large slice of the Santo Domingo Pueblo grant. 

After this fraudulent survey an act was carried through congress by the same skillful hands confirming the grant as fraudulently surveyed and there the matter rests, The 

Arch-Conspirators being unwilling in view of the general character of the transaction to press it forward by asking for a patent. Surveyor General Julian made an 

investigation of the transaction in 1886 and his report on the subject to the authorities at Washington makes very interesting reading. The New Mexican quotes below a 

few extracts from this report as showing in what light the transaction was regarded by the government authority. Gen. Julian, in his report, refers to the fact that John T. 

Elkins, a brother of Claimant Steve, was the interpreter on the survey, and that the whole survey under his Republican predecessor in office, assisted by Catron and 

Elkins, had been conducted in a ñslip-shod and Very Suspicious Manner.ò He says that the claim as made by Catron and Elkins and established by the suspicious survey 

was ñabsolutely irreconcilable with the languageò of the original title papers. He refers to the fact that the title papers say not a word about Galisteo creek, which 

Catronôs claim crossed without conscientious scruples. He says that ñthe accuracy of the survey is wholly unsupported by proof and its fraudulent character will 

conclusively appear from the evidence and the unmistakable interpretation of the language of the writ of possession. He refers to the fact ñthat by A Strange 

Coincidence or by careful training, the witnesses for Catron and Elkins make almost exactly the same statement, which leads to a strong suspicionò on his part that 

ñtheir testimony was an after thought, simply indicating a disposition to accommodate the wishes of the claimants,ò Catron and Elkins. He then says: ñIt is difficult to 

escape the conclusion that the survey under consideration was an open and flagrant attempt to appropriate to private uses the large body of private lands covered by it 

which lie outside of the Mesita and which were never thought of by by the governor in making the grant or by the alcalde to his delivery of possession.ò In speaking of 

the evidence of Messrs. Catron and Elkins, he says that ñit only illustrates The Ravenous Hunger for land which frequently reveals itself in this territory,ò and he 

continues by saying: ñthe case which I am now considering is itself a very remarkable commentary upon Catronôs testimony; for it shows that in the case of a grant of 

11,000 or 12,000 acres of land whith boundaries so well defined that an honest man could scarcely fail to define them, Mr. Catron or Mr. Elkins or somebody else 



prevailed on the deputy surveyor to enlarge the grant so as to cover 42,000 acres.ò In conclusion, he referred to the fact that ñCatron and Elkins occupy a front rank in 

the art of measuring landò and calls attention to the fact that Claimant Catron on another occasion stretched a grant of 130 acres, easily defined and ascertained, to 

130,000 acres. Mr. Julian concludes his commentary on Catron and Elkins by referring to them as belonging to that Class Of Land Sharks who are so abundantly 

equipped for their work ñboth by training and by exceptional aptitude,ò Col. C.G. Coleman, who was appointed by Gen. Julian to investigate the matter, reported that 

the southern boundary claimed by Catron and Elkins is ñnot only unwarranted but simply absurd and preposterous.ò   [SFDNM] 

1894 ï Elkins becomes Senator from WVa 
1894-95? June10; William Breeden to S.B. Elkins; Asking for appointment as U.S. Attorney and promising loyal support when Elkins runs for president. ñI hope your 

brother Sam will be appointed Marshal.ò [Elkins papers 29 (53)] 
1894December17; McCook & Elkins, trustees of the First Mortgage of CCRRCo. Walker, McCook & Wilson receivers. The Company did not make enough money to 

pay the bond interest. [Elkins papers] 
1894December24; (Kerens to Elkins) ñI take it you will understand that I have gone to the bottom of Cerrillos matters, and have advised you knowingly. I forgot to say 

that the charge of $459,996.30 for mining machinery is outrageously exaggerated.ò As all was used & abandoned machinery. [The CCRC (AT&SF) claimed to 
have spent that much for coal mining machinery and other equipment to start up the mines.] [Elkins papers 884] 

1894December?; (Kerens to Elkins) The Davis Coal & Coke Co. stationery; S.B. Elkins, Prest. R.C. Kerens V.Prest. Mines & Ovens on W.Va. C.&P. RY. Western 
Department, C.H. Smith, Manager. Offices NYC, St.LouisMO, Chicago, Thomas, W.Va. 808 Security Building, St. Louis. ñYou must know that I have the best of 
advice. It is a ñbluffò pure & simple. You only have to declair to Mr. Walker that you will aske the intervention of the Court and he will pull in his horns. This is his 
own view he is a ?? a Timed ?an a Friumer understand it is only necessary to assert yourself + stand firm Truly RCK PS Personal. PS Charles Foster is here today 
I have just given him a Lunchon he- is just from Los Angeles good mudes from there. RCK [scribbled afterthought in corner> Ballast will wine Bandit on Thursday 
27th inst thoh Trouble will come if default is made on Bashful and Basket and will advise ?romfit paymt says Bandit is an auful coward will quickly give in RCK. ï 
use code from 1892 letters to decord.<HM] [Elkins papers 890] 

1895 -- Stephen B. Elkins becomes Senator from West Virginia; continues until death in 1911 
1895January3; (L. Bradford Prince to Elkins) Politics: Prince had seen Catron and Elkins had written Catron for a letter of support from NM politicians. [Elkins was 

being attacked, with land grant fraud in NM 20yrs earlier, by the opposition to his campaign for the U.S. Senate seat from WVa.<HM] [Elkins Papers 890-A] 
1895January5; (Waldo to Wheeling Intelligencer) letter in support of Elkins; ñIn July 1873, at Santa Fe, I met again Mr. Elkins whom I had previously knownéò [Elkins 

papers 893] 
1895January31; (S.H.Elkins, Georgetown CO, to Steve) I was not sure if you still wanted me to go to Dolores. ñthey save $3.22 of the $4.60 per ton of the car load of 
ore that was shipped.ò Dewey is of the opinion that it would do to run the mill down there. [Elkins papers 897] 

1895February11; Mr. Sam Elkins, a younger brother of Senator elect S.B. Elkins, arrived at Cerrillos from Georgetown, Colo., on Saturday night, and 

expressed an intention to remain there for several months. It is whispered that his errand there is closely connected with a plan for the early 
development of mines on the Ortiz mine grant. The grant is believed to be controlled by Senator Elkins. [SFDNM]  

1895March5; Senator Stephen B. Elkins, of West Virginia, is now in Mexico, accompanied by his wife, daughter and three sons. Hon. T.B. Catronôs 

mission in Mexico is to meet Mr. Elkins and accompany him as far as Santa Fe on his return. The party will pay a visit to Cerrillos the last of this 
or the first of next week, after which Senator Elkins is expected to visit among his many old friends in this city. [SFDNM] 

1895March9; A press dispatch from the City of Mexico of date the 7th instant says: ñHon. Stephen B. Elkins, senator-elect from West Virginia, 

arrived last night by special car. He is accompanied by his family, and his trip has a commercial, and perhaps political significance. President Diaz 
and cabinet will pay the party special attention during its stay in Mexico.ò [SFDNM]  

1895March16; Mr. A.C. Oliphant, of New Jersey, son-in-law of Hon. S.B. Elkins, spent yesterday in the city and left last night for Los Angeles where 

he will wait the coming of the Elkins party. [SFDNM] 
1895March18; Hon. S.B. Elkins and party spent yesterday at Guadalajara, Mexico. Their arrival at El Paso is now looked for about Friday next. 

Thence they come to Santa Fe. [SFDNM] 

1895March24; (Elkins at Cerrillos, to Hanna, 1 Broadway) I have looked at the mill. ñWolf did not build a new mill he only put the company [NMMC] mill in working order 
and only spent about $3500. This can be established by the best kind of proof. Therefore his claim of $9000 is unjust...ò [Wolfôs man sold off half of the 
stamps.<HM] I am not familiar with the agreement and thus do not know if he or Co. owns the mill. [Elkins papers 902] 

1895March25; The Cerrillos Visit. Special to the New Mexican. Cerrillos, Mch. 25 ï Senator and Mrs. S.B. Elkins and four children, in their special car, came up from 

the south and stopped off here yesterday morning. The party were met at the train by the senatorôs brother, Mr. S.E. Elkins, who, after breakfast, escorted them in 

carriages to Dolores and the Cunningham mine, returning about 4 p.m. via the coal mines at Madrid. ¶ The senator, upon hearing of the organization of the Cerrillos 

Board of Trade, indicated that he would be pleased to meet its members at their rooms, which was arranged for 7 oôclock, when he was introduced by Mr. George W. 

North and responded in an address of probably forty-five minutesô duration in which he said it was his intention to have thoroughly prospected the Cunningham hill 

property and erect extensive machinery. He stated that he was more than ever impressed with the valuable resources of southern Santa Fe county and that he and his 

associates would use every endeavor to bring them to the front. He was thoroughly convinced of Cerrillos being the most advantageous smelter site in the southwest and 

would endeavor to further the project looking to the erection of such works. On the subject of silver he announced himself as a bimetallist, and said that he was greatly 

surprised in his visit to old Mexico to see the prosperity of that country, where the fullest use of silver as a money is had. In conversation with President Diaz and his 

cabinet he had been told that that country was never in so good shape as now and he could see for himself the great advancement being made in every direction. After 

his address, which was briefly responded to by Mr. F.H. Mitchell, president of the Board of Trade, he made formal application to become a member of the organization. 

The application was acted upon in regular meeting this afternoon and the senator was duly elected to membership. [SFDNM] 

1895March25; Hon. Stephen B. Elkins, United States senator elect from West Virginia, reached the city last night in a private car in return from an extended tour through 

Mexico. He is accompanied by his wife, who is well known as the daughter of ex-Senator H.G. Davis, and by their three young sons and little daughter. Mr. Sam Elkins 

came up with them from Cerrillos, where the senator has large interests and where he spent yesterday. A Gladsome Greeting. ¶ To say that Senator Elkins is to-day 

receiving a cordial welcome at the hands of Santa Feans is putting it mildly. Among the older residents, particularly the native people, there are a very few citizens who 

do not enjoy a personal acquaintance with him, and some of the incidents that have attended his presence on the streets and about the plaza to-day were positively 

pathetic. Many stirring features in his early career in Santa Fe have been recalled to-day and entertainingly discussed by pioneer citizens. As for the native people his 

genial heart has always had for them a warm corner. Æ éThe most admirable figure in modern times the world over is the successful man. This Stephen B. Elkins is in 

the highest sense he is a self-made man. When he walked across the plains behind an ox team in 1863 he came west for a purpose. He was tired of the hum-drum of 

village life in Missouri and sought a field where a young man had a wider range for his work. Hence it was that, after serving as office boy in the post-office at West 

Port ï Old Gen. Brown, now clerk for Dudrow & Davis, was postmaster there ï and going through the Missouri state university, the young Missourian found himself in 

Santa Fe. In 1866 he was district attorney for southern New Mexico with headquarters at Mesilla. Thenceforward his life is an open book to nearly every resident of 

New Mexico, aye, to the reading men of the whole nation. [SFDNM] 

1895March25; (Elkins to Hanna) re mill at Dolores. The leasee improving the mill will not affect Mr. Wolfôs interests so they can go ahead. [Elkins papers 903] 
1895March25; (Elkins to Larocque, 35 William St. NYC) ñI find that our interests have been very much neglected here for the past ten years owning to our having 

incompetent agents. The property has been very much destroyed. Large lots of timber have been cut off the property and not paid for. People by drying washing 
process, are taking $1,000 per month out of the placers, besides we are having annoying suits, high taxes and other difficultiesé I have decided to put my brother 
in charge.ò [Elkins papers 905] 



1895March27; Hon. S.B. Elkins and family left last night in their special car for the Pacific coast after having been royally entertained by the citizens 

of Santa Fe. [SFDNM] 

1895April4; (Elkins to Lawson) Hanna wires that Mr. Larocque says that if peaceable possession of the Mill can be had, lease on Samôs terms would be proper, 
otherwise advises delay. The Company, through Lee English has the keys and possession of the mill, and has had since Wolf left the country. As I understand, the 
mill has been delivered to the Company, and Wolf is now seeking through the courts payment for improvements. éUnless Sam and friends can get the mill, as 
proposed, they will put the Clancy mill near by in order and go on, and we will lost our chance to sell. [Elkins papers 906] 

1895April6; R.C. Kerens at Cerrillos. Special to the New Mexican. Cerrillos, N.M., April 6 ï R.C. Kerens, of St. Louis, partner of Senator Elkins in 

the Ortiz land grant and New Mexico Mining company, is here to-day inspecting work done on the Cunningham lead at Dolores and looking over 

the coal properties. His visit at this time is another indication of great mining operations by this company to be begun at once. Senator Elkins is 
expected here April 20. [SFDNM] 

1895April15; The Cerrillos Rustler: Mr. Sam Elkins will make another trip to Denver between the 20th and 25th, and will meet his brother, the 

senator, there at that time. [SFDNM] 
1895April30; Senator S.B. Elkins is expected to reach Denver to-day en-route east from the coast. Messrs. Sam Elkins and Geo W. North, of Cerrillos, 

have gone there to have a conference with him on mining matters in south Santa Fe county. [SFDNM] 

1895May4; Hon. S.B. Elkins is now quartered at the Brown Palace hotel, Denver. The Times says: ñWhen United States Senator Stephen B. Elkins 
was secretary of war he was described as the biggest, brainiest and broadest man in Washington. As he is known to the world he is a business man 

and a politician, and is a striking example of the success which energy and perseverance, combined with natural ability, can do.ò [SFDNM] 

1895May7; Mr. Sam Elkins, brother of Senator S.B. Elkins, has returned to Cerrillos from the east, and will shortly begin the development of some 
excellent mining property thereabouts. His family will soon join him at the Little Pittsburg. [SFDNM] 

1895May13; Hon. S.B. Elkins will probably visit Cerrillos again in July. [SFDNM] 

1895June-1896February; Cunningham Mine Expenses and payroll, June 1895 through February 1896. [NMSU Folder # 2/18] 
1895-1896; Cunningham Mine receipts. [NMSU Folder # 2/19] 
1895June12; Elkins For President. Prediction that Steve and a Western Man on a Silver Straddling Platform Will Win in 1896. Wheeling, W.Va., June 

12 ï Ex-Senator N.B. Scott, national Republican committeeman, in an interview, has declared for Stephen B. Elkins for president. Æ ñElkins will be 

named on the second ballot,ò said Scott; ñI have been west recently and found the sentiment everywhere for him. Æ ñI predict that on the first ballot 

Elkins will have the solid delegations from California, Arizona, New Mexico, Utah, Nevada, Wyoming, Colorado, and Washington, and a strong 
following from Kansas, Nebraska and the Dakotas. Æ ñFor the second place on the ticket I favor a way southwestern man. Elkins and a th western 

man will win.ò Æ Senator Scott favors a platform in keeping with Elkinsô recently expressed silver sentiments, recognizing white metal fully, but 

not declaring unqualifiedly for free coinage. [SFDNM] 

1895June21; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) Started cleaning reservoir on Monday, test ran the stamp mill and have enough water with the well to run night and day if we need 
to. Surveyed the Cunningham and extension as Kerens requested. Brown will send me report and I will send it to you. [Elkins papers 916] 

1895June26; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) Finished the reservoir and water is coming fully. Lee English is anxious about this money and has none and is boarding with me. 
Enclosed is Brownôs [mineral surveyor] report and bill. [Elkins papers 917] 

1895June28; Mr. J.H. Vaughn, the capable and popular cashier of the First National bank, returned from New York last evening and received a cordial 

welcome home form many friends. His health seems to be fully restored. While in the east, Mr. Vaughn paid a visit to Elkins, W. Va., and while 
there was the guest of Senator and Mrs. S.B. Elkins. He reports that ñPapò Elkins, well remembered in Santa Fe as the father of the senator, will 

celebrate his 85th birthday on July 4, and is enjoying excellent health. [SFDNM] 

1895June29; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) We ran 6 tons in 12 hours everything working smoothly. Mr. Wells thought it would take 8 or 10 days to run the 50 tons. The boys 
at the mine struck a body of ñPyratiesò. If there is a large body of it we will have to change our course. If I can i will go to Santa Fe to try to lower the assessment 
on the grant as the Commissioners are meeting on the 1st.. [Elkins papers 918] 

ca1895; assay results of ñ15 tons on Kellyôs Huntington Mill and McGee test at Albuquerqueò and on the reverse is written ñCunningham Mine Assaysò which would be 
samples his brother sent in years earlier. [Elkins Papers 2205] - Results 15 tons run on Kellyôs Huntington Mill; Ore, $2.27 per ton, Tailings, 4.34 per ton, Total 
$6.61. Results of McGeeôs test at Albuquerque ?uro?? Sample of the Mine; $25.28 per ton; Sample from Sacks or righ stuff, $48.50 to 58.00; As against 
Stricklers assay of $58.20 per ton. [Elkins papers 2205] 

1895July4; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) They are working around the pyrites in the mine. ñThey are letting me have coal at the mine for $1.50. They ought to let me have it for 
$1.00. Then it would cost me $3.00 per ton where it now costs me $3.50.ò They all ought to be notified at once to leave and not only that but a notice ought to be 
published in the papers and giving the names. What about the application of Chris Wiegands of Vegas. Did Thornton say anything to you about ejecting Lucas. 
[Elkins papers 919] 

1895July11; Ortiz Mine Grant. Meeting of Stockholders Called in New York ï Stock Assessed to Pay Outstanding Indebtedness ï Prospect that It Will 

Be Worked. The stockholders of the New Mexico Mining & Milling company, which controls the Ortiz Mine grant in south Santa Fe county, will 

hold a special meeting in New York City, on July 29, for the principal purpose of disposing of the outstanding indebtedness of the company and 
placing its affairs in such shape that it can proceed to the active and systematic development of its immensely valuable gold properties without 

embarrassment. Preliminary to this meeting an assessment of $2.50 per share has been levied on the stockholders. ¶ The managing directors of the 

company, Senator S.B. Elkins, of West Virginia, Mr. L.M. Lawson, of Boston, and Mr. R.C. Kerens, of St. Louis, with Mr. Thomas Moore, jr., of 
New York, officiating as secretary, makes the following statement to the stockholders: ¶ Indebtedness incurred since 1881 for which notes are 

outstandingé$47,261.58. Amount due to watchman and secretary for servicesé3,210.00. Taxes and sundries estimated for this yearé1,500.00. 

Total to be provided foré$51,971.58. Æ In this connection it is explained that this amount covers a period of nearly nine years, during which the 
company borrowed money, hoping to be able to dispose of the property. ¶ A statement of the fact that Mr. Sam H. Elkins, brother of the senator, 

has been engaged for months in making quiet explorations of the Ortiz Mine grant with a view to ascertaining the gold producing possibilities 

thereof and that in the course of his investigations he has made trial runs on ore from the Cunningham and other mines of the grant at the old Wolf 
stamp mill, will aid the reader to understand what now is the probable plan of the company. As it is understood that these trial runs have proved 

most satisfactory, the company now doubtless contemplates making its grant a source of constant profit rather than expense by means of energetic 

development. [SFDNM] 

1895July15; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) Replacing the wood in the stamp batteries and foundation as mill would not take another 50 ton run. Assay kit has arrived. [Elkins 
papers 922] 

1895July16; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) Shipped the clean up from the 50 ton run to Denver this morning. égave us 10oz. 3? and 5 grains of bullion. [Elkins papers 923] 
1895July16; (J.L. Wells, Dolores to Elkins) On the assays of the first run, $4.00 per ton with 75% saving into concentrate. [Elkins papers 925] 
1895July18; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) The first 50 tons was out of the dump so we did not figure any cost of mining in the cost of production. ñI am glad to hear the Co 

thinks of doing something with these squatters on the 29th. Hope they will send me the notices to serve. They make their brags that the Co is afraid to do anything. 
Mat Reynolds [atty for Land Court] said he would see you while east.ò [Elkins papers 927] 



1895July13; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) Statement from min indicates we only saved 55% on the first 50 tons. Enclosed clipping from paper to show what Fitzgerald is doing 
on the grant. Home the directors [NMMC] do something in their meeting on the 29th. [Elkins papers 929] 

1895July20; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) ñI send you two papers today so you can see what is going on about busting the Grant. é There ought to be something done ï with 
these fellows. Fitzgerald & Lucas & others. They seem to think the Co are afraid to do anything & old Warren makes them believe it. é Old Dan Taylor is getting 
people to sign a petition to break the Grant.ò [Elkins papers 928] 

1895August17; (Elkins to ?.H. Pittibone) Rough estimate of $2.00 per ton to treat the ore. A 3 pound sample of ore showed $27.20 to the ton as previously reported. 
Would like to work ore for him. [Elkins papers 930] 

1895August21; (Wells to Elkins) The ore is to a certain extent free milling. If the value of ore does not drop below $2.25 per ton and the savings can be raised to 60% 
a 200 ton per day mill should be economical. After Sept 1st will be at Leadville CO. First lot of 50 tons yielded $110. [Elkins papers 932] 

1895September; (Tucker, new mill man, probably to Elkins) I came on Sept 1st and found the mill running. This is not free milling ore and the water is questionable. 
Would like to send some ore to a mill where we know water is good. Think this ore could be treated successfully with the cyanide process. [Elkins papers 932] 

1895September6; (W.H. Pittibone to Elkins) Recommends that Mr. McGee go look at the mine to evaluate the percentages of various ore types. His process looks 
very promising. [Elkins papers 936] 

1895September6; (J.L. Wells, Leadville, to Elkins) The 2nd and 3rd lots were lower than the first and he has no explanation except maybe gold was in the stamps 
when they started. However he feelis lot 2&3 more accurately reflect the character of the mine. Would not recommend building mill unless enough ore proved up to 
run 200 ton per day mill for 5 years. At 60% savings you should get a profit of about 50 cents per ton. [Elkins papers 937] 

1895September16; (A.F. Holden, Old Jordan and Galena Mining Co. Salt Lake, to Elkins) Examined Wellsô report and agrees that cyanide process should be looked 
into and the sampling recommended by him. However has a problem with some of Wellsô figures. Enclosed is his assay report. [Elkins papers 938] 

1895October20; (Geo McGee, Albuquerque, to Elkins) The samples I collected at Cunningham gave: no.1 = $25.28 per ton; No.2 = $48.00; No.3 = $58.20. Cost of the 
McGee chemical treatment will not exceed $1.50 per ton. S.H. Elkins will write you further. [Elkins papers 941] 

1895October22: Hon. Stephen B. Elkins, traveling in a special car, reached Cerrillos from the east last night and is to-day inspecting the Ortiz mine, 

the Cunningham hill and other properties in which he is interested. The West Virginia senator will visit Santa Fe before returning east, and is 
expected to reach here to-night or to-morrow morning. [SFDNM] 

1895October24: Senator S.B. Elkins and party are still looking over the senatorôs extensive properties in Santa Fe county. In the party are Mr. Elkinsô 

two sons, Davis and Stephen B., jr., their tutor, Collin H. Livingston; Col. T.B. Davis and E.E. Brunner, of New York; Frank Elkins, of Kansas 
City. [SFDNM] 

1895October25: In private conversation with a citizen to-day Senator Elkins expressed the belief that congress would this winter pass the bill 

providing for the establishment of a large military post at Santa Fe. [SFDNM] 
1895October25: Senator Stephen B. Elkins and party arrived in their special car last night from Cerrillos and have spent the day here very pleasantly. 

In the party are Col. T.B. Davis, interested with Mr. Elkins in West Virginia coal and railroad enterprises; Mr. Edward E. Bruner, a Wall street 

capitalist; Prof. C.H. Livingston, tutor to Mr. Elkinsô children; the senatorôs bright and manly sons, Stephen B., jr., and Davis, and Mr. Frank 
Elkins, of Kansas City, nephew of the senator. His brother, Mr. Sam Elkins, and Mr. G.W. North accompanied them from Cerrillos. Since Monday 

the gentlemen have made a thorough inspection of the Ortiz grant, in company with a Colorado mining expert. It is likely that extensive operations 

in gold mining will result from their visit. The party dined at St. Vincent sanitarium to-day, and leave to-night for the east, going via Chicago. 
[SFDNM] 

1895October28; Chris Wiegand has secured a lease from the Ortiz Mine Grant company for the Gipsy Queen mine, and will proceed at once with 

development work on this valuable property. Work had been stopped on this mine some time ago awaiting this final arrangement, which were 
consummated between Senator Elkins and Mr. Wiegand last Tuesday morning. [SFDNM] 

1895October28; Ortiz Mine Grant. Visit of Senator Elkins and Party ï Extensive Development Under Consideration. As heretofore stated in these 

columns the visit of Senator Elkins and party is likely to result in very extensive gold mining operations in south Santa Fe county. Mr. S.W. Mudd, 

of Leadville, one of the best known mining men of Colorado and manager of the Small Hopes, Leadville Consolidated and the Boreal Mining 

company, joined Senator Elkins at Cerrillos, and on Wednesday last a careful examination was made of the Ortiz grant gold fields. A visit was also 
made to the coal pits near Madrid, where 300 men are employed. On the Ortiz grant properties they found the ore very low grade, which in their 

opinions it might pay to work upon a very large scale. To operate these low grade mines in a business-like manner they estimate will require an 

expenditure of $300,000 for plant and water development. The tests which have, during the past six months, been carried on under Mr. S.H. Elkins, 
using the old stamp mill at Dolores, have not been satisfactory, however, and an unreasonable percentage of the gold in the ore, as shown by 

frequent assays, was lost. It is therefore the decided opinion that some process other than a stamp mill will be required to attain the best results. ¶ 

To decide just what methods are best to adopt further experiments are to be tried. A quantity of the ore is to be run through the Huntington mill at 
Golden, and about thirty tons are to be shipped to a smelter at Pueblo. ¶ If, as confidently expected, a satisfactory process is found to treat this 

product, there will be no hesitation in expending any amount of money necessary to handle several hundred tons daily. ¶ The question of leases to 

mineral lodes on the Ortiz grant was brought up, and in answer to the inquiry by the Cerrillos Rustler as to what would be the policy of the 
company in regard to them, Senator Elkins said that the old manner of granting leases had proved very unsatisfactory and had been discontinued. 

However, in future applications for leases from responsible parties will be entertained but each application must rest upon its own merits and will 

be dealt with separately. Leases will be made upon reasonable terms to people who are able and show a disposition to carry on actual work. 
[SFDNM] 

1895November8; (John Longmaid, Eureka and Excelsior Mines OR, to Elkins) Further tests on Cunningham ore has had favorable results. By simple amalgamation, 
without any extra treatment whateveré I obtained an average extraction of 81.8% é This ore is not suitable to either cyanide or chlorination.ò I would be 
interested in leasing the mine and mill if you are interested. [Elkins papers 943] 

1895November15; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) ñI enclose you the assignment of the Cunningham Mine as agreed on as we talked the matter over on the road to Kansas 
City. [separate page ï transfer of 5/6 of S.H. Elkinsô 9/3/1895 lease of the Cunningham over to S.B.Elkins.] I copied the one you sent me word for word except the 
date & 5/6 instead of 9/10. J.C. Bender was over to see me about the letter he had written to your & which you sent to me to look in to. He wants to lease the 
Candelaria Mine also the Candelaria No.2 which I enclose the field notesé He is one of the men that is putting in the 2 Huntington Mills at Kelleyôs Wells. é Chris 
Wiegand has been over to see if I had heard anything from his lease. ...Old Man Hutch has been here also to see when I could go over to the Magdalina to look at 
his claims, and he said that he had written to you about some coal lands over there. éNow what about putting the notice in the paper and sending out & posting 
up notices. éI saw Matt Reynolds the other day in Santa Fe & he said he was ready to put these fellows off and would start in at once if I would only give him the 
names. éwe better wait until this is put in the hands of a receiver and have the courts put them off. éStricklandé I think he has more than he can attend to 
already ï with the Ortiz outfit ï I cant see where he earns his $100 per month of course I donôt know what he has written to you.ò [Elkins papers 945] 

1895November16; Senator and Mrs. Elkins have leased the May house, 1437 Rhode Island avenue, and Mrs. Elkins is now here, busy overseeing its 

arrangements for the comfort of her family, who will come on from their West Virginia home as soon as the house is ready for them. The Elkins 



family circle is smaller than it was during their last residence here. The oldest daughter is married and living in New York, the boys are at college 

and for the most of the time only the fascinating little daughter, Katherine Elkins, is with her mother. ï Washington Star. [SFDNM] 

1895November19; (Herbert Strickland, Cerrillos, to Senator Elkins) Assay results of ore from Kellyôs mill, had a hard time getting the sample from your brother. 18 tons 
was milled and the retort weight 3 oz 3 owl or some $36.00. My assay was $2.27 per ton; Huntington savings $2.00 or approximately 88.1%. ñI know one thing 
about the Cunningham Ore, it must all be handled without selection. é What Dan Taylor, 3 years ago was throwing away was waste, I prove to be equally good as 
that he was shipping.ò Beware of new processes let someone else try them first. [Elkins papers 946] 

1895November20; (Herbert Strickland, Cerrillos, to Senator Elkins) I have not run the retort as Lee English brought it here and now says your brother has the key to 
the safe and he is gone.ò éthe St. Louis people I represent did go also & this delayed my survey of the Cunningham and Ortiz Mines. [Elkins papers 947] 

1895November21; S.H. Elkins, manager of Senator Elkinsô mining properties in the Ortiz grant, came down Monday in company with Geo W. 

McGee, of Chicago, and both gentlemen are in the city to-day. Mr. McGee was sent out by the senator to examine the Cunningham mine, and he is 

more than pleased with the prospects. He says it is more than a mine ï a mountain of ore, every part of which assays. All the gold is not free, 
however, and a different process for treating the ore is being considered. There appears to be no doubt of finding abundant water by boring at the 

mine, and the new plant will likely be located there. ï Albuquerque Citizen. [SFDNM] 

1895November22; Cerrillos Lands Involved. The Albuquerque Democrat prints a press dispatch under date of New York, Nov.20, which says: Æ ñThe 
hearing of a suit, in which William C. Reeves sues United States Senator Stephen B. Elkins, of West Virginia, to recover interest claimed by him in 

certain lands in New Mexico and also for an accounting, was commenced to-day before Judge Patterson in a special term of the supreme court.ò Æ 

Not Reeves, but William C. Rencher is the party who is suing and the case is a famous one, involving lands now covered by the Cerrillos town site. 
Years ago Rencherôs father was surveyor general of New Mexico. Under his administration certain so called non-mineral bearing U.S. lands in 

south Santa Fe county were put up at public auction and bought in by the Elkins Catron syndicate at $1.25 per acre. About eight years ago Rencher 

came to Santa Fe and offered to pay the necessary money, but he found that Catron had filed a suit in Elkinsô name against ñall unknown ownersò 

to quiet title. Rencher put in an answer, filed a cross bill and tied up this suit in New Mexico and now he brings suit in New York because there he 

succeeded in getting personal service on Elkins. The senator says he sold a portion of the lands claimed by Rencher to T.B. Catron on the same 

conditions as they had been previously held by Rencher. He also pleads that Rencher is barred by statute of limitations. [SFDNM] 
1895November23; The Optic says that ñAs special master, honest John H. Koogler, now of Muskoge, I.T., in the Mora grant case of Senator S.B. 

Elkins et al. against Carmen Arce et al., had allowed Mr. Catron attorneyôs fees in the case to the surprising amount of $3?,800. The $800 might 

have been lopped off in the masterôs report, anyhow!ò [SFDNM] 

1895November23; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) We have the old tunnel cleared out but still need to go 25-30 feet to reach the rich seam. McGee thinks that the ore we are in 
is the best yet and wants to work it here rather than send it to the smelter in Cerrillos. Took a sample to Strickland in Albuquerque and he got $16.00 per ton 
against $25.28 by the McGee process. éI was up at the Ortiz all day yesterday with Strickland. He mad a reassay of his sample of the sack ore & got $43.00 
against $34.00 which he got before. I had him reduce down the retort from the Huntington Mill ï which was 2 3/4 oz 654 1/2 fine ï which is worth $13.20 per oz. 
Making $36.20 for 18 tons a saving of a little over $2.00 per ton. éPlease send Weigand, Frank Manzanares and Nettleton leases. [Elkins papers 950] 

1895November26; Senator Stephen B. Elkins, of West Virginia, lost his temper under cross-examination during the trial of William C. Rencherôs suit against him for the 

recovery of one-third interest in 606 acres of coal lands near Santa Fe, N.M., in the New York supreme court yesterday. ¶ Under direct examination Senator Elkins had 

denied that Mr. Rencher had acquired an interest in the lands. He had sworn that he had merely given to Mr. Rencher an option to buy a one-third interest at the same 

price as he had paid for it ï $1.25 an acre. Mr. Rencher, he had testified, had assigned the option to Thomas B. Catron, who purchased the one-third interest. ¶ Senator 

Elkins was in a hurry to get to Washington, and betrayed much impatience when Austin G. Fox, attorney for the plaintiff, arose with great deliberation and prepared 

leisurely to cross-examine him. In answer to Lawyer Foxôs questions he testified that he had been admitted to the bar in 1864. His office was in Santa Fe. He evaded all 

of Lawyer Foxôs efforts to find out what salary he drew as counsel of the mining company. Æ ñSenator, when you bought those lands from the government for $1.25 an 

acre,ò said Lawyer Fox, ñdidnôt you know that they were coal lands, and therefore worth at least $20 an acre?ò Æ The senator replied that his knowledge on that point 

was very indefinite. His memory of his own private matters of that period (1871) as exploited by his answers to Lawyer Foxôs queries was so bad that the attorney 

expressed his dissatisfaction, saying: Æ ñI ask your honor to apply the strict rules of evidence to the witness, even if he is a United States senator.ò Æ Justice Patterson 

directed Senator Elkins to give clear explanations, so far as he could, of all the points covered by the questions. Lawyer Fox continued his cross-examination, and 

finally implied that Senator Elkins was not adhering strictly to the truth. ¶ Senator Elkins became red in the face, and he seemed about to retort angrily, when Justice 

Patterson interposed. His honor again warned the senator that he must give direct answers to the attorneyôs questions, but the statesmanôs testimony continued to be 

unsatisfactory to Lawyer Fox, who told him so plainly. ¶ Then it was that Senator Elkins lost his temper. Planting both hands on his knees, which he gripped as if to 

hold himself down, and looking squarely at the lawyer, he said, with an ominous ring in his voice: Æ ñIf you and I could have a talk outside, at the proper time, I might 

answer you.ò Æ That did not daunt Lawyer Fox. He finished painfully, but there was not a tremor in his tones as he met the senatorôs threatening glances and retorted: Æ 

ñI might meet you ï at the proper time.ò Æ Justice Patterson pounded the desk with his gavel and said, sternly: Æ ñGentlemen, you must both come in order im-me-

diately!ò Æ After the trial Lawyer Fox was asked if he regarded Senator Elkinsô remark as a challenge. Mr. Fox laughed heartily and said he didnôt think there would be 

any duel, but added: Æ ñI guess I rattled the senator.ò Æ Senator Elkins was interviewed as he was rushing through City Hall park on his way to Washington. Æ ñDid you 

intend to challenge Mr. Fox, senator?ò Æ ñOh, no, not at all!ò he exclaimed. ñAll that business was only a little bit of by-play on the part of Mr. Fox, a little trick of the 

profession. Iôm up to those things. Iôm something of a lawyer myself!ò Æ Mr. Rencherôs testimony during the early part of yesterdayôs session was to the effect that he 

had located certain coal lands in 1871, and that Senator Elkins had said to him: Æ ñI must have some of these.ò Æ Senator Elkins told him, he said, that if he would find 

more coal lands he would buy them, and would give one-third interest in them to him. Mr. Rencher found the lands and Senator Elkins bought them. Then Senator 

Elkins executed the paper, saying that Mr. Rencher was entitled to a one-third interest therein. ¶ Mr. Rencher said his suspicion was aroused by the insertion of the 

qualifying clause, ñhe (Rencher) owing me $1.25 for the same.ò Æ He told Senator Elkins, he testified, that in his opinion that phrase weakened the document, but the 

senator said that was all right. ¶ The plaintiff swore that he had never given up his right to the one-third interest. ¶ Lawyer Fox offered in evidence the release, 

purporting to assign Mr. Rencherôs right to Adolph Staab and Henry G. Prost, and pointed out a clause which provided that nothing in the release should in any way 

effect Mr. Rencherôs interest in or claim to the land which he and Senator Elkins had bought. Æ Justice Patterson reserved decision. ï New York Journal. [SFDNM] 

1895December2; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) ñI think you will be pleased with the McGee processé He is willing to guarantee a successé I see little of Stricklandé he is 
always promising to assay the mine but never gets around to it. éThe St. Louis parties have been gone about 3 weeks and nothing done as yet. éI send you the 
payroll and expenses for the month of Nov. also a duplicate of Oct. éI want to go home for the holidaysé Lee English can attend to things while I am away. 
éHave you come to any conclusion regard to putting these people off the grant.ò [Elkins papers 951] 

1895December6; (S.H. Elkins to Steve) Got your letter of the 1st and enclosed check for $600. Will pay the men tomorrow for Oct. éI donôt see much of Strickland. I 
see him now & then passing ï he is hardly ever at the ñOrtizò. he has rented the Old Mill below here & is going to bring in a Huntington Mill. He was over to Golden 
yesterday to the sale of the Huntington Mill at Kelleyôs Mill [Lawyer Southerland bought it]é I have not been down in the Old Ortiz since they finished cleaning it 
out. éI donôt think they have struck anything yet. [Elkins papers] 

1895December7; (Robert Moore to Edward King, Chairman of the Joint Reorganization Committee of the AT&SF Railroad Company.) Twenty page evaluation of the 
economics of the Cerrillos Coal Field Operation since the AT&SF took it over in 1892. The area is operated by Cerrillos Coal Railroad Company and AT&SF 
owns essentially all the stock in it and Elkins and Kerens own the bonds. The CCRC had not made a lot of money but Moore recommends a new lease 
agreement as it is an investment the AT&SF has already made. ñThe fee of this land remains vested in the lessor, the Cerrillos Coal and Iron Co.ò [totally owned 
by Elkins]. Contains a list of all the property: 26,000 acres, 4 coal mines with more than one portal each, 50 coke ovens at Waldo Station. Waldo and Miller Gulch 
mines were closed in 1894 but 30 or more buildings are still at Waldo and should be moved. The White Ash and Lucas Mines in Coal Arroyo are working. 



ñAround them has grown up a collection of houses, all but one or two being owned by the Company, known as Madrid.ò [Some or all of the houses from 
Carthage, when AT&S closed it down, may have been at the ñWaldo Mineò also referred to as the town of Rogers, before being moved to Madrid.<HM] [NMSU 
Folder # 2/16] 

1895December11; Judge Laughlin has grown weary of being trifled with by negligent attorneysé made an order requiring satisfactory security for 

costs in all pending causes to be filed on or before the first day of the present term. éSixty cases in which the required costs bonds had not been 

filed, were ordered abated and stricken from the docketé Among the cases thus abatedé T.B. Catron vs. S.B. Elkins et al. [SFDNM] 

1895December12; (English, Dolores, to Senator Elkins) ñI have been able at last to get those claims surveyed and am sending the field notes and plat. éI called the 
one next to the Ortiz the Senator and the other Juanita. ï  Field Notes of the Juanita and Senator claims and Mill Site Ortiz Grant, surveyed Dec5&6, 1895, Hiram 
Brown. Mill site is in the 1/4 sec Car bet. secs 46&47. Senator is on the north of Ortiz Mine, Juanita 3,681 feet to NE and mill site is on arroyo further east. [Elkins 
papers 953] 

1896January2; (John McCook to Elkins) On Cerrillos Coal Field: Mooreôs Report, Mr. Faulknerôs and concern about Omeara mine and its being tied up. [AT&SF 
archives have a letter on this. The name of the mine has varied O Mara or O Mera to this day and is several miles east of the grant close to Pueblo Blanco. An 
arch survey of the mine was done in the 1980s for AML.<HM] [Elkins papers no #] 

1896January13; Six month option from W.E. Dame to S.H. and S.B. Elkins for SW4 of sec32 T13N R9E for $3,000. [Elkins papers 958] 
1896January18; (S.H. to Steve) I have 6 month option on the OMera Mineé it is only 40 acres. I can file other claims and get up to 160 or 320 acres if you wish.ò I 

have kept the driver hauling coal and working on the Juanita. I will let off a man at the mine tonight that will only leave George at the mine. J.C. Bender still wants 
to lease the Candelaria mine. Have not gotten any money since Oct. need to pay off the men. Enclosed is Dec Pay roll. [Elkins papers 962] 

1896February3; (S.H. to Steve) Only 2 men now on payroll, Cunningham mine expenses etc. éòwe went over to the Candelaria Mine ï to get the samples that Mr. 
Lawson wanted on last Friday ï I found Old Hutchason there ï he had taken possession of the mine and was at work on it & had been shipping some ore ï I told 
him that I thought he had better wait & see what the Co. was going to do in the matter as to giving him a lease. This is the mine that Bender wantsé I have 
learned that Matt Reynolds wants a lease on the Candelaria & that he has been promised a leaseé I say give it to him and he will have to fight old Hutché I 
understand from Matt Reynolds man that he wants 600 feet by 3000 feet long as on this Iron Lode.ò Enclosed is Old Hutchôs lease application do with it as you 
please. Also enclosed is the Jan Payroll and expenses. [Hutchôs application is elsewhere in the collection, unsigned. However he was eventually bought off for a 
small amount of money ï HM] [Elkins papers 964] 

1896February15; Parkersburg, W.Va. Feb.15. ï Hon. A.B. White, of this city, ex-collector of internal revenue, and a very close friend of Senator 

Stephen B. Elkins, was in Washington a few days ago, the guest of Mr. Elkins. Upon his return home he printed in his newspaper the following: 

ñFrom all over the country has come a voluntary call for Senator Stephen B. Elkins to enter the list of presidential candidates. Recent events and 
political developments have made him more than a presidential possibility. In more than one state and in the head centers of politics he is regarded 

as the coming man. His wide acquaintanceship has attracted men to him, and his advancement and success in life have demonstrated beyond 

questioning his greatness. [SFDNM] 
1896March9; Why Senator Elkins and Delegate Catron should not have vigorously denounced Senator Briceôs county bond amendment to the capitol 

rebuilding bill is a mystery which the friends of those gentlemen can not fathom. Both are heavy tax payers in Santa Fe county. [SFDNM] 

1897March12; (S.H., Columbia MO, to Elkins) I reached home safe found all well ï I also found the enclosed letter [McGhee 3/3/97]. What did Lawson say about 
paying the debts? I wished you would have Livingston look up the letter that Kerens & I sent you so I can send it to Mr. Kendal. [Elkins papers 996] 

1896March12; Mr. Harry Kinsell is here from Cerrillos to attend the Republican convention. Since he removed his mustache he looks like Senator 
Elkins. [SFDNM] 

1896March13; Mr. S.H. Elkins, brother of Senator S.B. Elkins, has returned to Cerrillos from Missouri and will commence work on several good 

mines, in which the senator and other eastern capitalists are interested. [SFDNM] 
1896March25; ébills for the admission of Arizona, Oklahoma and New Mexico as states. éIt is also learned that there is a deal for the control of the 

delegates from these territories to the St. Louis convention also involved. Senator Elkins has taken a good deal of interest in the New Mexico 

statehood bill in the senate and worked a favorable report through the committee on territories. Elkins, it is said, has made a deal with Delegate 
Catron to control the New Mexico delegation to the national convention. éStrange as it may seem, Elkins believes that he stands a chance of the 

presidential nomination himself, but, failing in that, he would be very glad if the vice presidency fell his way. [SFDNM] 

1896March26; Memorandum of Agreement between the Cerrillos Coal Railroad Co. and the Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe Railway Co and the Bond Holders of the 
CCRC issued January 30, 1892.Whereas the AT&SF holds the equity in all or nearly all the stock of the CC&IC and it owns all the stock of the CCRC. Now, 
Therefore it is mutually agreed between the parties as follows: 1. AT&SF has six months to explore property at its expense. 2. AT&SF will pay to trustees 
$84,000 for sinking fund bond redemption and the coupon due on the remainder of the bonds on July, 1, 1896 of $14,960. 3. All net earning in the meantime 
going to AT&SF from the CCRCo. 4. On or before Sept.1, 1896 the AT&SF shall notify trustees if it elects to surrender its interest in the CCRC and the property 
to the bondholders. If it elects to surrender it will transfer the property in good working order. If the AT&SF elects to retain its interest in the CCRC the sinking 
fund amount will be reduced to $50,000 per year and extended to 1910. Signed Aldace F. Walker, Chairman of Board, and Aldace F. Walker, Director CCRC, 
and also by R.C. Kerens, $255,000 bonds numberedé and S.B. Elkins $250,000 bonds numberedé [NMSU Folder # 2/7] 

1896March27; Catron and Elkins. Proof Conclusive That Both of the Worthies Named Ar Systematic Tax Dodgers. The ñgangò howl up at Santa Fe 
about the payment of their just debts and make much ado about Hon. T.B. Catron. The fact is the railroads are the biggest taxpayers in Santa Fe 

county. Next comes Hon. Stephen B. Elkins and then comes Hon. T.B. Catron, and we are proud to say that Hon. T.B. Catron is not a repudiator. ï 

Socorro Chieftain. ¶ The records in the office of the collector of taxes for Santa Fe county show that the total taxes levied against Delegate T.B. 
Catron for the year 1893 amounted to $2,368.57; that $841.35 of this sum was levied on account of the interest on county bond issues of 1882, 

1884, 1890, 1891 and 1892, which include the Brice, Coler and court house bonds; that, on February 17, 1894, Mr. Catron paid $763.60 on 

account of the $1,526.21 levied against him for other than bond purposes, and expressly repudiated payments on account of the bonds; that he has 

not since paid a dollar of taxes in this county except in the form of fair promises. ¶ As to Mr. Elkins, the records show that he has not deigned to 

pay a dollar on account of the taxes levied against him in Cerrillos since and including 1892, and suits are now pending in the district court for the 

collection of accrued taxes against the New Mexico Mining company, of which Mr. Elkins is a large stockholder and managing director. So it 
appears that the West Virginia statesman takes even higher rank as a tax repudiator than his New Mexico partner, for he seems disposed to dodge 

not only his taxes on account of bonds, but all other taxes levied against him in this county, where he laid the foundation for his present colossal 

fortune. ¶ It may be mentioned in this connection that suits for the collection of delinquent taxes in this county are also pending in the district court 
against Mr. Catron. ¶ Of course the irresponsible and silly Chieftain will calmly ignore these facts, and continue grinding out fresh falsehoods as 

usual, but happily Windy Williams does not represent the intelligence and integrity of the people of New Mexico. [SFDNM] 

1896May6; Receiver Named. The New Mexico Mining Company Heavily Involved ï Sam H. Elkins Appointed Receiver by the Court. Newton S 
Finney, of New York, who owns 533,000 shares of the stock in the New Mexico Mining company, yesterday afternoon applied to the district court 

through his attorney, Hon. Matt G. Reynolds, for the appointment of a receiver for this property. The petition is based on the grounds of 

insolvency, ceasing to do business under its franchiers, want of revenue to pay current expenses and taxes, failure to protect the property from 



waste, destruction and trespass and numerous other grounds. The company was organized years ago by S.B. Elkins, Larson, Simpson and others of 

New York. It owns ?4,000 acres of the Ortiz mine grant in south Santa Fe county. Its capital stock was placed at $500,000. Its debts amount to 
about $80,000, of which sum about $20,000 are due for taxes to the territory and Santa Fe county and suit is now pending for some $18,000 of this 

amount. ¶ The showing in the petition was so clear and conclusive that the prayer was at once granted by Judge Laughlin, and Sam H. Elkins, of 

Cerrillos, brother of the senator, was named as receiver. He was given twenty days in which to file his bond, the amount of which was fixed at 
$2,500. [SFDNM] 

1896May12; (Elkins to A.Staab) Says to tell Rencher that he is willing to settle on Cerrillos but that he is deferring to Catron as he is the interested party. Catron sold 
the lots, and I had nothing whatsoever to do with that part of the business. [NMSU Folder #s 2/4 2/5 2/6, Lawsuit] 

1896May27; (George W. McGhee to Elkins) Received your letter of the 23rd. Cost of a 2-3 ton per day vat about 800 to 1000. Even that would be profitable. [Elkins 
papers 978] 

1896May27; Legal Notice. Newton S. Finney, No.3766 vs. The New Mexico Mining Company et al. In the District Court, County of Santa Fe, ss. The 

said defendants, Shipman, Laroque and Choate, A.J. Wolf, Elkins National Bank of West Virginia, Richard C. Kerens, Lars Anderson, L.M. 
Lawton, Joseph Larocque, The Estate of M.P. Bush, S.H. Wolf, Harry W. Marks, Fanny C. Grant, Stephen B. Elkins, Charles L. Chambers, are 

hereby notified that a suit in equity has been commenced against you in the district court for the county of Santa Fe, territory of New Mexico, by 

said Newton S. Finney, that unless you enter your appearance in said suit on or before the first Monday, the 3rd day of August, 1896, decree pro 
confesso therein will be rendered against you. Geo L. Wyllys, Clerk. Matt G. Reynolds, Solicitor for Complainant. Santa Fe, N.M., May 26, 

1896. [SFDNM] 

1896July11; (Wiedersheim, Philadelphia, to Elkins) Meeting with Bromley, your correspondence indicates you though Catron owned the land. The Bonds and note are 
OK but need your instructions. [TA Grant Bonds & note.<HM] [Elkins papers 981] 

1896July25; The little Arnold mill has been running ssteadily for a week on ore from the Candelaria mine. Several tons of ore will be extracted from 

the Old Timer mine, there being now a number of miners at work. ï Cerrillos Rustler. [SFDNM] 

1896July28; Mr. Sam H. Elkins, receiver of the New Mexico Mining company and brother of Senator Elkins, has returned to Cerrillos from Columbia, 

Mo. [SFDNM] 
1896August4; Mine Waifs. Mr. S.G. Burn, of New York, the mining engineer engaged in an inspection of the Ortiz mine grant for Senator Elkins and 

others, is in this city on a visit. He has thus far critically examined into the mineral resources of only a portion of the grant and expects to put in at 

least three weeks more in this line of duty. [SFDNM] 
1896August29; The New Coal Deal. South Santa Fe County Mines Sold to the A.,T.&S.F. for Half a Million Dollars. Under a new deal the Colorado 

Fuel & Iron company has assumed control of all A.,T.&S.F. coal interests in Colorado and east of Raton mountains, and the A.,T.&S.F. coal 

department will henceforth confine its operations to New Mexico coal properties. ¶ It is announced that the A.,T.&S.F. has finally acquired 
absolute title to the great coal measures near Cerrillos, in south Santa Fe county, purchasing from S.B. Elkins, R.C. Kerens and T.B. Catron for 

$500,000. [SFDNM] 
1897January6; A dispatch from Wheeling, W. Va., dated Jan 3, says: ñPhillip Duncan Elkins, father of United States Senator Stephen B. Elkins, died 

this afternoon at the senatorôs residence, at Elkins, this state, aged 87 years. The deceased was a colonel in the confederate army, and a Democrat. 

He was born in Farquilar county, Va., July 4, 1809. He was married in Ohio, in 1840, to Sarah Pickett Wethers. He leaves two sons, Senator 
Elkins, of West Virginia, and Samuel Hobbs Elkins, of Columbia, Mo.ò Æ The deceased became a resident of Santa Fe in 1867, soon after his 

distinguished oldest son, Senator Elkins, of West Virginia, became an active factor in the political and business life of New Mexico, and for a 

period of about twenty years was one of the best known figures on the streets of this historic capital, familiarly known even to the children as 
ñPapò Elkins. Æ He was a prince among story tellers, a persistent and expert angler and always a genial and generous companion. He was a dyed in 

the wool Democrat, but always found it a sore trial to vote against his talented Republican son, ñSteve,ò who was the pride and joy of his heart. Æ 

When Senator Elkins went to West Virginia his father went with him and there he passed the declining years of his life in peace and comfort. 
[SFDNM] 

1897January14; Smelter At Cerrillos. Capt. Balue Has Finally Secured of Senator Elkins a Desirable Site for His Projected New Smelter at the Little 

Pittsburg. The New Mexican is in possession of exclusive information that the site of the smelter of the Mary Mining & Smelting company at 
Cerrillos has been practically decided upon and the passing of deeds is all that remains to be done before ground is broken for the extensive plant. 

¶ The site selected consists of about fifteen blocks in the original townsite of Cerrillos, lying north of the San Marcos arroyo. The property is 

owned by Senator Elkins, of West Virginia, and the distinguished gentleman named has generously wired from Washington his willingness to 
deed the property ot the company named for the purpose indicated. ¶ At the request of Capt. Marion Balue, president and promoter of the Mary 

Mining & Smelting company, Col. R.B. Willison, a civil engineer of this city, will leave for Cerrillos to-night to survey the lines for the switch 

and pipe-line to the proposed new smelter. The switch will be about 1,000 feet long. ¶ When Capt. Balue returns from the carbonate mines of his 
company at Kelly, the New Mexican anticipates being able definitely to say when ground will be broken for the new smelter. [SFDNM] 

1897February6; The Cerrillos Smelter. Necessary Land for a Site Conveyed by Senator Elkins and Mr. Catron. Reliable information comes from 

Cerrillos to the effect that a telegram was received from Senator Elkins and Mr. Catron on last Wednesday, from Washington, which practically 
assures the building of the large smelter in that town, which has been so much talked of during the past few months. ¶ The senator and Mr. Catron 

will convey the land desired for the smelter site, provided it is used for the purpose named, otherwise it reverts to them. ¶ This is all that was asked 

by the smelter people, and I entirely satisfactory. When he heard the land question was definitely out of the way, Capt. M. Balue, who had awaited 
the result in this city, left immediately for the east. He will be gone ten days, and upon his return active construction work is to be begun. ¶ The 

thanks of the people of Cerrillos and vicinity, as well as the smelter company are due to Hon. S.B. Elkins and to Hon. T.B. Catron for their 

donation of the land entirely free, for smelter uses. The site is ample for the purpose, and the location the best that has been talked of. Water will be 

supplied by gravity; the railroad tracks will be short and upon easy grades, and the dumping ground is sufficient for the accumulation of years. 

That the plant will be financially successful in operation is conceded by everyone who is at all acquainted with the resources of this section of the 

territory. [SFDNM] 
1897May14; Ortiz Grant Heirs. Denver Ladies Interested in a Most Valuable Tract. The famous case of the Ortiz grant in New Mexico will come up in 

the United States court of appeals within the next 60 days. A year or more ago a decision was handed down giving the grant, which consists of a 

tract of territory ten miles square in New Mexico, to the heirs of Don Joseph Alvaerio Ortiz, commander of the whole army of occupation when 
Spain owned the great Louisiana tract, afterwards ceded to France and then bought by the United States. The fact of the grant was established and 

the fact that is was a legal title. The tract is near Santa Fe, and on it is an immense mine, known as the ñold copper mine,ò from which great values 

are taken each year. This mine is at present operated under lease by Elkins & Grant. The firm consists of Stephen B. Elkins, senator from West 
Virginia, and a son of Gen. U.S. Grant. There are nine heirs to the estate, all being grand-children of the famous old general. Two reside in this 

city, two in California and the other five in St. Louis. The Denver heirs are Mrs. Wetherill of 1354 Curtis street, and Mrs. Capt. J.W. Barron of 

South Thirteenth street and West Fourth avenue. Frank and Antoine Morone, half-brothers of the two-Denver heirs, live in California. The present 



proceedings are merely to establish the birth and existence of Don Joseph Ortiz and a continuous line of records to the grandchildren. A St. Louis 

attorney is now in Seville, Spain, looking up the recordsé [SFDNM] 

1897May20; (Philip Hoefele, Mexico, to Kerens) Cover letter to Assignment of Cunningham Extension lease of 11/2/95 to Kerens, saying he distinctly remembers going 
over to Mr. Elkins house in Nov 1895 at his and your request and signing the lease. [Elkins papers 1004] 

1897June11; (Bernard S. Rodey to Elkins) Asking Elkins to speak to the President about appointing Catron ambassador to Spain. [Elkins papers 1019] 
1897June21; Capt. Marion Ballue, of Terre Haute, who has been working on a project to erect a smelter in Cerrillos, has succeeded in arranging 

financial matters and expects to begin work on the plant early in July. Senator Elkins has donated a site for the smelter, conditioned upon the 

prompt construction of the woorks, and Mr. Ballue expexts to push operations as soon as work commences. [SFDNM] 

1897June21; Cerrillos Smelter. The Mary M.&S. Company, Marion Balue, President, to Erect a 65-Ton Smelter. Lands Secured ï Ores from Mary 
Group of Mines and Customs Ores to Be Treated. If Conditions Warrant, Another 65-Ton Stack Will Be Added Soon. ¶ The Mary Mining & 

Smelting company was organized in this city on January 18, 1896, with the following incorporators: Marion Balue, D.W. Manley and J.H. 

Vaughn. The object of the company is to carry on the business of mining for gold, silver, lead and other minerals and smelting the same. The 
capital stock of the company consists of $500,000 in 500,000 shares of $1 each. ¶ Captain Balue, the president of the company, had been very 

busy during the past year in trying to place sufficient stock to go into active operation and has succeeded. The company owns six mines known as 

the Mary group at Kelly in Socorro county; the mines have been worked and a great deal of mineral, carrying lead, silver and gold is in sight and 
on the dump. The ore is similar to the Graphic companyôs ore, except that it carries more gold. Æ Captain Balue with two other directors from 

Detriot, Mich., Mr. H.S. Wisner, and A.L. Stephens have been in the territory all week and it is understood that a 65 ton smelter, new and never 

used before, built by Chalmers & Frazer, Chicago, has been contracted for and will be shipped at once to Cerrillos where the company owns 12 
acres of land, right near the Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe railroad depot, obtained from Senator Elkins. It is believed that this plant can be put 

into Cerrillos in 40 days and that in a month more it will be up and in active operation treating ores from the Mary group of mines and custom 

ores. Satisfactory arrangements have been made with the Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe railroad as to hauling ores from Socorro to the new 
smelter, and coal, water and other necessaries can be had in abundance right at Cerrillos. ¶ The company proposes to treat all the ores of Cochiti 

and Santa Fe county mining districts offered and will use the ores from its own mines for fluxing purposes mostly. ¶ The company has ample 

capital and if conditions warrant will put in a second stack and increase its daily capacity at an early date. The enterprise is an assured fact and 
means a great deal for south Santa Fe county and this city. ¶ The officers of the company are, Marion Balue president, D.W. Manley secretary, 

and J.H. Vaughn treasurer, and Messrs. H.S. Wisner and A.L. Stephens directors. ¶ The New Mexican will give more facts and particulars as the 

new enterprise progresses, in the meantime it is but necessary to say, that the company means business, that is has all the capital it needs, that it is 
not selling any stock and that it proposes to make money out of its mines and out of the smelter. ¶ The undertaking will be found of the greatest 

importance and benefit to the mining and commercial interests of this county and of Socorro county, and the New Mexican wishes it the best of 

success. That it will be a success from the start under the general management of Captain Balue, cannot be doubted, for he is well known as a 
careful, painstaking, energetic and prudent business and mining man. He was largely instrumental in bringing the capital invested in the Graphic 

company in Socorro county into the territory and is a valuable man and first-class citizen in any community. [SFDNM] 

1897June30; Property Transfers. June 15 ï S.B. Elkins and T.B. Catron to Richard Mathews, lots 1 and 2 in block 4 [near Broken Saddle], town of 
Cerrillos. Consideration $125. [SFDNM] 

1897July27; Hon. S.M. Ashenfelter, well known throughout New Mexico, where he resided for a quarter of a century before settling in Colorado 

Springs in 1895é Mr. Ashenfelter is a native of Pennsylvania and a graduate of Dickinson college, Carlisle, Pa. éHe came to New Mexico in 
1870, when but 26 years of age, as United States attorney for the territory, succeeding Hon. S.B. Elkins, now a United States senator from West 

Virginia. He remained in office until 1872, being then succeeded by Hon. T.B. Catron, ex-delegate to congress from this territory. After a yearôs 

residence in Santa Fe he went to Las Cruces, and after a year there he settled in Silver City. In addition to practicing law, for about eight years he 

edited the Silver City Southwest Sentinel and made it the strongest and most influential Democratic weekly in the territory during those years. 

Under the Ross administration he held the office of territorial prosecuting attorney for the Third judicial district. [SFDNM] 

1897 November ï Mary Mining & Smelting Co. built on Elkins property NW of Cerrillos, across S.Marcos arroyo 
1898; The sale of the Grant was consummated during 1898. Discussions between the principal owners of the Grant, Senator Stephen B. Elkins and Richard C. Kerens, 

and Thomas A. Edison, during 1897 had resulted in the assignment of S.G. Burn to conduct an appraisal of the Grant. Burn, an English mining engineer, spent 
the major part of 1897 investigating the mining possibilities of the Grant. After a favorable preliminary report, Edison obtained a two year lease on the property 
with an option to purchase the complete holding at a reported price of $2M. ¶ Burn returned to the Grant in the summer of 1898, and worked on a comprehensive 
report during the next two years. Edison intended to work the placer deposits near Dolores. In order to utilize his experimental ore separator, detailed knowledge 
of the size ranges and specific gravity of the placer gravels were needed. Burn employed up to 100 men in his investigations. Over seven miles of trenches were 
dug and sample tests on the gravels on each yard of trench were run. ¶ By 1900, Thomas A. Edison was satisfied that conditions on the Grant would be 
favorable for his process. Accordingly, the sale of the NMMC was conducted in the manner stipulated in the lease agreed to in 1898. The new owners styled 
themselves the Galisteo Company. S.G. Burn was made the resident manager, and began preparations for the buildings needed to hours the equipment coming 
from Menlo Park, NJ. [J.Townley 1968, p.121] 

1898April21; The Ortiz Mine. More Water Needed to Run Increased Milling Facilities ï Big Proposition ï Mine Pays Well. Mr. A.M. Watson, general 

manager of the Ortiz Mining company at Dolores, is in the city on legal business. In talking to a representative of the New Mexican, Mr. Watson 
stated that the company just now was earnestly engaged in developing the supply of water and was proceeding at a satisfactory rate. There are 27 

men employed in that undertaking. The water supply is sufficient for the present to run the concentrator and the two Huntington mills now in 

operation, having a capacity of 50 tons per day. As soon as the water supply will allow the machinery will be increased so as to treat about 100 
tons per 24 hours. The mine is down 300 feet and a contract for deepening the shaft 100 feet more has just been let. Although the mine was worked 

50 years ago, it is hardly developed yet and is one of the greatest low grade propositions in the country. The vein varies from seven to ten feet and 

the vein matter is partly free milling ore and partly reduced to concentrates. The ore body is immense. Of course, the value of the ore could not be 
gotten out of Mr. Watson, but it is well known that the company is doing well, has done well and expects to do better with increased machinery. 

The Ortiz mine is on the celebrated Ortiz mine grant, which is owned by a corporation wherein Senator S.B. Elkins and R.C. Kerens are principal 

stockholders. The members of the company, who have leased the Ortiz mine, are St. Louis men and think they have a good thing of it. [SFNM] 
1898July14; Miss Hallie Elkins, daughter of Hon. S.B. Elkins, of Columbia, Mo., is the guest of Judge and Mrs. N.B. Laughlin. She will remain 

several days. [SFNM]   

1898August25; Real Estate Transfers. Stephen B. Elkins and Thomas B. Catron, to A.L. Kendall, warranty deed. Block No.? in the town of Cerrillos; 
consideration, $?00. [SFNM] 

1898September4; A Big Transaction ï The sale by the New Mexico Mining Company of the Ortiz land grant in the southern part of this coury to 

Thomas A. Edison the celebrated electrician is understood to be a fact. L.M. Lawson, son of the president of the New Mexico Mining Company 
was here a couple of weeks ago, while negotiations were in progress. The interests of S.B. Elkins of West Virginia and R.C. Kerens of St. Louis 



go in the sale. The grant is in the hand of a receiver, Mr. S.H. Elkins, who is now here preparing the final report for submission to the district 

court and who will ask for discharge and turn the property over to the new purchasers as soon as they are ready to receive ité There are no 
squatters on the grant. Mr. S.H. Elkins, during his term as receiver, having had them removed one and all, and barring the leases avobe mentioned 

the property is absolutely clear and will so pass into the hands of the new purchasers. [SFNM] 

1899February; (Wm. Breeden, Santa Fe, to Elkins) Request for help to get Capt. Candelario Martinez a military pension. [Elkins papers 1332] 
1899March19; (Kerens to Elkins?) re losses Elkins and Kerens had on AT&SF stock and other market situations. [Elkins Papers 1211] 
1899April21; (F.H. Mitchell, Cerrillos, to S.H. Elkins, Columbia MO) His bid for 200 feet of 5 x 6 foot tunnel extension on Cunningham at $6.74 per foot if Elkins 

supplies rail and car. [Elkins papers 1223] 
1899April21; (O.X. Kelley to Mr. Elkins) ñWe do your work on the Cunningham Tunnel for $9.00 Dollars for foot.ò [It is doubtful that Elkins stated this extension as no 

documents mention it or the cost. The Cunningham was not included in the Hoyt lease in 1899 and Elkins kept it at least until 1902 ï HM] [Elkins papers 1223] 
1899April27; (S.H., Columbia MO, to Steve) On his illness. He met and showed a man from CO [OConor] the Cunningham and the man thought it would be a good 
cyanide operation. ñYes Dan Taylor has left the Country as I wrote you we had beat him in the court and when the Court issued the order for him to vacate he left 
without a word when Lee English presented the papers. [He lived in cabin on south side of Cunningham Hill ï HM] I think your Idia about running the lower tunnel 
in 2 or 3 feet a good one. Lee and others seem to think to sink a shaft 200 feet on the Vein just about where Dan Taylors Cabbin stands then run a tunnel 250 or 
300 feet from the shaft and cross cut of Course this would take considerable Money. éWe [Lee English] took a good look at this while there and Mr. OConor of 
Boulder that was with us thought we ought to run in on the soft streak. éI send you two bids on the work. One from a Mr Kelly and the other from F.H. Mitchell. 
The Mitchel bid is as cheap as it can be done for and I dont see how he can do it that cheap for 2 Men cannot shoot down + Tram out over 1 foot in a days work 10 
hours and that would be 5.00 to [say] nothing of Tools Powder fuse Caps +c + sharpening of tools. éto send a Car of this Ore to some good Synide Mill and have 
it tested. éThe Kansas people done nothing. I am satisfied they did not use the McGhee process ï they say their Vat would not work and they are having another 
one Made in Chicago. There was none of them out there this trip. I would like to see something done on the Cunningham. I would like to make and accumulate 
some money before I get too old and entirely broken down + not able to do anything for I feel that I am beging to go down the other side of the ladder. éI wish the 
Lawson people would buy the stock and get Control and then settle up the Reciever and pay of the a/c. and what is due to me + Lee English. There is two years 
Taxes due. We paid up to 1897. I hope to go back by the 5th of May and will take Contract and have it signed so they can start work at once. for Mitchel.ò [S.H. was 
the Court appointed Receiver at this time and handed the property over to the Hoyt family that September and did get paid, none of this is in these papers though 
ïHM] [Elkins papers 1223]. 

1899May16; (S.W. Mudd, Manager The Small Hopes Cons. Mining Co., Leadville Cons. M.C., The Delante M.C., The Boreel M.C., Leadville CO, to Elkins) I do not 
expect any dividends in the near future. About the Cunningham I think a tunnel is a good idea but you need a good men on the site all the time. [Elkins papers 
1237] 

1899May23; (William T. Lawson, Attorney, 34 Nassau St., home- 15 East 67th St., NY to My Dear Senator) A plea if not a demand that Elkins, Kerens and his father 
take action on leasing the grant to the Hoyts. That the Hoyts have done more than was asked of them in February. They have paid $20k worth of NMMC debts and 
bought up more of the stock than they were asked to buy. ñThey stand ready to develop the property at no outlay whatever to the old stockholders. éover three 
months have lapsed and the Hoyt syndicate has been ignored. Surely, there can be no obstacle to granting the lease. The only indebtedness outstanding of the 
NMMC is held by yourself and Mr. Kerens and my father and the Andersons. éthat old property, which is valueless as it stands. éI advise the immediate granting 
of the new lease otherwise the syndicate will transfer its interest and money to the other placer properties which it now controls.ò [This is the only Elkins papers 
document that mentions the Hoyts ï there were obviously many more ï HM] [Elkins papers 1236] 

1899 September ï S.B.Elkins for NMMining Co, sells A.M. Hoyt & Co., NY, a 99yr lease on the Ortiz grant; Hoyt forms Galisteo Company. W.T. Lawson, son of pres of 
NMMCo, & S.B. Burn on site. (At least 18mos earlier Elkins, S.B. Burn, and an associate had examined Edisonôs process and decided not to use it at Ortiz) 

1899September4; The sale by the New Mexico Mining Company of the Ortiz land grant in the southern part of this county to Thomas A. Edison, the 

celebrated electrician, is understood to be a fact. éThere are about fourteen leases of mines on the grant yet in force, and of course these will 

stand. Among the leasers are S.H. Elkins, of Columbia, Mo., who holds a lease on the Cunningham mine and extensions; the Ortiz Mining 

Company of St. Louis, holding a lease on the Ortiz mine; L.M. English, of Dolores, who holds several leases near Dolores; J.B. Mayo, of Golden, 

who has the Pat Cullom leases; J.W. Akers, of this city; Chris Wiegand and others. The Benton and Live Oak claims were also under lease to the 
Waddingham estate but who holds the leases now is not definitely known. ¶ L.M. Lawson, son of the president of the New Mexico Mining 

Company, was here a couple of weeks ago, while negotiations were in progress. The interests held by Senator S.B. Elkins, of West Virginia, and 

R.C. Kerens, of St. Louis, go in the sale. ¶ The grant is in the hands of a receiver, Mr. S.H. Elkins, who is now here, preparing his final report for 
submission to the district court, and who will ask for discharge and turn the property over to the new purchasers as soon as they are ready to 

receive it. Mr. Burn, who is now on the grant, will very likely be the man to relieve Mr. Elkins. éThere are no squatters on the grant, Mr. S.H. 

Elkins, during his term as receiver, having had them removed one and all, and, barring the leases above mentioned, the property is absolutely free, 
and will so pass into the hands of the new purchasers. [SFNM] 

1899September6; Out Of Court. Receiver S.H. Elkins, of the Ortiz Grant Is Discharged. In the district court this morning, in the case of Newton S. 

Finney vs. the New Mexico Mining Company, Judge McFie discharged the receiver, Samuel H. Elkins, and approved his report, and also dissolved 
the injunction against the company. ¶ The New Mexico Mining Company is owner of the Ortiz mining grant in southern Santa Fe county, about 

twenty-five miles from this city. The grant was confirmed by act of congress March 1, 1861, for 69,000 acres. Of the original grant, 15.026 acres 

was sold to the Cerrillos Coal and Iron Company, leaving 54,000 acres in the grant as now constituted. Samuel H. Elkins was appointed receiver of 
the grant May 15, 1896, and administered the trust so efficiently that every claim against the company has been paid, and many improvements 

made that increased the value of the grant many fold. ¶ Among the accounts paid were twenty-four notes in favor of Hon. S.B. Elkins, of West 

Virginia, for $16,230.52; eight notes held by R.C. Kerens, of St. Louis, for $6,331.29; expenses and salary of the receiver from May 15, 1896, to 
June, 1896, amounting to $6,503.73; to H.C. Kinsell for sheriffôs fees, $716.75; to Charles H. Gildersleeve, clerk of the district court, $150; to 

L.M. English for wages as watchman up to June 1, 1896, $2,000; and all other expenses and salaries from the dates mentioned. ¶ Mr. Elkins left 

this afternoon to turn the property over the S.G. Burn, who will take charge of the grant in the interest of Thomas A. Edison, the famous electrical 
inventor, who is the purchaser of the property, for a consideration of about $3,000,000. [SFNM] 

1899October3; Senator Elkinsô Mining Company. Preparing to Work the Cunningham Claims On the Ortiz Grant. The Sandia Mining Company, with 

its principal office at Elkins, W.Va., has been incorporated by Senator S.B. Elkins, his sons, Richard and Blaine Elkins, and Richard C. Kerens, of 
St. Louis. The capital stock of the company is $10,000, and the company proposes to work the gold mining claims on the Ortiz grant, in the 

southern part of this county, known as the Cunningham and Cunningham Extension. These two claims are said to contain great quantities of low-

grade gold ores, and are held by Senator Elkins and his associates under a ninety-nine-year lease from the New Mexico Mining Company, the 
owners of the Ortiz mine grant. It is said that the Ortiz Mining Company offered the senator and his associates $20,000 and all expenses 

heretofore incurred for the surrender of the leases of the Cunningham claims, and that this offer was declined. ¶ It is to be hoped that these claims 

will be worked to their fullest extent. They have been idle long enough. Men of the wealth of Senator Elkins and Mr. Kerens can certainly afford 
to make a trial in that direction. [SFNM] 



1899December1; (US Assay Office, F.A. Jones, C.E., E.M. Kansas City, John T. Elkins assayer, to S.H. Elkins) 6 samples: from 0.12 to 0.48 oz per ton. At 1899 gold 
values $2.40 to $9.60 per ton. Candelaria Mine Assay ï written on the back. [John Elkins was S.B. & S.H. brother who lived in NM in the 1860s and 70s. He was 
one of the two original surveyors of the Maxwell Land Grant along with one of the great-grandfathers of the Laguna Marmon Clan. Marmonôs latter survey of the 
Laguna Reservation led to their having a large reservation. John worked in mining in CO for many years and apparently then moved to Kansas City. John Elkins 
was working for F.A. Jones! I wonder if Elkins had something to do with Jonesô appointment in 1898 as the first pres of the NM School of Mines?- HM] [Elkins 
papers 1287] 

1900 ï Elkins reelected Senator from WVa 
1900January29; (Washington Times) The latest figures added to Col. Henry C. Payneôs lurid vice presidential phantasmagoria is that of the rosy and 

rotund West Virginia statesman, Senator Stephen B. Elkins. It is said that Senator Elkinsô name has been submitted to the president, and on the 

principle that ñsilence gives consent,ò it is argued that Mr. McKinley would not object to the West Virginian as running mate. It is admitted that 
the senator is closely identified with various large trusts, but it is claimed that this defect is more than counterbalanced by his popularity with the 

labor elements. In view of the fact that a part of West Virginia lies on the other side of the Alleghenies it is believed that the senator could be 

presented as a ñgood western man.ò The circumstance that he was born west of the Mississippi and sprang full panoplied into the arena of 
statesmanship from New Mexico, would also be used to bolster up this argument. [SFNM] 

1900February8; (Amado Chavez to Elkins) Requesting his help in getting a salary increase or Irenero in the Land Court and the position of translator for himself in the 
War Department. [Elkins papers 1332] 

1900February18; (Waldo, Solicitor for NM for AT&SF Railroad, Las Vegas, to Elkins) I had the Dep. Clerk in Santa Fe check the files and the only suit in which you 
appeared as a part? defendant or ? was the case of T.B. Catron vs. Rencher and yourself. ï I have always supposed that Tomôs attitude in that litigation was that 
of a friend. [Elkins papers 1363] 

1900March14; Hon. Thomas B. Catron has brought suit against John Collinson, in the district court for Socorro county, to recover an indebtedness of 

$19,493, which the plaintiff alleges he advanced to the defendant. The property of Mr. Collinson, consisting of one-third interest in the Bosque 

del Apache grant along the Rio Grande river in Socorro county, has been attached, and unless the defendant enters an appearance in the suit by 

April 16 judgment will be rendered against him and his property will be sold. Damages are claimed to the amount of $35,000, with cost of suit. 
The other two-thirds of the Bosque del Apache grant is owned by Hon. T.B. Catron and Senator S.B. Elkins, of West Virginia, but formerly of 

New Mexico. Mr. Collinson is supposed to be a resident of England. [SFNM] 

1900March22; (Anicito Abaytia, Santa Fe, to Elkins) re a parcel of land in NM. [Elkins papers 1581] 
1900March22; (John R. McFie, Assoc. Justice, U.S. District Court, to Elkins) Thanking Elkins for getting him the position and hoping the bill raising associate Justice 

pay in the territories will pass. [Elkins papers 1595] 
1900March24; (Rev. I?T. Whitten?? to Elkins) Requesting assistance to get an appropriation through congress for money to build a dam on the Gila River, and a claim 

by Sam Bostick against government for Indian depredations on the San Pedro in 1880-85. [Elkins papers 1627] 
1900March25; (R.L. Baca, Member of City Council, Santa Fe, to Elkins) Wants help getting a position with the Philippine Commission. [Elkins papers 1630] 
1900March28; (Tom Catron, Santa Fe, to Elkins) Last October I was East, called to see you but did not meet you. I was in New York and saw L.M. Lawson, talked with 
him about the NMMC and its grant of land. I have 390 shares of stock in that company. éif any sale of lease had been made to any one. He said ñNoòé This was 
about the latter part of October 1899. Three days ago I was informed by Mr. Pope for the first time that a lease for 99 years had been made to a company called 
the Galisteo Company. ..I went to the Probate Clerkôs Office and examined the records and find that a lease about June, 1897 was made to one James Perry for 
two years. In June 1899 a new lease was made with Perry on the twenty-first day of the month for 99 years. It was designated to be however, an extension of the 
old lease for two years which had about expired. On the next day, June 22, 1899, Perry assigned his lease to the Galesteo Company. This was five months before 
I had my conversation with Lawson and he told me no sale or lease had been made. I am not complaining so much of his mendacity but I am complaining of the 
lease that was made. The lease turns over the entire property to the lessee for any and all purposes except the part which had been previously transferred to the 
Cerrillos Coal and Iron Company. The consideration to be paid is $5.00 per annumn and 10% of the net output, and the taxes on the property. It specifies that they 
shall work the property but do not specify in what particular manner, for what particular purpose or to what extent. ¶ This is practically, in my judgment, a 
confiscation of all the interests of all persons who are not members or stockholders of the Galesteo Company. You know that that company will have no net profits 
and if it should, 10% of them will amount to nothing comparatively, and that 10% will be eaten up by paying a salary to the officers in the NMMC. I understand that 
the stockholders of the Galesteo Company are practically the same as the stockholders in the NMMC who are acting in concert with Lawson. éin regard to my 
stock and that of Antonio Ortiz. <As succinct and frank a statement of the transfer of the OMG from the NMMC to the Galisteo Company as probably exists. 
Lawson, Elkins and the other major stockholders of NMMC got stock in the new Galisteo Company along with the Hoyts. The small NMMC stockholders like 
Catron got nothing. The Galisteo Co suits of 1941-43 eliminated any remaining value their NMMC stock may have had ïHM] [Elkins papers 1678] 

1900March28; Two important and interesting mining cases, one entitled the New Mexico Mining Company vs. James M. Lucas, and the other 

designated as the New Mexico Mining Company vs. George S. Morrison, will come up in the territorial district court to-morrow. In the first case 

the defendant claims continuous adverse possession of the Black Prince, Ohio, Illinois, April Fool, Gold Ledge, Ryan and Lucas placer claims on 
the Ortiz mine grant since 1881, and in the other the defendant claims similar rights to the Yankee Boy property on the same grant. The company 

seeks to dislodge them on the ground that the grant was long ago confirmed by congress to Senator Stephen B. Elkins et al, whence the company 

derives its title. Frank P. White, R.M. Carley, of Golden; M.L. English, of Dolores, and others, are in the city as witnesses in the two cases. 
[SFNM] 

1900April13; (M.S. Otero, Albuquerque, to Elkins) Requesting his assistance in getting a bill introduced by Delegate Perea that passed the house through the senate 
to abolish McKinley County. [Elkins papers 1785] 

1900April24; (Jacob W. Mack, NY, to Elkins) éRequests Elkinsô support for Louis Sulzbacher for the bench in Puerto Rico. Signed that he was with Wedeles & 
Ollendorff, 1865-1867. [Elkins papers 2004] 

1900April26; (Pedro Sanchez, Office of Supervisor of Census for the District of New Mexcio, to Elkins) Wanting more funds for the census in New Mexico. [Elkins 
papers 2057] 

1900May18; Samuel H. Elkins, postmaster at Columbia, Mo., is here on a visit. He leaves to-morrow for Dolores, where he will let a contract to do 

150 feet of development work on the Cunningham and Cunningham extension mines, situate on the Ortiz mine grant, but under lease to the 
Sandia Gold Mining Company, of which he, Senator S.B. Elkins and R.C. Kerens, of St. Louis, are members. He expects to be in southern Santa 

Fe county several days, returning thence to his Missouri home. [SFNM] 

1900May24; Catron and Elkins have sold lot No.7, block 25 [on River St, 3rd lot behind the church], town of Cerrillos, to Juan Montoya y Romero, 
clerk in Gerdesô branch store, for $35. [SFNM] 

1900June16; An Elkins Boom. An Effort to Get Him the Vice Presidential Nomination. Philadelphis, Pa., June 14. ï ñDonôt you think it about time to 

launch the Elkis vice presidential boom?ò asked Senator Scott of West Virginia of a fellow member of the national committee to-day. ñFor 
myself,ò said he, ñI consider the time quite ripe, and I wired our delegation to get the Elkins banner, string it to their care and come in with the 

Elkins shout. I think they will do this. [SFNM] 



1900July5; The remains of R.W. Brown were interred in Odd Fellowsô cemetery yesterday forenoon. ñGen.ò Brown, as he was familiarly known, fell 

asleep in death at St. Vincent hospital on Tuesday, and that sleep was to him a welcome one. Nothing is known of his family connections. He was 
an Englishman by birth, was bout 70 years of age, and had been a resident of Santa Fe for nearly forty years, coming here from Westport, Mo., 

where in early days he conducted a general store and employed United States Senator S.B. Elkins, then a boy, as one of his clerks. éFor years he 

was employed as bookkeeper by C.W. Dudrow, and that gentleman met the expense of his burial. Messrs. Dudrow, James T. Newhall, William 
Bolander and a few others followed the body to its last resting place in a drenching rain storm. [SFNM] 

1901February16; Hon. S.H. Elkins, postmaster at Columbia, Mo., a brother of Senator Stephen B. Elkins, of West Virginia, left for Dolores this 

afternoon after spending several days in this city. [SFNM] 
1901April20; It is said that Mr. Samuel H. Elkins, who is now postmaster at Columbia, Mo., and who for many years was a resident and citizen of 

New Mexico, would like the position of U.S. marshal. Mr. Elkins was candidate for the same position four years ago, but the pole of the present 

incumbent, Mr. Foraker, was a little the longest and he knocked the persimmon. Mr. Elkins had at that time the support of his brother, U.S. Senator 
S.B. Elkins and Hon. R.C. Kerens, of St. Louis. Mr. Foraker was supported by his brother, Senator J.B. Foraker, of Ohio. The chances are that U.S. 

Marshal C.M. Foraker will succeed himself. [SFNM] 

1901May9; (Ricketts & Banks, NY, to Elkins) Results of assays. [Ore source not given. It has the same catalog number 2205 as many Cunningham assays. However, it 
could be some other Elkins mine, such as Greeneôs Copper Mine in Sonora, Mex. There are many documents related to Bill Greeneôs Mine in this time period. 
Note says duplicate assays sent by C.H. Livingston.<HM] [Elkins Papers 2205] 

1901May9; (George M. Baily, Investments, 35 Wall Street, NY, to General Concentrates Co., NY) [Promotion of Jarilla Placer Field (49 miles from El Paso on the 
EP&Northeastern RR = Oro Grande) and his development of it in Otero County.<HM] ñéI believe that I have succeeded with the Hooper machine where Thomas 
A Edison failed, in the same field at Dolores, N. Mexico,éò [This is the only document in the Elkins Papers that mentions Edison, though all but one Hoyt 
document was removed as were any others related to Edison. Elkins must have been involved with both at it was the high expectations for the Edison Dry Placer 
Process that interested the Hoyts in a 99 year lease from NMMC in 1899.<HM] [Elkins papers 2205] 

1901May16; (W.P. Robertson, sup. General Concentrates Co., NY, to Colon H. Livingstone, Esq.) ñAs instructed by our Chief Engineer, Mr. H.B. McDowell, I forward 
you by Express to-day, samples of concentration test of ore shipped to us by Hon. S.B. Elkins. I enclose herewith duplicate reports of this test.ò [samples assayed 
by Ricketts & Banks.] [Elkins papers 2205] 

1901May28; (sig. Ricketts & Banks, Chemists, Assayers and Mining Engineers, 104 John St. NYC, to Elkins c/o Colin H. Livingston, Washington D.C.) Assay results: 
0.078 oz. gold per ton. ñéunless the conditions as to quantity of ore, cheapness of mining, etc., are unusually favorable an ore of this low value could scarcely be 
mined and treated at a profit.ò [On reverse is written Cunningham Ore. The Cunningham eventually became part of the Hoyt lease. However, as of 1901 Elkins 
apparently still held the Cunningham Mine and hoped to find a way to make it profitable. The Cunningham and Cunningham Extension and several dozen other 
20+/- acre claims were given out in the 1880s and 1890s on 99 year leases, before the Hoyt lease for the remaining 50,000 acres in 1899. The last of these small 
leases was not purchased until by Potter-Sims Group after 1958.<HM] [Elkins papers 2206] 

1901July11; Probate Clerk Manuel Delgado today recorded the following deeds: Stephen B. Elkins, Thomas B. Catron and Julia A. Catron to Louisa 

Padilla for a lot in Cerrillos. Consideration $25. [SFNM] 

1901September19; (John Weir, Waldorf-Astoria, NY, to Elkins) He will stop and look at Cunningham Mine either before or after going to Mexico to get the work going 
on the Magistral in Chihuahua and send Elkins his views of the situation. [Elkins papers 2210] 

1901December20; It is not believed that there is any foundation for the rumor that Senators Scott and Elkins of West Virginia, will oppose Governor 

Oteroôs confirmation. It is well known that Senator Elkins has within the past few weeks expressed himself as being very friendly to Governor 

Otero and in favor of his reappointment. The rumor to the contrary can be traced to no definite or authoritative source. [SFNM] 
1902February25; Mr. and Mrs. Armijo while at Washington were greatly pleased because Senator Stephen B. Elkins in speaking to them persisted in 

using the Spanish language. Senator Elkins has an excellent command of that tongue and his accent is said to be perfect. [SFNM] 

1902May16; (telegrams to Elkins) re a mining district. [Though sent from Deming, this refers to Greeneôs mine in Mexico, Cananea Copper Co., which Elkins 
apparently invested in.<HM] [Elkins papers 2238] 

1902October20 ï Deed; S.B. Elkins & Hallie (Sallie) Elkins, T.B. Catron, Julia Catron to the Consolidated Mining & Smelting Co for land including Cerrillos Smelter 
site; Book M-1 p.45 

1903 -- Elkins Coal & Coke Company built in Bretz, Preston County WVa; the last beehive coke site in US 
1903May11; S.H. Elkins, brother of U.S. Senator S.B. Elkins, postmaster at Columbia, Mo., was in the city last night on his way home from a visit to 

his mining property near Dolores. [SFNM] 

1904February26; (Catron, on Catron & Gortner Stationery, to Elkins) I received your letter in regard to the Juana Lopez Grant. Several years ago I made a deed of 
conveyance to you for 4/9 of the rant, 4/9 belonging to me. The title was originally all taken in my name. You have your deed. Antonio Ortiz still owns 1/9 of the 
Grant which he has mortgaged to the First National Bank to secure an indebtedness he owes it. I do not know whether his interest stands in my name or his own, 
but that makes no difference he is entitled to the 1/9 interest whether he has it in his own name or in mine. ¶ We are moving ahead with Mr. Elmendorf in regard to 
the American Valley indebtedness and it looks now as if within a very short time we will be getting money in and commence to pay off the indebtedness of that 
Company, when you will begin, I think, to receive your money after which I will be able to, I hope, pay you up the $2000 I owe you. But I must ask you to be patient 
about it as it would inconvenience me very much and compel me to make great sacrifices to pay you just now. ¶ Very truly, &c., T.B. Catron. [Elkins papers] 

1905August6; (Catron on Catron & Gortner letterhead, to Elkins) I have just returned from Kansas City and Chicago, where I have assurances of getting money very 
soon. I am about selling a mine at Magdalena for $75,000. I am assured that the parties will take and pay for the mineé I have plenty of money due me to pay 
you, and will surely pay you without suit being brought. It hurts my credit. They will think I am busted. No one will believe that you would sue me, unless you 
thought I was in failing circumstances, and I would thereby be prevented from doing anything. So I beg you not to do it.ò [Elkins papers] 

1905December16; (Catron on Catron & Gortner letterhead, to Elkins) I have two or three letters from Mr. Elmendorf in which he shows very plainly that it is his purpose 
to get the best of me and swindle me if he can. Elmendorf and I entered into an agreement that he should put up two-fifths of all moneys required in The American 
Valley and I three-fifths; I have now put up considerably over $150,000 and he has not put up a cent. éI wish you stock, so that I can the possession of the 
company at once; as soon as we get possession, I know the matter will be settled. [Catron is begging Elkins to put pressure on Mr. Rule in Kansas City to transfer 
company records to Catron.] Do not fail to attend to this immediately and as I request as I expect it to be able to get the money I owe you and also the money the 
company owes you. [Elkins papers] 

1906 ï Elkins reelected Senator from WVa 
1909January25; (Avery Turner, Superintendent, The Eastern Ry. Co. of NM and The Southern Kansas Ry. Co. of TX, to Elkins) [not NM material] [Elkins papers 2525-

C] 
1910December21; (Catron to Elkins) Sorry to hear you have been sick. [Elkins dies 4Jan1911] [Elkins papers 2661] 
1911, January 4 ï Senator Stephen B. Elkins (R. WVa) dies of cancer ï survived by Sara Elkins Oliphant, of Trenton NJ, and Elizabeth Elkins Wiederseim, of Phila; 
Halli Davis, Stephen B. Elkins Jr, Richard Elkins, Blaine Elkins, Davis Elkins, and Katherine Elkins. 



Oteroôs work My Life On The Frontier gives some excellent perceptions of what went on [corruption]. Of course, he never admitted his own father had any 

part in it although his father served on the board of the first Maxwell Land Grant & Railway Co. He also wonôt criticize Elkins because he continued to 
benefit from Elkinsô contacts and Elkins persisted as a significant, redoubtable and pernicious force in Washington. [Elizabeth Rogers] 

- witness - 
1870March8; Dated. Administratorôs Deed. William W. Griffin, of StaFe, for Estate of Charles S. Hinckley, deceased, for $1.00, to Lydia E. Allen, convey The undivided 
two thirds of one twelfth ofé the Ca¶on del Agua Granté Sig. W.W. Griffin. Wit. T.B. Catron, S.B. Elkins. b.E Deeds p.306. [BHenderson Abstract of Title No.2 
30Sep1983] 

1870March8; Dated. Administratorôs Deed. William W. Griffin, of StaFe, for Estate of Charles S. Hinckley, deceased, for $1.00, to Arthur Latham, convey The undivided 
one third of one twelfth ofé the Ca¶on del Agua Granté Sig. W.W. Griffin. Wit. T.B. Catron, S.B. Elkins. b.E Deeds p.309. [BHenderson Abstract of Title No.2 
30Sep1983] 

 
Elkins, Chaves co, 37 mi NE Roswell, PO 1907-43, 1945-72 ï Elkins, NW Colfax co., in the valley of the Vermejo River, PO 1876-1900 [The Place Names of NM, R.Julyan] 

 
Stephen B. Elkins, jr.    - son of S.B. Elkins;  of WV 
1895October24: Senator S.B. Elkins and party are still looking over the senatorôs extensive properties in Santa Fe county. In the party are Mr. Elkinsô two 

sons, Davis and Stephen B., jr., their tutor, Collin H. Livingston; Col. T.B. Davis and E.E. Brunner, of New York; Frank Elkins, of Kansas City. 

[SFDNM] 

1895October25: Senator Stephen B. Elkins and party arrived in their special car last night from Cerrillos and have spent the day here very pleasantly. In the 
party are Col. T.B. Davis, interested with Mr. Elkins in West Virginia coal and railroad enterprises; Mr. Edward E. Bruner, a Wall street capitalist; Prof. 

C.H. Livingston, tutor to Mr. Elkinsô children; the senatorôs bright and manly sons, Stephen B., jr., and Davis, and Mr. Frank Elkins, of Kansas City, 

nephew of the senator. His brother, Mr. Sam Elkins, and Mr. G.W. North accompanied them from Cerrillos. Since Monday the gentlemen have made a 
thorough inspection of the Ortiz grant, in company with a Colorado mining expert. It is likely that extensive operations in gold mining will result from 

their visit. The party dined at St. Vincent sanitarium to-day, and leave to-night for the east, going via Chicago. [SFDNM] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 
Ellen    - Golden 
1941; Gold from Ortiz Grant-Record Book For Copper Mine, 1940-1950. (p.38) 1941, Permit No.103 Ellen; 9/17/41 1DWT 22Grains 2.88. [BHenderson] 

 

J. N. Ellinger    - of StaFe 
1881April3; Yesterday morning Wm Guyer and John Guyer were before Justice Ortiz on a charge of assaulting J.N. Ellenger, with deadly weapons. The 

fight occurred on San Francisco street on Fridayé [SFDNM] 

1882February18; Among the indictments found by the grand jury of the present term of court is one against Justice of the Peace Padilla, for false 
imprisonment. This is upon the charge brought by I.N. Ellinger, who was arrested and imprisoned by order of the justice for obtaining money under false 

pretenses, Ellinger having refused to take back a pair of pantaloons which he had sold to a Mexican. [SFDNM] 

1882June1; The Ellingers have two coyotes, which are developing into fine pets. They are handsome little fellows. [SFDNM] 
1882June25; Amount of Property Owned By the Residents of Santa Fe County. April 14, 1882. Ellinger, I.N. _ 2,100 00 [SFDNM]   

1882June30; J.N. Ellinger has made a full settlement with Spiegelberg Bros, returning to that firm a sufficient amount to satisfy all claims due them. 

Ellinger closed because business did not warrant him in running the store longer. [SFDNM] 

1882July21; John Olinger has rented the place formerly occupied by J.N. Ellinger, as a clothing store, and will hereafter carry on an undertakerôs 

establishment. He has had the front of his place painted black, and he has secured a number of very fine cases and other articles useful in the trade. 

Olinger is a skillful embalmer and will give satisfaction to all customers. [SFDNM] 

- witness - 
1881January17; Mining Deed; Saml W. Bonner, N.B. Laughlin sell for $500 to Mrs E.F. Tottle of Saint Louis Co MO undiv 2/5 int 45 Lode, bounded on NE end by Poe-Pick 

Lode, SW end by Ripley Lode, about ¾ mi SW from Carbonateville, in LCMD; presence J.V. Ellinger, certify 17Jan81 Charles M. Conklin Co Clerk per Jesus Ma Ortiz 
Depty Notary Public, {filed 17Jan rec 21Jan81 b.B p.99 LCMR N.B. Laughlin Recorder} recorded 31January1881 [Locations & Mining Deeds E#15409 p.143] 

1881January17; Indenture; Samuel W. Bonner and N.B. Laughlin sell for $500 to Mrs. E.T. Pottle of Saint Louis Co MO undiv 2/5int 45 Lode, in LCMD, 

bounded on the NE end by the Pol Pick Lode, and the SW end by the Rigney Lode, ca 3/4mi SW from Carbonateville, being 300x1500ô linear; 

presents of J.N. Ellinger, Cert 17Jan81 Charles M. Conklin Co Clerk per Jesus Me Ortiz Deputy, Filed for Record 17Jan81 and Recorded 21Jan81 N.B. 
Laughlin Recorder {Cerrillos Mining Records Book 3 p.99} 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Ellingsworth *  
Marion W. Ellingsworth  (CerProtestantCem, b.Jan1,1872  d.WhiteAsh Feb27,1895 ï same plot with William H.)    - of Madrid 
1895February28; The New Mexican of last evening gave all procurable particulars of the shocking and appalling disaster at the White Ash coal mine, three 

miles south of Cerrillos, a little before noon yesterday [Wed.27th]. Additional details secured by this paper during the night and day increase rather than 
diminish the magnitude of the horror. The following is the awful death toll. Mike Ryan, Alajandra Kelly. John Donahue. Marion Ellingworth. Wm. 

Ellingsworth. Sam Hardesty. Sam James. J.T. McCart. Jules Deserant and two sons. August Leplat. George Spreight. Wm. Jones. John Eathorn. Roy 

Phillips. Richard Diro. Louis Beck. A. Rafette. Tom White. Dan Sweeney. Steve Grugribic. John Flick. Henry Harron. Unknown. Fourteen of the dead 
men had families dependent upon them. [SFDNM] 

 
William H. Ellingsworth  (CerProtestantCem, b.Jan20,1870  d.WhiteAsh Feb27,1895 ï same plot with Marion W.)    - of Madrid 
1895February28; The New Mexican of last evening gave all procurable particulars of the shocking and appalling disaster at the White Ash coal mine, three 

miles south of Cerrillos, a little before noon yesterday [Wed.27th]. Additional details secured by this paper during the night and day increase rather than 
diminish the magnitude of the horror. The following is the awful death toll. Mike Ryan, Alajandra Kelly. John Donahue. Marion Ellingworth. Wm. 

Ellingsworth. Sam Hardesty. Sam James. J.T. McCart. Jules Deserant and two sons. August Leplat. George Spreight. Wm. Jones. John Eathorn. Roy 

Phillips. Richard Diro. Louis Beck. A. Rafette. Tom White. Dan Sweeney. Steve Grugribic. John Flick. Henry Harron. Unknown. Fourteen of the dead 
men had families dependent upon them. [SFDNM] 



1895February28; List of the dead so far: J.R. Donohue, pit boss. Johnnie Bock, trapper boy. Sam Hardest, miner.  - Ellingsworth.<which one?] Roy Phillips. William Jones. 
Sam Jones. William T. MôCarty. Tom Whiteley. John Sweeny. John Rathorne. Tom Holliday. Jules Descrant, father. Henry Descrant, son. Louis Descrant, son. Angelo 
Buffato. Ricard Dero. Emil Homet. George Spaite. August Leplat. D. Sumitis. Henry Harben. [Salt Lake Tribune, Thursday 28Feb1895] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Elliot * Elliott *  
A. B. Elliot     - Palomas m.d. 

as of 1903June30; List of mining claims in NM which have been officially surveyedé By Surveyor-General Morgan O. Llewellyn. A.B. Elliot et al., 
Antelope, Palomas MD, 12.15ac. [Report of the Governor of New Mexico to the Secretary of the Interior 1903, p.355] 

 

D. H. Elliott     - Madrid 
1900December4; D.H. Elliott, superintendent of the coal mines of the Colorado Fuel and Iron company at Madrid, is a visitor in the city. [SFNM] 
 

Daniel Elliott    - AT&SF roadmaster 
1890October23; Daniel Elliott, roadmaster, A.T.&S.F., is in town to-day to inspect the Lamy branch. His men are repairing the Arroyo Hondo and other 

bridges on the line. [SFDNM] 
1894August3; Dan Elliott, the well known roadmaster of the 4th division, A.T.&S.F., is in the city to-day. [SFDNM] 

1895October5; At the Exchange: D. Elliott, Las Vegas... [SFDNM] 
1895November12; Messrs. R.M. Williams, superintendent of bridges, and Dan Elliott, road master on the A.,T.&S.F., both of Las Vegas, were visitors at 

the capital yesterday. [SFDNM] 

1896May14; Mr. F.G. Erb, a resident of Chapelle station, San Miguel county, passed through Santa Fe last evening en route home from Good Hope mining 
district near Tres Piedras. He left at the New Mexican office splendid samples of hematite ore carrying free gold visible to the naked eye. He has 

located fourteen claims there. The district covers an area of country in Rio Arriba county five by ten miles in extent. About fifty miners are now in the 

camp. éAssays by Burlingame, of Denver, fix the value of the ore at $302.70. éDan Elliott and others, of Las Vegas, are interested in the camp and 
Mr. Erb thinks it will prove a bonanza when proper milling facilities are had. [SFDNM] 

1896December19; At the Exchange: D. Elliott, Las Vegas... [SFDNM] 

 

Edward C. Elliott     - of NYC & CMD 
1882April10; Mining Deed; George H. Weller sells for $500 to Edward C. Elliott of New York Co NY whole undiv int Alhambra Lode, (loc 1Apr81 b.4 p.6, b.E p.350), about ¾ 

mi nearly due W from Mina del Tiro mine, in LCMD; attest N.B. Laughlin, certify 10Apr82 N.B. Laughlin Notary Public, recorded 14April1882 [Locations & Mining Deeds 
F#15410 p.132] 

 
F. A. Elliott     - Pittsburg PA, Tres Piedras 
1901May2; The Pennsylvania Mining & Milling company today filed incorporation papers. The capital is $1,000,000. Headquarters, Pittsburg, Pa. New 

Mexico headquarters, Tres Piedras, Taos county. Incorporators, F.A. Elliott, W.F. Moyer, G.Y. Wheeler, F.B. McFeely, W.J.A. Kennedy. [SFNM] 
1901July23; Tres Piedras, July 22. ï F.A. Elliott has given up the hotel business and moved into one of the Berry houses. [SFNM] 

1901October16; Territorial Secretary J.W. Raynolds was notified today that the Pennsylvania Mining and Milling company has appointed E.A. Elliott with 

headquarters at Tres Piedras, Rio Arriba bounty, its New Mexico agent. [SFNM] 

 
George Elliott    - New Placers 

1882March1(disc&loc); Geo Elliott 1/4, Chas M. Gates 1/4, S.D. Baldwin 1/6, A.H. Mizell 1/6, F.R. Davis 1/6 Laura Lode 300ôE+W 750ôN+S, ca 1mi N 
Canon Delagua Springs, new Placiers MD, rec 27Jun82 [b.F p.195]  

 
H. E. Elliot     - Cerrillos 
1882August18; H.E. Elliot, of Cerrillos, came into the city yesterday and stopped at the Exchange hotel. [SFDNM] 

 
Harry W. Elliott     - Black Range m.d. 

as of 1903June30; List of mining claims in NM which have been officially surveyedé By Surveyor-General Morgan O. Llewellyn. Harry W. Elliott et al., 
Brush Heap. Black Range MD, 19.4471ac. ï Do., Andy Johnson, do. MD, 19.8041ac. ï Do., Black Eyed Susan, do. MD, 17.8145ac. [Report of the 

Governor of New Mexico to the Secretary of the Interior 1903, p.355] 

 

Henry Elliott     - of Carbonateville 

1882August22; Henry Elliott came in from Carbonateville again yesterday and stopped at the Capitol. [SFDNM] 

1882August26; Henry Elliott, of Los Cerrillos, came into the city yesterday and stopped at the Exchange hotel. [SFDNM] 

 
Henry Arch Elliott  (b.VinitaOK 18Nov1886)    - of Los Alamos 

Henry Arch Elliott, resident Los Alamos, retired, b.VinitaOK 18Nov1886 [Historical Register of Membership (Cerrillos Lodge #19)] 
 
Henry ñHarryò J. Elliott     - superintendent @ Madrid;  of CO & Madrid 
1900January9; Law Complied With The Colorado Fuel and Iron Company, incorporated under the laws of the state of Colorado in 1872 to-day filed a copy 

of incorporation papers at the office of territorial Secretary Wallace. The capital of the company is given at $25,000,000, and its principal place of 

business at Denver. It designates Madrid as its place of business in this territory, and Henry J. Elliott as local agent. The fee paid to Secretary Wallace 

for the territory by the company is $1,270. ¶ The Colorado Supply Company, a sub-corporation of the fuel and iron company, incorporated under the 
laws of Colorado, also filed incorporation papers at the office of the territorial secretary. The capital stock is $200,000. The directors are John C. 

Osgood, Dennis Sullivan, Samuel N. Wood, Julian A. Kebler and David C. Bowman. Madrid is designated as the place of business of the company in 

this territory, and Daniel P. Jones its local agent. The incorporation fee paid Secretary Wallace by the company for the territory is $86. [SFNM] 
1900January22; [Cerrillos] United States Coal Mine Inspector W.J. Fleming is putting in several days at the coal mines. He and Manager Elliott drove over 

to the OôMara coal district this afternoon. [SFNM] 

1900January29; The handsome sum of $1,000,000 is the price at which the Colorado Fuel and Iron Company recently acquired from the Atchison, Topeka 
& Santa Fe company the coal mine and plant at Madrid, three miles from Cerrillos. The buyer assumed control October 5 last, and installed H.J. Elliott, 



an old and faithful employe from Colorado, as manager. Besides increasing the output of coal each month, Mr. Elliott has been engaged in making 

many improvements at the plant. Old buildings have been torn away and new ones erected; obsolete machinery cast aside for larger and more up-to-
date patterns and the great steam hoists, air compressors, etc., have been concentrated nearer the Cook & White and anthracite pits. At the former mine 

mule power is to be entirely done away with, and instead of hauling up hundreds of feet of incline trains of eight coal cars each, as at present, the 

ñpicksò will be ñsnaked outò by steam twenty at a time. Somewhat similar improvements are going on at the anthracite mine near at hand. It is [1or2 
lines missing] to see the train loads of black diamonds from this mine glide along the mountain hundreds of feet above you, going from the mouth of 

the pit to the breaker, nestling against the mountain side, to the height of eight stories. Dumped in at the top, the coal drops from story to story, passing 

through ponderous crushers, and finally slides into the freight cars of the Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe on the track far below, coming out in the shape 
of nut, egg or any size required. ¶ Since taking hold Manager Elliott has increased the output by over 2,000 tons per month, and is now shipping 12,000 

tons monthly. éMadrid is a typical modern coal village, neatly and compactly built up of one and two story frame dwellings; has two churches, 

Catholic and Methodist; a good school; and a population of 800. Upward of 350 men are at work in and about the mines. [SFNM] 
1900April20; The American Fuel Company, of Denver, this afternoon filed articles of incorporation with the territorial secretary reciting the following 

particulars: Incorporators, Julian A. Kebler, Alfred C. Cass and John L. Jerome, of Denver; objects, acquiring and operating lands containing deposits of 

coal, iron, stone, fire clay, plaster or other minerals, or mineral springs; life, fifty years; field of operations, New Mexico, Arizona, Colorado, Texas and 
California; capital, $2,000,000; directors, John C. Osgood, Julian A. Kebler, John L. Jerome, David C. Beamon, Alfred C. Cass, John T. Kebler, James 

B. Gilchrist, Arthur E. Dawson and Harry J. Elliott; principal place of business, Denver; principal place of business in New Mexico, Gallup, Bernalillo 

county. [SFNM] 
1901March25; At the Palace: William Kilpatrick, Gallup; H.J. Elliott, Madrid; Joseph Haske, Madrid... [SFNM] 

1901May13; Among those here from other towns to attend the 50th anniversary banquet of Montezuma lodge, A.F. and A.M., this evening at the Palace 

hotel are: U.S. Attorney W.B. Childers, past grand master, of Albuquerque; J.H. Wroth, past grand master, of Albuquerque; Hon. W.G. Ritch, of Engle; 

Frank Johnson, worshipful master of Hiram lodge No.13, San Marcial; H.B. Holt, worshipful master of Aztec lodge No.3, of Silver City; Hon. George 

W. Kephart of Bland; Hon. W.H. Kennedy of Cerrillos; Mr. and Mrs. Earl Turner of Cerrillos; Mr. and Mrs. H.J. Elliot and daughter of Cerrillos, and 

Mr. and Mrs. W.E. Maltby of Cerrillos. [SFNM] 
1901May14; J.H. Elliott, superintendent of the coal mines at Madrid, and James Johnson, justice of the peace at that place, returned to Madrid last evening 

after spending a few hours in the city. ï Palace: C.C. Kline, Jr., St. Louis; Miss C. Nelson, Lamy; Mrs. L.D. Sugar, Cerrillos; Mrs. E.A. Turner, Madrid; 

Mayme Carter, Madrid; Grace Hahn, Albuquerque; Mr. and Mrs J.H. Elliott, Madrid; William E. Maltby and wife, Madrid; J.L. Wells, Cerrillos; W.H. 
Kennedy, Cerrillos; J. Law, C.A. Carruth, Antonito; J.P. McNulty, Turquesa; M. OôNeill, Turquesa; G.W. Green and wife, Cerrillos; H. Birdeau, 

Boston; Gus J. Johnson, Madrid. [SFNM] 
1901May15; Bon-Ton: Mayme Carter, Mr. and Mrs. E.A. Turner, Mrs. H.J. Elliott, Madrid; Miss Grace Hahn, Albuquerque; M.L. Hudson, Tres Piedras; 

T.E. Candy, Webb Lurey. [SFNM] 

1901May18; A Masonic Anniversary. éFrom Cerrillos the following representative delegation was present: Mr. Earl Turner, worshipful master of Cerrillos 
lodge; Mr. and Mrs. Wm E. Maltby, Mr. and Mrs. H.J. Elliott and Miss Elliott, Mr. and Mrs. Green, County Commissioner W.H. Kennedy, Mr. M. 

OôNeill, Mr. John Koury, Judge A.L. Kendall, Mr. J.P. McNulty, Mr. Wells. [SFNM] 

1901July3; élist of school directors elected at the June election or appointed according to lawé No.27, Gus J. Johnson, Earl A. Turner, H.J. Elliott. 
[SFNM] 

1901August8; Probate Clerk Manuel Delgado today recorded the homestead patent of Louis Angel near Galisteo, and the mining location notice of H.J. 

Elliott, D.W. King and Gus J. Johnson for the Blue Bell mining lode in the San Pedro mining district. [SFNM] 

 
J. J. Elliott     - of New Placers 

1880March10(loc); J.I Elliott, Lyman Post, E.J. Clark Little Empire 500ôSE 1000ôNW 150ôea side, calls for the SW end of evenstar mine, SBMD, rec 
7Aug80 [b.C p.372] 

1880April5(loc); J.I Elliott, Lyman Post, E.J. Clark Dolphin mine 1000ôNE 500ôSW 150ôea side, ca 1/2mi E Artesion Well, SBMD, rec 7Aug80; witness 

Thomas Stinson, Thomas Brichs [b.C p.372] 
1880June15(loc); J.I Elliott, Lyman Post, E.J. Clark Peerless mine 1500ôNE 150ôea side, joins NE end of the Volentive mine & is extension of same, 

SBMD, rec 7Aug80 [b.C p.373] 

1880June20; J.J. Elliot, Lyman Rost, E.J. Clark, locators Sun City mine 1500ôNE 150ôea side, corners with N end of Volunteer mine, SBMD, rec 7Aug80; 
witness James Cheves, B?D. Royar [b.C p.371] 

1880July21(loc); J.J. Elliot, Lyman Rost, E.J. Clark, locators Stony Point mine 1200ôSW 300ôNE 150ôea side, ca 1.5mi S of Gillets Camp, SBMD, rec 

7Aug80 [b.C p.372] 
1880August10(loc); J.J. Elliott, E.J. Clark, Lyman Rost, locators Gladiator mine 200ôS 1300ôN 300ôea side, W corner stake of N end is 60ô S of E side 

center stake of Evening Star mine, Silver Butts MD, rec 16Nov80 [b.D p.106] 

1880August23(loc); J.J. Elliott, E.J. Clark, Lyman Rost, locators Kit Carson mine 100ôSW 1400ôNE 300ôea side, shaft is 1500ôW from mouth of tunnel of 
lucky mine, Silver Butts MD, rec 16Nov80 [b.D p.105] 

1880September26(loc); J.J. Elliott, E.J. Clark, Lyman Rost, locators Little Anney Claim 100ôNE 1400ôSW 200ôSE 300ôNW, from NW side center stake it is 

500ô NW to Dunigan Spring, Silver Butts MD, rec 16Nov80 [b.D p.105] 
1880September26(loc); J.J. Elliott, E.J. Clark, Lyman Rost, locators Barney Roger Claim 500ôNE 1000ôSW 300ôea side, E corner NE end is 75ô S of NW 

corner stake H.W. Beecher, Silver Butes MD, rec 16Nov80 [b.D p.106] 

1880October30(loc); J.J. Elliott, E.J. Clark, Lyman Rost, W.J. Benton, locators Jesse lead 200ôNE 1300ôSW, w corner of SW end is 1400ô E of Ca¶on de 

Agua Spring, Silver Butts MD, rec 16Nov80 [b.D p.105] 

1881July13; Letters From The Camps, No.8. ¶ Adjoining the Cañon del Agua grant on the east are a large number of mining claims. The owners are developing them as fast 
as their limited means will allow; their prospects being probably equally as good as any on the grant. I visited a number of camps in the new district, and was favorably 
impressed with the mineral found here, and predict for this locality a bright future. ¶ Among those noticed were the Tom Paine, owned by Messrs. Paxton, Shannon & 
Gleason. They are at work on this prospect, which produces a sliver bearing ore, and have arrived at a depth of forty feet. ¶ The Old Smelter, owned by Whitelaw, 
Gate & Green, is down fifty feet, with about the same quality of ore as the above. ¶ The Evening Star, owned by R.G. McDonald, has a 21 feet shaft, the mineral being 
galena and copper. ¶ The old Spanish mine, Gladiator, owned by Elliott, Clark & Post, has a 50 feet shaft and a tunnel. Carbonates are taken from this of a quality that 
will most assuredly pay. ¶ The Queen of the West, owned by Messrs. Mirzell, Baldwin & Sheres, has a 30 feet shaft, and the boys are digging out a good quality of 
galena ore. ¶ At this camp I was overtaken by a shower and very kindly accepted their kind invitation of shelter and supper. The minerôs camp has its delights for me, 
reminding me very forcibly of my army experience. ¶ Next here is the Sumner. This shaft is down 31 feet, and is owned by Messrs. Morrison, Hasbrouck, Cutter & 
Kellogg. ¶ The Golden Eagle, owned by Messrs. Kline & Oldencott, has a 45 feet shaft, the mineral being lead carbonates. They also own the Beaver, with about the 
same kind of mineral. ¶ The Crystal, owned by F. Franaur, at a depth of 10 feet shows a good pay streak of galena. ¶ A very large proportion of the miners in these 



camps are men who have for years hunted buffalo on the range, and are a social, hospitable people. ¶ On the north and northeast of the grant I found a large number 
of good claims, many of them being worked, yet  capital is greatly needed here to develop the district. With the success which must surely attend the gigantic enterprise 
conducted by the San Pedro & Ca¶on del Agua Mining Co., whose improvements are in close proximity to the minersô claims avobe mentioned, will also come a revival 
of work and prosperity to this camp, never before enjoyed. I find the miners around here, however, very bitter against the above company on account of the yet 
unsettled conditions of the title to the grant. As I know nothing about the merits in this controversy, I forbear to express an opinion. The following claims, however, are 
off the grant, and probably equally as valuable as if they were a few rods over the line: The Golden Gate, a 50 feet shaft, owned by Benton & McDonald, shows well up 
in gold bearing ore. The Jennie, which has lately changed hands, has a 65 feet tunnel. It is owned by Gale and Gleason, and First National Bank of Santa Fe. The 
mineral is gold ore of good quality. The Emerald, owned by Mr. Gale and the Cedar Rapids Mining Co., has a shaft 113 feet in depth, besides two tunnels, each in 50 
feet. Gold and copper ore are taken from this shaft. It is located about four miles east of Golden. ¶ Besides the above, there is the Orafance, owned by Roberts and 
Cheves, with a 20 feet shaft. The Rebel Boy, owned by White & Co., having a tunnel 25 feet long, with gold and copper ore. The Black Prince, owned by Morris, 
Myers, Briggs & Stinson, with a 50 feet tunnel, gold and silver ore. The Lehigh, with an 85 feet tunnel, containing the same kind of ore as the above, and owned by 
Hawk, Gold & Morrison; and the Bunker Hill, owned by Handy & Thornton, with a shaft and tunnel each in twenty feet. ¶ The noted Delgado mine, down 170 feet, 
owned by the Mammoth Consolidated Co., and the rich Copper Tip, owned by S. Levy and the Shoemaker Bros, are also in this neighborhood. ¶ I must not forget to 
mention the favorite prospect in this locality, the well known Pine Tree, three miles east of Golden. It is owned by Messrs. Hodgdon, Sheves, McDonald & Delgado. 
The shaft is down 50 feet, with cross cuts, 25 feet, and one or two other shafts. On the dump there are perhaps forty or maybe fifty tons of gold ore. ¶ There are a large 
number of good claims in this locality which I failed to see. I think that I am not stating it too high when I say that there are at least 150 good working claims here, all of 
them off the grant. ¶ I was very anxious to see some practical illustrations of placer washings, but I failed to find any, either in the Old or New Placers. I was informed 
that at the New Placers a Mexican goes out, not oftener than semi-occasionally, about a mile from Golden, and in his primitive way separates the gold dust from the 
sand. I was even told here that he makes as high as five or six dollars per day when he works. This, however, does not seem probable, else the shafts and tunnels 
would all be deserted. Placer workings would then be in the fashion, and I would have been able to have given you some information as to the practical workings of this 
hitherto almost forgotten occupation. ¶ There are two stamp mills at Golden, and neither of them are running. There are many reasons given for their suspending, but I 
was informed by Col. Webb, the proprietor of one of them, that he was waiting for suitable machinery capable of doing good work. ¶ There is no work going on at the 
Old Placers, and everything around here seems to be at a dead stand still. Rumors of intended improvements, however, are wafted on the breeze, and all live in hopes 
of a lively hereafter.  W.W.C. [W.W. Cone] Golden (Old Placers), July 11, 1881 [SFDNM Vol.X No.113] 

- witness - 
1880May2(loc); N.H. Wheeler, locator Long mining claim 1250ôSW 250ôNE 300ôea side, N side of the Monte largo, 1.5mi S San Pedro mining camp, disc 

shaft is ca 100ôNE large Pi¶on tree, SBMD, rec 10Aug80; witness F. Mattingluy, J.J. Elliot  [b.C p.378] 

1880September18(loc); B. Roger, Ch Feller, locators St Charles Claim 150ôNE 1350ôSW 1500ôea side, 1/2mi NW the Old Smelter, 1mi NE Canon del 
Agua, Silver Butts MD; witness J. Elliott, J. Clark [b.D p.111]  

1880September22(loc); B. Roger, A.FEller, locators Havana mining claim 300ôN 1200ôS 300ôea side, 1/2mi NE the Old Smelter, Silver Butts MD; witness 

J. Elliott, J. Clark [b.D p.111]  

 
J. J. Elliott     - Madrid 
1900September5; At the Bon-Ton: S. Priddy, Hopewell; B.J. Murray, Cerrillos; J.J. Elliott, Madrid, Tomas Gonzales, Cienega. [SFNM] 
1900September5; At the Bon Ton: J.R. Romero, Jr. Las Vegas; S. Prnduy, Hopewell; R.L. Smith, Hopewell; Barney J. Murray, Cerrillos; J.J. Elliott, 

Madrid; Tomas Gonzales, Cienega. [2nd item SFNM] 

 
J. S. Elliott    - NY 
1901March28; President Hoyt Here. H.R. Hoyt, of New York, president of the Galisteo company; J.S. Elliott, of New York, a mining expert, and S.G. 

Burns, manager of the Galisteo company, which is conducting mining operations on the Ortiz grant, arrived last evening from Dolores, where ten days 

were spent in examining and investigating the work thus far done and the mineral deposits that are being developed. Mr. Hoyt would not speak for 

publication as to the work to be done in the future on the grant, except that the experimental work of the Edison mill at Dolores has been concluded, and 
the present visit of Mr. Hoyt, who is a well-known business man and millionaire of New York, and Mr. Elliott, the mining expert, is in some way 

connected with future work on the Edison plan. From here Mr. Hoyt and Mr. Elliott will go to Denver, and from there east. Mr. Hoyt is a comparatively 

young man, affable and kindly in his ways, and yet a shrewd business man and investor. He is a frequent visitor to New Mexico, and takes a great deal 
of interest in the territory. He was in consultation to-day with W.H. Pope, Esq., the attorney of the Galisteo company. ï At the Palace: H.R. Hoyt, New 

York; J.S. Elliott, New York; S.G. Burns, Dolores; Thomas Varela, Cerrillos; John Donovan, Cerrillos; Thomas Burke, Bland; Homer J. Kendall, 

Cerrillos... [SFNM] 
1901March30; H.R. Hoyt, a New York millionaire and society man, who is president of the Galisteo Mining Company, operating extensively upon the Ortiz 

grant in this county, and which gave the Edison process of reclaiming the gold from the placers of that section a trial, was the guest of W.H. Pope, Esq., 

this week, being accompanied by J.S. Elliott, of New York, a mining expert. Mr. Hoyt and Mr. Elliott had spent ten days on the Ortiz grant, and from 
here went to Denver and home. [SFNM] 

 
James Elliott    - Buckman & Durango 

1899November1; At the Bon-Ton: John Elliott, James Elliott, J.C. Merton, Buckman; Thomas M. Bartlett, Glorieta; William Steiner, Bland; Simon Ortiz, 

Galisteo... [SFNM] 
1899December21; At the Bon Ton: Julian Ortiz, Willis, N.M.; L.F. Bryan, W.M. Bryan, John Morton, John Kerner, Taos; Jim Elliott, Durango; J.R. Nash, 

James Cowan, Denver. [SFNM] 

 
John Elliott     - Buckman 
1899November1; At the Bon-Ton: John Elliott, James Elliott, J.C. Merton, Buckman; Thomas M. Bartlett, Glorieta; William Steiner, Bland; Simon Ortiz, 

Galisteo... [SFNM] 

 
Phinnas Elliott    - New Placers 

1880July10(loc); J.M. Talbott, O.M. Wells, J. St.Overhalls, Hausin Freeman, R.J. Holmes, W.G. Lockwood, Chester Ellis, H. Hutten, H.J. Clark, Lyman 

Rost, Phinnas Elliott, Carl Colwell, B.H. Talbott, Thomas Metinglerg, I.J. Talbott, C.Burney Talbott Placer claim 160ac loc by the association of 16 

persons making 10ac ea, S66ºE of SE corner of the Church in the town of Del San Francisco 160rods, New Placer MD; witness Lyman Rost [b.C p.305]  

 
Richard M. Elliot     - of CamdenNJ & Socorro 



1898March1; A certificate of the organization of the Mining Development company, by Alexander Duer, James B. Thompson and Richard M. Elliot under 

the laws of New Jersey, has been filed in the office of Secretary Wallace, also a certificate designating Socorro as the principal place of business in New 
Mexico, with James G. Fitch as resident agent. The objects for which the corporation is formed are to develop mining properties in the state of New 

Jersey and other states and territories of the United States and foreign countries, and to acquire mines and options upon mines and mining properties and 

to sell the same for cash or to dispose of the same by transfer or exchange: to acquire lands, construct canals, waterways, dams and sluices: to lay pipes, 
construct roads and tramways, and to operate and construct machinery for mining, smelting and reducing ores, and also the generation, transmission and 

use of electricity. Captial stock, $12,000; principal offices located at Camden, N.J. [SFNM]   

 
T. A. Elliot     - Tres Piedras 
1901May1; T.A. Elliot of Tres Piedras, N.M., and W.J.A. Kennedy of Pittsburg, Pa., who are interested in mining in the Bromide district in Rio Arriba 

county, are in the city on business. [SFNM] 

 
T. E. Elliot  - witness - 
1880December3 (reloc); Oldencott + co / Oldurco Asco; Beaver Lode, was Hoosier Lode, --MAY BE NPMD--; 600ôNE 900ôSW, 150ôea side; witness Ch Feller, B. Rogers, 

T.E. Elliot, A.F. Clack, recorded 11December1880 [Locations & Mining Deeds E#15409 p.34] 

 
Thomas Elliott    - Buckman 
1900July19; At the Bon-Ton: J.F. Rogers, Thos Elliott, Buckman; Frank Howard, Rio Arriba; Thomas G. Clark, Rico, Colo.; J. C. de Baca, Las Vegas; 

Tomas Gurule, Canoncitoé [SFNM] 

 
Thomas J. Elliott    - New Placers 
1880December28(loc); John Whitburn, T.J. Elliott, E.J. Clark, locators Truro Lead N extension of H.W. Breecher Mine, 300ôS 1200ôN 300ôea side, rec 

26Mar81; witness Ch Feller, Ge Kline, F. Oldencott [b.D p.376] 
1881January10(loc); John Whitburn, T.J. Elliott, E.J. Clark, locators King of the Valley load 600ôN 900ôS 300ôea side, rec 26Mar81; witness George W. 

Kline, Ch Feller, F. Oldencott [b.D p.377] 

1881June16; Thomas I. Elliott sells for $50 to W.O. Bennett of Scott Co IA, int in 160ac Placer claim loc by association of 16 persons, ca ½ mi from SE 
corner of the Church in the town of del San Francisco, NPD, rec 27Jun81; attest J.M. Talbott, S.W. Paxson [b.D p.447] 

1881October20(loc); Chas C. Reitz, Tommas J. Elliott Chicago Lode 400ôE 1100ôW 300ôea side, disc shaft on the top of South Mtns, at head of gulch that 

runs to Duningan Spring and ca 3/4mi S of spring, ca 1/8mi SW Copper Crystal Lode, SBMD, rec 5Dec81 [b.D p.750] 
1881October3(disc&loc); Jose M. Martin 1/3, Jinio Lusero 1/3, Thomas S. Elliott 1/3, owners Martin Lode 300ôSW+NE 750ôNW+SE, about Ĳ mi ENE 

from Town of Real de Dolores, rec 16Dec81 [b.E p.712] 

1881October12(disc&loc); Thomas T. Elliott 1/2, James Carr 1/2, locators Comstock Lode 750ôNW 750ôSE 300ôea side, at the Lead of Desperate Gulch, 
SBMD, rec 16Dec81 [b.E p.712] 

- witness - 
1880May24(reloc); Henry Room, locator Maggie mine 700ôEly 800ôWly 300ôea side, in Pacific Gulch, W of Lerry claim owned by Henry Room, NE Broad 

Gauge owned by hurry Yates and Dowling, Silver Buttes MD, Tuerto Mtns New Placer, rec 2Jun80; witness S.W. Paxson, Thomas Elliott [b.C p.215] 

1880May24(reloc); Henry Room, locator lina mine 1400ôSWly 100ôNEly 300ôea side, in Pacific Gulch, Silver Buttes MD, Tuerto Mtns, rec 2Jun80; witness 
S.W. Paxson, Thomas Elliott [b.C p.216] 

1880May24(loc); Henry Room 1/2, J.Osfield Jr 1/2 Maggie Mine 700ôE 800ôW 300ôea side, 1/2mi NE from NE boundary Cañon del Agua grant, SBMD 

Tuerto Mtns; witness G.H. Cheeves, T. Saunders, Tom Elliott, S.W. Packson [b.C p.286]  

1882April5(reloc); James Clark, John M. Banes Roseta mine 1500ôx600ô, in Hager Gulch, ca 3.5mi Nly from glorieta, E of Silver Lode mine, rec 7Jan84; 

witness John Finn, Thos J.E. Elliott [b.F p.581] 

1883May10(loc); James Clark, John M. Banes Climax Mine ca 3.5mi N of Glorieta, adjoins Clamites mine on S, 1500ôS 300ôea side, on E side Patterson 
Gulch, rec 7Jan84; witness John Finn, Thomas I Elliott [b.F p.582] 

1884January3(loc); John M. Banes, James Clark Honey Comb Mine ca 4.5mi N of Glorieta, on N side Litle Scottie Gulch, 50ôS 1450ôN 300ôea side, rec 

7Jan84; witness John Finn, Thomas I Elliott [b.F p.582] 
1884January3(reloc); T.W. Anderson, locator Anderson Lode 3mi NW of Glorieta, near the head of Roche Gulch, 1200ôN 300ôS 300ôea side, Glorieta MD, 

rec 7Jan84; attest Geo Selby, Thomas J. Elleott [b.F p.583] 

 
Thomas T. Elliott    - Glorieta 
1883December14; PoL Geroge Selby, Thomas T. Elliott testify assessment done for Lion Lode owned by D.Carter, Glorieta Mining Camp, rec 20Dec83 

[b.F p.546] 

 
V. A. Elliott     - New Placers 

1881September28(disc&loc); Wm G. Shedd, John M. Maxwell, V.A. Elliott , J. McDonald, Robert Bunson, Eugene Wilder, J.W. Fairfield, E.A. Shedd SS 

Tuttle 160ac Placer mining ground, ca 3mi W and down the Knife river that Golden is on, to E of Iowa Clame, rec 5Oct81 [b.D p.521] 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Ellis *  
Chester Ellis    - of Las Vegas & New Placers 
1880July10(loc); J.M. Talbott, O.M. Wells, J. St.Overhalls, Hausin Freeman, R.J. Holmes, W.G. Lockwood, Chester Ellis, H. Hutten, H.J. Clark, Lyman 

Rost, Phinnas Elliott, Carl Colwell, B.H. Talbott, Thomas Metinglerg, I.J. Talbott, C.Burney Talbott Placer claim 160ac loc by the association of 16 

persons making 10ac ea, S66ºE of SE corner of the Church in the town of Del San Francisco 160rods, New Placer MD; witness Lyman Rost [b.C p.305]  
1881August11; Quit Claim Deed; J.M. Tolbott, B.H. Tolbott, R.J. Holmes, Chester Ellis of Las Vegas sell for $3000 to The Davenport Exchange & Mining 

Co of IA, Placer mine 160acres, ½ mi from SE end of the Church in the town of Del San Francisco, rec 28Sep81 [b.D. p.488] 

 
George E. Ellis  (d.1912)    - wife is Julia Ellis;  of Las Huertas Canyon, north Sandia mtns 

Las Huertas Canyon and Las Huertas Creek head in the N Sanida Mtns and run N. The upper sections of the creek once were known as Ellis Creek, for the Ellis family that 
homesteaded here. [The Place Names of NM, R.Julyan] 



George Ellis arrived in the Sandias in the 1880s and during the 1890s lived here with his family. He died in 1912 and is buried at his ranch. Upper Las Huetas Creek once 
was called Ellis Creek. [Field Guide to the Sanidas, 2005] 

Having arrived in New Mexico in 1879, George Ellis, wife Julia and mother Eliza Carter Ellis eked out a fairly good living halfway between Vaughn and Encino when their well 
went dry and they headed to Albuquerque. Working for the Herman Bleuher Gardens (near the present-day Sheraton Old Town), Ellis delivered fruit to the mining camps 
when he discovered a ñsteep, deep canyon of extraordinary beauty é (Las Huertas Canyon).ò The Ellis family settled in what is now called the Ellis/Cooper Ranch, an 
area made exceedingly rich by its 37 springs, miles of creek and abundant rain and snowfall. Ninety percent of all the water on the Sandias is found on the piece Ellis 
patented in 1905. Son August W. Ellis shot the last recorded grizzly bear in the Sandias in 1906. Son Paul, youngest of the Ellis clan (born in Albuquerque in 1891), was 
buried in the family plot on the ranch in 1962, on his 89th birthday. [BobCooper in eastmountainhistory.org 2011] 

1903June19; June 5, 1903 [board of equalization]é The following increases in assessmentsé Precinct 17. George E. Ellis 2,025.00 [SFNM] 

 
Henry Ellis     - Nogal 
1901January7; A fatal dynamite explosion in the Homestake mine near Nogal, Lincoln county, is reported. Nicholas Williams was killed and Charles White 

and Henry Ellis severely injured. éThe mine is operated by the Iowa and New Mexico Mining and Milling Company. [SFNM] 

 
Herbert B. Ellis     - StaFe 
1901July23; Probate Clerk Manuel Delgado today recorded the following mining locations: Albert S. Wells, ñThe Sunset;ò J.H. Shaw, ñThe Sunrise;ò H.B. 

Ellis, ñThe Eastern;ò and J. Kennedy ñThe Northern,ò all two miles above the reservoir, a half mile south of the Santa Fe canon, in the Santa Fe mining 

district. [SFNM] 
1901November29; Herbert B. Ellis of Providence, R.I., in company with A.R. Gibson, has been this week looking over mining properties owned by the 

Gibson Development company in which he is interested. Mr. Ellis is financial manager of the La Estrella Coffee company of Oaxaca, Mexico, which 

company has 5,000 acres of coffee and rubber trees under cultivation. He left for the east yesterday morning. ï Palace: H.B. Ellis, Providence... 
[SFNM] 

1901December5; The Gibson Development company of Rhode Island, today filed incorporation papers with Territorial Secretary J.W. Raynolds. The 

incorporators are Adelbert R. Gibson of Santa Fe; Jerome Kennedy of New Haven, Conn.; and Herbert B. Ellis of Providence, R.I. The headquarters of 
the company at Providence, R.I. Capital $250,- divided into 250,000 shares. The New Mexico headquarters of the company are at Santa Fe with A.R. 

Gibson as New Mexico agent. The directors of the company are: Albert S. Wells and Henry Atwater of Bridgeport, Conn.; Lycurgus Sayles and Herbert 

B. Ellis of Providence, R.I.; I.B. Lawton, Pawtucket, R.I.; John H. Shaw and Jerome Kennedy of New Haven, Conn.; L.B. Prince and A.R. Gibson. 
[SFNM] 

 

J. W. Ellis    - of CMD & Las Animas co.CO 
1862February; Sergeant John W. Ellis Co.K 5th US Infantry at Valverde 
1880January28; indenture; Cyrus Wells of Edwards Co KS sells for $6000 to A.L. Kendall ½, J.W. Ellis 1/8, James Byrnons / Byrness 1/8 an undivided three of Purdin, 

Agricultural between Julius silver mine (originally deeded to Wells 30Dec79), in Grants [Galisteo?] basin mining district; presence Birggs Mouror, Fred Gardner both 
of State of KS, certifier blank [Locations & Mining Deeds C#15407 p.16] 

1880October4; J.W. Ellis of Las Animas Co CO power of attorney to C. Wells for undiv 1/8 int Agricultural, Purdin, Julius, Vulture, in Galisteo Mining District; certify John 
C Fitnan Notary Public Animas Co CO, recorded 7December1880 [Locations & Mining Deeds E#15409 p.29] 

 

James F. Ellis    - Golden 
1970June23; Dated. Filed same. Quitclaim Deed. TITLE TO BLOCK 17 Golden ï Title Claimed by William Henderson. Fred Montano and Gabrelita Montano to James F. Ellis. b.Misc.273 p.366. 

[BHenderson Abstract of Title No.6313 30Sep1983 p.348] 
1973; Taxes, James F. Ellis, Vacant Land; b.108 p.122, Paid by Tax Deed. [BHenderson Abstract of Title No.6313 30Sep1983 p.504] 
1974June2; Dated. Filed 5Jun1974. Quitclaim Deed. TITLE TO BLOCK 17 Golden ï Title Claimed by William Henderson. James F. Ellis to Bill Dickenson and Jack DeShazo. b.Misc.312 p.346. 

[BHenderson Abstract of Title No.6313 30Sep1983 p.349] 

 

Jonathan Ellis    - Port DoverCAN, Fierro m.d. 
1900June11; Jonathan Ellis and P.T. McGrath, the former of Port Dover, Ontario, Canada, and the latter of Denver. These are well known mining engineers 

and capitalists and have large mining interests in Fierro. Mr. McGrath is enthusiastic over the future of that locality. [SFNM] 

 

Joseph D. Ellis  (b.ENG 1827>    - of StaFe 
1850December16_census: Joseph D. Ellis, merchant, 23y-o, worth$10,000, born Eng, resident Santa Fe City with David U. Whiting [24 clerk Venez]. ï residence betw 

Juana Prado (33 worth$2000 NM) & Jacob Cohen, Max Wetzler, Elias Hochstaetler. 
Third Past Master of Montezuma Lodge 
1853; Jos D. Ellis, Grand Master of Montezuma Lodge No.1 [Seven Score & Ten; Montezuma Lodge No.1 2001 p.13] 
 

Rev. L. F. Ellis    - of Lamy 
L.F. Ellis, Lamy agent for Browne & Manzanares 
1881June15; Mr. Ellis, agent of the A.T.& S.F. railroad, came up from the Junction yesterday and was taken to the hospital for treatment for a very severe 

attack of sickness with which he has bee afflicted for some little time. [SFDNM] 

1881December6; S.F. Ellis, of Lamy, came up to the city yesterday and went to the Palace hotel. [SFDNM] 
1881December23; Rev. Mr. Ellis came up from the Junction last night on a visit. [SFDNM] 

1881December27; Moore & Ellis, of Lamy, had a chance for another moonlight burial Saturday night. [SFDNM] 

1882January4; Ellis of the Junction, who has been here a day or two, went out yesterday. [SFDNM] 
1882January27; Another bunko bill has been introduced in the Senate, the original one having been lost by the clerk. Will this persecution of Marshal 

Moore and Rev. Mr. Ellis, of Lamy Junction never cease? [SFDNM] 

1882February3; Marshal Moore and Reverend Mr. Ellis came up from the junction last night on a visit. They may return to-day and they may not. 
[SFDNM] 

1882February4; This vaccinating business is getting to be a nuisance. On Thrusday Tony Neis and Frank Chaves were vaccinated by Dr. Seller whether 

they would or no. In order to get even the boys went out, captured Rev. Mr. Ellis, and held him while the physician vaccinated him on both arms and 
both legs. This was a righteous work. There is no quarantine about here, and such men as Ellis ought to be guarded against in some way. [SFDNM] 

1882March30; Rev. Mr. Ellis is still in the city. He has recently given bond as agent at Lamy junction. [SFDNM] 



1882June28; L.F. Ellis, that pleasing young man from Lamy, came up to the city yesterday, on a flying visit. The Santa Fe boys see very little of him now 

and regret the fact. [SFDNM] 
1882August29; Rev. Ellis, of Lamy Junction, spent Sunday in Santa Fe. [SFDNM] 

1882September22; L.F. Ellis, who was arrested at Lamy the other day for embezzlement, is still at Albuquerque under arrest. R.J. Bell, of Cerrillos, has 

taken his place as station and Wells, Fargo Co.ôs agent at Lamy. Ellis was a very popular young man, and his numerous friends are greatly concerned 
over the situation[?] he is now in. They believe it will come around all right, however. [SFDNM] 

1882October8; Notice of Sale of Unclaimed Freight. Notice is hereby given that the Atchison, Topeka and Santa Fe railroad will sell at public auction for 

cash at the freight depot, in the town of Lamyé One portable engine. One b?nd power. Three iron pulleys. Master G.M. Day, Lamy Junction, New 
Mexico; which said goods and property will be sold to satisfy a lien which said railroad company has for freight and storageé L.F. Ellis, Agent. O.M. 

Paules, Claim Agent. [SFDNM] 

1884-85 L.F. Ellis, agent for ATSF + WF&Co Express @ Lamy, listed, in Gazetteer, R.L. Polk & Co + A.C. Danser  
 

William Ellis   (b.VA 1870>    - of Cerrillos 
1910April16_census: William Ellis, steamboiler crusher, single, 40y-o born VA [Engl Engl], resident Cerrillos renting 

________________________________________________________________ 

 * Ellison *  
Harvey Ellison    - Coal Bank 
1832May7; The first recorded instance of the use of coal in this area. Juan José Lujan of Santa Fe leased 150 varas of coal vein to Harvey Ellison and a certain Wyatt, for 15 

years at a cost of 2 pesos per month in specie or merchandise. [Selected Spanish Archives Translations, UNM, v.III p.88 #1303 per Townley 1968 p.62] 
 
James Ellison 

1863August8; Albert C. Benedict posted the following notice on a tree in the Yavapai District: We, the undersigned, claim four thousand feet of this lode 
commencing at this tree upon which this notice is posted and running a southernly course along said lode for the distance aforesaid. Albert C. Benedict, 

Kirby Benedict, Kirby T. Benedict, Jr., Henry Carleton, Charles P. Clever, James Ellison, Merrill Ashurst, King S. Woolsey, John A. Clark, Peter 

Allison, Augustin W. Hunt, Joseph Cummings, Charles G. Parker, John C. McFerran, John H. Miner, James L. Johnson, George Lount, Gustave 
Ellsbury, and Jacob Omsbury. 

 
O. Ellison    - San Pedro 
1881July12; Letters From The Camps, No.7. ¶ San Pedro is situated very similarly to Santa Fe, in a basin between the mountains. The surroundings, however, are different 

from those around the latter city, as the mountains here are covered with a heavy growth of timber. A number of saw mills would find material to work upon for a long 
time to come in this vicinity. ¶ The San Pedro and Cañon del Agua Mining Co. have their smelting and stamping works, office, &c., here, and their improvements have 
been so extensive and substantial that they have made the country to blossom like the rose. Through the kindness of its officers I am able to lay before the New 
Mexicanôs readers some facts regarding the bisiness affairs of this company, which I hope, will be interesting to them as it has been to me in gathering them. The grant 
which is owned by that company comprises a territory six miles wide by ten miles long. The original grant was made by Mexico, in the year 1839, to Jesus Miera and 
others. The present owners are men of almost unlimited means who have formed themselves into a company to develop the resources of the territory comprised in the 
above grant. The Cañon del Agua grant comprises 3,000 acres The officers of the company are as follows: G.W. Ballou, president; R.M. Pulsifer, of the Boston Herald, 
vice-president; S.L. Wiley, manager. ¶ The first camp was located by Col. Gillette and others in March, 1880. The camp was removed to its present location in 
December, 1880, by S.L. Wiley, who succeeded Col Gillette. Mr. Wiley soon laid out the town of San Pedro, and everything has been running smoothly since. ¶ The 
amount of money expended here in the purchase of land and the improvements has been over $1,000,000. The following are the amounts in round numbers of money 
expended in the several directions indicated: For buildings, $25,000; for freight, $75,000; in developing the mining interests, $100,000; in building water works, 
$400,000; in payment of wages, $100,000; live stock, $25,000. Among other statistics I find that this company employs 150 men, about half of whom are Mexicans, and 
own 100 mules, 32 horses, 30 cows, (improved stock, brought from Kansas,) and use 98 wagons. The company owns a steam saw mill, which has already sawn over 
500,000 feet of lumber, besides material enough for 80,000 first class shingles. A shingle machine is in successful operation. ¶ I noticed over 4,000 cords of wood 
corded up ready for making charcoal. There are over 15,000 bushels of charcoal on hand, which is need in the smelter and blacksmith shop, and also at the assay 
office. It will be seen from the above that the business here is quite extensive. An artesian well has been bored a quarter of a mile below the town site, to a depth of 400 
feet. There is 350 feet of water now in it and it will very probably supply nearly all the water needed at the smelter and camp. Another well is being bored two miles 
south of camp. ¶ A colony of Scandanavians, with their families, have been brought here under the charge of Mr. O. Ellison, colonization agent, who will soon open out 
farms on the grant, the product of which will go far towards supplying the settlement with the staff of life. The company have a large boarding house where 125 men are 
daily fed, and well fed, too. The table is well supplied with the best that can be procured; vegetables and fruits both canned and otherwise, in and out of season, are 
daily furnished the men, and everything cooked in a style to suit the most fastidious taste. ¶ The machine for boring the artesian well was made by the American 
Diamond Drill Co., of New York. It has a ten horse power engine, and drills a hole two inches in diameter. Mr. T.C. Nash is superintendent and Geo. Miller engineer of 
this machine. The drill is hollow and a one inch stream of water is forced down the drill to the bottom so as to keep the drill from heating. ¶ The building for the smelter 
and stamp machine is 135 feet long by 75 wide; three stories high. The smoke stack is 90 feet hight and 2 1/2 feet in diameter, made of the best iron. Mr. Meno Pabst 
has charge of the smelter. For thirteen years Mr. Pabst was superintendent of the largest smelting works in Peru. The company has been very fortunate in securing the 
services of this gentleman. ¶ The stamp mill is under the charge of Mr. G.W. Wells, of Colorado. This gentleman has been engaged in the business for the past fifteen 
years, and thoroughly understands it. There are twenty-five stamps in this mill and it is the intention of the company to increase that number within the year to 100 
stamps. The whole process from the start of the ore in the upper story to the completion of the process was explained to me by Mr. Wells, but I hardly feel competent to 
give a satisfactory explanation to the New Mexicanôs readers. There is, however, no hard labor used in the process, except at the commencement, all the work being 
done by machinery. The stamp mill will be in running order by the 1st of August. ¶ I saw some bullion from the smelter, but only a small amount has been run through, 
owing to a lack of water. This will, however, be remedied within ten days, and then we may expect to hear a good account of it. The smelter is the kind known as the 
ñblast furnace,ò made by Frazier & Chalmers, of Chicago. There are two engines that run the machinery with a capacity of forty-six horse power. There are probably 
2,000 tons of copper ore already on the dump and at the mill, for the smelter, and I was informed that not less than 15,000 tons of gold ore have been mined and are 
ready for use in the stamp mill. Mr. W.E. Hewson is the companyôs assayer. Mr. V. Schick, formerly of Ottumwa, Iowa, is the assistant manager. Mr. Schick came here 
at the commencement of this enterprise and attends to all the details of the business connected withth is great corporation. He kindly furnished me with a horse to visit 
the various mines of the company, going with me himself as often as his duties would permit of it. One pleasant afternoon we rode up to the great copper and gold 
mine belonging to the company. This is located on the southwest side of the mountain, over 5,000 feet feet above San Pedro. About half way up to this mine we 
passed the noted Lucky mine. As the ownership of this mine is in controversy it is not necessary to say much about it. The ore is galena, of a good quality. ¶ Proceding 
on up the mountain we passed a camp of miners who had located on the grant. Still further on we passed a drove of burros with kegs of water for the use of the miners. 
The first indication of work noticed on the gold and copper mine, is a tunnel which is nearly completed, running on a level into the mountain 300 feet to meet the main 




